

V O Y A G E

то тне

PACIFIC OCEAN.

UNDERTAKEN,

BY THE COMMAND OF HIS MAJESTY,

FOR MAKING

Discoveries in the Northern Hemisphere.

. TO DETERMINE

The Position and Extent of the West Side of North America; its Distance from Asia; and the Practicability of a Northern Passage to Europe.

PERFORMED UNDER THE DIRECTION OF

Captains COOK, CLERKE, and GORE,

In his MAJESTY'S Ships the RESOLUTION and DISCOVERY.

In the Years 1776, 1777, 1778, 1779, and 1780.

IN THREE VOLUMES.

VOL. I. and II. written by Captain JAMES COOK, F.R.S. VOL. III. by Captain JAMES KING, LL.D. and F.R.S.

Illustrated with MAPS and CHARTS, from the Original Drawings made by Lieut. HENRY ROBERTS, under the Direction of Captain Coox.

Published by Order of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.

VOL. I.

and the second second second second as a second second second second second second second second second second

DUBLIN:

Printed for H. CHAMBERLAINE, W. WATSON, POTTS, WILLIAMS, CROSS, JACKSON, MONCRIEFFE, WALKER, JENKIN, BURNET, WILSON, WOGAN, EXSHAW, VALLANCE, BEATTY, WHITE, WHITESTONE, BURTON, BYRNE, MILLS, J. PORTER, STEWART, WALLACE, HIGLY, CASH, HEREY and MC. KENZIE.

M,DCC,LXXXIV.

CONTENTS

OF THE

FIRST VOLUME.

INTRODUCTION.	Page i
Inscription to the Memory of Captain	U
James Cook.	xciii
List of the PLATES.	xcvii

BOOK I.

Tranfactions from the Beginning of the Voyage till our Departure from New Zealand.

CHAP. I.

VARIOUS Preparations for the Voyage. Omai's Behaviour on embarking. — Obfervations for determining the Longitude of Sheernefs, and the North Foreland.—Passage of the Refolution from Deptford to Plymouth. — Employments there. — Complements of the Crews of both Ships, and Names of the Officers.—Observations to fix the Longitude of Plymouth.—Departure of the Refolution. Page 1

CHAP. II.

Paffage of the Refolution to Teneriffe.—Description there.—Description of Santa Cruz. Road.—Refreshments to be met with.—Observations for fixing the Longitude of Teneriffe.—Some Account of the Island.— Botanical Observations.— Cities of Santa Cruz and Laguna.—Agriculture.—Air and Climate.—Commerce.—Inhabitants. 14 C H A P. III.

Departure from Teneriffe.—Danger of the Ship near Bonavista.—Isle of Mayo.—Port Praya.— Precautions against the Rain and Sultry Weather in A 2. the the Neighbourhood of the Equator.—Position of the Coast of Brazil.— Arrival at the Cape of Good Hope.—Transactions there.—Junction of the Discovery.—Mr. Anderson's fourney up the Country.—Astronomical Observations.—Nautical Remarks on the Passage from England to the Cape, with regard to the Currents and the Variation. 29 C H A P. IV.

The two Ships leave the Cape of Good Hope.—Two Islands, named Prince Edward's, seen, and their Appearance described.—Kerguelen's Land visited.—Arrival in Christmas Harbour.—Occurrences there.—Description of it. 51 C H A P. V.

Departure from Christmas Harbour.—Range along the Coast, to discover its Position and Extent.— Several Promontories and Bays, and a Peninsula, described and named.—Danger from Shoals.— Another Harbour and a Sound.—Mr. Anderson's Observations on the natural Productions, Animals, Soil, &c. of Kerguelen's Land. 70

CHAP. VI.

Paffage from Kerguelen's to Van Diemen's Land. —Arrival in Adventure Bay. — Incidents there. —Interviews with the Natives. —Their Perfons and Drefs defcribed. — Account of their Behaviour. — Table of the Longitude, Latitude, and Variation. —Mr. Anderfon's Obfervations on the natural Productions of the Country, on the Inbabitants, and their Language. 91

CHAP. VII.

The Passage from Van Diemen's Land to New Zealand. — Employments in Queen Charlotte's Sound — Transactions with the Natives there.— Intelligence about the Massacre of the Adventure's Boat's Crew.— Account of the Chief who headed the Party on that Occasion.—Of the two young young Men who embark to attend Omai. — Various Remarks on the Inhabitants. — Aftronomical and Nautical Obfervations. 118

CHAP. VIII.

Mr. Anderfon's Remarks on the Country near Queen Charlotte's Sound. — The Soil.—Climate.—Weather.—Winds.—Trees.—Plants.—Birds.— Fifb. —Other Animals.—Of the Inhabitants.—Defcription of their Perfons.—Their Drefs.—Ornaments. Habitations.—Boats.—Food and Cookery.—Arts. —Weapons.—Cruelty to Prifoners.—Various Cuftoms.—Specimen of their Language. 145

BOOK II.

From leaving New Zealand, to our Arrival at Otaheite, or the Society Islands.

CHAP. I.

Profecution of the Voyage.—Behaviour of the Two New Zealanders on board. — Unfavourable Winds.—An Island called Mangeea discovered. —The Coast of it examined.—Transations with the Natives. — An Account of their Perfons, Drefs, and Canee. — Defcription of the Island. —A Specimen of the Language.—Disposition of the Inbabitants. 167

CHAP. II.

The Difcovery of an Ifland called Wateeoo. — Its Coafts examined. — Vifits from the Natives on board the Ships.—Meff. Gore, Burney, and Anderfon, with Omai, fent on Shore.—Mr. Anderfon's Narrative of their Reception.—Omai's Expedient to prevent their being detained.—His meeting with fome of his Countrymen, and their diftrefsful Voyage. — Farther Account of Wateeoo, and of its Inhabitants. 180 C H A P.

CHAP. III.

Wenooa-ette, or Otakootaia, visited. — Account of that Island, and of its Produce. — Hervey's Island, or Terougge mou Attooa, found to be inbabited.—Transfactions with the Natives.—Their Persons, Dress, Language, Canoes. — Fruitless Attempt to land there. — Reasons for bearing away for the Friendly Islands. — Palmerston's Island touched at.—Description of the two Places where the Boats landed.—Refressments obtained there. — Conjectures on the Formation of such low Islands.—Arrival at the Friendly Islands. 205

CHAP. IV.

Intercourfe with the Natives of Komango, and other Islands.—Arrival at Annamooka.—Transactions there.—Feenou, a principal-Chief, from Tongataboo, comes on a Visit.—The Manner of his Reception in the Island, and on board.— Instances of the pilfering Disposition of the Natives.— Some Account of Annamooka.—The Passage from it to Hapaee. 225

CHAP. V.

Arrival of the Ships at Hapaee, and friendly Reception there. — Prefents and Solemnities on the Occafion.—Single Combats with Clubs.—Wreftling and Boxing Matches.— Female Combatants. — Marines exercifed. — A Dance performed by Men.— Fireworks exhibited. — The Night-entertainments of Singing and Dancing particularly defcribed. 242

CHAP. VI.

Defcription of Lefooga.—Its cultivated State.—Its Extent.—Transactions there.—A Female Oculist.—Singular Expedients for shaving off the Hair.—The Ships change their Station.—A remarkable Mount and Stone.—Description of Hoolaiva. laiva.—Account of Poulabo, King of the Friendly Islands.—Respectful Manner in which he is treated by his People.—Departure from the Hapaee Islands.—Some Account of Kotoo.—Return of the Ships to Annamooka.—Poulabo and Feenou meet.—Arrival at Tongataboo. 256

CHAP. VII.

Friendly Reception at Tongataboo.—Manner of diftributing a baked Hog and Kava to Poulabo's Attendants. — The Observatory, &c. erected. — The Village where the Chiefs reside, and the adjoining Country, described.—Interviews with Mareewagee, and Toobou, and the King's Son.—A grand Haiva, or Entertainment of Songs and Dances, given by Mareewagee. — Exhibition of Fireworks. — Manner of Wrestling and Boxing. —Distribution of the Cattle. — Thefts committed by the Natives.—Poulabo, and the other Chiefs, confined on that Account. — Poulabo's Present, aud Haiva. 278

CHAP. VIII.

Some of the Officers plundered by the Natives. -A fishing Party.-A Visit to Poulabo -A Fiatooka defcribed .- Observations on the Country Entertainment at Poulabo's House.-His Mourning Ceremony.-Of the Kava Plant, and the Manner of preparing the Liquor.-Account of Onevy, a little Island.—One of the Natives wounded by a Sentinel.-Meffrs. King and Anderson visit the King's Brother.—Their Entertainment.—Another Mourning Ceremony. - Manner of paffing the Night. — Remarks on the Country they paffed through. — Preparations made for failing. — An Eclipse of the Sun, imperfectly observed .- Mr. Anderson's Account of the Island, and its Productions. 309 CHĂP.

CONTENTS.

CHAP. IX.

A grand Solemnity, called NATCHE, in Honour of the King's Son, performed.—The Proceffions and other Ceremonies, during the first Day, described. —The Manner of passing the Night at the King's House.—Continuation of the Solemnity, the next Day. — Conjectures about the Nature of it — Departure from Tongataboo, and Arrival at Ecoa. — Account of that Island, and Transactions there. 336

CHAP. X.

Advantages derived from visiting the Friendly Islands. — Best Articles for Traffic. — Refreshments that may be procured. — The Number of the Islands, and their Names. — Keppel's and Boscawen's Islands belong to them.— Account of Vavaoc—of Hamoa—of Feejee.—Voyages of the Natives in their Canoes.— Difficulty of procuring exact Information. — Perfons of the Inhabitants of both Sexes.— Their Colour.— Difeases.— Their general Character. — Manner of wearing their Hair—of puncturing their Bodies.— Their Clothing andOrnaments.— PerfonalCleanlines. 364.

CHAP. XI.

Employments of the Women, at the Friendly Islands —Of the Men. — Agriculture. — Construction of their Houses. — Their working Tools. — Cordage, and fishing Implements. — Musical Instruments. Weapons. — Food, and Cookery. — Amusements. Marriage. — Mourning Ceremonies for the Dead. — Their Divinities. — Notions about the Soul, and a future State. — Their Places of Worship. — Government. — Manner of paying Obeisance to the King. — Account of the Royal Family. — Remarks on their Language, and a Specimen of it. — Nautical, and other Observations. 390

T HE spirit of discovery, which had long animated the European nations, having, after its arduous and fuccessful exertions, during the fifteenth and fixteenth centuries, gradually subfided, and for a confiderable time lain domant, began to revive in Great Britain in the late reign *; and recovered all its former activity, under the cheristhing influence, and munificent encouragement, of his prefent Majesty.

Soon after his acceffion to the throne, having happily clofed the deftructive operations of war, he turned his thoughts to enterprifes more humane, but not lefs brilliant, adapted to the feafon of returning peace. While every liberal art, and uleful ftudy, flourifhed under his patronage at home, his fuperintending care was extended to fuch branches of knowledge, as required diftant examination and inquiry; and his fhips, after bringing back victory and conqueft from every quarter of the known world, were now employed

VOL. I.

^{*} Two voyages for difcovering a North Weft paffage, through Hudfon's Bay, were then performed; one under the command of Captain Middleton, in his Majefty's fhips the Furnace, and the Difcovery Pink, in 1741, and 1742. The other under the direction of Captain's Smith and Moore, in the fhips Dobbs and California, fitted out by fubfcription, in 1746, and 1747.

in opening friendly communications with its hitherto unexplored receifes.

In the profecution of an object fo worthy of the Monarch of a great commercial people, one voyage followed another in close fuccession; and, we may add, in regular gradation. What Byron * had begun, Wallis + and Carteret ‡ foon improved. Their fuccels gave birth to a far more extensive plan of discovery, carried into execution, in two fublequent voyages, conducted by Cook S. And that nothing might be left unattempted, though much had been already done, the fame Commander, whole professional skill could only be equalled by the perfevering diligence with which he had exerted it, in the course of his former refearches, was called upon, once more, to refume, or rather to complete, the furvey of the globe. Accordingly, another voyage was undertaken in 1776; which though last in the order of time, was far from being the least confiderable, with respect to the extent and importance of its objects; yet, still, far less fortunate than any of the former, as those objects were not accomplish-

* Captain, now Admiral, Byron, had, under his command, the Dolphin and Tamer. He failed in June 1764, and returned in May 1766.

+ Captain Wallis had, under his command, the Dolphin and Swallow. He failed in August 1766, and returned, with the Dolphin, in May 1768.

The Swallow, commanded by Captain Carteret, having been feparated from Wallis, and, by keeping a different route, having made different difcoveries, this may be confidered as a diffinct voyage. The Swallow returned to England in March 1769.

§ Captain Cook, in the Endeavour, failed in August 1768, and returned in July 1771.

In his fecond voyage, he had the Refolution and Adventure under his command. They failed from Bagland in July 1772, and returned on the 30th of July 1775.

.ed,

ed, but at the expence of the valuable life of its Conductor.

When plans, calculated to be of general utility, are carried into execution with partial views, and upon interefted motives, it is natural to attempt to confine, within fome narrow circle, the advantages which might have been derived to the world at large, by an unreferved difclofure of all that had been effected. And, upon this principle, it has too frequently been confidered as found policy, perhaps, in this country, as well as amongst fome of our neighbours, to affect to draw a veil of fecrecy over the refult of enterprifes to difcover and explore unknown quarters of the globe. It is to the honour of the prefent reign, that more liberal views have been now adopted. Our late voyages, from the very extensive objects proposed by them, could not but convey useful information to every European nation; and, indeed, to every nation, however remote, which cultivates commerce, and is acquainted with navigation : and that information has most laudably been afforded. The fame enlarged and benevolent fpirit, which ordered these several expeditions to be undertaken, has also taken care that the refult of their various discoveries should be authentically recorded. And the transactions of the five first voyages round the world having, in due time, been communicated *, under the authority of his Majefty's naval Minister; those of the lixth, which, belides revisiting many of the former discoveries in the Southern, carried its operations into

untrodden

^{*} The account of the four first of these voyages, compiled by Dr. Hawkesworth, from the Journals of the several Commanders, was published in 1772, in Three Volumes quarto; and Captain Cook's own account of the fifth, in 1777, in Two Volumes quarto.

untrodden paths in the Northern hemisphere, are, under the fame fanction, now submitted to the Public in these Volumes.

One great plan of nautical inveftigation having been purfued throughout, it is obvious, that the feveral voyages have a close connection, and that an exact recollection of what had been aimed at, and effected, in those that preceded, will throw confiderable light on our period. With a view, therefore, to affift the Reader in forming a just estimate of the additional information conveyed by this Publication, it may not be improper to lay before him a fhort, though comprehenfive, abstract of the principal objects that had been previoufly accomplished, arranged in such a manner, as may ferve to unite, into one point of view, the various articles which lie fcattered through the voluminous Journals already in the hands of the Public; those compiled by Dr. Hawkefworth; and that which was written by Captain Cook himfelf. By thus fhewing what had been formerly done, how much still remained for fublequent examination, will be more apparent; and it will be better underftood on what grounds, though the thips of his Majefty had already circumnavigated the world five different times, in the course of about ten years, another voyage fhould ftill be thought expedient.

There will be a farther use in giving such an abstract a place in this Introduction. The plan of discovery, carried on in so many successive expeditions, being now, we may take upon us to fay, in a great measure completed, by summing up the final result, we shall be better able to do justice to the benevolent purposes it was designed to answer; and a solid foundation will be laid, on

on which we may build a fatisfactory answer to a queftion, fometimes asked by a peevish refinement, and ignorant malevolence, What beneficial confequences, if any, have followed, or are likely to follow, to the discoverers, or to the discovered, to the common interests of humanity, or to the increase of useful knowledge, from all our boasted attempts to explore the distant recesses of the globe?

The general object of the feveral voyages round the world, undertaken by the command of his Majefty, prior to that related in this work, was to fearch for unknown tracts of land that might exift within the bofom of the immense expanse of ocean that occupies the whole Southern hemifphere.

Within that fpace, fo few refearches had been made, before our time, and those few refearches had been made fo imperfectly, that the refult of them, as communicated to the world in any narration, had rather ferved to create uncertainty, than to convey information; to deceive the credulous, rather than to fatisfy the judicious inquirer; by blending the true geography of above half the fuperficies of the earth, with an endles variety of plausible conjectures, fuggested by ingenious speculation; of idle tales, handed down by obscure tradition; or of bold fictions, invented by deliberate falsehood.

It would have been very unfortunate, indeed, if five different circumnavigators of the globe, fome of them at leaft, if not all, in tracks little known, and lefs frequented, had produced no difcoveries, to reward the difficulties and perils unavoidably encountered. But the following review will furnith the most fatisfactory proofs, that his Majefty's inftructions have been executed with ability; and that

that the repeated vifits of his fhips to the Southern hemisphere, have very confiderably added to our ftock of geographical knowledge.

I.

The South Atlantic Ocean was the first scene of our operations. Falkland's Iflands had been hitherto barely known to exift; but their true pofition and extent, and every circumstance which could render their exiftence of any confequence, remained absolutely undecided, till Byron visited them in 1764. And Captain Macbride, who followed him thither two years after, having circumnavigated their coafts, and taken a complete furvey, a chart of Falkland's Islands has been conftructed, with fo much accuracy, that the coafts of Great Britain, itfelf, are not more authentically laid down upon our maps.

How little was really known of the iflands in the South Atlantic, even fo late as the time of Lord Anfon, we have the most remarkable proofs, in the Hiftory of his voyage. Unavoidably led into miftake, by the imperfect materials then in the polfeffion of the world, he had confidered Pepys's Island, and Falkland liles, as diffinct places, diffant from each other about five degrees of latitude *. Byron's refearches have rectified this capital error : and it is now decided, beyond all contradiction, that future navigators will mispend their time, if they look for Pepys's Island in latitude 47°; it being now certain, that Pepys's Island is no other than thefe islands of Falkland +.

* See Lord Anfon's Voyage, quarto edition, p. 91. + Thefe are Captain Cook's words, *Preface to his Voyage*, p. 14.; and the evidence, on which he forms this judgment, may be met with in Hawkefworth's Journal of Byron's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 23, 24.-51, 52, 53, 54.

Befides

Befides the determination of this confiderable point, other lands, fituated in the South Atlantic, have been brought forward into view. If the ifle of Georgia had been formerly feen by La Roche, in 1675, and by Mr. Guyot, in the fhip Lion, in 1756, which feems to be probable, Captain Cook, in 1775, has made us fully acquainted with its extent and true polition, and, in the fame year, he added to the map of the world Sandwich Land, hitherto not known to exift, and the moft Southern difcovery that has been ever accomplifhed *.

Н.

Though the Strait of Magalhaens had been frequently vilited, and failed through, by thips of different nations, before our time, a careful examination of its bays, and harbours, and headlands; of the numerous islands it contains, and of the coafts, on both fides, that inclose it; and an exact account of the tides, and currents, and foundings, through its whole extent, was a task, which, if Sir John Narborough, and others, had not totally omitted, they cannot be faid to have recorded fo fully, as to preclude the utility of future investigation. This task has been ably and effectually performed by Byron, Wallis, and Carteret; whole transactions in this Strait, and the chart of it, founded on their observations and discoveries, are a most valuable accession to geography.

III.

If the correct information, thus obtained, about every part of this celebrated Strait, fhould deter future adventurers from involving themfelves in

* See the Chart of Difcoveries in the South Atlantic. Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii, p. 210.

the

the difficulties and embarraffments of a labyrinth. now known to be fo intricate, and the unavoidable fource of danger and delay, we have the fatisfaction to have discovered, that a fafer and more expeditious entrance into the Pacific Ocean, may be reasonably depended upon. The paffage round Cape Horn, has been repeatedly tried, both from the East and from the West, and stript of its terrors. We shall, for the future, be less discouraged by the labours and diffreffes experienced by the foundrons of Lord Anion and Pizarro, when we recollect, that they were obliged to attempt the navigation of those feas at an unfavourable feason of the year; and that there was nothing very formidable met with there, when they were traverfed by Captain Cook.

To this diftinguished navigator was referved the honour of being the first, who, from a series of the most fatisfactory observations, beginning at the West entrance of the Strait of Magalhaens, and carried on, with unwearied diligence, round Tierra del Fuego, through the Strait of Le Maire, has constructed a chart of the Southern extremity of America, from which it will appear, how much former navigators must have been at a loss to guide themselves, and what advantages will now be enjoyed by those who shall hereaster fail round Cape Horn.

IV.

As the voyages of difcovery, undertaken by his Majefty's command, have facilitated the access of fhips into the Pacific Ocean, they have also greatly enlarged our knowledge of its contents.

Though the immense expanse usually diffinguished by this appellation, had been navigated by Europeans

viii

ropeans for near two centuries and a half *, by far the greater part of it, particularly to the South of the equator, had remained, during all this time, unexplored.

The great aim of Magalhaens, and of the Spaniards in general, its first navigators, being merely to arrive, by this passage, at the Moluccas, and the other Afiatic Spice Iflands, every intermediate part of the ocean that did not lie contiguous to their Western track, which was on the North fide of the equator, of course escaped due examination ; and if Mendana and Quiros, and fome namelefs conductors of voyages before them +, by deviating from this track, and holding a Wefterly one from Callao, within the Southern tropic, were fo fortunate as to meet with various islands there, and fo fanguine as to confider those islands as marks of the existence of a neighbouring Southern continent; in the exploring of which they flattered themfelves they should rival the fame of De Gama and Columbus; these feeble efforts never led to any effectual disclosure of the supposed hidden mine of the New World. On the contrary, their voyages being conducted without a judicious plan, and their discoveries being left imperfect without immediate fettlement, or fublequent examination, and fcarcely recorded in any well-authenticated or accurate narrations, had been almost forgot: or were to obfcurely remembered, as only to ferve the purpole of producing perplexing debates about their fituation and extent; if not to fuggeft doubts about their very existence.

* Magalhaen's Voyage was undertaken in 1519. † See the particulars of their difcoveries in Mr. Dalrymple's valuable Collection of Voyages in the South Pacific Ocean.

It.

It feems, indeed, to have become a very early object of policy in the Spanish councils, to discontinue and to discourage any farther refearches in that quarter. Already mafters of a larger empire on the continent of America than they could conveniently govern, and of richer mines of the precious metals on that continent than they could convert into use, neither avarice nor ambition furnished reafons for aiming at a fresh accession of domi-And thus, though fettled all along the nions. fhores of this Ocean, in a fituation fo commodious for profecuting difcoveries throughout its wide extent, the Spaniards remained fatisfied with a coafting intercourse between their own ports; never ftretching across the vaft gulph that separates that part of America from Afia, but in an unvarying line of navigation; perhaps in a fingle annual fhip, between Acapulco and Manilla.

The tracks of other European navigators of the South Pacific Ocean, were, in a great measure, regulated by those of the Spaniards; and confequently limited within the fame narrow bounds. With the exception, perhaps, of two inftances only, those of Le Maire and Roggewein, no ships of another nation had entered this fea, through the Stait of Magalhaens, or round Cape Horn, but for the purpofes of clandeftine trade with the Spaniards, or of open hoftility against them; purposes which could not be answered, without precluding any probable chance of adding much to our flock of discovery. For it was obviously incumbent on all fuch adventurers, to confine their cruifes within a moderate diftance of the Spanish settlements: in the vicinity of which alone they could hope to exercise their commerce, or to execute their predatory and military operations. Accordingly, foon after emerging from the Strait, or completing

x

pleting the circuit of Tierra del Fuego, they began to hold a Northerly course, to the uninhabited island of Juan Fernandez, their usual spot of rendezvous and refreshment. And, after ranging along the continent of America, from Chili to California, they either reverfed their courfe back to the Atlantic; or, if they ventured to extend their voyage, by ftretching over to Afia, they never thought of trying experiments in the unfrequented and unexplored parts of the Ocean; but chose the beaten path (if the expression may be used), within the limits of which it was likely that they might meet with a Philippine galleon, to make their voyage profitable to themfelves; but could have little prospect, if they had been defirous, of making it ufetul to the world, by gaining any acceffion of new land to the Map of the World.

By the natural operation of these causes, it could not but happen, that little progress should be made toward obtaining a full and accurate knowledge of the South Pacific Ocean. Something, however, had been attempted by the industrious, and once enterprising Dutch; to whom we are indebted for three voyages, undertaken for the purposes of discovery; and whose refearches, in the Southern latitudes of this Ocean, are much better ascertained than are those of the earlier Spanish navigators above mentioned.

Le Maire and Schouten, in 1616, and Roggewein, in 1722, wifely judging, that nothing new could be gained by adhering to the ufual paffage on the North fide of the line, traversed this Ocean from Cape Horn to the East Indies, croffing the South tropic; a space which had been so feldom, and so ineffectually visited; though popular belief, fortified by philosophical speculation, expected there to reap the richeft harvest of discovery.

6

Talman,

Talman, in 1642, in his extensive circuit from Batavia, through the South Indian Ocean, entered the South Pacific, at its greatest distance from the American fide, where it never had been examined before. And his range continued from a high Southern latitude, Northward to New Guinea, and the islands to the East of it near the equator, produced intermediate discoveries, that have rendered his voyage memorable in the annals of navigation.

But ftill, upon the whole, what was effected in these three expeditions, ferved only to shew how large a field was referved for future and more perfevering examination. Their refults had, indeed, enabled geographers to diversify the vacant uniformity of former charts of this Ocean, by the infertion of some new islands. But the number, and the extent of these infertions were so inconsiderable, that they may be faid to appear.

Rari, nantes in gurgite vafto.

And, if the difcoveries were few, thole few were made very imperfectly. Some coafts were approached, but not landed upon; and paffed without waiting to examine their extent, and connection with thole that might exift at no great diftance. If others were landed upon, the vifits were, in general, fo transient, that it was fcarcely poffible to build upon a foundation, fo weakly laid, any information that could even gratify idle curiofity; much lefs fatisfy philofophical inquiry, or contribute greatly to the fafety, or to the fuccels of future navigation.

Let, us, however, do justice to these beginnings of discovery. To the Dutch we must, at least, ascribe the merit of being our harbingers, though we asterward went beyond them in the road

xii

road they had first ventured to tread. And with what fucces his Majefty's ships have, in their repeated voyages, penetrated into the obscures recessed voyages, penetrated into the obscures recessed voyages, penetrated into the obscure recessed voyages, penetrated into the obscure rerery extension of the source of the second very extensive operations, which have drawn up the veil that had hitherto been thrown over the geography of so great a proportion of the globe.

1. The feveral lands, of which any account had been given, as feen by any of the preceding navigators, Spanish or Dutch, have been carefully looked for; and most of them (at least such as feemed to be of any confequence) found out and vifited; and not vifited in a curfory manner, but every means used to correct former mistakes, and to supply former deficiencies, by making accurate inquiries afhore, and taking skilful surveys of their coafts, by failing round them. Who has not heard, or read, of the boafted Tierra Australia del Espiritu Santo of Quiros? But its bold pretenfions to be a part of a Southern continent, could not ftand Captain Cook's examination, who failed round it, and affigned it its true polition and moderate bounds, in the Archipelago of the New Hebrides *.

2. Befides perfecting many of the difcoveries of their predeceffors, our late navigators have enriched geographical knowledge with a long catalogue of their own. The Pacific Ocean, within the South tropic, repeatedly traverfed, in every direction, was found to fwarm with a feemingly endlefs profusion of habitable fpots of land. Islands fcattered through the amazing fpace of near fourxiii

fcore

^{*} Bougainville, in 1768, did no more than difcover that the land here was not connected, but composed of islands. Captain Cook, in 1774, explored the whole group. See Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 96.

fcore degrees of longitude, feparated at various diftances, or grouped in numerous clufters, have, at their approach, as it were, ftarted into exiftence; and fuch ample accounts have been brought home concerning them and their inhabitants, as may ferve every ufeful purpofe of inquiry; and, to ufe Captain Cook's words, who bore fo confiderable a fhare in those diffeoveries, have left little more to be done in that part*.

3. Byron, Wallis, and Carteret, had each of them contributed toward increasing our knowledge of the iflands that exift in the Pacific Ocean, within the limits of the Southern tropic; but how far that ocean reached to the Weft, what lands bounded it on that fide, and the connection of those lands with the discoveries of former navigators, was still the reproach of geographers, and remained abfolutely unknown, till Captain Cook, during his first voyage in 1770 +, brought back the most fatisfactory decifion of this important queftion. With a wonderful perfeverance, and confummate skill, amidft an uncommon combination of perplexities and dangers, he traced this coaft near two thousand miles from the 38° of South latitude, cross the tropic, to its Northern extremity, within $10^{\circ 1}$ of the equinoctial, where it was found to join the lands already explored by the Dutch, in feveral voyages from their Afiatic fettlements, and to which they have given the name of New Hol-Those discoveries made in the last century, land. before Taiman's voyage, had traced the North and the Weft coafts of this land; and Captain Cook, by his extensive operations on its East fide, left little to be done toward completing the full circuit of it. Between Cape Hicks, in latitude 38°, where his examination of this coaft began; and that part

- * Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 239.
- + See Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. iii.

of Van Diemen's Land, from whence Tasman took his departure, was not above fifty-five leagues. It was highly probable, therefore, that they were connected; though Captain Cook cautioufly fays, that he could mot determine whether his New South Wales, that is, the Eaft Coaft of New Holland, joins to Van Diemen's Land, or no *. But what was thus left undetermined by the operations of his first voyage, was, in the course of his second, soon cleared up; Captain Furneaux, in the Adventure, during his feparation from the Refolution (a fortunate feparation as it thus turned out) in 1773, having explored Van Diemen's Land, from its Southern point, along the East coast, far beyond Taiman's station, and on to the latitude 38°, where Captain Cook's examination of it in 1770 had commenced +.

It is no longer, therefore, a doubt, that we have now a full knowledge of the whole circumference of this vaft body of land, this fifth part of the world (if I may fo fpeak), which our late voyages have difcovered to be of fo amazing a magnitude, that, to use Captain Cook's words, it is of a larger extent than any other country in the known world, that does not bear the name of a continent 1.

4. Taiman having entered the Pacific Ocean, after leaving Van Diemen's Land, had fallen in with a coaft to which he gave the name of New Zealand. The extent of this coaft, and its position in any direction but a part of its Weft fide, which he failed along in his courfe Northward, being left abfolutely unknown, it had been a favourite opinion amongst geographers, fince his time, that New Zealand was a part of a Southern con-

* Hawkefworth, Vol. iii. p. 483. + Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 114. ‡ Hawkefworth, Vol. iii. p. 622.

tinent,

tinent, running North and South, from the 33° to the 64° of South latitude, and its Northern coaft, ftretching crofs the South Pacific to an immenfe diftance, where its Eastern boundary had been feen by Juan Fernandez, half a century before. Captain Cook's voyage in the Endeavour, has totally deftroyed this supposition. Though Talman must still have the credit of having first seen New Zealand; to Captain Cook folely belongs that of having really explored it. He fpent near fix months upon its coafts in 1769 and 1770 *, circumnavigated it completely, and accertained its extent and division into two islands +. Repeated visits fince that, have perfected this important discovery, which, though now known to be no part of a Southern continent, will, probably, in all future charts of the world, be diffinguished as the largest islands that exist in that part of the Southern hemisphere.

5. Whether New Holland did or did not join to New Guinea, was a queftion involved in much doubt and uncertainty, before Captain Cook's failing between them, through Endeavour Strait, de-We will not hefitate to call this an cided it. important acquifition to geography. For though the great fagacity and extensive reading of Mr. Dalrymple, had discovered some traces of such a passage having been found before t, yet these traces were to obfcure, and fo little known in the prefent age, that they had not generally regulated the construction of our charts; the Prefident De

Broffes,

zvi

^{*} From October 6, 1769, to March 31, 1770. + Its Southern extremity nearly in latitude 47°, and its Northern in $35^{\circ}\frac{1}{2}$. See Captain Cook's chart, in Hawkefworth, Vol. ii. p. 281.

T See the track of Torré, in one of Quiros's thips, in 1606, between New Holland and New Guinea, upon Mr. Dalrymple's Chart of Discoveries in the South Pacific Ocean, before 1764.

Broffes *, who wrote in 1756, and was well verfed in geographical refearches, had not been able to fatisfy himfelf about them; and Monf. de Bougainville, in 1768, who had ventured to fall in with the South coaft of New Guinea, near ninety leagues to the Weftward of its South East point, chose rather to work those ninety leagues directly to windward, at a time when his people were in fuch diftrefs for provisions as to eat the feal-fkins from off the yards and rigging, than to run the rifk of finding a paffage, of the exiftence of which he entertained the ftrongeft doubts, by perfevering in his Wefterly courfe+. Captain Cook therefore in this part of his voyage (though he modeftly difclaims all merit t), has established, beyond future controverfy, a fact of effential fervice to navigation, by opening if not a new, at least an unfrequented and forgotten communication between the South Pacific and Indian Oceans.

6. One more discovery, for which we are indebted to Captain Carteret, as fimilar in fome degree to that last mentioned, may properly succeed it, in this enumeration. Dampier, in failing round what was supposed to be part of the coast of New Guinea, difcovered it to belong to a separate island, to which he gave the name of New Britain. But that the land which he named New Britain, should be sub-divided again into two separate large islands, with many finaller intervening, is a point of geo-

* M. de Broffes fays of New Guinea : " C'est une longue isle, " ou prefqu' ifle, fi elle touche à la Nouvelle Hollande." Navigations aux Terres Auftrales, Tom. i. p. 434. + " Le trifte état où nous étions réduits, ne nous permettoit

" de chercher en faifant route à l'ouest, un passage au sud de la " Nouvelle Guinée, qui nous frayat par le Golfe de la Carpen-Nouvelle Guinee, dui hous n'aya pai to conte de la carterie terie une route nouvelle & courte aux iles Moluques. Rien *n'étoit à la vérité plus problématique que l'exiftence de ce paf- fage.*" Voyage autour du Monde, p. 259.
Hawkefworth, Vol. iii. p. 660.

Vol. I.

graphical

xvii

graphical information, which, if ever traced by any of the earlieft navigators of the South Pacific, had not been handed down to the prefent age: and its having been afcertained by Captain Carteret, deferves to be mentioned as a discovery, in the ftricteft fense of the word; a discovery of the utmost importance to navigation. St. George's Channel, through which his fhip found a way, hetween New Britain and New Ireland, from the Pacific into the Indian Ocean, to use the Captain's own words *, " is a much better and horter paffage, whether from the Eaftward or Weftward, than round all the iflands and lands of the Northward t."

V.

The voyages of Byron, Wallis, and Carteret were principally confined to a favourite object of discovery in the South Atlantic, and though acceflions to geography were procured by them in the South Pacific, they could do but little toward giving the world a complete view of the contents of that immense expanse of ocean, through which they only held a direct track, on their way homeward by the Eaft-Indies. Cook, indeed, who was appointed to the conduct of the fucceeding voyage, had a more accurate examination of the South Pacific intrusted to him. But as the improvement of aftronomy went hand in hand, in his inftructions, with that of geography, the Captain's foli-

* Hawkefworth, Vol. i. p. 563. † The polition of the Solomon Iflands, Mendana's celebrated difcovery, will no longer remain a matter in debate amongft geographers, Mr. Dairymple having, on the most fatisfactory evidence, proved, that they are the cluster of islands which comprizes what has fince been called New Britain, New Ireland, &c. The great light thrown on that clufter by Captain Carteret's dif-covery, is a Atrong confirmation of this. See Mr. Dalrymple's Collection of Voyages, Vol. i. p. 16-21.

citude

xviii

citude to arrive at Otaheite time enough to observe the transit of Venus, put it out of his power to deviate from his direct track, in fearch of unknown lands that might lie to the South Eaft of that island. By this unavoidable attention to his duty, a very confiderable part of the South Pacific, and that part where the richeft mine of difcovery was fuppoled to exift, remained unvilited and unexplored, during that voyage in the Endeavour. To remedy this, and to clear up a point, which, though many of the learned were confident of, upon principles of fpeculative reasoning, and many of the unlearned admitted, upon what they thought to be credible teftimony, was ftill held to be very problematical, if not absolutely groundless, by others who were lefs fanguine or more incredulous; his Majefty, always ready to forward every inquiry that can add to the flock of interefling knowledge in every branch, ordered another expedition to be undertaken. The fignal fervices performed by Captain Cook, during his first voyage, of which we have given the outlines, marked him as the fitteft perfon to finish an examination which he had already fo fkilfully executed in part. Accordingly, he was fent out in 1772, with two ships, the Refolution and Adventure, upon the most enlarged plan of discovery known in the annals of navigation. For he was inftructed not only to circumnavigate the whole globe, but to circumnavigate it in high Southern latitudes, making fuch traverfes, from time to time, into every corner of the Pacific Ocean not before examined, as might finally and effectually refolve the much agitated queftion about the exiftence of a Southern continent, in any part of the Southern hemisphere accessible by navigation.

The ample accessions to geography, by the difcovery of many islands within the Tropic in the Pacific

b 2

xix

Pacific Ocean, in the course of this voyage, which was carried on, with fingular perfeverance, between three and four years, have been already stated to the reader. But the general fearch now made, throughout the whole Southern hemisphere, as being the principal object in view, hath been referved for this separate article. Here, indeed, we are not to take notice of lands that have been difcovered, but of feas failed through, where lands had been fuppofed to exift. In tracing the route of the Refolution and Adventure, throughout the South Atlantic, the South Indian, and the South Pacific Oceans that environ the globe, and combining it with the route of the Endeavour, we receive what may be called ocular demonstration, that Captain Cook, in his perfevering refearches, failed over many an extensive continent, which, though supposed to have been feen by former navigators, at the approach of his fhips, funk into the bofom of the ocean, and, like the baseless fabric of a vision, left not a rack behind*. It has been urged, that the existence of

* It must be observed, however, that Monsieur le Monier, in the Memoirs of the French Academy of Sciences for 1776, pleads for the existence of Cape Circuncition, feen by Bouvet in 1738, which our English navigator fought for in vain, and fupposes to have been only an island of ice. Mr. Wales, in a paper read before the Royal Society, very forcibly replied to M. le Monier's objections; and the attack having been repeated, he has drawn up a more extended defence of this part of Captain Cook's Journal, which he hath very obligingly communicated, and is here inferted.

Arguments, tending to prove that Captain Cook fought for Cape Circumcifion under the proper Meridian; and that the Objections which have been made to his Conduct, in this respect, are not well founded.

In the Memoirs of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Paris for 1776, printed in 1779, *M. Le Monier* has made fome remarks, with a defign to thew that Captain Cook fought the land, ufually called Cape Circumcifion, in a wrong place; and that, inflead of looking for it under the meridian of $9^{\circ\frac{1}{2}}$ or 10° of Eaft longitude.

XX

of a Southern continent is neceffary to preferve an *equilibrium* between the two hemilpheres. But however

gitude, he ought to have looked for it under a meridian which is only 3° , or $3^\circ \frac{1}{2}$ to the Eaftward of the meridian of Greenwich; and confequently that this land may exit, notwithitanding all that has yet been done to find it. *M. Le Monier* has alfo two additional Memoirs on the fame fubject, in the volume for 1779, occafioned, as it appears, by fome objections which have been made to his former Memoir before the Academy. For fome reafon or other, the Academy has not thought proper to print the objections which have been made to *M. Le Monier's* hypothefis; nor has he been particular enough in his two Memoirs, which reply to them, to enable me to fay of what importance the objections are. I can only gather, that they contain fome exceptions to the quantity by which *M. Le Monier* afferts the variation alters in 10° of longitude, under the parallel of 54° South; and which, I conceive, has little to do in the difpute.

Whether the land, ufually called Cape Circumcifion, exifts or not, is a point of fmall importance to geography; as the most ftrenuous afferters of its existence must allow it to be a very inconfiderable ifland, and of no ufe. This, therefore, is not, in itfelf, a matter worthy of difpute: but in afferting this, M. Le Monier has, and I am forty to obferve it, with fome afperity too, particularly in his fecond Memoir, endeavoured to cenfure the judgment and conduct of Captain Cook, whofe memory I have every reason to revere, as well as the judgment of those who were with him, and, on this account, I cannot help feeling myfelf called on to explain the motives which induced Captain Cook to place no dependance on the arguments, now adduced by M. Le Monier, in fupport of his fuppolition, and which, M. Le Monier muft know, were not unattended to, at that time, from what the Captain has faid, p. 236. Vol. II. of his Account of the Voyage. And it may be proper to obferve here, that what fell from Captain Cook, on this fubject, was to fnew that this circumftance was then attended to, and not to throw blame on M. Bouvet, for whofe memory and abilities Captain Cook entertained great respect: nor is it incompatible with the utmost respect, for a man to have a favourable opinion of his own labours; or to endeavour to fnew why he thinks the difagreement between them and those of another person, when there is one, does not arife from an error committed by himself. There could, therefore, he no occasion for M. Le Monier to express himfelf as he has done in feveral parts of his fecond Memoir.

The fubitance of *M. Le Monier's* argument is this. In 1739, when *M. Bouvet's* difcovery is fuppofed to have been made, the methods for determining the longitude of a thip at fea were very defective; and, of courfe, the longitude of any land which happened accidentally to be feen by one, was equally uncertain. On a prefumption that this was the cafe with refpect to Cape Circumcition, *M. Le Monier* enquires into the quantity of the variation of however plaufible this theory may feem, at first fight, experience has abundantly detected its fallacy.

of the magnetic needle, obferved by M. Bouvet at that place, and alfo into obfervations of the fame kind, made at other places in the neighbourhood of it, about the fame time, as well as both before and fince. And by comparing thefe obfervations together, he concludes, that at the time when Captain Cook was in thefe feas, the variation of the needle at Cape Circumcifion muft have been to³ Wefterly: whereas, in the moft Wefterly point of Captain Cook's track, where he was fufficiently near the parallel of 54^{2} South, to have feen land fituated in it, the variation, was $13^{3^{1}}_{2}$ Wefterly. This difference of $3^{0^{1}}_{2}$, in the variation, anfwers to about 7^{3} of longitude, in this part of the parallel of 54. South: and by fo much did Captain Cook fall in with this parallel to the Eaftward of what he ought to have done to fee the land in queltion. "Hence (M. Le Monier infers), that it is not "furprizing the British navigator should not find Cape Circum-"tion under a meridian which is $28^{3^{1}}_{2}$ to the Eaftward of Fer-"ro, when the is really fituated under a meridian which is but "a 1^{3}_{2} to the Eaftward of it."

In replying to these allegations, I shall, first, shew, that, granting the dependence which *M. Le Monier* supposes may be placed on observations of the variation made at she, he has stated the quantity of the variation, observed on board the Refolution, very erroneously.

Secondly, I fhall prove, beyond contradiction, that obfervations of the variation, made at fea, cannot be depended on, for the purpofes to which *M. Le Monier* has applied them.

And, laftly, that no material error had crept into *M. Bouvee's* reckoning; but that if any error did exift, it must have been of a contrary nature to that which *M. Le Monier* suppose.

That M. Le Monier has not given altogether a true reprefentation of the matter, will appear from hence. On the 16th of February, at noon *, the Refolution was in latitude 54° 31½ South, which is fufficiently near the parallel of 54° South, to fee high land, the Northern extremity of which lies to the Southward of that parallel; and at that time we were in 6° Eafl of Greenwich, or 23° a Eafl of the ifland of Ferro: that is, 4° a lefs than is affigned for our futuation by M. Le Monier. On the evening of the fame day, the fhip being in latitude 54° 24′, and longitude 6° 30′, or 24° a Eafl of Ferro, the variation was no more than 12° 7′ Weft, which alfo is near a degree and a half lefs than M. Le Monier fays it was, when we first arrived in a proper parallel

xxii

^{*} I here go by the dates in " The Original Aftronomical Obferva-"tions," printed by order of the Board of Longitude; which, after the 14th of February 1776, differ one day from Captain Cook's date.

lacy. In confequence of Captain Cook's voyage, now under confideration, we have a thorough knowledge

rallel for feeing Cape Circumcifion. It is true, the next morning, in latitude 54° $21\frac{1}{2}'$ South, longitude 8° 6' Eaft, we had 13º 42' West variation; but this was after we had run more than two degrees within fight of the parallel of 54° South. It is moreover, highly probable, that both these variations were too great; for, on the 17th, in the evening, latitude 54° 25' South, and longitude 9' 20' East; that is, 101 more to the Eastward. and after we had run $3^{\circ} \frac{1}{3}$ on the parallel we were then on, the variation was no more than 13º 16' West. It is also worthy of remark, that on the 14th, in the evening, latitude 56° 141 South, and longitude 4° 50' East, which is but 1° 10' to the Weltward of the point, where the Refolution came first into a proper situation to fee land, fituated in the parallel of 54° South, the variation observed was no more than 6° 50' West. And we may further add, that on the 1it of March, 1774, the Adventure had no more than 1203 Weft variation, though the was then confiderably both to the Northward and Eastward of our fituation on the 17th of February in the morning, on both which accounts the variation ought to have been greater, instead of a whole degree lefs. From all these circumstances, there can be little doubt but that the two variations, observed by us on the 16th and 17th of February, were too great; or that the variation, at the point where the Refolution first came fufficiently near the parallel of 54° South, to fee land, the Northern extremity of which is fituated in that parallel, could not be more than $11^{\circ}\frac{t}{2}$ Weft, inftead of $13^{0}\frac{1}{2}$, as *M*. Le Monier has reprefented it.

Under this head of enquiry I may also observe, that although the Resolution was too much to the Southward of the parallel of 54° South, when the croffed the meridian which is $2t^\circ\frac{1}{2}$ to the Eaftward of Ferro; that is, $5^\circ\frac{3}{2}$ Eaft of Greenwich, the longitude which *M. Le Monier* affigns for Cape Circumcition, to fee if it had been in that fituation; yet her confort, the Adventure, was for feveral degrees on each fide of that meridian ; and elpecially when the had $10^\circ\frac{1}{2}$ of Welt variation, full as near to the parallel of 54° South as *M. Bouvet* was to the land when he faw it*: and on the day that the actually paffed that meridian, had fine clear weather †. Hence, therefore, granting *M. Le Moni* r his own arguments, which, however, I have proved to be erroneous; and that observations made at fea, for the variation of the compals, may be depended on for the purpose of finding the longitude, it is utterly impossible that both the Resolution and Adventure

^{*} See The Original Aftronomical Observations, p. 185, and Bouvet's Voyage, published by Mr. Dalrymple, p. 4, and 11.

¹ See the Observations, p. 218.

knowledge of the ftate of the Southern hemisphere, and can pronounce with certainty, that the equilibrium

Adventure could have paffed Cape Circumcifion without feeing it. But I fhall now fhew, that these observations are liable to a much greater error than the whole quantity, fo vigorously infifted on by this gentleman.

I will not here run the rifk of incurring *M. Le Monier's* difpleafure, by calling the accuracy of *M. Bouvet's* obfervations in quefition; but will admit every thing that he himfelf can think due to the infituments and obfervations of that deferving navigator. It is enough for my argument, and it is but too evident, from the obfervations themfelves, that ours were by no means capable of determining the variation to fo fmall a quantity as that which *M. Le Monier* refts his whole caufe upon; and if fo, his arguments, which depend wholly on a fuppolition, that not only they, but *M. Bouvet's* allo, were capable of determining it with the utmoft exactnels, mult fall to the ground.

iii, it appears, from various inflances, that the variations obferved by the fame compafs would differ 3° to 5° , 6° , and fometimes even 10° , from no other caufe whatever, but putting the flip's head a contrary way *.

2d, That the fame compais, in the fame fituation in every refpect, within a few miles, but at two different times of the fame day, would give variations differing from one another, 3° , 4° , 5° , 6° , and even 7° +. 3d, That the fame compais, on the fame day, and in the

3d, That the fame compais, on the fame day, and in the hands of the fame obferver, will give variations differing from one another by 5° , on board the fame thip, when under fail, and when at anchor in a road-flead 1.

4th, Compasses, made by the fame artist, at the fame time and place, but on board different ships, differed 3° , 4° , and even 5° in the variation §.

5th,

* See the Original Aftronomical Obfervations, made in the fecond Voyage, March 11, 1773, p. 372. January 24, 1774, p. 375. and July 28, p. 378.

28, p. 378. † Obfervations in the fecond Voyage, February 2, 1773, p. 371. and January 19, 1775, p. 382. Alfo Obfervations in laft Voyage, July 17, 1776, p. 179. August 30, p. 181. January 24, 1777, p. 192. and September 15, 1778, p. 205.

1776, p. 179. August 30, p. 181. January 24, 1777, p. 192. and September 15, 1778, p. 205. 1 Aftronomical obfervations of fecond Voyage, July 14, 1775, p. 385. § Compare the Aftronomical Obfervations, made in the fecond Voyage, August 3, and 9, and September 4, 1772, p. 181. with those of the fame dates, p. 365. Those of January 11, and 14, and February 7, 1773, p. 182, with those of the fame dates, p. 371. Alio Aftronomical Obfervations, made in the last Voyage, of December 27, 1776, p. 191. Pebruary 22, 1778, p. 201. May 9, and 24, 1779, p. 209. and January 16, 1780, p. 212. with those of the fame dates, p. 291, 293, 294, 297, and 298.

xxiv

librium of the globe is effectually preferved, though

5th, The fame Compafies, on board the fame fhip, and within a few miles of the fame fituation, but at different times of our being there, gave variations differing by 4° and 5° , or upwards*.

6th, Different compasses, at the fame time, on board the fame fhip, and in every refpect under the fame circumstances, will give variations differing from one another, 3°, 4°, 5°, and 6° +. These differences, several of which happened very near the

Thefe differences, feveral of which happened very near the place in queffion, are all of them at leaft equal to, moft of them much greater, and fome of them double that which M. Le Monier founds his argument on, even according to his own account of it, which I have already fhewn is by no means admiffible, and, therefore, totally invalidate it. To allege that the infituments made ufe of in Captain Cook's two voyages were bad, or that the obfervers were not expert in the ufe of them, will anfwer no purpole: they are the inftruments and obfervers which M. Le Monier's argument muft reft on; and, therefore, let those of the French, or any other navigator, have been ever fo much better than they were (which few will be hardy enough to affert, and fewer fill found weak enough to believe), it will avail nothing to the point in difpute, which muft evidently fall to the ground, if the obfervations made for finding the variation in Captain Cook's voyage are not fufficient to fupport it. What then muft become of it, if M. Bouver's obfervations, of this kind, were liable to an equal, or a greater error ? which, without any reafonable caufe for offence, we might fuppofe they were.

It is not neceffary to account for thefe differences in the obferved variations in this place, nor yet to point out the reafons why fuch anomalies have not been noticed in obfervations of this kind before. I shall, however, remark, that I have hinted at fome of the caufes in my introduction to the obfervations which were made in Captain Cook's fecond voyage; and many others will readily offer themfelves to perfons who have had much practice in making thefe obfervations, and who have attentively xxv

^{*} Compare Aftronomical Obfervations, made in the fecond Voyage, February 10, p. 375. with Obfervations of December 11, 1774, p. 381. Alfo Obfervations, made in the laft Voyage, May 3, and June 18, 1779, p. 208.

⁺ Obfervations made in the fecond Voyage, February 2, 1773, p. 371. March 18, p. 372. and January 24, 1774, p. 375. See alfo Obfervations made laft Voyage, August 18, 1776, p. 180. October 7, and 14, p. 189, and 190. December 12, p. ibid. January 24, 1777, p. 192. March 10, p. 193. July 9, and 17, 1779, p. 209. January 16, 1780, p. 212. March 24, p. 213. and May 19, p. 214.

though the proportion of fea actually failed through, leaves no fufficient fpace for the corresponding mass of

tentively confidered the principles on which the inftruments are constructed, and the manner in which they are fabricated. Nor is it at all furprifing, that the errors to which the inftruments and observations of this kind are liable, should not have been discovered before, fince no navigators before us ever gave the fame opportunity, by multiplying their obfervations, and mak-ing them under fuch a variety of circumstances as we did.

Having now fully shewn, that the circumstances, brought forward by M. Le Monier, in support of his argument, are neither fuch as can be depended on, nor yet fairly reprefented, I fhall next attempt to demonstrate, that it is utterly improbable M. Bouvet could be out, in his account of longitude, fo much as is here supposed, in the short run which had been made from the ifland of St. Catherine, the place they took their departure from : on the contrary, that there is fufficient reason to believe the error, of whatever magnitude it might be, was of a different nature from that contended for, and that the two fhips, inflead of being to the Weftward of their account of longitude, were actually to the Eaftward of it. For, according to their Jour-nals, extracted from the archives of the French Eaft-India Company, by *M. D'Apres*, printed under his infpection, and published by Mr. Dalrymple, F. R. S. amongst other voyages made for the purpose of examining the Southern parts of the Atlantic Ocean, the longitude, according to the Eagle's run from St. Octain, the longitude, according to the Lagle's run from St. Catherine's, was 26° 27', and according to the Mary's, 26° 20'Eaft of Teneriff'; that is, 9° 57', and 9° 50' Eaft of Greenwich, or 27° 43', and 27° 36' Eaft of Ferro. But the Mary, which went to the Cape of Good Hope, made 7° 13' Eaft longitude from the land in quefition, to that place. Confequently the Care of Care Here bring in large the 29° 2° 10° 10° Cape of Good Hope being in longitude 18° 23' East of Greenwich, Cape Circumcifion will be in 11° 10' Eaft of Greenwich, or 1° 20' more to the Eaftward than the run by the fame ship For the island of St. Catherine's makes it. Again, the Eagle made the difference of longitude between Cape Circumcifion, and the island of Rodrigues, 49° , 44'; and by the obfervations of M. Pingre, this island is in 62° so' of East longitude from Greenwich: Cape Circumcifion is therefore in 13° 6' East of Greenwich, or 2° g more to the Eastward than by the Eagle's run from St. Catherine's Hence therefore as the longitude of run from St. Catherine's. Hence, therefore, as the longitude of this land refulting from a comparison of that shewn by each of the ships, on their making land at places where the longitude is exceedingly well determined, is greater than that which refults from their run from St. Catherine's, the longitude of which is not known with certainty within feveral degrees, we may infer, with great fafety, that whatever the quantity of M. Bouvet's error might be, when he is fuppoled to have feen Cape Circumcifion,

xxvi

of land, which, on fpeculative arguments had been maintained to be necessary *.

If former navigators have added more land to the known globe than Captain Cook, to him, at leaft, was referved the honour of being foremost in disclosing to us the extent of sea that covers its furface. His own fummary view of the tranfactions of this voyage, will be a proper conclusion to these remarks : "I had now made the circuit of " the Southern Ocean in a high latitude, and tra-" versed it in such a manner as to leave not the " leaft room for there being a continent, unlefs " near the pole, and out of the reach of naviga-" tion. By twice visiting the Tropical Sea, I had " not only fettled the fituation of fome old difcove-" ries, but made there many new ones, and left, " I conceive, very little to be done, even in that " part. Thus I flatter myfelf, that the intention " of the voyage has, in every respect, been fully

cumcifion, it muft have been in defect, and not in excefs, as M. Le Monier fuppofes it.

CHRIST'S HOSPITAL, April 20, 1784.

W. WALES.

* The judgment of the ingenious Author of *Recherches fur* les Américains, on this queftion, feems to be very deferving of a place here: "Qu'on calcule, comme on voudra, on fera tou-" jours contraint d'avouer, qu'il y a une plus grande portion de " continent fituée dans la latitude feptentrionale, que dans la " latitude auftrale.

"C'eff fort mal à-propos, qu'on a foutenu que cette répartition "inégale ne fauroit exifier, fous prétexte que le globe perdroit "fon équilibre, faute d'un contrepoids fuffifant au pole méri-"dionale. Il ett vrai qu'un pied cube d'eau falée ne pefe pas "autant qu'un pied cube de terre; mais on auroit dû réfléchir, "qu'il peut y avoir fous l'ocean des lits & des couches de ma-"tières, dont la péfanteur fpécifique varie à l'infini, & que le "peu de profondeur d'une mer, verfée fur une grande furface, "ou elle eft plus profonde." Recherches Philofophiques, Tom. ii. p. 375.

" anfwered;

" anfwered; the Southern hemifphere fufficiently " explored; and a final end put to the fearching " after a Southern continent, which has, at times, " engroffed the attention of fome of the Mari-" time Powers for near two centuries paft, and " been a favourite theory amongft the geographers " of all ages *"

Thus far, therefore, the voyages to difclofe new tracks of navigation, and to reform old defects in geography, appear to have been profecuted with a fatisfactory fhare of fuccefs. A perufal of the foregoing fummary of what had been done, will enable every one to judge what was ftill wanting to complete the great plan of dif-The Southern hemisphere had, indeed, covery. been repeatedly vifited, and its utmost accessible extremities been furveyed. But much uncertainty, and of course, great variety of opinion, fubfifted, as to the navigable extremities of our own hemisphere; particularly, as to the existence, or, at leaft, as to the practicability of a Northern paffage between the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, either by failing Eaftward, round Afia, or Weftward, round North America.

It was obvious, that if fuch a paffage could be effected, voyages to Japan and China, and, indeed, to the Eaft Indies in general, would be much fhortened; and confequently become more profitable, than by making the tedious circuit of the Cape of Good Hope. Accordingly, it became a favourite object of the Englifh to effectuate this, above two centuries ago; and (to fay nothing of Cabot's original attempt, in 1497, which ended in the difcovery of Newfoundland, and the Labradore coaft) from Frobifher's firft voyage to find

* Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 239.

a Weftern

xxviii

a Western passage, in 1576, to those of James and of Fox, in 1631, repeated trials had been made by our enterprifing adventurers. But though farther knowledge of the Northern extent of America was obtained in the courfe of these voyages, by the difcovery of Hudfon's and Baffin's Bays, the wished-for passage, on that fide, into the Pacific Ocean, was still unattained. Our countrymen, and the Dutch, were equally unfuccefsful, in various attempts, to find this paffage in an Wood's failure, in 1676, feems Eastern direction. to have closed the long lift of unfortunate Northern expeditions in that century; and the difcovery, if not abfolutely defpaired of, by having been to often miffed, ceafed, for many years, to be fought for.

Mr. Dobbs, a warm advocate for the probability of a North Weft paffage through Hudfon's Bay, in our own time, once more recalled the attention of this country to that undertaking; and, by his active zeal, and perfevering folicitation, renewed the fpirit of discovery. But it was renewed in vain. For Captain Middleton, fent out by Government in 1741, and Captains Smith and Moore, by a private fociety, in 1746, though encouraged by an act of Parliament passed in the preceding year, that annexed a reward of twenty thousand pounds to the discovery of a pasfage, returned from Hudson's Bay with reports of their proceedings, that left the accomplishment of this favourite object at as great a diftance as ever.

When refearches of this kind, no longer left to the folicitations of an individual, or to the fubfcriptions of private adventurers, became cherifhed by the Royal attention, in the prefent reign, and warmly promoted by the Minifter at the head of xxix

of the naval department, it was impossible, while fo much was done toward exploring the remoteft corners of the Southern hemisphere, that the Northern paffage should not be attempted. Accordingly, while Captain Cook was profecuting his voyage toward the South Pole, in 1773, Lord Mulgrave sailed with two ships, to determine bow far navigation was practicable toward the North Pole. And though his Lordship met with the same insuperable bar to his progress, which former navigators had experienced *, the hopes of opening a communication between the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans, by a Northerly course, were not abandoned; and a voyage for that purpose, was ordered to be undertaken.

The operations proposed to be purfued, were for new, fo extensive, and fo various, that the skill and experience of Captain Cook, it was thought, would be requifite to conduct them. Without being liable to any charge of want of zeal for the public fervice, he might have paffed the reft of his days in the command to which he had been appointed in Greenwich Hospital, there to enjoy the fame he had dearly earned in two circumnavigations of the world. But he cheerfully relinquifhed this honourable flation at home; and, happy that the Earl of Sandwich had not caft his eye upon any other Commander, engaged in the conduct of the expedition, the hiftory of which is prefented to the Public in these Volumes; an expedition that would expose him to the toils and perils of a third circumnavigation, by a track hitherto unattempted. Every former navigator round

XXX

^{*} See the hiftory of former attempts to fail toward the North Pole, in the Introduction to Lord Mulgrave's Journal. Mr. Barrington has collected feveral inflances of thips advancing to very high latitudes. See his Mifcellanies, p. 1-124.

the globe had made his passage home to Europe by the Cape of Good Hope; the arduous talk was now affigned to Captain Cook, of attempting it, by reaching the high Northern latitudes between Afia and America. So that the usual plan of difcovery was reverfed; and, inftead of a paffage from the Atlantic to the Pacific, one from the latter into the former was to be tried. For it was wifely forefeen, that whatever openings or inlets there might be on the Eaft fide of America, which lie in a direction which could give any hopes of a paffage, the ultimate fuccess of it would still depend upon there being an open fea between the Weft fide of that continent, and the extremities Captain Cook, therefore, was ordered of Alia. to proceed into the Pacific Ocean, through the chain of his new iflands in the Southern tropic, and having croffed the equator into its Northern Parts, then to hold fuch a course as might probably fix many interefting points in geography, and produce intermediate difcoveries, in his progrefs Northward to the principal fcene of his operations.

But the plan of the voyage, and the various objects it embraced, will beft appear from the Inftructions under which Captain Cook failed; and the infertion of them here, will convey fuch authentic information, as may enable the Reader to judge with precision how far they have been carried into execution. xxxi

By

By the COMMISSIONERS for executing the Office of Lord High Admiral of GREAT BRITAIN and IRELAND, &c.

SECRET INSTRUCTIONS for Captain JAMES COOK, Commander of his Majefty's Sloop the RESOLUTION.

WHEREAS the Earl of Sandwich has fignified to us his Maiesty's pleasure, that an attempt should be made to find out a Northern passage by sea from the Pacific to the Atlantic Ocean; and whereas we have, in pursuance thereof, caused his Majesty's floops Refolution and Discovery to be fitted, in all respetts, proper to proceed upon a voyage for the purpose above-mentioned, and, from the experience we have bad of your abilities and good conduct in your late voyages, have thought fit to intrust you with the conduct of the present intended voyage, and with that view appointed you to command the first mentioned floop, and directed Captain Clerke, who commands the other, to follow your orders for his further proceedings; You are bereby required and directed to proceed with the faid two floops directly to the Cape of Good Hope, unless you shall judge it necessary to stop at Madeira, the Cape de Verd, or Canary Islands, to take in wine for the use of their companies; in which case you are at liberty to do fo, taking care to remain there no longer than may be necessary for that purpose.

On your arrival at the Cape of Good Hope, you are to refresh the floops companies, and to cause the floops to be supplied with as much provisions and water as they can conveniently slow.

You are, if possible, to leave the Cape of Good Hope by the end of Ostober, or the beginning of November next,

xxxii

next, and proceed to the Southward in fearch of fome islands faid to bave been lately seen by the French, in the latitude of 48° o' South, and about the meridian of Mauritius. In case you find those islands, you are to examine them thoroughly for a good harbour; and upon discovering one, make the necessary observations to facilitate the finding it again; as a good port, in that fituation, may bereafter prove very useful, although it should afford little or nothing more than shelter, wood, and water. You are not, bowever, to spend too much time in looking out for those islands, or in the examination of them, if found, but proceed to Otabeite, or the Society Ifles (touching at New Zealand in your way thither, if you should judge it necessary and convenient), and taking care to arrive there time enough to admit of your giving the floops companies the refreshment they may stand in need of. before you prosecute the farther object of these in-AruEtions.

Upon your arrival at Otabeite, or the Society Istes, you are to land Omiah at such of them as he may choose, and to leave him there.

You are to distribute among the Chiefs of those islands such part of the presents with which you have been supplied, as you shall judge proper, referving the remainder to distribute among the natives of the countries you may discover in the Northern Hemisphere: And having refreshed the people belonging to the floops under your command, and taken on board fuch wood and water as they may respectively stand in need of, you are to leave those islands in the beginning of February, or sooner if you shall judge it necessary, and then proceed in as direct a course as you can to the coast of New Albion, endeavouring to fall in with it in the latitude of 45° o' North; and taking care, in your way thither, not to lose any time in search of new lands, or to Vol. I. С

xx siis

to flop at any you may fall in with, unlefs you find it necessary to recruit your wood and water.

You are alfo, in your way thither, firifily enjoined not to touch upon any part of the Spanish dominions on the Western continent of America, unless driven thither by some unavoidable accident; in which ease you are to stay no longer there than shall be absolutely necessary, and to be very careful not to give any umbrage or offence to any of the inhabitants or subjects of his Catholic Majesty. And if, in your farther progress to the Northward, as hereafter directed, you sind any subjects of any European Prince or State upon any part of the coast you may think proper to visit, you are not to disturb them, or give them any just cause of offence, but, on the contrary, to treat them with civility and friendship.

Upon your arrival on the coaft of New Albion, you are to put into the first convenient port to recruit your wood and water, and procure refreshments, and then to proceed Northward along the coaft, as far as the latitude of 65°, or farther, if you are not obstructed by lands or ice; taking care not to lose any time in exploring rivers or inlets, or upon any other account, until you get into the before-mentioned latitude of 65°, where we could wift you to arrive in the month of June next. When you get that length, you are very carefully to fearch for, and to explore, Juch rivers or inlets as may appear to be of a confiderable extent, and pointing towards Hudson's or Baffin's Bays: and if, from your own observations, or from any information you may receive from the natives (who, there is reason to believe, are the same race of people, and Speak the Same language, of which you are furnished with a Vocabulary, as the Esquimaux), there shall appear to be a certainty, or even a probability, of a water passe into the afore-mentioned bays, or either of

Xxxiv

of them, you are, in such case, to use your utmost endeavours to pass through with one or both of the floops, unless you shall be of opinion that the paffage may be effected with more certainty, or with greater probability, by smaller veffels; in which cafe you are to fet up the frames of one or both the small veffels with which you are provided, and, when they are put together, and are properly fitted, stored, and vistualled, you are to dispatch one or both of them, under the care of proper officers, with a sufficient number of petty officers, men, and boats, in order to attempt the fame paffage; with fuch instructions for their rejoining you, if they should fail, or for their farther proceedings, if they should succeed in the attempt, as you shall judge mast proper. But, nevertheless, if you shall find it more eligible to pursue any other measures than those above pointed out, in order to make a discovery of the before-mentioned passage (if any fuch there be), you are at liberty, and we leave it to your diferention, to purfue fuch measures accordingly.

In cafe you shall be satisfied that there is no passage through to the above-mentioned bays, fufficient for the purposes of navigation, you are, at the proper season of the year, to repair to the port of St. Peter and St. Paul in Kamtschatka, or wherever else you shall judge more proper, in order to refresh your people and pass the Winter; and, in the Spring of the enfuing year 1778, to proceed from thence to the Northward, as far as, in your prudence, you may think proper, in further fearch of a North East, or North West pas-Sage, from the Pacific Ocean into the Atlantic Ocean, or the North Sea: and if, from your own observation, or any information you may receive, there shall appear to be a probability of such paffage, you are to proceed as above directed : and, having discovered Juch C 2

XXXV

fuch paffage, or failed in the attempt, make the beff of your way back to England, by fuch route as you may think beft for the improvement of geography and navigation; repairing to Spithead with both floops, where they are to remain till further order.

At whatever places you may touch in the course of your voyage, where accurate observations of the nature bereafter mentioned have not already been made, you are, as far as your time will allow, very carefully to observe the true situation of such places, both in latitude and longitude; the variation of the needle; bearings of head lands; height, direction, and courfe of the tides and currents; depths and foundings of the fea; shoals, rocks, Sc.; and also to survey, make charts, and take views of fuch bays, harbours, and different parts of the coast, and to make such notations thereon, as may be useful either to navigation or com-You are also carefully to observe the nature merce of the foil, and the produce thereof; the animals and fowls that inhabit or frequent it; the fifthes that are to be found in the rivers or upon the coaft, and in what plenty; and, in cafe there are any peculiar to fuch places, to describe them as minutely, and to make as accurate drawings of them, as you can : and, if you find any metals, minerals, or valuable stones, or any extraneous fosfils, you are to bring home specimens of each; as also of the seeds of such trees, shrubs, plants, fruits, and grains, peculiar to those places, as you may be able to collect, and to transmit them to our Secretary. that proper examination and experiments may be made of them. You are likewife to observe the genius, temper, disposition, and number of the natives and inhabitants, where you find any; and to endeavour, by all proper means, to cultivate a friendship with them : making them presents of such trinkets as you may have on board, and they may like best; inviting them to traffic:

xxxvi

traffic; and shewing them every kind of civility and regard; but taking care, nevertheles, not to suffer yourself to be surprised by them, but to be always on your guard against any accidents.

You are also, with the confent of the natives, to take poffession, in the name of the King of Great Britain, of convenient fituations in such countries as you may discover, that have not already been discovered or visited by any other European power; and to distribute among the inhabitants such things as will remain as traces and testimonies of your having been there; but if you find the countries so discovered are uninhabited, you are to take posses and inscriptions, as first discoverers and posses.

But forafmuch as, in undertakings of this nature, feveral emergencies may arife not to be forefeen, and therefore not particularly to be provided for by inftructions before-hand; you are, in all fuch cafes, to proceed as you shall judge most advantageous to the fervice on which you are employed.

You are, by all opportunities, to fend to our Secretary, for our information, accounts of your proceedings, and copies of the furveys and drawings you shall bave made: and upon your arrival in England, you are immediately to repair to this office, in order to lay before us a full account of your proceedings in the whole course of your voyage; taking care, before you leave the floop, to demand from the officers and petty officers, the log books and journals they may have kept, and to feal them up for our inspection; and enioining them, and the whole crew, not to divulge where they have been, until they shall have permission so to do: and you are to direct Capiain Clerke to do the fame, with respect to the officers, petty officers, and crew of the Discovery. If

xxxvii

If any accident should bappen to the Refolution in the course of the voyage, so as to disable her from proceeding any farther, you are, in such case, to remove yourself and her crew into the Discovery, and to prosecute your voyage in her; her Commander being hereby strictly required to receive you on board, and to obey your orders, the same, in every respect, as when you were actually on board the Resolution: And, in case of your inability, by sickness or otherwise, to carry these Instructions into execution, you are to be careful to leave them with the next officer in command, who is hereby required to execute them in the best manner be can.

Given under our hands the 6th day of July, 1776,

SANDWICH. C. SPENCER. H. PALLISER.

By command of their Lordships, PH. STEPHENS.

Belides ordering Captain Cook to fail on this important voyage, Government, in earneft about the object of it, adopted a measure, which, while it could not but have a powerful operation on the crews of the Resolution and Discovery, by adding the motives of interest, to the obligations of duty; at the same time encouraged all his Majesty's subjects to engage in attempts toward the proposed discovery. By the act of parliament, passed in 1745*, a reward of twenty thousand pounds had

* See the Statutes at Large, 18 George II. chap. 17.

been

xxxviii

been held out. But it had been held out only to the ships belonging to any of his Majesty's subjects, exclusive of his Majesty's own ships. The act had a still more capital defect. It held out this reward only to fuch thips as thould difcover a paffage tbrough Hudson's Bay; and, as we shall soon take occasion to explain, it was by this time, pretty certain, that no fuch paffage exifted within those limits. Effectual care was taken to remedy both these defects, by passing a new law; which, after reciting the provisions of the former, proceeds as follows: " And whereas many advantages, both to " commerce and fcience, may be also expected " from the discovery of any Northern passage for " veffels by fea, between the Atlantic and Pacific " Oceans-be it enacted, That if any ship be-" longing to any of his Majefty's fubjects, or to " bis Majesty, shall find out, and fail through, " any paffage by fea, between the Atlantic and " Pacific Oceans, in any direction, or parallel of " the Northern hemisphere, to the Northward of " the 52° of Northern latitude, the owners of fuch " fhips, if belonging to any of his Majefty's fub-" jects, or the commander, officers, and feamen, of " fuch ship belonging to bis Majesty, shall receive, " as a reward for fuch difcovery, the fum of twen-" ty thousand pounds.

"And whereas fhips employed, both in the "Spitzbergen Seas, and in Davis's Straits, have "frequent opportunities of approaching the North "Pole, though they have not time, during the "courfe of one fummer, to penetrate into the "Pacific Ocean; and whereas fuch approaches "may greatly tend to the difcovery of a commu-"nication between the Atlantic and Pacific O-"ceans, as well as be attended with many advan-"tages to commerce and fcience, &c. be it enact-"ed, XXXIX

" ed, That if any fhip fhall approach to within " 1° of the North Pole, the owner, &c. or com-" mander, &c. fo approaching, fhall receive, as a " reward for fuch first approach, the sum of five " thousand pounds*."

That nothing might be omitted that could facilitate the fuccess of Captain Cook's expedition, fome time before he failed, in the beginning of the fummer of 1776, Lieutenant Pickerfgill, appointed Commander of his Majefty's armed brig the Lion, was ordered " to proceed to Davis's " Straits, for the protection of the British whale " fifhers ;" and that first object being fecured, " he was then required and directed to proceed " up Baffin's Bay, and explore the coafts there-" of, as far as in his judgment the fame could " be done without apparent rifk, taking care to " leave the above mentioned Bay fo timely, as " to fecure his return to England in the fall of the " year;" and it was farther enjoined to him, " to make nautical remarks of every kind, and " to employ Mr. Lane (Mafter of the veffel un-" der his command) in furveying, making charts, " and taking views of the feveral bays, harbours, " and different parts of the coafts which he might " vifit, and in making fuch notations thereon as " might be useful to geography and naviga-" tion +."

Pickerfgill, we fee, was not to attempt the difcovery of the paffage. He was directed to explore the coafts of Baffin's Bay, with a view only to bring back, the fame year, fome information, which might be an ufeful direction toward planning an intended voyage into that bay the enfuing fummer, to try for the difcovery of a paffage

+ From his MS. Inftructions, dated May 14, 1776.

on

^{*} See the Statutes at Large, 1776, 16 George III. chap. 6.

en that fide, with a view to co-operate with Captain Cook, who, it was supposed (from the tenor of his instructions) would be trying for this passage, about the fame time, from the opposite fide of America.

Pickerfgill, obeying his inftructions, at least in this inftance, did return that year; but there were fufficient reasons for not fending him out again; and the command of the next expedition into Baffin's Bay was conferred on Lieutenant Young; whose Instructions, having an immediate connection with our voyage, are here inferted.

EXTRACT of INSTRUCTIONS to Lieutenant Young, commanding the Lion armed Veffel, dated 13th March 1777.

WHEREAS, in purfuance of the King's plea- Refolution. fure, fignified to us by the Earl of Sandwich, Discovery. bis Majesty's floops named in the margin have been fent out under the command of Captain Cook, in order, during this and the enfuing year, to attempt a discovery of a Northern passage, by sea, from the Pacific to the Atlantic Ocean; and, for that purpose, to run up as high as the latitude of 65° North, where it is hoped he will be able to arrive in the month of June next; and there, and as much further to the Northward as in his prudence he shall think proper, very carefully to fearch for and explore fuch rivers or inlets as may appear to be of a confiderable extent, and pointing to Hudson's or Baffin's Bays, or the North Sea; and, upon finding any paffage through, sufficient for the purposis of navigation, to attempt fuch paffage with one or both

"ed, That if any fhip fhall approach to within "1° of the North Pole, the owner, &c. or com-"mander, &c. fo approaching, fhall receive, as a "reward for fuch first approach, the fum of five thousand pounds *."

That nothing might be omitted that could facilitate the fuccels of Captain Cook's expedition, fome time before he failed, in the beginning of the fummer of 1776, Lieutenant Pickerfgill, appointed Commander of his Majefty's armed brig the Lion, was ordered " to proceed to Davis's " Straits, for the protection of the British whale " fifhers ;" and that first object being fecured, " he was then required and directed to proceed " up Baffin's Bay, and explore the coafts there-" of, as far as in his judgment the fame could " be done without apparent rifk, taking care to " leave the above mentioned Bay fo timely, as " to fecure his return to England in the fall of the " year;" and it was farther enjoined to him, " to make nautical remarks of every kind, and " to employ Mr. Lane (Mafter of the veffel un-" der his command) in furveying, making charts, " and taking views of the feveral bays, harbours, " and different parts of the coafts which he might " vifit, and in making fuch notations thereon as " might be useful to geography and naviga-" tion +."

Pickerfgill, we fee, was not to attempt the difcovery of the paffage. He was directed to explore the coafts of Baffin's Bay, with a view only to bring back, the fame year, fome information, which might be an ufeful direction toward planning an intended voyage into that bay the enfuing fummer, to try for the difcovery of a paffage

+ From his MS. Inftructions, dated May 14, 1776.

^{*} See the Statutes at Large, 1776, 16 George III. chap. 6.

on

on that fide, with a view to co-operate with Captain Cook, who, it was fuppoled (from the tenor of his inftructions) would be trying for this paffage, about the fame time, from the oppolite fide of America.

Pickerfgill, obeying his inftructions, at leaft in this inftance, did return that year; but there were fufficient reafons for not fending him out again; and the command of the next expedition into Baffin's Bay was conferred on Lieutenant Young; whofe Inftructions, having an immediate connection with our voyage, are here inferted.

EXTRACT of INSTRUCTIONS to Lieutenant YOUNG, commanding the LION armed Veffel, dated 13th March 1777.

WHEREAS, in purfuance of the King's plea-Refolution. fure, fignified to us by the Earl of Sandwich. Difcovery. his Majesty's sloops named in the margin have been fent out under the command of Captain Cook, in order, during this and the enfuing year, to attempt a discovery of a Northern passage, by sea, from the Pacific to the Atlantic Ocean; and, for that purpose, to run up as high as the latitude of 65° North, where it is hoped he will be able to arrive in the month of June next; and there, and as much further to the Northward as in his prudence he shall think proper, very carefully to fearch for and explore fuch rivers or inlets as may appear to be of a confiderable extent, and pointing to Hudson's or Baffin's Bays, or the North Sea, and, upon finding any passage through, sufficient for the purposes of navigation, to attempt fuch paffage with one or both

zli

both of the floops; or, if they are judged to be too large, with smaller veffels, the frames of which bave been sent out with him for that purpose: And whereas, in purfuance of bis Majesty's further pleasure, fignified as aforefaid, the armed veffel under your command bath been fitted in order to proceed to Baffin's Bay, with a view to explore the Western parts thereof, and to endeavour to find a passage, on that fide, from the Atlantic to the Pac fic Ocean, and we have thought fit to intrust you with the conduct of that voyage; You are therefore hereby required and directed to put to sea in the faid armed veffel, without a moment's loss of time, and make the best of your way into Baffin's Bay, and fo use your best endeavours to explore the Western shores thereof, as far as in your judgment the same can be done, without apparent rifque, and to examine fuch confiderable rivers or inlets as you may discover; and, in case you find any, through which there may be a probability of paffing into the Pacific Ocean, you are to attempt such passage; and if you succeed in the attempt, and shall be able to repass it again, so as to return to England this year, you are to make the best of your way to Spithead, or the Nore, and remain there until you receive further order; fending us an account of your arrival and proceedings. But if you shall succeed in the attempt, and shall find the season too far advanced for you to return the same way, you are then to look out for the most convenient place to winter in, and to endeavour to return by the faid piffage as early in the next year as the feafon will admit, and then to make the best of your way to England, as above directed.

In case, however, you should not find, or should be satisfied there is not any probability of finding, any

xlii

any fuch paffage, or, finding it," you foould not be able to get through in the veffel you command, you are then to return to England, as before mentioned, unlefs you shall find any branch of the sea leading to the Westward which you shall judge likely to afford a communication between the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, and which you shall not be able to explore in the course of this year, it being, in that case, left to your discretion to stay the Winter in the most commodious situation you can find, in order to pursue the discovery next year, if you shall find it adviseable so to do; and, having discovered such paffage, or not succeeded in the attempt, you are to make the best of your way to England, as above directed.

ALC: NO TO ALC: NO

It was natural to hope, that fomething would have been done in one or other, or in both thefe voyages of the Lion, that might have opened our views with regard to the practicability of a paffage from this fide of America. But, unfortunately, the execution did not answer the expectations conceived. Pickersgill, who had acquired professional experience when acting under Captain Cook, justly merited the censure he received, for improper behaviour when intrusted with command in Davis's Straits; and the talents of Young, as it afterward appeared, were more adapted to contribute to the glory of a victory, as Commander of a line of battle ship, than to add to geographical discoveries,

veries, by encountering mountains of ice, and exploring unknown coafts *.

Both Pickerfgill and Young having been ordered to proceed into Baffin's Bay; and Captain Cook being directed not to begin his fearch till he fhould arrive in the latitude of 65°, it may not be improper to fay fomething here of the reafons which weighed with those who planned the voyages, and framed the instructions, to carry their views to far Northward, as the proper fituation, where the paffage, if it exifted at all, was likely to be attempted with fuccefs. It may be asked, Why was Hudson's Bay neglected on our fide of America; and why was not Captain Cook ordered to begin his fearch on its oppofite fide, in much lower latitudes? Particularly, why not explore the ftrait leading into the Weftern fea of John de Fuca, between the latitudes of 47° and 48°; the Archipelago of St. Lazarus of Admiral de Fonte, between 50° and 55°; and the rivers and lakes through which he found a paffage North Eaftward, till he met with a fhip from Bofton ?

As to the pretended difcoveries of de Fuca, the Greek Pilot, or of de Fonte, the Spanish Admiral, though they have fometimes found their way into fictitious maps, or have been warmly contended for by the espousers of fanciful systems; to have directed Captain Cook to spend any time

[zliv

in

^{*} In the Philofophical Tranfactions, Vol. lxviii. p. 1057, we have the track of Pickerfgill's voyage, which, probably, may be of ufe to our Greenland fhips, as it contains many obfervations for fixing the longitude and latitude of the coafts in Davis's Straits. But it appears that he never entered Batfin's Bay, the higheft Northern latitude to which he advanced being 68° 14'. As to Young's proceedings, having failed abfolutely in making any difcovery, it is of lefs confequence, that no communication of his journal could be procured.

in tracing them, would have been as wife a meafure as if he had been directed to trace the fituation of Lilliput or Brobdignac. The latter are, indeed, confeffedly, mere objects of imagination; and the former, deftitute of any fufficient external evidence, bear to many ftriking marks of internal abfurdity, as warrant our pronouncing them to be the fabric of imposture. Captain Cook's instructions were founded on an accurate knowledge of what had been already done, and of what still remained to do; and this knowledge pointed out the inutility of beginning his fearch for a paffage till his arrival in the latitude of 65°; of which every fair and capable inquirer will be abundantly convinced, by an attention to the following particulars.

Middleton, who commanded the expedition in 1741 and 1742, into Hudson's Bay, had proceeded farther North than any of his predeceffors in that navigation. But though, from his former acquaintance with that Bay, to which he had frequently failed in the fervice of the company, he had entertained hopes of finding out a paffage through it into the Pacific Ocean, the obfervations which he was now enabled to make, induced him to change his opinion; and, on his return to England, he made an unfavourable report. Mr. Dobbs, the patron of the enterprize, did not acquiesce in this; and, fortified in his original idea of the practicability of the paffage, by the teftimony of fome of Middleton's officers, he appealed to the Public, accufing him of having misrepresented facts, and of having, from interefted motives, in concert with the Hudson's Bay Company, decided against the practicability of the paffage, though the discoveries of his own voyage had put it within his reach.

He

He had, between the latitude of 65° and 66°, found a very confiderable inlet running Weftward, into which he entered with his fhips; and, "after "repeated trials of the tides, and endeavours to "difcover the nature and courfe of the opening, "for three weeks fucceflively, he found the flood "conftantly to come from the Eaftward, and that "it was a large river he had got into," to which he gave the name of Wager River *.

The accuracy, or rather the fidelity of this report was denied by Mr. Dobbs, who contended that this opening is a Strait, and not a fresh water river, and that Middleton, if he had examined it properly, would have found a paffage through it to the Western American Ocean. The failure of this voyage, therefore, only ferved to furnifh our zealous advocate for the discovery, with new arguments for attempting it once more; and he had the good fortune, after getting the reward of twenty thousand pounds established by act of parliament, to prevail upon a fociety of gentlemen and merchants to fit out the Dobbs and California; which fhips, it was hoped, would be able to find their way into the Pacific Ocean, by the very opening which Middleton's voyage had pointed out, and which he was believed to have mifreprefented.

This renovation of hope only produced fresh disappointment. For it is well known, that the voyage of the Dobbs and California, instead of confuting, strongly confirmed all that Middleton had afferted. The supposed Strait was found to be nothing more than a fresh water river, and its utmost Western navigable boundaries were now

* See the Abstract of his Journal, published by Mr. Dobbs.

ascertained,

xlvi

accertained, by accurate examination. But though Wager's Strait had thus difappointed our hopes, as had also done Rankin's Inlet, which was now found to be a close Bay; and though other arguments, founded on the fuppofed courfe of the tides in Hudfon's Bay, appeared to be groundlefs; fuch is our attachment to an opinion once adopted, that, even after the unfuccessful iffue of the voyage of the Dobbs and California, a paffage through fome other place in that Bay was, by many, confidered as attainable; and, particularly, Chefterfield's (formerly called Bowden's) Inlet, lying between latitude 63° and 64°, fucceeded Wager's Strait, in the fanguine expectations of those who remained unconvinced by former difappointments. Mr. Ellis, who was on board the fhips, and who wrote the hiftory of the voyage, holds up this as one of the places where the paffage may be fought for, upon very rational grounds, and with very good effects*. He also mentions Repulse Bay, nearly in latitude 67"; but as to this he fpeaks lefs confidently; only faying, that by an attempt there, we might probably approach nearer to the difcovery +. He had good reason for thus guarding his expression; for the committee, who directed this voyage, admitting the impracticability of effecting a paffage at Repulse Bay, had refused allowing the fhips to go into it, being fatisfied as to that place \pm .

Setting Repulse Bay, therefore, alide, within which we have no reason for believing that any

* Ellis's Voyage, p: 328. † Ibid. p. 330. † Account of the Voyage, by the Clerk of the California, Vol. ii. p. 273. Mr. Dobbs himfelf fays, That he thought the passage awould be impracticable, or, at least, very difficult, in case there was one farther North than 67°.

Account of Hudson's Bay, p. 99. inlet inlet exifts, there remained no part of Hudfon's Bay to be fearched, but Chefterfield's Inlet, and a fmall track of coaft between the latitude 62°, and what is called the South Point of Main, which had been left unexplored by the Dobbs and California.

But this laft gleam of hope has now difappeared. The averfion of the Hudfon's Bay Company. to contribute any thing to the difcovery of a North Weft paffage, had been loudly reported by Mr. Dobbs; and the Public feemed to believe that the charge was well founded. But still, in justice to them, it must be allowed, that, in 1720, they had fent Meffrs. Knight and Barlow, in a floop on this very difcovery; but thefe unfortunate people were never more heard of. Mr. Scroggs, who failed in fearch of them, in 1722, only brought back proofs of their fhipwreck, but no fresh intelligence about a passage, which he was alfo to look for. They also fent a floop, and a shallop, to try for this discovery, in 1737; but to no purpole. If obstructions were thrown in the way of Captain Middleton, and of the Commanders of the Dobbs and California, the Governor and Committee of the Hudson's Bay Company, fince that time, we must acknowledge, have made amends for the narrow prejudices of their predeceffors; and we have it in our power to appeal to facts, which abundantly teftify, that every thing has been done by them, that could be required by the Public, toward perfecting the fearch for a North Weft paffage.

In the year 1761, Captain Christopher failed from Fort Churchill, in the floop Churchill, and his voyage was not quite fruitlefs; for he failed up Chesterfield's Inlet, through which a paffage had.

xlviii

had, by Mr. Eilis's account of it, been to generally expected. But when the water turned brackifh, which marked that he was not in a ftrait, but in a river, he returned.

To leave no room for a variety of opinion, however, he was ordered to repeat the voyage the enfuing fummer, in the fame floop, and Mr. Norton, in a cutter, was appointed to attend him. By the favour of the Governor and Committee of the Company, the Journals of Captain Chriftopher, and of Mr. Norton, and Captain Chriftopher's chart of the Inlet, have been readily communicated. From these authentic documents, it appears that the fearch and examination of Chefterfield's Inlet was now completed. It was found to end in a fresh water lake, at the distance of about one hundred and feventy miles from the fea. This lake was found also to be about twenty-one leagues long, and from five to ten broad, and to be completely closed up on every fide, except to the Weft, where there was a little rivulet; to furvey the ftate of which, Mr. Norton and the crew of the cutter having landed, and marched up the country, faw that it foon terminated in three falls, one above another, and not water for a finall boat over them; and ridges, mostly dry from fide to fide, for five or fix miles higher.

Thus ends Chefterfield's Inlet, and all Mr. Ellis's expectations of a paffage through it to the Weftern Ocean. The other part of the coaft, from latitude 62°, to the South Point of Main, within which limits hopes were also entertained of finding a paffage, have, of late years, been thoroughly explored. It is here that Piftol Bay is fituated; which the author who has writ laft in this country, Vol. I. d on

on the probability of a North Weft paffage*, fpeaks of as the only remaining part of Hudson's Bay where this Weftern communication may exift. But this has been also examined; and, on the authority of Captain Christopher, we can affure the Reader, that there is no inlet of any confequence in all that part of the coast. Nay, he has, in an open boat, failed round the bottom of what is called Pistol Bay, and, instead of a paffage to a Western Sea, found it does not run above three or four miles inland.

Befides these voyages by sea, which fatisfy us that we must not look for a passage to the South of 67° of latitude; we are indebted to the Hudfon's Bay Company, for a journey by land, which has thrown much additional light on this matter, by affording what may be called demonstration, how much farther North, at least in some part of their voyage, fhips must hold their course, before they can pass from one fide of America to the other. The Northern Indians, who come down to the Company's forts for trade, had brought to the knowledge of our people, the existence of a river; which, from copper abounding near it, had got the name of the Copper-mine River. We read much about this river in Mr. Dobbs's publications. and he confiders the Indian accounts of it as favourable to his fyftem. The Company being defirous of examining the matter with precision, ordered their Governor of Prince of Wales's Fort. to fend a proper perfon to travel by land, under the efcort of fome trufty Northern Indians, with orders to proceed to this famous river, to take

an

ł

^{*} Printed for Jeffreys, in 1768. His words are, "There re-" mains then to be fearched for the difcovery of a pallage, the " opening called Pitol Bay, in Hudson's Bay," P. 122.

an accurate furvey of its course, and to trace it to the fea, into which it empties itfelf. Mr. Hearne, a young gentleman in their fervice, who, having been an officer in the Navy, was well qualified to make observations for fixing the longitude and latitude, and make drawings of the country he shall pa's through, and of the river which he was to examine, was appointed for this fervice.

Accordingly, he fet out from Fort Prince of Wales, on Churchill River, in latitude 58° 50', on the 7th of December 1770; and the whole of his proceedings, from time to time, are faithfully preferved in his written Journal. The publication of this would not be an unacceptable prefent to the world, as it draws a plain artlefs picture of the favage modes of life, the fcanty means of fublistence, and indeed of the fingular wretchednefs, in every refpect, of the various tribes, who, without fixed habitations, pass their miserable lives, roving throughout the dreary deferts, and over the frozen lakes of the immense track of continent through which Mr. Hearne paffed, and which he may be faid to have added to the geography of the globe. His general courfe was to the North Weft. In the month of June 1771, being then at a place called Conge catha wha Chaga, he had, to use his own words, two good observations, both by meridian and double altitudes, the mean of which determines this place to be in latitude 68° 46' North, and, by account, in longitude 24° 2' West of Churchill River. On the 13th of July (having left Conge catha wha Chaga on the 2d, and travelling still to the West of North) he reached the Copper-mine River; and was not a little furprized to find it differ fo much from the descriptions given

d 2

ĸ

given of it by the natives at the fort; for, inftead of being likely to be navigable for a fhip, it is, at this part, fcarcely navigable for an Indian cance; three falls being in fight, at one view, and being choaked up with fhoals and ftony ridges.

Here Mr. Hearne began his furvey of the river. This he continued till he arrived at its mouth, near which his Northern Indians maffacred twenty-one Efquimaux, whom they furprized in their tents. We shall give Mr. Hearne's account of his arrival at the fea, in his own words. "After " the Indians had plundered the tents of the Ef-" quimaux of all the copper, &c. they were then " again ready to affift me in making an end to " the furvey; the fea then in fight from the North " West by West to the North East, distant about " eight miles. It was then about five in the morn-" ing of the 17th, when I again proceeded to fur-" vey the river to the mouth, still found, in every " refpect, no ways likely, or a poffibility of be-" ing made navigable, being full of fhoals and " falls; and, at the entrance, the river emptying " itself over a dry flat of the shore. For the tide " was then out, and feemed, by the edges of the " ice, to flow about twelve or fourteen feet, which " will only reach a little within the river's mouth. " That being the cafe, the water in the river had " not the least brackish taste. But I am sure of " its being the fea, or fome part thereof, by the " quantity of whale-bone and feal fkins the Ef-" quimaux had at their tents; as also the num-" ber of feals which I faw upon the ice, The " fea, at the river's mouth, was full of islands and " fhoals, as far as I could fee, by the affiftance of " a pocket telescope; and the ice was not yet bro-" ken up, only thawed away about three quarters " of

lii

" of a mile from the fhore, and a little way round " the iflands and fhoals.

"By the time I had completed this furvey, it was about one in the morning of the 18th; but in thefe high latitudes, and this time of the year, the fun is always a good height above the horizon. It then came on a thick drizzling rain, with a thick fog; and, as finding the river and fea, in every refpect, not likely to be of any utility, I did not think it worth while to wait for fair weather, to determine the latitude exactly by an obfervation. But, by the extraordinary care I took in obferving the courfes and diffances, walked from Congecatbawbachaaga. where I had two good obfervations, the latitude may be depended on, within twenty miles at

" fartheft."

From the map which Mr. Hearne conftructed of the country through which he paffed, in this fingular journey, and which we have been permitted to copy upon our general chart, it appears that the mouth of the copper-mine river lies in the latitude 72° , and above 25° Weft longitude from the fort, from whence he took his departure *.

The confequences refulting from this extensive difcovery, are obvious. We now fee that the continent of North America ftretches from Hudfon's Bay fo far to the North Weft, that Mr. Hearne had travelled near thirteen hundred miles

befor**e**

liii

^{*} Mr. Hearne's Journey, back from the copper-mine river, to Fort Prince of Wales, lafted till June 30, 1772. From his firft fetting out till his return, he had employed near a year and feven months. The unparalleled hardfhips he fuffered, and the effential fervice he performed, met with a fuitable reward from his maflers, and he is now the Governor of Fort Prince of Wales, where he was taken priforer by the French in 1782; and laft fummer returned to his ftation.

before he arrived at the fea. His moft Weftern diftance from the coaft of Hudíon's Bay was near fix hundred miles *; and that his Indian guides were well apprized of a vaft tract of continent ftretching farther on in that direction, is certain from many circumftances mentioned in his journal; one of which, as befides eftablifhing this fact, it prefents us with a very ftriking picture of favage life, has been transcribed in the following note t.

What

* The Hudson's Bay company have a trading post called *Hud-fon's House*, above five hundred miles up the country, in lat. 53° o' 32", and in long. 106° 27' 30".

 $\sigma'_{32'', and in long, 106° 27'_{30'', and the line of the sound of the second state of the second state$ ed, and at a confiderable diffance came to a little hut, where they found a young woman fitting alone. They brought her to the tents; and, on examining her, found that the was one of the Western Dog-ribbed Indians, and had been taken prisoner by the Arathapefcow Indians in the fummer 1770; and when the Indians, who took her prifoner, were near this part in the fummer 1771, fhe eloped from them, with an intent to return to her own country; but it being fo far off, and, after being taken prifoner, having come the whole way in cances, with the winding of ri-vers and lakes, the had forgot the way; and had been in this little hut ever fince the first fetting in of the fall. By her account of the moons paft, fince her elopement, it appears to be the middle of laft July when the left the Arathapefcow Indians, and had not feen a human face even fince. She fupported herfelf very well by fnaring of rabbits, partidges, and fquirrels, and was now in good health and flefh; and, I think, as fine a woman of a real Indian, as I have feen in any part of North America. She had nothing to make fnares of but the finews of rabbits legs and feet, which the twifted together for that purpose; and of the rabbits skins had made herself a neat and warm winter's clothing. The trock of materials the took with her when the eloped, confifted of about five inches of an iron hoop for a knife; a ftone feel, and other hard flones as flints, together with other fire tackle, as tinder, &c.; about an inch and half of the flank of the hoeing of an arrow, of iron, of which the made an awl. She had not been long at the tents, when half a fcore of men wreftled to fee who should have her for their wife. She fays, when the Arathapefcow Indians took her prifoner, that they flole on the tents in the night, when the inhabitants were all afleep.

What is now, for the first time, authentically laid before the Public, with regard to the difcoveries made by the Hudson's Bay Company, was well known to the noble Lord who prefided at the board of Admiralty, when this voyage was undertaken; and the intimate connection of those difcoveries with the Plan of the Voyage, of course, regulated the inftructions given to Captain Cook.

And now, may we not take it upon us to appeal to every candid and capable inquirer, whether that part of the inftructions which directed the Captain not to lofe time, in exploring rivers or inlets, or upon any other account, till be got into the latitude of 65° , was not framed judicioufly; as there were fuch indubitable proofs that no paffage exifted fo far to the South as any part of Hudfon's Bay, and that, if a paffage could be effected at all, part of it, at leaft, muft be tra-

afteep, and killed every foul except herfelf and three other young women. Her father, mother, and hufband were in the fame tent with her, and they were all killed. Her child, of about five months old, fhe took with her, wrapped in a bundle of her clothing, undifcovered, in the night. But when arrived at the place where the Arathapefcows had left their wives, which was not far off, it being then day-break, thefe Indian women immediately began to examine her bundle; and having there found the child, took it from her and killed it immediately. The relation of this flocking feene only ferved the favages of my gang for laughter. Her country is fo far to the Weftward, that the fays the never faw any iron, or other kind of metal, till taken prifoner; those of her tribe making their hatchets and chifels of deers horns, and knives of flone and bone; their arrows are flod with a kind of flate, bones, and deers horns; and their infruments, to make their wood work, are nothing but beavers teeth. They have frequently heard of the uleful materials the nations to the Eafl of them are fupplied with from the Englift, but, infleed of drawing nearer to be in the way of trading for iron work, &c. are obliged to retreat farther back, to avoid the Arathapefco.w Indians, as they make furprifing flaughter among them every year, both winter and fummer.

verfed

verfed by the fhips as far to the Northward as the latitude 72°, where Mr. Hearne arrived at the fea?

We may add as a farther confideration, in fupport of this article of the Inftructions, that Beering's Afiatic difcoveries, in 1728, having traced that continent to the latitude of 67°, Captain Cook's approach toward that latitude was to be wifhed for, that he might be enabled to bring back more authentic information than the world had hitherto obtained, about the relative fituation and vicinity of the two continents, which was abfolutely neceffary to be known, before the practicability of failing between the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans, in any Northern direction, could be afcertained.

After all, that fearch, in a lower latitude, which they who give credit (if any fuch there now be) to the pretended discoveries of de Fonte, affect to with had been recommended to Captain Cook, has (if that will cure them of their credulity) been fatisfactorily made. The Spaniards, roufed from their lethargy by our voyages, and having caught a fpark of enterprize from our repeated vifits to the Pacific Ocean, have followed us more than once into the line of our difcoveries within the Southern tropic; and have also fitted out expeditions to explore the American continent to the North of California It is to be lamented, that there fhould be any reasons why the transactions of those Spanish voyages have not been fully difclosed, with the fame liberal spirit of information which other nations have adopted. But, fortunately, this exceffive caution of the court of Spain has been defeated, at least in one inftance, by the publication of an authentic Journal of their laft voyage of discovery upon the coaft

lvi

coaft of America, in 1775, for which the world is indebted to the Honourable Mr. Daines Barrington. This publication, which conveys fome Information of real confequence to geography, and has therefore been referred to more than once in the following work, is particularly valuable in this respect, that some parts of the coaft which Captain Cook, in his progress Northward, was prevented, by unfavourable winds. from approaching, were feen and examined by the Spanish ships who preceded him; and the perulal of the following extract from their Journal, may be recommended to those (if any fuch there be) who would represent it as an imperfection in Captain Cook's voyage, that he had not an opportunity of examining the coaft of America, in the latitude affigned to the difcoveries of Admiral Fonte. "We now attempted " to find out the ftraits of Admiral Fonte, though, " as yet, we had not discovered the Archipe-" lago of St. Lazarus, through which he is faid " to have failed. With this intent, we fearched " every bay and recefs of the coaft, and failed " round every headland, lying to in the night, " that we might not lofe fight of this entrance. " After these pains taken, and being favoured by " a North West wind, it may be pronounced that " no such straits are to be found "."

In this Journal, the Spaniards boaft of "hav-"ing reached to high a latitude as 58", beyond "what any other navigators had been able to "effect in those feas †." Without diminishing lvii

^{*} Journal of a voyage in 1775 by Don Francisco Antonio Maurelle, in Mr. Barrington's Miscellanies, p. 508.

⁺ Ibid. p. 507. We learn from Maurelle's Journal that another voyage had been fome time before performed upon the coaft of America; but the utmost Northern progress of it was to latitude 55°.

the merit of their performance, we may be permitted to fay that it will appear very inconfiderable, indeed, in comparison of what Captain Cook effected, in the voyage of which an account is given in these volumes. Befides exploring the land in the South Indian Ocean, of which Kerguelen, in two voyages, had been able to obtain but a very imperfect knowledge; adding also many confiderable accessions to the geography of the Friendly Iflands; and difcovering the noble group, now called Sandwich Iflands, in the Northern part of the Pacific Ocean, of which not the fainteft trace can be met with in the account of any former voyage; belides these preliminary difcoveries, the Reader of the following work will find, that in one fummer, our English Navigator discovered a much larger proportion of the North Weft coaft of America than the Spaniards, though fettled in the neighbourhood, had, in all their attempts, for above two hundred years, been able to do; That he has put it beyond all doubt that Beering and Tscherikoff had really difcovered the continent of America in 1741, and has also established the prolongation of that continent Westward opposite Kamtschatka, which fpeculative writers, wedded to favourite fyftems, had affected fo much to difbelieve *, and which, though admitted by Muller, had, fince he wrote, been confidered as disproved by later Russian difcoveries +; That, befides afcertaining the true pofition

lviii

^{*} Dr. Campbell, fpeaking of Beering's voyage in 1741, fays, " Nothing can be plainer than this truth, that his difcovery does

[&]quot; not warrant any fuch fuppolition, as that the country he touched at was a great continent making part of North America."

⁺ See Coxe's Ruffian Difcoveries, p. 26, 27, &c. The fictions of fpeculative geographers in the Southern hemilphere, have

been

fition of the Western coasts of America, with fome inconfiderable interruptions, from latitude 44° up to beyond the latitude 70°, he has alfo ascertained the polition of the North Eastern extremity of Afia, by confirming Beering's difcoveries in 1728, and adding extensive accessions of his own; That he has given us more authentic information concerning the iflands lying between the two continents, than the Kamtichatka traders, ever fince Beering first taught them to venture on this fea, had been able to procure ±; That, by fixing the relative fituation of Afia and America, and difcovering the narrow bounds of the ftrait that divides them, he has thrown a blaze of light upon this important part of the geography of the globe, and folved the puzzling problem about the peopling of America, by tribes

The Ruffians feem to owe much to England, in matters of this fort. It is fingular enough that one of our countrymen, Dr. Campbell [See his edition of Harris's voyages, Vol. ii. p. 1021.] has preferved many valuable particulars of Beering's first voyage, of which Muller himfelf, the Hiltorian of their earlier difcoveries, makes no mention; that it fhould be another of our countrymen, Mr. Coxe, who first published a fatisfactory account of their later difcoveries; and that the King of Great Britain's fhips fhould traverfe the globe in 1778, to confirm to the Ruffian empire, the polfeflion of near thirty degrees, or above fix hundred miles of continent, which Mr. Engel, in his zeal for the practicability of a North Eaft paffage, would prune away from the length of Afia to the Laftward. See his Memoires Geographiques, &c. Laufanne 1765; which, however, contains much real information; and many parts of which are confirmed by Captain Cook's American difcoveries.

2

deffitute

lix

been continents; in the Northern hemifphere, they have been feas. It may be obferved, therefore, that if Captain Cook in his firft voyages annihilated imaginary Southern lands, he has made amends for the havock, in his third voyage, by annihilating imaginary Northern feas, and filling up the vaft fpace, which had been allotted to them, with the folid continents of his new difcoveries of American land farther Weft and North than had hitherto been traced.

defitute of the neceffary means to attempt long navigations; and, laftly, That, though the principal object of the voyage failed, the world will be greatly benefited even by the failure, as it has brought us to the knowledge of the exiftence of the impediments, which future navigators may expect to meet with in attempting to go to the Eaft Indies through Beering's ftrait.

The extended review we have taken of the preceding voyages, and the general outline we have sketched out, of the transactions of the last, which are recorded at full length in these volumes, will not, it is hoped, be confidered as a prolix, or unneceffary detail. It will ferve to give a just notion of the whole plan of discovery executed by his Majefty's commands. And it appearing that much was aimed at, and much accomplished, in the unknown parts of the globe, in both hemispheres, there needs no other confideration, to give full fatisfaction to those who posses an enlarged way of thinking, that a variety of ufeful purposes must have been effected by these refearches. But there are others, no doubt, who, too diffident of their own abilities, or too indolent to exert them, would wifh to have their reflections affifted, by pointing out what those uleful purpoles are. For the ule of fuch, the following enumeration of particulars is entered upon. And if there should be any, who affect to undervalue the plan, or the execution of our voyages, what shall now be offered, if it do not convince them, may, at leaft, check the influence of their unfavourable decifion.

1. It may be fairly confidered, as one great advantage accruing to the world from our late furveys of the globe, that they have confuted fanciful theories, too likely to give birth to impracticable undertakings.

1r

After

After Captain Cook's perfevering and fruitlefs traverses through every corner of the Southern hemisphere, who, for the future, will pay any attention to the ingenious reveries of Campbell, de Broffes, and de Buffon? or hope to eftablish an intercourfe with fuch a continent as Maupertuis's fruitful imagination had pictured? A continent equal, at leaft, in extent, to all the civilized countries in the known Northern hemifphere, where new men, new animals, new productions of every kind, might be brought forward to our view, and discoveries be made, which would open inexhauftible treasures of commerce*. We can now boldly take it upon us to difcourage all expeditions, formed on fuch reafonings of fpeculative philosophers, into a quarter of the globe, where our perfevering English navigator, inftead of this promifed fairy land, found nothing but barren rocks, fcarcely affording fhelter to penguins and feals; and dreary feas, and mountains of ice, occupying the immense space allotted to imaginary paradifes, and the only treasures there to be discovered, to reward the toil, and to compendate the dangers of the unavailing fearch.

Or, if we carry our reflections into the Northern hemisphere, could Mr. Dobbs have made a fingle convert, much less could he have been the fuccelsful folicitor of two different expeditions, and have met with encouragement from the legislature, with regard to his favourite passage through Hudson's Bay, if Captain Christopher

had

^{*} See Maupertuis's Letter to the King of Pruffia. The author of the Preliminary Difcourfe to Bougainville's *Voyage aux Jles Malouines*, computes that the Southern continent (for the exiftence of which, he owns, we mult depend more on the conjectures of philofophers, than on the teltimony of voyagers) contains eight or ten millions of fquare leagues.

had previoufly explored its coafts, and if Mr. Hearne had walked over the immenfe continent behind it? Whether, after Captain Cook's and Captain Clerke's difcoveries on the Weft fide of America, and their report of the flate of Beering's Strait, there can be fufficient encouragement to make future attempts to penetrate into the Pacific Ocean in any Northern direction, is a queftion, for the decifion of which the Public will be indebted to this work.

2. But our voyages will benefit the world, not only by difcouraging future unprofitable fearches, but also by leffening the dangers and diffreffes formerly experienced in those feas, which are within the line of commerce and navigation, now actually subsisting. In how many instances have the mistakes of former navigators, in fixing the true fituations of important places, been rectified ? What acceffion to the variation chart? How many nautical obfervations have been collected, and are now ready to be confulted, in directing a fhip's courfe, along rocky fhores, through narrow ftraits, amidft perplexing currents, and dangerous fhoals? But, above all, what numbers of new bays, and harbours, and anchoring-places, are now, for the first time, brought forward, where ships may be fheltered, and their crews find tolerable refreshments? To enumerate all thefe would be to tranfcribe great part of the journals of our feveral Commanders, whole labours will endear them to every navigator, whom trade or war may carry into their tracks. Every nation that fends a ship to fea, will partake of the benefit; but Great Britain herfelf, whole commerce is boundlefs, muft take the lead in reaping the full advantage of her own discoveries.

lxii 🕡

In

In confequence of all these various improvements, leffening the apprehensions of engaging in long voyages, may we not reafonably indulge the pleafing hope, that fresh branches of commerce may, even in our own time, be attempted, and fucceffively carried on? Our hardy adventurers in the whale-fifthery, have already found their way. within these few years, into the South Atlantic; and who knows what fresh fources of commerce may still be opened, if the prospect of gain can be added, to keep alive the fpirit of enterprife? If the fituation of great Britain be too remote, other trading nations will affuredly avail themfelves of our difcoveries. We may foon expect to hear that the Ruffians, now inftructed by us where to find the American continent, have extended their voyages from the Fox Islands to Cook's River, and Prince William's Sound. And if Spain itself should not be tempted to trade from its most Northern Mexican ports, by the fresh mine of wealth discovered in the furs of King George's Sound, which they may transport in their Manilla fhips, as a favourite commodity for the Chinese market; that market may probably be fupplied by a direct trade to America, from Canton itself, with those valuable articles which the inhabitants of China have hitherto received, only by the tedious and expensive circuit of Kamtschatka and Kiachta.

These and many other commercial improvements may reasonably be expected to result from the British discoveries, even in our own times. But if we look forward to future ages, and to future changes in the history of commerce, by recollecting its various past revolutions and migrations, we may be allowed to please ourselves with the

the idea of its finding its way, at last, throughout the extent of the regions with which our voyages have opened an intercourfe; and there will be abundant reason to subscribe to Captain Cook's observation with regard to New Zealand, which may be applied to other tracks of land explored by him, that " although they be far remote from " the prefent trading world, we can, by no means, " tell what use future ages may make of the dif-" coveries made by the prefent "." In this point of view, furely, the utility of the late voyages must stand confessed; and we may be permitted to fay, that the hiftory of their operations, which will be completed in these volumes, has the justeft pretensions to be called xtipua is dei, as it will convey to lateft posterity a treasure of interesting information.

2. Admitting, however, that we may have expreffed too fanguine expectations of commercial advantages, either within our own reach, or gradually to be unfolded at fome future period, as the refult of our voyages of discovery; we may still be allowed to confider them as a laudable effort to add to the flock of human knowledge, with regard to an object which cannot but deferve the attention of enlightened man. To exert our faculties in deviling ingenious modes of fatisfying ourfelves about the magnitude and diftance of the fun; to extend our acquaintance with the fyftem to which that luminary is the common centre, by tracing the revolutions of a new planet, or the appearance of a new comet; to carry our bold refearches through all the immenfity of space, where world beyond world rifes to the view of the aftonished observer; these are employments which

* Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 92.

none

lxiv

none but those incapable of purfuing them can depreciate, and which every one capable of purfuing them must delight in, as a dignified exercise of the powers of the human mind. But while we direct our fludies to diftant worlds, which, after all our exertions, we must content ourfelves with having barely discovered to exist, it would be a ftrange neglect, indeed, and would argue a moft culpable want of rational curiofity, if we did not use our best endeavours to arrive at a full acquaintance with the contents of our own planet; of that little fpot in the immense universe, on which we have been placed, and the utmost limits of which, at least its habitable parts, we poffefs the means of alcertaining, and defcribing, by actual examination.

So naturally doth this reflection prefent itfelf, that to know fomething of the terraqueous globe, is a favourite object with every one who can tafte the loweft rudiments of learning. Let us not therefore think to meanly of the times in which we live, as to suppose it possible, that full justice will not be done to the noble plan of difcovery, to fteadily and to fuccefsfully carried on, fince the acceffion of his Majefty; which cannot fail to be confidered, in every fucceeding age, as a fplendid period in the hiftory of our country, and to add to our national glory, by diffinguishing Great Britain as taking the lead in the most arduous undertakings for the common benefit of the human race. Before these voyages took place, nearly half the furface of the globe we inhabit was hid in obscurity and confusion. What is still wanting to complete our geography, may juftly be termed the minutiæ of that science.

e

VOL. I.

4. Let

lxv

4. Let us now carry our thoughts fornewhat farther. It is fortunate for the interefts of knowledge, that acquifitions in any one branch, generally, and indeed unavoidably, lead to acquifitions in other branches, perhaps of still greater confequence; and that we cannot even gratify mere curiofity, without being rewarded with valuable inftruction. This observation applies to the fubject before us. Voyages, in which new oceans have been traverfed, and in which new countries have been vilited, can fcarcely ever be performed, without bringing forward to our view fresh objects of science. Even when we are to take our report of what was discovered, from the mere failor, whole knowledge fcarcely goes beyond the narrow limits of his own profession, and whole inquiries are not directed by philosophical discernment, it will be unfortunate indeed, if fomething hath not been remarked, by which the fcholar may profit, and useful accessions be made to our old flock of information. And if this be the cafe in general, how much more must be gained by the particular voyages now under confideration? Befides naval officers equally fkilled to examine the coafts they might approach, as to delineate them accurately upon their charts, artifts * were engaged, who, by their drawings might illustrate what could only be imperfectly defcribed; mathematicians +, who might treasure up an extensive feries

* Meff. Hodges and Webber.

 \uparrow Mr. Green in the Endeavour; Meffrs. Wales and Bayly, in the Refolution and Adventure; Mr. Bayly, a fecond time, jointly with Captains Cook and King in this voyage; and Mr. Lyons, who accompanied Lord Mulgrave. The obfervations of Meffrs. Wales and Bayly, during Captain Cook's fecond voyage, are already in the hands of the Public, by the favour of the board of Longitude; and those of Captains Cook and King, and Mr. Bayly, during this laft, will appear immediately after our Publication.

lxvi

of fcientific observations; and perfons verfed in the various departments of the hiftory of nature, who might collect, or record, all that they should find new and valuable, throughout the wide extent of their refearches. But while most of these affociates of our naval discoverers, were liberally rewarded by the Public, there was one gentleman, who thinking it the nobleft reward he could receive, to have an opportunity of making the ample fortune he inherited from his anceftors, fubfervient to the improvement of science, stepped forward of his own accord, and fubmitting to the hardships and dangers of a circumnavigation of the globe, accompanied Captain Cook in the Endeavour. The learned world, I may also fay the unlearned, will never forget the obligations which it owes to Sir Joseph Banks.

What real acquifitions have been gained, by this munificent attention to fcience, cannot be better expressed than in the words of Mr. Wales, who engaged in one of these voyages himself, and contributed largely to the benefits derived from them.

"That branch of natural knowledge which "may be called *nautical aftronomy*, was undoubt-"edly in its infancy, when these voyages were "firft undertaken. Both inftruments and observ-"ers, which deferved the name, were very rare: "and so late as the year 1770, it was found ne-"ceffary, in the appendix to Meyer's Tables, pub-"listed by the Board of Longitude, to state "facts, in contradiction to the affertions of so "celebrated an astronomer as the Abbé de la "Caille, that the altitude of the fun at noon, "the easieft and most simple of all observations, "could not be taken with certainty to a lefs e 2 "quantity lxvii

" quantity than five, fix, feven, or even eight " minutes *. But those who will give themselves " the trouble to look into the aftronomical observa-" tions, made in Captain Cook's laft voyage, will " find, that there were few, even of the petty " officers, who could not observe the diftance of " the moon from the fun, or a ftar, the most de-" licate of all observations, with sufficient accura-" cy. It may be added, that the method of mak-" ing and computing observations for finding the " variation of the compais, is better known, and " more frequently practifed by those who have " been on these voyages, than by most others. " Nor is there, perhaps, a perfon who ranks as an " officer, and has been concerned in them, who " would not, whatever his real skill may be, feel " ashamed to have it thought that he did not know " how to observe for, and compute the time at " fea , though but a fhort while before these voy-" ages were let on foot, fuch a thing was fcarcely " ever heard of amongst feamen; and even first-

* The Abbe's words are, "Si ceux qui promettent une fi "grande precifion dans ces fortes de methodes, avoient navi-"gué quelque tems, ils auroient vû fouvent, que dans l'ob-"fervation la plus fimple de toutes, qui eff celle de la hauteur "du folcil à midi, deux obfervations, munis de bons guartiers de reflexion, bien rectifiés, different entr'eux, lorfqu'ils obfer vent chacun à part, de 5, 6', 7', & 8'."
Ephémer. 1755—1765. Introduction, p. 32.
It must be, however, mentioned, in justice to M. de la Caille,
the he attempted to introduce the luwar method of difference.

that he attempted to introduce the lunar method of difcovering that he attempted to introduce the lunar method of difcovering the longitude, and propoled a plan of calculations of the moon's diftance from the fun and fixed flars, but through the imper-fection of his inftruments, his fuccefs was much lefs than that method was capable of affording. The bringing it into ge-neral ufe was referved for Dr. Maſkelyne, our Aſtronomer Royal. See the preface to the Tables for correting the Effects of Refraction and Parallax, published by the Board of Longi-tude, under the Direction of Dr. Shepherd, Plumian Profeffor of Aſtronomy and Experimental Philosophy at Cambridge, in 1772. 1772.

lxviii

" rate

" rate aftronomers doubted the poffibility of do-" ing it with fufficient exactness *.

"The number of places, at which the rife "and times of flowing of tides have been obferv-"ed, in these voyages, is very great; and hence "an important article of useful knowledge is af-"forded. In these observations, fome very cu-"rious and even unexpected circumstances have "offered themselves to our consideration. It will "be sufficient to instance the exceedingly small "height to which the tide rifes, in the middle of "the great Pacific Ocean; where it falls short,

* In addition to Mr. Wales's Remark, it may be observed, that the proficiency of our naval officers in taking obfervations at fea, must ultimately be attributed to the great attention paid to this important object by the Board of Longitude at home; liberal rewards having been given to mathematicians for perfecting the lunar tables, and facilitating calculations; to artifts for confiructing more accurate infruments for obferving, and watches better adapted to keeping time at fea. It appears, therefore, that the voyages of difcovery, and the operations of the board of longitude went hand in hand; and they must be combined, in order to form a just estimate of the extent of the plan carried into execution fince his Majesty's accession, for improving aftronomy and navigation. But, befides the eftablish-ment of the Board of Longitude on its prefent footing, which has had fuch important confequences, it must also be ever achas had fuch important confequences, it mult allo be ever ac-knowledged, that his prefent Majefty has extended his royal pa-tronage to every branch of the liberal arts and ufeful fcience. The munificent prefent to the Royal Society for defraying the expence of obferving the *tranfit* of Venus;—the inflitution of the Academy of Painting and Sculpture; — the magnificent apartments allotted to the Royal and Antiquary Societies, and to the Parenel Academy of Somefet Place ... the furner of the Garden of Exotics at Kew, to improve which, Mr. Mafon was fent to the extremities of Africa ;- the *jubfantial* encouragement afforded to learned men and learned works, in various departments; and particularly, that afforded to Mr. Herschell, which has enabled him to devote himfelf intirely to the improvement of aftronomy; thefe, and many other inflances which might be enumerated, would have greatly diffinguished his Majefly's reign, even if he had not been the patron of those fuccessful attempts to perfect geography and navigation by fo many voyages of difcovery.

" two-

" two-thirds at leaft, of what might have been ex-" pected from theory and calculation.

"The direction and force of currents at fea, "make alfo an important object. Thefe voyages "will be found to contain much ufeful informa-"tion on this head; as well relating to feas nearer "home, and which, in confequence, are navigat-"ed every day, as to thofe which are more re-"mote, but where, notwithftanding, the know-"ledge of thefe things may be of great fervice to "thofe who are defined to navigate them here?" after. To this head alfo we may refer the great "or inquiring into the depth of the fea, its tem-"perature, and faltnefs at different depths, and in " a variety of places and climates.

" An extensive foundation has also been laid " for improvements in magnetism, for discovering " the caufe and nature of the polarity of the nee-" dle, and a theory of its variations, by the num-" ber and variety of the observations and expe-" riments which have been made, both on the " variation and dip, in almost all parts of the " world. Experiments also have been made, in " confequence of the late voyages, on the effects " of gravity, in different and very diftant places, " which may ferve to increase our flock of natu-" ral knowledge. From the fame fource of infor-" mation we have learned, that the phænomenon, " ufually called the aurora borealis, is not pecu-" liar to high Northern latitudes, but belongs, " equally, to all cold climates, whether they be " North or South.

" But, perhaps, no part of knowledge has been fo great a gainer by the late voyages, as that of " of botany. We are told * that, at leaft, twelve "hundred new plants have been added to the "known fyftem; and that very confiderable additions have been made to every other branch of natural hiftory, by the great fkill and induftry of Sir Jofeph Banks, and the other gentlemen + who have accompanied Captain Cook for that purpofe."

To our naval officers in general, or to their learned affociates in the expeditions, all the foregoing improvements of knowledge may be traced : (but there is one very fingular improvement indeed, ftill behind, for which, as we are folely indebted to Captain Cook, let us state it in his own words : "Whatever may be the public judgment about " other matters, it is with real fatisfaction, and " without claiming any merit but that of atten-" tion to my duty, that I can conclude this ac-" count with an observation, which facts enable " me to make, that our having difcovered the " possibility of preferving health amongst a nu-" merous ship's company, for such a length of " time, in fuch varieties of climate, and amidft " fuch continued hardfhips and fatigues, will make " this voyage remarkable, in the opinion of every " benevolent perfon, when the difputes about a " Southern continent shall have ceased to engage

* See Dr. Shepherd's Preface, as above.

† Dr. Solander, Dr. Forster and his fon, and Dr. Sparman. Dr. Forster has given us a specimen of the botanical difcoveries of his voyage in the *Characteres Generum Plantarum*, &c. and much curious philosophical matter is contained in his *Obfervations made in a Voyage round the World*. Dr. Sparman also, on his return to Sweden, favoured us with a publication, in which he expatiates on the advantages accruing to natural hiltory, to aftronomy, geography, general physics, and navigation, from our South Sea voyages. lxxî

" the

" the attention, and to divide the judgment of " philosophers <u>t</u>.

5. But while our late voyages have opened for many channels to an increase of knowledge in the feveral articles already enumerated; while they have extended our acquaintance with the contents of the globe; while they have facilitated old tracks, and have opened new ones for commerce; while they have been the means of improving the skill of the navigator, and the science of the astronomer; while they have procured to us fo valuable accessions in the feveral departments of natural hiftory, and furnished such opportunities of teaching us how to preferve the healths and lives of feamen, let us not forget another very important object of ftudy, for which they have afforded to the speculative philosopher ample materials : I mean the ftudy of human nature in various fituations, equally interefting as they are uncommon.

However remote or fecluded from frequent intercourfe with more polifhed nations, the inhabitants of any parts of the world be, if hiftory or our own obfervation fhould make it evident that they have been formerly vifited, and that foreign manners and opinions, and languages, have been blended with their own, little ufe can be made of what is obferved amongft fuch people, toward drawing a real picture of man in his natural uncultivated ftate. This feems to be the fituation of the inhabitants of moft of the iflands that lie contiguous to the continent of Afia, and of whofe manners and inftitutions the Europeans, who occafionally vifit them, have frequently given us accounts. But the iflands which our enterprifing dif-

* Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 293.

coverers

xxii

coverers visited in the centre of the South Pacific Ocean, and are, indeed, the principal fcenes of their operations, were untrodden ground. The inhabitants, as far as could be observed, were unmixed with any different tribe, by occafional intercourfe, fublequent to their original fettlement there; left intirely to their own powers for every art of life; and to their own remote traditions for every political or religious cuftom or inftitution; uninformed by fcience; unimproved by education; in fhort, a fit foil from whence a careful observer could collect facts for forming a judgment, how far unaffifted human nature will be apt to degenerate; and in what refpects it can ever be able to excel. Who could have thought, that the brutal ferocity of feeding upon human flefh, and the horrid fuperstition of offering human facrifices, fhould be found to exift amongft the natives lately difcovered in the Pacific Ocean, who, in other respects, appear to be no strangers to the fine feelings of humanity, to have arrived at a certain ftage of focial life, and to be habituated to fubordination and government which tend fo naturally to reprefs the ebullitions of wild paffion, and expand the latent powers of the underftanding ?

Or, if we turn from this melancholy picture, which will fuggeft copious matter for philosophical fpeculation, can we without aftonishment, observe to what a degree of perfection the fame tribe (and indeed we may here join, in fome of those inftances, the American tribes vifited in the courfe of the prefent voyage) have carried their favourite amusements, the plaintive fongs of their women, their dramatic entertainments, their dances, their Olympian games, as we may call them; the orations of their Chiefs; the chants of their priefts; the

2

the folemnity of their religious processions; their arts and manufactures; their ingenious contrivances to supply the want of proper materials, and of effective tools and machines; and the wonderful productions of their perfevering labour under a complication of difadvantages; their cloth and their mats: their weapons; their fifting inftruments; their ornaments; their utenfils; which in defign and in execution, may vie with whatever modern Europe, or claffical antiquity can exhibit?

It is a favourite fludy with the scholar to trace the remains of Grecian or Roman workmanship; he turns over his Montfaucon with learned fatisfaction; and he gazes with rapture on the noble collection of Sir William Hamilton. The amufement is rational and inftructive. But will not his curiofity be more awakened, will he not find even more real matter for important reflection, by passing an hour in furveying the numerous fpecimens of the ingenuity our newly discovered friends brought from the utmost recesses of the globe, to enrich the British Museum, and the valuable repository of Sir Afhton Lever? If the curiofities of Sir Afhton's Sandwich-room alone, were the only acquifition gained by our vifits to the Pacific Ocean, who that has tafte to admire, or even eyes to behold, could hefitate to pronounce, that Captain Cook had not failed in vain? The expence of his three voyages did not, perhaps, far exceed that of digging out the buried contents of Herculaneum. And we may add, that the novelties of the Society or Sandwich iflands, feem better calculated to engage the attention of the fludious in our times, than the antiquities, which exhibit proofs of Roman mag**n**ificence.

The grounds for making this remark cannot be better explained, than in the words of a very in-

genious

lxxiv

genious writer : " In an age (fays Mr. Warton *), " advanced to the highest degree of refinement, " that fpecies of curiofity commences, which is " bufied in contemplating the progress of focial " life, in difplaying the gradation of fociety, and " in tracing the gradations from barbarism to civi-" lity. That these speculations should become the " favourite topics of fuch a period is extremely " natural. We look back on the favage condition " of our anceftors with the triumph of fuperiority; " and are pleafed to mark the fteps by which we " have been raifed from rudeness to elegance; and " our reflections on this fubject are accompanied " with a confcious pride, arifing, in a great mea-" fure, from a tacit comparison of the infinite dif-" proportion between the feeble efforts of remote " ages, and our prefent improvements in know-" ledge. In the mean time, the manners, monu-" ments, cuftoms, practices, and opinions of an-" tiquity, by forming fo ftrong a contraft with " those of our own times, and by exhibiting hu-" man nature and human inventions in new lights, " in unexpected appearances, and in various forms, " are objects which forcibly ftrike a feeling ima-" gination. Nor does this fpectacle afford no-" thing more than a fruitless gratification to the " fancy. It teaches us to fet a just estimation on " our own acquifitions, and encourages us to che-" rifh that cultivation, which is fo closely con-" nected with the exiftence and the exercise of " every focial virtue." We need not here obferve, that the manners, monuments, customs, practices, and opinions of the prefent inhabitants of the Pacific Ocean, or of the Weft fide of North America, form the strongest contrast with those of our

* Preface to his Hiftory of English Poetry.

own

IXXV

own time in enlightened Europe; and that a feeling imagination will probably be more ftruck with the narration of the ceremonies of a Natche at Tongataboo, than of a Gothic tournament at London; with the contemplation of the coloffuses of Easter Island, than of the mysterious remains of Stonehenge.

Many fingularities, refpecting what may be called the natural hiftory of the human species, in different climates, will, on the authority of our late navigators, open abundant fources for philosophical discussion. One question of this fort, in particular, which had formerly divided the opinions of the inquilitive, as to the existence, if not of "gi-" ants on the earth," at leaft of a race (inhabiting a diffrict bordering on the North fide of the ftrait of Magalhaens), whole stature confiderably exceeds that of the bulk of mankind, will no longer be doubted or difbelieved. And the ingenious objections of the sceptical author of Recherches sur les Américains *, will weigh nothing in the balance against the concurrent and accurate testimony of Byron, Wallis, and Carteret.

Perhaps there cannot be a more interefting inquiry than to trace the migrations of the various families or tribes that have peopled the globe; and in no refpect have our late voyages been more fertile in curious discoveries. It was known in general (and I shall use the words of Kæmpfer +). that the Afiatic nation called Malayans, " in for-" mer times, had by much the greateft trade in " the Indies, and frequented with their merchant " fhips, not only all the coafts of Afia, but ven-" tured even over to the coafts of Africa, parti-

* Tom. i. p. 331. + Hiftory of Japan, Vol. i. p. 93.

" cularly

lxxvi

" cularly to the great island of Madagascar *. " The title which the king of the Malayans af-" fumed to himfelf, of Lord of the Winds and " Seas to the East and to the West, is an evident " proof of this; but much more the Malayan language, which spread most all over the East, " much after the fame manner as formerly the " Latin, and of late the French, did all over Eu-" rope." Thus far, I fay, was known. But that from Madagascar to the Marqueses and Easter Island, that is, nearly from the East fide of Africa, till we approach toward the Weft fide of America, a space including above half the circumference of the globe, the fame tribe or nation, the Phœnicians, as we may call them, of the Oriental world, should have made their fettlements, and founded colonies throughout almost every intermediate stage of this immense tract, in islands at amazing diftances from the mother continent, and ignorant of each others existence; this is an hiltorical fact, which could be but very imperfectly known before Captain Cook's two first voyages difcovered fo many new inhabited fpots of land lurking in the bosom of the South Pacific Ocean; and it is a fact which does not reft folely on fimilarity of cuftoms and inftitutions, but has been eftablished by the most satisfactory of all proofs, that drawn from affinity of language. Mr. Marfden, who feems to have confidered this curious

* That the Malayans have not only frequented Madagaſcar, but have alfo been the progenitors of fome of the prefent race of inhabitants there, is confirmed to us by the teftimony of Monfieur de Pages, who vifited that ifland fo late as 1774. "Ils m'ont pa-" ru provenir des diverfes Races; leur couleur, leurs cheveux, "& leur corps l'indiquent. Ceux que je n'ai pas cru originaires " des anciens naturels du pays, font petits & trapus; ils ont les " cheveux prefque unis, & font olivitres comme les Malayes, avec " qui ils ont, en général, une efpece de refemblance."

Voyages des M. des Pages, T. ii. p. 90.

fubje**ct**

lxxvii

fubiect with much attention, fays, that the links of the latitudinal chain remain yet to be traced *. The discovery of the Sandwich Islands in this last voyage, has added fome links to the chain. But Captain Cook had not an opportunity of carrying his refearches into the more Westerly parts of the North Pacific. The Reader, therefore, of the following work will not, perhaps, think that the Editor was idly employed when he fubjoined fome notes, which contain abundant proof that the inhabitants of the Ladrones, or Marianne islands, and those of the Carolines, are to be traced to the fame common fource, with those of the islands vifited by our fhips. With the like view, of exhibiting a ftriking picture of the amazing extent of this Oriental language, which marks, if not a common original, at least an intimate intercourse between the inhabitants of places fo very remote from each other, he has inferted a comparative table of their numerals, upon a more enlarged plan than any that has hitherto been executed +.

* Archæolog. Vol. vi. p. 155. See alfo his Hiftory of Sumatra, p. 166. from which the following paffage is tranfcribed. "Befides the Malaye, there are a variety of languages fpoken on Sumatra, which, however, have not only a manifeft "affinity among themfelves, but alfo to that general language "which is found to prevail in, and to be indigenous to, all "the iflands of the Eaftern feas; from Madagafcar to the re-"moteft of Captain Cook's difcoveries, comprehending a "wider extent than the Roman or any other tougue has yet "boafted. In different places, it has been more or lefs mixed and corrupted; but between the moft diffimilar branches, an eminent famenés of many radical words is apparent; "and in fome very diftant from each other, in point of fituation : "As, for inflance, the Philippines and Madagafcar, the de-"viation of the words is fcarcely more than is obferved in the "dialects of neighbouring provinces of the fame kingdom."

* dialects of neighbouring provinces of the fame kingdom." + We are indebted to Sir Jofeph Banks, for a general outline of this, in Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. iii. p. 777. The Reader will find our enlarged Table at the end of the third volume, Appendix, No. 2.

lxxviii

Our

Our British discoverers have not only thrown a blaze of light on the migrations of the tribe which has fo wonderfully fpread itfelf throughout the islands in the Eastern Ocean; but they have also favoured us with much curious information concerning another of the families of the earth, whole lot has fallen in lefs hospitable climates. We speak of the Elquimaux, hitherto only found leated on the coafts of Labradore and Hudson's Bay, and who differ in feveral characteristic marks from the inland inhabitants of North America. That the Greenlanders and they agree in every circumftance of cuftoms, and manners, and language, which are demonstrations of an original identity of nation, had been discovered about twenty years ago *. Mr. Hearne, in 1772, traced this unhappy race farther back, toward that part of the globe from whence they had originally coafted along in their fkin boats, having met with fome of them at the mouth of the Coppermine River, in the latitude of 72°, and near five hundred leagues farther West than Pickersgill's most Westerly station in Davis's Strait. Their being the fame tribe who now actually inhabit the iflands and coafts on the Weft fide of North America, oppofite Kamtichatka, was a difcovery, the completion of which was referved for Captain Cook. The Reader of the following work will find them at Norton Sound; and at Oonalashka, and Prince William's Sound ; that is, near 1500 leagues diflxxix

tant

^{*} See Crantz's Hiftory of Greenland, Vol. i. p. 262; where we are told that the Moravian Brethren, who, with the confent and furtherance of Sir Hugh Pallifer, then Governor of Newfoundland, vifited the Efquimaux on the Labradore coaft, found that their language, and that of the Greenlanders, do not differ fo much as that of the High and Low Dutch.

tant from their flations in Greenland, and on the Labradore coaft. And left fimilitude of manners should be thought to deceive us, a table exhibiting proofs of affinity of language, which was drawn up by Captain Cook, and is inferted in this work *, will remove every doubt from the mind of the most forupulous inquirer after truth.

There are other doubts of a more important kind, which, it may be hoped, will now no longer perplex the ignorant, or furnish matter of cavil to the ill-intentioned. After the great discovery, or at leaft the full confirmation of the great difcovery, of the vicinity of the two continents of Afia and America, we truft that we fhall not be any more ridiculed, for believing that the former could eafily furnish its inhabitants to the latter. And thus, to all the various good purposes already enumerated, as answered by our late voyages, we may add this laft, though not the leaft important, that they have done fervice to religion, by robbing infidelity of a favourite objection to the credibility of the Mofaic account of the peopling of the earth. +.

6. Hitherto

* See Appendix, No. 6. The Greenlanders, as Crantz tells us, call themfelves *Karalit*; a word not very unlike *Kanagyf*, the name, affumed by the inhabitants of Kodiack, one of the Schumagin iflands, as Stabilin informs us. + A contempt of Revelation is generally the refult of ig-

↑ A contempt of Revelation is generally the refult of ignorance, conceited of its poliefing fuperior knowledge. Obferve how the Author of Recherches Philosophiques fur les Amtricains, expresses himself on this very point. "Cette distance "que Mr. Antermony veut trouver li peu importante, eft à-"peu-près de huit cent lieues Gauloifes au travers d'un ocean "perilleux, & impossible à franchir avec des canots auffi chetifs "k aufi fragiles que le font, au rapport d'Ybrand Ides, les "chaloupes des Tungufes," &c. &c. T. i. p. 156. Had this writer known that the two continents are not above thirtern leagues (instead of eight hundred) distant from each other, and that

lxxx

6. Hitherto we have confidered our voyages as having benefited the discoverers. But it will be asked, Have they conveyed, or are they likely ever to convey, any benefit to the discovered? It would afford exquisite satisfaction to every benevolent mind, to be inftructed in facts, which might enable us, without hefitation, to answer this queftion in the affirmative. And yet, perhaps, we may indulge the pleafing hope, that, even in this respect, our ships have not failed in vain. Other discoveries of new countries have, in effect, been wars, or rather maffacres; nations have been no fooner found out, than they have been extirpated; and the horrid cruelties of the conquerors of Mexico and Peru can never be remembered, without blufhing for religion and human nature. But when the recesses of the globe are inveftigated, not to enlarge private dominion, but to promote general knowledge; when we vifit new tribes of our fellow-creatures as friends; and with only to learn that they exift, in order to bring them within the pale of the offices of humanity, and to relieve the wants of their imperfect flate of fociety, by communicating to them our fuperior attainments; voyages of difcovery planned with fuch benevolent views by George the Third, and executed by Cook, have not, we truft, totally failed in this respect. Our repeated vifits, and long continued intercourfe with the natives of the Friendly, Society, and Sandwich Islands, cannot but have darted fome rays of light on the infant minds of those poor

f

VOL. I.

people.

Ixxxi

that, even in that narrow fpace of fea, there are intervening illands, he would not have ventured to urge this argument in opposition to Mr. Bell's notion of the quarter from which North America received its original inhabitants.

The uncommon objects they have thus people. had opportunities of observing and admiring, will naturally tend to enlarge their flock of ideas, and to furnish new materials for the exercise of their reason. Comparing themselves with their visiters, they cannot but be ftruck with the deepeft conviction of their own inferiority, and be impelled, by the ftrongest motives, to strive to emerge from it, and to rife nearer to a level with those children of the Sun who deigned to look upon them, and left behind fo many specimens of their generous and humane attention. The very introduction of our uleful animals and vegetables, by adding fresh means of subsistence, will have added to their comforts of life, and immediate enjoyments; and if this be the only benefit they are ever to receive, who will pronounce that much has not been gained ? But may we not carry our wifhes and our hopes still farther? Great Britain itfelf, when first visited by the Phœnicians, was inhabited by painted Savages, not, perhaps, bleffed with higher attainments than are poffeffed by the prefent natives of New Zealand ; certainly lefs civilized than those of Tongataboo or Otaheite. Our having opened an intercourfe with them, is the first step toward their improvement. Who knows, but that our late voyages may be the means appointed by Providence, of fpreading, in due time, the bleffings of civilization, amongft the numerous tribes of the South Pacific Ocean; of abolifhing their horrid repafts and their horrid rites; and of laying the foundation for future and more effectual plans, to prepare them for holding an honourable station amongst the nations of the earth? This, at leaft, is certain, that our having, as it were, brought them into existence by our extensive

lxxxii

extensive refearches, will suggest to us fresh motives of devout gratitude to the Supreme Being, for having bleffed us with advantages hitherto withheld from to great a proportion of the human race; and will operate powerfully to incite us to perfevere in every feafible attempt, to be his inftruments in refcuing millions of fellow-creatures from their prefent state of humiliation.

The feveral topics, which occurred, as fuitable to this general Introduction, being now difcuffed, nothing remains but to ftate a few particulars, about which the reader of these volumes has a right to expect fome information.

Captain Cook, knowing, before he failed upon this laft expedition, that it was expected from him to relate, as well as to execute, its operations, had taken care to prepare fuch a journal as might be made use of for publication. This journal, which exifts in his own hand-writing, has been faithfully adhered to. It is not a bare extract from his log-books, but contains many remarks which, it appears, had not been inferted by him in the nautical register; and it is also enriched with confiderable communications from Mr. Anderfon, Surgeon of the Refolution. The confeffed abilities, and great affiduity, of Mr. Anderson, in obferving every thing that related either to natural hiftory, or to manners and language; and the defire which, it is well known, Captain Cook, on all occasions, shewed to have the affistance of that gentleman, stamped a great value on his collec-That nothing, therefore, might be wanting tions. to convey to the Public the beft poffible account of the transactions of the Voyage, his journal, by the order of Lord Sandwich, was also put into the hands of the Editor, who was authorized and

f 2

and directed to avail himfelf of the information it might be found to contain, about matters imperfectly touched, or altogether omitted, in Captain Cook's manufcript. This tafk has been executed in fuch a manner, that the reader will fcarcely ever be at a loss to diffinguish in what inftances recourfe has been had to Mr. Anderfon. To preclude, if possible, any mistake, the copy of the first and second volumes, before it went to the printer, was submitted to Captain King; and after it had been read over and corrected by one fo well qualified to point out any inaccuracies, the Earl of Sandwich had the goodness to give it a peruíal. As to the third volume, nothing more need be faid, than that it was completely prepared for the prefs by Captain King himfelf. All that the Editor of the work has to answer for, are the notes occasionally introduced in the course of the two volumes, contributed by Captain Cook; and this introduction, which was intended as a kind of epilogue to our Voyages of discovery. He must be permitted, however, to fay, that he confiders himfelf as intitled to no inconfiderable share of candid indulgence from the Public; having engaged in a very tedious and troublefome undertaking upon the most difinterested motives; his only reward being the fatisfaction he feels, in having been able to do an effential fervice to the family of our great navigator, who had honoured him in the journal of this voyage, with the appellation of Friend.

They who have repeatedly afked why this publication has been to long delayed, need only look at the volumes, and their attendant illustrations and ornaments, to be fatisfied that it might, with at least equal reason, be wondered at, that 2 iŧ

AXXIV

it has not been delayed longer. The Journal of Captain Cook, from the first moment that it came into the hands of the Editor, had been ready for the Prefs; and Captain King had left with him his part of the narrative, to long ago as his departure for the West Indies, when he commanded the Refistance man of war. But much, befides, remained to be done. The charts, particularly the general one, were to be prepared by Mr. Roberts, who gives an account of his work in the note *; the very numerous and elegant

* Soon after our departure from England, I was inftructed by Captain Cook to complete a map of the world as a general chart, from the beft materials he was in poffeffion of for that purpofe; and before his death this bufinefs was in a great measure ac-complified: That is, the grand outline of the whole was ar-ranged, leaving only those parts vacant or unfinished, which he expected to fall in with and explore. But on our return home, when the fruits of our voyage were ordered by the Lords Commiffioners of the Admiralty to be published, the care of the general chart being configned to me, I was directed to prepare it from the lateft and beft authorities ; and alfo to introduce Captain Cook's three fucceffive tracks, that all his difcoveries, and the different routs he had taken might appear together; by this means to give a general idea of the whole. This talk having been performed by me, it is neceffary, for the information of the Reader, to flate the heads of the feve-ral authorities which I have followed in fuch parts of the chart as differ from what was drawn up immediately under the infpection of Captain Cook : And when the Public are and acquainted, that many materials, neceffary to complete and elucidate the work, were not, at the time, on board the Refolution or in his pofferfion, the reason will appear very obvious, why thefe alterations and additions were introduced contrary to the original drawing.

Firft then, I have followed clofely the very excellent and correct charts of the Northern Atlantic Ocean, published by Meffrs. de Verdun de la Crenne, de Borda, et Pringré in 1775 and 1776; which comprife the coaft of Norway from the Sud Hoek, in the latitude of 6a degrees North, to Trelleburg, Denmark, the coaft of Holland, North coaft of Great Britain, Orkneys, Shetland, Ferro Isles, Iceland, coafts of France, Spain, and Portugal, to Cape St. Maria on the coaft of Africa; including elegant drawings of Mr. Webber were to be reduced by him to the proper fize; artifts were next to

including the Azores, Canaries, Cape de Verd, Antilles, and Wefl Indian iflands from Earbadoes to the Eafl end of Cuba; the North part of Newfoundland and the Labradore coaft, as far as the latitude of 57° degrees North.

far as the latitude of 57° degrees North. Ireland, and part of the coalt of Scotland, is laid down from Mr. Mackenzie's late furveys; and the fouth coalt of England from a chart published by Mr. Faden in 1780, taken from Mr. l'Abbé Dicquemare.

The North part of the coast of Labradore, from the latitude of 57³ North, to Button's Islands in the entrance of Hudson's Strait, is taken from Monsseur Bellin's chart, as is also the North coast of Norway and Lapland, including the White Sea, Gulf of Bothnia, Baltic Sea, and the East coast of Greenland.

The Gulf of Finland, from a large (MS) chart, now engraving for the use of some private merchants.

The West India islands, from the East end of Cuba to the West end, including Jamaica and the Bahama islands, are from a chart published in London by Sayer and Bennett, in 1779.

1779. The South fide of Cuba from Point Gorda to Cape de Cruz, is laid down from Monfieur Bellin, in 1762. The coafts of Newfoundland, and the Gulf of St. Laurence,

The coafts of Newfoundland, and the Gulf of St. Laurence, from the furveys made by Captain Cook, and Meffrs. Gilbert and Lane.

Nova Scotia, Cape Breton, Ifland of St. John, River St. Laurence, Cznada, and New England to the River Delaware, from J. F. W. des Barres, Efq; in 1777 and 1778; and charts publifhed in France by order of the King, in 1780, initialed, Neptune Americo-Septrentrional, &c. And from these charts also are taken the coaft of Penfylvania, New Jerfey, Maryland, Virginia, North and South Carolina, Georgia, East and Wett Florida, as well as the interior parts of the country to the East fide of Lake Ontario.

The other parts of this lake, as likewife Lakes Eria, Hurons, Michigan, and Superior, were copied from Mr. Green's maps of America: The Northern part of this laft mentioned lake is fixed from the aftronomical observations made by order of the Hudfon's Bay Company, at Mithippicotton Houfe. The whole of Hudfon's Bay I took from a chart, compiled

The whole of Hudfon's Bay I took from a chart, compiled by Mr. Marley, from all the most authentic maps he could procure of thofe parts with which I was favoured by Samuel Wegg, Efq; F. R. S. and Governor of that Company, who allo politely furnished me with Mr. Hearne's Journals, and the map of his route to the Coppermine River, which is faithfully inferted on the chart, together with the furvey of Chefterfield Inlet to be found out who would undertake to engrave them; the prior engagements of those artists were to

Inlet made by Captain Christopher and Mr. Mofes Norton, in 1762; and the difcoveries from York Fort to Cumberland, and Hudfon Houfes (this laft is the most Weftern fettlement belonging to the Company), extending to Lake Winipeg, from the drafts of Mr. Philip Turnor, made in 1778 and 1779, corrected by aftronomical obfervations. And from this lake, the difposition of the other lakes to the Southward of it, and which communicate with it, is formed, and laid down from a map constructed by Mr. Spurrel, in the Company's service. The Albany and Moofe rivers to Gloucester Houfe, and to Lake Abitibbe and Superior, are also drawn from a map of Mr. Turnor's, adjusted by obfervations for the longitudes.

Mr. Turnor's, adjusted by observations for the longitudes. The West coast of Greenland, as chiefly laid down from the observations made by Lieut. R. Pickerfgill in the Lion brig in 1776, which determine the line of the coast only, as the immense quantities of ice choak up every bay and inlet on this coast, which formerly were, in the fummer feasion, quite free and open.

From the mouth of the Miffifippi River, including its fource, and the other rivers branching from it; all the coaft of New Leon to Cape Rozo, and the Weftern coaft of America, from Cape Corrienties to the Great Bay of Tecoantepec, is taken from Monfieur D'Anville.

The Gulf of California I have laid down from a German publication in 1773, put into my hands by Sir Jofeph Banks, Bart. P. R. S.; and the Weftern fide of it is brought together from a Spanifh MS. chart with which A. Dalrymple, Efq; F. R. S. obliged me.

The coaft of Brazil from Sera to Cape Frio, is copied from a fmall chart of that part by Mr. Dalrymple.

For the Southern part of Africa, from the Cape of Good Hope to Point Natal, I have taken the authority of the chart of Major J. Rennels, F. R. S. fhewing the extent of the bank of Lagullus.

For the existence of the fmall islands, shoals, and banks to the Eastward of Madagascar, together with the Archipelago of the Maldive and Laccidive Islands; for the coasts of Mallacca, part of Cambodia, and the Island Sumatra, I have used the latest authority of Monsieur D'Après de Mannevillette's publications in the Neptune Oriental

The coaits of Guzerat, Malabar, Coromandel, and the opposite fhore, containing the Great Bay of Bengal, and the Island of Ceylon, and exhibiting the Heads of the Ganges, and Barampooter or Sanpoo Rivers, are inferted from the work of the ingenious Author of the map of Hindoostan, published in 1782.

The

to be fulfilled before they could begin; the labour and fkill to be exerted in finifhing many of them, rendered this a tedious operation; paper fit for printing them upon was to be procured from abroad; and after all these various and unavoidable difficulties were furmounted, much time was neceffarily required for executing a numerous impression of the long lift of plates, with so much care as might do justice both to Mr. Webber, and to his feveral engravers. When all these

The China fea is laid down from the chart published by Mr. Dalrymple; but the longitudes of Pula Sapata, Pulo Condore, Pulo Timoan, Straits of Banca and Sunda, and the parts we faw are as fettled by us, together with the East coast of Niphon, the principal of the Japanete Islands.

The Jefo and Kurile illands, the Eaft coaft of Afia and Kumtfchatka, as well as the fea of Okotfk, and the illands lying between Kamtfchatka and America that were not feen in the voyage, are taken from a Ruffian MS. chart, got by us at the Illand of Oonalafhka.

The Northern countries from Cape Kanin, near the White Sea, as far Eaft as the River Lena, I have given from the Great Ruffian Map, publifhed at Peterfburgh in 1776, including the Euxine, Cafpian, and Aral Seas, as alfo the principal lakes to the Eaftward; the intent of which is to fhew the fource of the large rivers that empty themfelves into the different occans and feas.

Every other part of the chart not mentioned in this account, is as originally placed by Captain Cook.

The whole has been corrected from the lateft aftronomical obfervations, felected from the Tables compiled by Mr. William Wales, F. R. S. and mathematical mafter of Chrift's Hofpital, for the Nautical Almanacs: From thofe in the Mariner's Guide by the Rev. Dr. Mafkelyne, F. R. S. and Aftronomer Royal, publifhed in 1763; From the Connoiffance des Tems for 1780 and 1781; From Profefior Mayer's Geographical Table; From the Voyages of Meffrs. d'Eveux de Fleurieu, Verdun, de Borda, and Chabet, &c.; From the Table lately publifhed by Mr. Dalrymple for the use of the Eadi India fhips; From the Philosophical Tranfactions of the Royal Society; and from the Obfervations of our late Navigators.

HENY. ROBERTS.

SHOREHAM, SUSSEX, May 18, 1784.

circum-

lxxxviii

circumftances are taken into confideration, we truft that we shall hear no more of the delay; and only be grateful to that munificent Patron of Science, who not only directed the history of the voyage to be published; but to be published with fuch a splendid train of ornaments, at the public expence, as will still add to the merit of having ordered the voyage itself to be undertaken.

And here it feems to be incumbent upon us to add, as another inftance of munificent attention, that care has been taken to mark, in the moft fignificant manner, the just fense entertained of the humane and liberal relief afforded to our fhips in Kamtschatka. Colonel Behm, the commandant of that province, has not been rewarded merely by the pleafure which a benevolent mind feels in reflecting upon the bleffings it confers; but has been thanked in a manner equally confiftent with the dignity of his own fovereign and of ours, to whole jubjects he extended protection. A magnificent piece of plate was prefented to him, with an infeription, worthy of a place in the fame book where the hiftory of his humanity to our countrymen is recorded, and which, while it does honour to our national gratitude, deferves also to be preferved as a monument of our national tafte for elegant composition. It is as follows:

VIRO EGREGIO MAGNO DE BEHM; qui, Imperatricis Augustiffimæ Catherinæ auspiciis, summåque animi benignitate, sæva, quibus præerat, Kamtschatkæ littora, navibus nautisque Britannicis, bospita præbuit; eosque, in terminis, si qui essent Imperio Russico, srussra explorandis, mala multa perpessos, iteratå vice excepit, refecit, recreavit, & commeatů omni cumulaté auctos dimisti; Rei NAVALIS BRI-TANNICÆ

TANNICÆ SEPTEMVIRI in aliquam benevolentiæ tam infignis memoriam, amiciffimo, gratiffimoque animo, suo, patriæque nomine, D. D. D. MDCCLXXXI.

This public teftimony of gratitude, reminds the Editor, that there are fimilar calls upon himfelf. He owes much to Captain King for his advice and direction, in a variety of inftances, where Captain Cook's Journal required explanation; for filling up feveral blanks with the proper longitude and latitude; and for fupplying deficiencies in the tables of aftronomical obfervations.

Lieutenant Roberts was also frequently confulted, and was always found to be a ready and effectual affiftant, when any nautical difficulties were to be cleared up.

But particular obligations are due to Mr. Wales, who, befides the valuable communications which have been adopted in this Introduction, feconded most liberally the Editor's views of ferving Mrs. Cook, by cheerfully taking upon himfelf the whole trouble of digefting, from the log books, the tables of the route of the ships, which add fo greatly to the intrinsic merit of this publication.

Mr. Wegg, belides tharing in the thanks to juftly due to the committee of the Hudfon's Bay Company, for their unreferved communications, was particularly obliging to the Editor, by giving him repeated opportunities of converting with Governor Hearne, and Captain Chriftopher.

The honourable Mr. Daines Barrington had the goodnefs to intereft himfelf, with his ufual zeal for every work of public utility, in procuring fome neceffary information, and fuggefting fome valuable hints which were adopted.

It would be great injustice not to express our acknowledgments to Mr. Pennant, who, besides enriching enriching the third volume with references to his Artic Zoology, the publication of which will be an important acceffion to Natural Hiftory, alfo communicated fome very authentic and fatisfactory manufcript accounts of the Ruffian difcoveries.

The vocabularies of the Friendly and Sandwich Islands, and of the natives of Nootka, had been furnished to Captain Cook, by his most useful alfociate in the voyage, Mr. Anderson; and a fourth, in which the language of the Elquimaux is compared with that of the Americans on the oppofite lide of the continent, had been prepared by the Captain himfelf. But the comparative Table of Numerals, which is marked No. 2. in the Appendix, was very obligingly drawn up, at the request of the Editor, by Mr. Bryant, who, in his fludy, has followed Captain Cook, and, indeed, every traveller and hiftorian, of every age, into every part of the globe. The Public will confider this Table as a very firiking illustration of the wonderful migrations of a nation, about whom fo much additional information has been gained by our voyages, and be ready to acknowledge it as a very uleful communication.

One more communication remains to be not only acknowledged, but to be inferted at the clofe of this Introduction. The testimonies of learned contemporaries, in commendation of a deceased Author, are frequently difplayed in the front of his book. It is with the greateft propriety, therefore, that we prefix to this posthumous work of Captain Cook the testimony of one of his own profession, not more diffinguished by the elevation of rank, than by the dignity of private virtues. As he wifhes to remain concealed, perhaps this allulion, for which we intreat his indulgence, may have given too exact direction to the eyes of the Public ĩ

lic where to look for fuch a character. Let us, however, reft fatisfied with the intrinfic merit of a composition, conveyed under the injunction of fecrecy; and conclude our long preliminary differtation with expressing a wish, or rather a wellgrounded hope, that this volume may not be the only place where posterity can meet with a monumental information, commemorative of a man, in recounting and applauding whose fervices, the whole of enlightened Europe will equally concur with Great Britain.

xcii

TO

[xciii]

TO THE MEMORY OF

CAPTAIN JAMES COOK,

The ableft and most renowned Navigator this or any country hath produced.

HE raifed bimfelf, folely by bis merit, from a very obscure birth, to the rank of Post Captain in the royal navy, and was, unfortunately, killed by the Savages of the island Owbykee, on the 14th of February 1779; which island he bad, not long before, discovered, when prosecuting his third voyage round the globe.

He posselfed, in an eminent degree, all the qualifications requisite for his profession and great undertakings, together with the amiable and worthy qualities of the best men.

Cool and deliberate in judging : fagacious in determining : active in executing : fleady and perfevering in enterprifing from vigilance and unremitting caution : unfubdued by labour, difficulties, and difappointments : fertile in expedients : never wanting prefence of mind : always possible fing bimfelf, and the full use of a found understanding.

Mild, juft, but exact in discipline : he was a father to his people, who were attached to him from affettion, and obedient from confidence.

His knowledge, bis experience, bis fagacity, rendered bim fo intirely mafter of bis fubject, that the greateft obstacles were furmounted, and the most dangerous navigations became easy, and almost faste, under bis direction.

He

INSCRIPTION TO THE

He explored the Southern hemifphere to a much higher latitude than had ever been reached, and with fewer accidents than frequently befal those who navigate the coasts of this island.

By bis benevolent and unabating attention to the wilfare of his ship's company, he discovered and introduced a system for the preservation of the health of seamen in long voyages, which has proved wonderfully efficacious: for in his second voyage round the world, which continued upwards of three years, he lost only one man by distemper, of one hundred and eighteen, of which his company confisted.

The death of this eminent and valuable man was a lofs to mankind in general; and particularly to be deplored by every nation that respects useful accomplishments, that bonours science, and loves the benevolent and amiable affections of the heart. It is still more to be deplored by this country, which may juffly boast of having produced a man hitherto unequalled for nautical talents; and that forrow is farther aggravated by the reflection, that his country was deprived of this ornament by the enmity of a people, from whom, indeed, it might have been dreaded. but from whom it was not deferved. For, altuated always by the most attentive care and tender compasfion for the savages in general, this excellent man was ever affiduously endeavouring, by kind treatment, to diffipate their fears, and court their friendship; overlooking their thefts and treacheries, and frequently interposing, at the bazard of his life, to protest them from the sudden resentment of his own injured people.

The object of his last million was to discover and ascertain the boundaries of Asia and America, and to penetrate into the Northern Ocean by the North East Cape of Asia.

Traveller !

xciv

Traveller ! contemplate, admire, revere, and emulate this great mafter in his profession; whose skill and labours have enlarged natural philosophy; have extended nautical science; and have disclosed the long concealed and admirable arrangements of the Almighty in the formation of this globe, and, at the same time, the arrogance of mortals, in presuming to account, by their speculations, for the laws by which he was pleased to create it. It is now discovered, heyond all doubt, that the same Great Being who created the universe by his fiat, by the same ordained our earth to keep a just poise, without a corresponding Southern continent—and it does so! "He stretches " out the North over the empty place, and bangeth " the earth upon nothing." Job, xxvi. 7.

If the arduous but exact refearches of this extraordinary man have not discovered a new world, they have discovered seas unnavigated and unknown before. They have made us acquainted with islands, people and productions, of which we had no conception. And if he has not been so fortunate as Americus to give his name to a continent, his pretensions to such a diffinition remain unrivalled; and he will be revered, while there remains a page of his own modest account of his voyages, and as long as mariners and geographers shall be instructed, by his new map of the Southern hemisphere, to trace the various courses and discoveries he has made.

If public fervices merit public acknowledgments; if the man who adorned and raifed the fame of his country is deferving of honours, then Captain Cook deferves to have a monument raifed to his memory, by a generous and grateful nation.

Virtutis uberrimum alimentum eft honos.

VAL. MAXIMUS, Lib. 2. Cap. 6.

xcv

Ą

VOYAGE

то тне

PACIFIC OCEAN.

BOOK I.

Tranfactions from the Beginning of the Voyage till our Departure from New Zealand.

CHAP. I.

Various Preparations for the Voyage.—Omai's Behaviour on embarking.—Objervations for determining the Longitude of Sheernefs, and the North Foreland.—Paffage of the Refolution from Deptford to Plymouth.—Employments there.—Complements of the Crews of both Ships, and Names of the Officers.—Obfervations to fix the Longitude of Plymouth.—Departure of the Refolution.

H AVING, on the ninth Day of February 1776, jefty's floop the Refolution, I went on board the Satur. 10. next day, hoifted the pendant, and began to enter men. At the fame time, the Difcovery, of three Vol. I. B hundred

A VOYAGE TO

room hundred tons burthen, was purchased into the fervice, February. and the command of her given to Captain Clerke, who had been my second Lieutenant on board the Resolution, in my second voyage round the world, from which we had lately returned.

These two ships were, at this time, in the dock at Deptford, under the hands of the shipwrights; being ordered to be equipped to make farther difcoveries in the Pacific Ocean, under my direction.

March. Satur. 9. On the oth of March, the Refolution was hauled out of dock into the River; where we completed her rigging, and took on board the flores and provifions requifite for a voyage of fuch duration. Both fhips, indeed, were fupplied with as much of every neceffary article as we could conveniently flow, and with the beft of every kind that could be procured. And, befides this, every thing that had been found, by the experience acquired during our former extensive voyages, to be of any utility in preferving the health of feamen, was fupplied in abundance.

May. It was our intention to have failed to Long Reach Monday6 on the 6th of May, when a pilot came on board

to carry us thither; but it was the 29th before the -Thurf. 30. wind would permit us to move; and the 30th before we arrived at that flation, where our artillery, powder, flot, and other ordnance flores were received.

June.

While we lay in Long Reach, thus employed, the Earl of Sandwich, Sir Hugh Pallifer, and others of the Board of Admiralty, as the leaft mark of the very great attention they had all along fhewn

Satur. 8.

to this equipment, paid us a vifit on the 8th of June, to examine whether every thing had been completed conformably to their intentions and orders, and to the fatisfaction of all who were to embark in the voyage. They, and feveral other Noble-

THE PACIFIC OCEAN.

Noblemen and Gentlemen their friends, honoured me with their company at dinner on that day; J^{une} and, on their coming on board, and alfo on their going afhore, we faluted them with feventeen guns, and three cheers.

With the benevolent view of conveying fome permanent benefit to the inhabitants of Otaheite, and of the other islands in the Pacific Ocean, whom we might happen to visit, his Majefty having commanded fome useful animals to be carried out, we took on board, on the 10th, a bull, two Mond. 10. cows with their calves, and fome sheep, with hay and corn for their subsistence; intending to add to these, other useful animals, when I should arrive at the Cape of Good Hope.

I was also, from the fame laudable motives, furnished with a fufficient quantity of fuch of our European garden seeds, as could not fail to be a valuable present to our newly-discovered islands, by adding fresh supplies of food to their own vegetable productions.

Many other articles, calculated to improve the condition of our friends in the other hemi/phere in various ways, were at the fame time, delivered to us by order of the Board of Admiralty. And both fhips were provided with a proper affortment of iron tools and trinkets, as the means of enabling us to traffic, and to cultivate a friendly intercourle with the inhabitants of fuch new countries as we might be fortunate enough to meet with.

The fame humane attention was extended to our own wants. Some additional clothing, adapted to a cold climate, was ordered for our crews: and nothing was denied to us that could be fuppofed in the leaft conducive to health, or even to convenience. le

3

B 2

Nor

VOYAGE TO A

1776. June.

Nor did the extraordinary care of those at the head of the naval department ftop here. They were equally folicitous to afford us every affiftance towards rendering our voyage of public utility. Tuefd, 11. Accordingly, we received on board, next day, feveral aftronomical and nautical inftruments, which the Board of Longitude intrufted to me, and to Mr. King, my fecond Lieutenant; we having engaged to that Board to make all the neceffary observations, during the voyage, for the improvement of aftronomy and navigation; and, by our joint labours, to supply the place of a professed observator. Such a perfon had been originally intended to be fent out in my fhip.

> The Board, likewife, put into our pofferion the fame watch, or time-keeper, which I had carried out in my last voyage, and had performed its part fo well. It was a copy of Mr. Harrifon's, conftructed by Mr. Kendall. This day, at noon, it was found to be too flow for mean time at Greenwich, by 3', 31", 890; and by its rate of going, it loft, on mean time, 1", 209 per day. Another time keeper, and the fame number and

> fort of inftruments for making observations, were put on board the Difcovery, under the care of Mr. William Bailey; who, having already given fatiffactory proofs of his skill and diligence as an obfervator, while employed in Captain Furneaux's thip, during the late voyage, was engaged a fecond time, in that capacity, to embark with Captain Clerke.

> Mr. Anderfon, my furgeon, who, to fkill in his immediate profession, added great proficiency in natural hiftory, was as willing as he was well qualified, to defcribe every thing in that branch of fcience which should occur worthy of notice. Ashe had already vifited the South Sea islands in the fame thip, and been of fingular fervice, by enabling me to enrich

enrich my relation of that voyage with various ufeful remarks on men and things *, I reafonably expected to derive confiderable affiftance from him, in recording our new proceedings.

I had feveral young men amongft my fea-officers who, under my direction, could be ufefully employed in conftructing charts, in taking views of the coafts and headlands near which we fhould pafs, and in drawing plans of the bays and harbours in which we fhould anchor. A conftant attention to this I knew to be highly requifite, if we would render our difcoveries profitable to future navigators.

And, that we might go out with every help that could ferve to make the refult of our voyage entertaining to the generality of readers, as well as inftructive to the failor and fcholar, Mr. Webber was pitched upon, and engaged to embark with me, for the express purpose of supplying the unavoidable imperfections of written accounts, by enabling us to preferve, and to bring home, such drawings of the most memorable fcenes of our transactions, as could only be executed by a professed and skilful artist.

Every preparation being now completed, I received an order to proceed to Plymouth, and to take the Difcovery under my command. I accordingly gave Captain Clerke two orders; one to put himfelf under my command, and the other to carry his fhip round to Plymouth.

On the 15th, the Refolution failed from Long Satur. 15. Reach, with the Difcovery in company, and the fame evening they anchored at the Nore. Next

5 3776.

day_

^{*} The very copious Vocabulary of the language of Otaheite, and the comparative fpecimen of the languages of the feveral other illands vilited during the former voyage, and published in Captain Cook's account of it, were furnished by Mr. Anderson.

1776. June. at the Nore till I should join her, being at this time in London.

As we were to touch at Otaheite and the Society Iflands, in our way to the intended free of our fresh operations, it had been determined not to omit this opportunity (the only one ever likely to happen) of carrying Omai back to his native country. Accordingly, every thing being ready for our departure, he and I fet out together from London Mond. 24. on the 24th, at fix o'clock in the morning. We

reached Chatham between ten and eleven o'clock; and, after dining with Commissioner Proby, he very obligingly ordered his yacht to carry us to Sheernefs, where my boat was waiting to take us on board.

Omai left London with a mixture of regret and fatisfaction. When we talked about England, and about those who, during his stay, had honoured him, with their protection or friendship, I could observe that his spirits were sensibly affected, and that it was with difficulty he could refrain from tears. But, the inftant the conversation turned to his own iflands, his eyes began to fparkle with joy. He was deeply impreffed with a fenfe of the good treatment he had met with in England, and entertained the highest ideas of the country and of But the pleafing profpect he now had the people. before him of returning home, loaded with what, he well knew, would be effected invaluable treafures there, and the flattering hope which the possession of these gave him, of attaining to a diltinguished superiority amongst his countrymen, were confiderations which operated, by degrees, to suppress every uneasy fensation; and he seemed to be quite happy when he got on board the fhip.

vione. 24. 0

He

He was furnished, by his Majefty, with an ample provision of every article which, during our intercourse with his country, we had observed to be in any estimation there, either as useful or as ornamental. He had, besides, received many presents of the same nature from Lord Sandwich, Mr.* Banks, and several other Gentlemen and Ladies of his acquaintance. In short, every method had been employed, both during his abode in England, and at his departure, to make him the instrument of conveying to the inhabitants of the islands of the Pacific Ocean, the most exalted opinion of the greatness and generosity of the British nation.

While the Refolution lay at the Nore, Mr. King made feveral obfervations for finding the longitude by the watch. The mean of them all, gave o° 44 o", for the longitude of the fhip. This, reduced to Sheernefs, by the bearing and effimated diftance, will make that place to be o° 37 o" Eaft of Greenwich; which is more by feven miles than Mr. Lyons made it, by the watch which Lord Mulgrave had with him, on his voyage towards the North Pole. Whoever knows any thing of the diftance between Sheernefs and Greenwich, will be a judge which of thefe two obfervations is neareft the truth.

The variation of the needle here, by a mean of different fets, taken with different compasses, was 20° 37' West.

On the 25th, about noon, we weighed anchor, Tuefd. 25. and made fail for the Downs, through the Queen's Channel, with a gentle breeze at North Weft by Weft. At nine in the evening we anchored, with the North Foreland bearing South by Eaft, and Margate Point South Weft by South.

* Now Sir Joseph,

Next

Next morning, at two o'clock, we weighed and 1776. June. ftood round the Foreland; and when it bore North. Wedn. 26. allowing for the variation of the compass, the

watch gave 1° 24." East longitude, which, reduced to the Foreland, will be 1° 21' East. Lunar observations made the preceding evening, fixed it at 1° 20' Eaft. At eight o'clock the fame morning, we anchored in the Downs. Two boats had been built for us at Deal, and I immediately fent on fhore for them. I was told that many people had affembled there to fee Omai, but, to their great disappointment, he did not land.

Having received the boats on board, and a light breeze at South South East fpringing up, we got

Thurf. 27. under fail the next day at two o'clock in the afternoon. But the breeze foon died away, and we were obliged to anchor again till ten o'clock at night. We then weighed, with the wind at Eaft, and proceeded down the channel.

Sunday 10. On the 30th, at three o'clock in the afternoon, we anchored in Plymouth Sound, where the Difcovery had arrived only three days before. I faluted Admiral Amherft, whole flag was flying on board the Ocean, with thirteen guns, and he returned the compliment, with eleven.

It was the first object of our case, on arriving at Plymouth, to replace the water and provisions that July. we had expended, and to receive on board a fupply Monday, of Port Wine. This was the employment which Tuefday 2. occupied us on the 1ft and 2d of July.

During our flay here, the crews were ferved with fresh beef every day. And I should not do justice to Mr. Ommanney, the Agent Victualler, if I did not take this opportunity to mention, that he shewed a very obliging readiness to furnish me with the beft of every thing that lay within his department. I had been under the like obligations

to

to him on my fetting out upon my laft voyage, 1776. Commissioner Ourry, with equal zeal for the fer-July. vice, gave us every affistance that we wanted from the naval yard.

It could not but occur to us as a fingular and affecting circumftance, that at the very inftant of our departure upon a voyage, the object of which was to benefit Europe by making fresh discoveries in North America, there should be the unhappy neceffity of employing others of his Majefty's fhips, and of conveying numerous bodies of land forces, to fecure the obedience of those parts of that continent which had been difcovered and fettled by our countrymen in the last century. On the 6th, Satur. 6. his Majefty's ships Diamond, Ambuscade, and Unicorn, with a fleet of transports, confifting of fixty-two fail, bound to America, with the last division of the Hessian troops, and some horse, were forced into the Sound by a ftrong North Weft Wind.

On the 8th, I received, by exprefs, my inftruc-Monday8. tions* for the voyage, and an order to proceed to the Cape of Good Hope with the Refolution. I was also directed to leave an order for Captain Clerke to follow us, as foon as he fhould join his fhip; he being, at this time, detained in London.

Our first discoverers of the New World, and navigators of the Indian and Pacific Oceans, were justly thought to have exerted fuch uncommon abilities, and to have accomplished fuch perilous enterprise, that their names have been handed down to posterity as fo many Argonauts. Nay, even the hulks of the ships that carried them, though not converted into constellations in the Heavens, used to be honoured and visited as facred reliques upon

* See the instructions, in the Introduction.

earth.

1776. July.

earth. We, in the prefent age of improved navigation, who have been inftructed by their labours, and have followed them as our guides, have no fuch claim to fame. Some merit, however, being ftill, in the public opinion, confidered as due to those who fail to unexplored quarters of the globe, in conformity to this favourable judgment, I prefixed to the account of my last voyage the names of the officers of both my thips, and a table of the number of their respective crews. The like information will be expected from me at present.

The Refolution was fitted out with the fame complement of officers and men she had before; and the Discovery's establishment varied from that of the Adventure, in the single instance of her having no marine officer on board. This arrangement was to be finally completed at Plymouth;

Tuefdays and, on the 9th, we received the party of marines allotted for our voyage. Colonel Bell, who commanded the division at this port, gave me such men for the detachment as I had reason to be fatisfied with. And the supernumerary seamen, occasioned by this reinforcement, being turned over into the Ocean man of war, our several complements remained fixed, as represented in the following table: THE PACIFIC OCEAN.

RESOLUTION.				DISCOVERY.	
Officers and Men.	N٥	Officers Names.	N°	Officers Names.	
Captain,	1	James Cook	1	Charles Clerke.	
Lieutenants, -	3	John Gore	2	1	
-		James King		John Rickman.	
		John Williamfon.	11.		
Mafter,	r	William Bligh	1	Thomas Edgar.	
Boatfwain,	1			Eneas Atkins.	
Carpenter,	I	James Clevely	1	Peter Reynolds.	
Gunner,	II	Robert Anderson.		WilliamPeckover	
Surgeon,	I	William Anderfon.		John Law.	
Mafter's Mates, –	3		2		
Midshipmen,	6		4		
Surgeon's Mates, -	2		2		
Captain's Clerk, -	1		ΙII		
Master at Arms, -	1		1 I		
Corporal,	1		1		
Armourer,	1		1]	
Ditto Mate,	1		1	1	
Sail Maker,	1		I		
Ditto Mate,	1		1 1		
Boatfwain's Mates,	3		2		
Carpenter's Ditto,	3		2		
Gunner's Ditto, -	2		1		
Carpenter's Crew,	4		4	1	
Cook,	1		1	1	
Ditto Mate,	I		1		
Quarter Masters,	6		4		
Able Seamen, -	45	Marines.	33		
Lieutenant,			ł		
Serjeant,	1		∦.		
Corporals,	2	1	∥ ,		
Drummer, -			1	1	
Private,	15	1 .	8		
	1.2		11_	1	
Total,	112		80	4	

1776. July.

On the 10th, the Commissioner and Pay Clerks came on board, and paid the officers and crew up Wedn. 10. to the 30th of last month. The petty officers and

feamen had, belides, two months wages in advance. Such indulgence to the latter, is no more than what is cuftomary in the navy. But the payment of what was due to the fuperior officers was humanely ordered by the Admiralty, in confideration of our peculiar fituation, that we might be better able to defray the very great expense of furnishing ourfelves with a flock of necessaries for a voyage which, probably, would be of unufual duration, and to regions where no fupply could be expected.

Nothing now obstructing my departure but a contrary wind, which blew ftrong at South Thurf. 11. Weft, in the morning of the 11th, I delivered into the hands of Mr. Burney, first Lieutenant of the Discovery, Captain Clerke's' failing orders; a copy of which I also left with the Officer * commanding his Majefty's fhips at Plymouth, to be delivered to the Captain immediately on his arri-In the afternoon, the wind moderating, we val. weighed with the ebb, and got farther out, beyond all the fhipping in the Sound; where, after making an unfuccefsful attempt to get to fea, we were de-Friday 12. tained most of the following day, which was em-

ployed in receiving on board a fupply of water; and, by the fame veffel that brought it, all the empty cafks were returned.

As I did not imagine my ftay at Plymouth would have been to long as it proved, we did not get our inftruments on fhore to make the necessary observations for afcertaining the longitude by the watch. For the fame reason, Mr. Baily did not set about

^{*} Captain Le Crafs, Admiral Amherst having struck his flag fome days before.

this, till he found that the Difcovery would, probably, be detained fome days after us. He then July. placed his quadrant upon Drake's Ifland; and had time, before the Refolution failed, to make obfervations fufficient for the purpofe we had in view. Our watch made the ifland to lie 4° 14', and his, 4° 13¹/₃, Weft of Greenwich. Its latitude, as found by Meffrs. Wales and Baily, on the laft voyage, is 50° 21' 30'' North.

We weighed again at eight in the evening, and flood out of the Sound, with a gentle breeze at North Weft by Weft.

CHAP.

CHAP. II.

Paffage of the Refolution to Teneriffe.—Reception there.—Defcription of Santa Cruz Road.—Refreshments to be met with.—Observations for fixing the Longitude of Teneriffe.—Some account of the Island. — Botanical Observations. — Cities of Santa Cruz and Laguna.—Agriculture.—Air and Climate.—Commerce.—Inbabitants.

1776. July. Friday 12. ly, and blew frefh, fo that we were obliged to ply Sunday 14. down the Channel; and it was not till the 14th, at eight in the evening, that we were off the Lizard.

Tuefd.16. On the 16th, at noon, St. Agnes's Light-houfe on the Ifles of Scilly, bore North Weft by Weft, diftant feven or eight miles. Our latitude was, now, 49° 53´ 30´´ North, and our longitude, by the watch, 6° 11´ Weft. Hence, I reckon that St. Agnes's Light-houfe is in 49° 57´ 30´´ North latitude, and in 6° 20´ of Weft longitude.

Wedn. 17. On the 17th * and 18th we were off Ushant, Thurf. 18. and found the longitude of the island to be, by the watch, 5° 18' 37' West. The variation was 23°O' 50'', in the fame direction.

> * It appears from Captain Cook's log-book, that he began his judicious operations for preferving the health of his crew, very early in the voyage. On the 17th, the fhip was fmoked between decks with gun-powder. The fpare fails also were then well aired.

> > With

!4

With a ftrong gale at South, on the 19th, we 1776. ftood to the weftward, till eight o'clock in the Julymorning, when, the wind fhifting to the Weft Friday 19. and North Weft, we tacked and ftretched to the Southward. At this time, we faw nine fail of large fhips, which we judged to be French men of war. They took no particular notice of us, nor we of them.

At ten o'clock in the morning of the 22d, we Mond. 22. faw Cape Ortegal; which at noon bore South Eaft, half South, about four leagues diftant. At this time we were in the latitude of 44° 6' North; and our longitude, by the watch, was 8° 23' Weft.

After two days of calm weather we paffed Cape Finifterre, on the afternoon of the 24th, with a Wedn. 24. fine gale at North North Eaft. The longitude of this Cape, by the watch, is $9^{\circ} 29^{\circ}$ Weft; and, by the mean of forty-one lunar observations, made before and after we paffed it, and reduced to it by the watch, the refult was $9^{\circ} 19^{\circ} 12^{\circ}$.

On the 30th, at fix minutes and thirty-eight fe-Tuef. 30. conds paft ten o'clock at night, apparent time, I obferved, with a night telefcope, the moon totally eclipfed. By the *ephemeris*, the fame happened at Greenwich at nine minutes paft eleven o'clock; the difference being one hour, two minutes, and twenty-two feconds, or 15° 35' 30'' of longitude. The watch, for the fame time, gave 15° 26' 45'' longitude Weft; and latitude 31° 10' North. No other obfervation could be made on this eclipfe, as the moon was hid behind the clouds the greater part of the time; and, in particular, when the beginning and end of total darknefs, and the end of the eclipfe, happened.

Finding that we had not hay and corn fufficient for the fubfiftence of the ftock of animals on board,

board, till our arrival at the Cape of Good Hope, 1776. July. I determined to touch at Teneriffe, to get a fupply of these, and of the usual refreshments for ourfelves; thinking that ifland, for fuch purpofes, better adapted than Madeira. At four in the after-Wedn. 31. noon of the 31st, we faw Teneriffe, and steered for the eaftern part. At nine, being near it, we hauled up, and ftood off and on during the night.

At day-light, on the morning of the ift of Au-Thurf. 1. guft, we failed round the Eaft Point of the ifland; and, about eight o'clock, anchored on the South East fide of it, in the Road of Santa Cruz, in twenty-three fathoms water; the bottom, fand and owze. Punta de Nago, the East point of the Road, bore North 64° Eaft; St. Francis's church, remarkable for its high steeple, West South West, the Pic, South 65° Weft; and the South Weft point of the Road, on which stands a fort or castle, South 39° Weft. In this fituation, we moored North Eaft and South Weft, with a cable each way, being near half a mile from the fhore.

> We found, riding in this Road, La Bouffole, a French frigate, commanded by the Chevalier de Borda; two brigantines of the fame nation; an English brigantine from London, bound to Senegal; and fourteen fail of Spanish vessels.

> No fooner had we anchored, than we were vifited by the Mafter of the Port, who fatisfied himfelf with asking the ship's name. Upon his leaving us, I fent an officer alhore, to prefent my refpects to the Governor; and to alk his leave to take in water, and to purchafe fuch articles as we were in want of. All this he granted with the greatest politenels; and, foon after, fent an officer on board, to compliment me on my arrival. In the afternoon, I waited upon him in perfon, accompanied by fome of my officers; and, before I returned to

ιб

August.

to my fhip, befpoke fome corn and ftraw for the 1776, live ftock; ordered a quantity of wine from Mr. August. M'Carrick, the contractor, and made an agreement with the mafter of a Spanish boat to supply us with water, as I found that we could not do it ourselves.

The road of Santa Cruz is fituated before the town of the fame name, on the South East fide of the island. It is, as I am told, the principal road of Teneriffe, for .fhelter, capacity, and the goodnefs of its bottom. It lies entirely open to the South Eaft and South winds. But thefe winds are never of long continuance; and, they fay, there is not an inftance * of a fhip driving from her anchors on fhore. This may, in part, be owing to the great care they take in mooring them; for I observed, that all the ships we met with there, had four anchors out; two to the North East, and two to the South Weft; and their cables buoyed up with cafks. Ours fuffered a little by not observing this laft precaution.

At the South Weft part of the road, a ftone pier runs out into the fea from the town, for the convenience of loading and landing of goods. To this pier, the water that fupplies the fhipping is conveyed. This, as allo what the inhabitants of Santa Cruz ufe, is derived from a rivulet that runs from the hills, the greateft part of which comes into the town in wooden fpouts or troughs, that are fupported by flender pofts, and the remainder doth not reach the fea; though it is evident, from the fize of the channel, that fometimes large torrents

C

Vol. I.

rufh

^{*} Though no fuch inftance was known to thole from whom Captain Cook had this information, we learn from Glas, that forme years before he was at Teneriffe, almos all the /bipping in the road were driven on /bore. See Glas's Hift. of the Canary l/lands, p. 235. We may well fuppole the precautions now ufed, have prevented any more fuch accidents bappening. This will fufficiently juitify Captain Cook's account.

1776. I August.

rush down. At this time these troughs were repairing, so that fresh water, which is very good here, was scarce.

Were we to judge from the appearance of the country in the neighbourhood of Santa Cruz, it might be concluded that Teneriffe is a barren spot, insufficient to maintain even its own inhabit-The ample fupplies, however, which we ants. received, convinced us that they had enough to spare for visitors. Befides wine, which is the chief produce of the island, beef may be had at a moderate price. The oxen are fmall and boney, and weigh about ninety pounds a quarter. The meat is but lean, and was, at prefent, fold for half a bit (three pence fterling) a pound. I, unadvifedly, bought the bullocks alive, and paid confiderably more. Hogs, sheep, goats and poultry, are likewife to be bought at the fame moderate rate; and fruits are in great plenty. At this time we had grapes, figs, pears, mulberries, plantains, and mulk melons. There is a variety of other fruits produced here, though not in feason at this time. Their pumpkins, onions, and potatoes, are exceedingly good of their kind, and keep better at fea than any I ever before met with.

The Indian corn, which is alfo their produce, coft me about three fhillings and fixpence a bufhel; and the fruits and roots were, in general, very cheap. They have not any plentiful fupply of fifh from the adjoining fea; but a very confiderable fifhery is carried on by their veffels upon the coaft of Barbary; and the produce of it fells at a reafonable price. Upon the whole, I found Teneriffe to be a more eligible place than Madeira, for fhips bound on long voyages to touch at; though the wine of the latter, according to my tafte, is as much fuperior to that of the former, as ftrong beer

THE PACIFIC OCEAN,

beer is to fmall. To compensate for this, the difference of prices is confiderable; for the beft Teneriffe wine was now fold for twelve pounds a pipe; whereas a pipe of the beft Madeira would have cost confiderably more than double that fum*.

The Chevalier de Borda, Commander of the French frigate now lying in Santa Cruz road, was employed, in conjunction with Mr. Varila, a Spanifh Gentleman, in making aftronomical obfervations for afcertaining the going of two time-keepers which they had on board their fhip. For this purpofe, they had a tent pitched on the pier head, where they made their obfervations, and compared their watches, every day at noon, with the clock on fhore, by fignals. These fignals the Chevalier very obligingly communicated to us, fo that we could compare our watch at the fame time. But our flay was too fhort, to profit much by his kindnels.

The three days comparisons which we made, affured us that the watch had not materially, if at all, altered her rate of going; and gave us the fame longitude, within a very few feconds, that was obtained by finding the time from observations of the fun's altitude from the horizon of the sea. The watch, from a mean of these observations, on the 1st, 2d, and 3d of August, made the longi-

C 2

tude

^{*} Formerly, there was made at Teneriffe a great quantity of Canary fack, which the French call *Vin de Mabuefie*; and we, corruptly after them, name Malmfey (from Malvefie, a town in the Morea, famous for fuch lufcious wine). In the laft century, and fiill later, much of this was imported into England, but little wine is now made there, but of the fort deforibed by Captain Cook. Not more than fifty pipes of the rich Canary was annually made in Glas's time; and he fays, they now gather the grapes when green, and make a dry hard wine of them, fit for hot climates, p. 262.

tude 16° 31' West; and in like manner, the latitude was found to be 28° 30' 11" North.

Mr. Varila informed us, that the true longitude was 18° 35′ 30″, from Paris, which is only 16° 16′ 30″ from Greenwich; lefs than what our watch gave by 14′ 30′. But, far from looking upon this as an error in the watch, I rather think it a confirmation of its having gone well; and hat the longitude by it may be nearer the truth than any other. It is farther confirmed by the lunar obfervations that we made in the road, which gave 16° 37′ 10″. Those made before we arrived, and reduced to the road by the watch, gave 16° 33′30″: and those made after we left it, and reduced back in the fame manner, gave 16° 28'. The mean of the three is 16° 30′ 40″.

To reduce these feveral longitudes, and the latitude, to the Pic of Teneriffe, one of the most noted points of land with Geographers (to obtain the true fituation of which, I have entered into this particular difcuffion), I had recourfe to the bearing, and a few hours of the ship's run after leaving Santa Cruz road; and found it to be 12' 11" South of the road, and 29 30" of longitude West of it. As the base, which helped to determine this, was partly effimated, it is liable to fome error; but I think I cannot be much mittaken. Dr. Maskelyne, in his British Mariner's Guide, places the Pic in the latitude of 28° 12' 54". This, with the bearing from the road, will give the difference of longitude 43, which confiderably exceeds the diffance they reckon the Pic to be from Santa Cruz. I made the latitude of the Pic to be 28° 18' North. Upon that fuppolition, its longitude will be as follows:

By

By The Time-keeper - 17° of 30° Lunar observations - 16° 30° 20° Weft. Mr. Varila - 16° 46° of

But if the latitude of it is 28° 12' 54", as in the Britis Mariner's Guide, its longitude will be 13' 30" more wefterly.

The variation, when we were at anchor in the road, by the mean of all our compafies, was found to be $14^{\circ} 41' 20''$ Weft. The dip of the North end of the needle was $61^{\circ} 52' 30''$.

Some of Mr. Anderson's remarks on the natural appearances of Teneriffe, and its productions; and what he observed himself, or learnt by information, about the general state of the island, will be of use, particularly in marking what changes may have happened there fince Mr. Glas visited it. They here follow in his own words:

"While we were ftanding in for the land, the weather being perfectly clear, we had an opportunity of feeing the celebrated Pic of Teneriffe. But, I own, I was much difappointed in my expectation with refpect to its appearance. It is, certainly, far from equalling the noble figure of Pico, one of the weftern ifles which I have feen; though its perpendicular height may be greater. This circumftance, perhaps, arifes from its being furrounded by other very high hills; whereas Pico ftands without a rival.

Behind the city of Santa Cruz, the country rifes gradually, and is of a moderate height. Beyond this, to the South Weftward, it becomes higher, and continues to rife towards the Pic, which, from the road, appears but little higher than the furrounding hills. From thence it feems to decreafe, though not fuddenly, as far as the eye can reach. From a fuppofition that we fhould not ftay above one day, I was obliged to contract my excursions into

1776. August.

6. into the country; otherwife, I had proposed to utility in the top of this famous mountain *.

To the eaftward of Santa Cruz, the island appears perfectly barren. Ridges of hills run towards the fea; between which ridges are deep valleys, terminating at mountains or hills that run acrofs, and are higher than the former. Those that run towards the fea, are marked by impreffions on their fides, which make them appear as a fuccession of conic hills, with their tops very rugged. The higher ones that run acrofs, are more uniform in their appearance.

In the forenoon of the 1ft of August, after we had anchored in the road, I went on shore to one of these valleys, with an intention to reach the top of the remoter hills, which seemed covered with wood; but time would not allow me to get farther than their foot. After walking about three miles, I found no alteration in the appearance of the lower hills; which produce great quantities of the eupborbia Canarienfis. It is furprising that this large fucculent plant should thrive on so burntup a foil. When broken, which is easily done, the quantity of juice is very great; and it might be supposed that, when dried, it would fhrivel to nothing; yet it is a pretty tough, though fost and light wood. The people here believe its juice

* See an account of a journey to the top of the Pic of Tenerifle, in Sprat's Hiftory of the Royal Society, p. 200, &c. Glas allo went to the top of it. Hiftory of the Canary Hands, p. 252 to 259. In the Philosophical Transactions, vol. xlvii. p. 355-356, we have Objervations made, in going up the Pic of Teneriffe, by Dr. T. Heberden. The Doctor makes its height, about the level of the fea, to be 2566 fathoms, or 15,356 English feet; and fays, that this was confirmed by two sublequent observations by himfelf, and another made by Mr. Cross, the Conful. And yet, I find, that the Chevalier de Borda, who measured the height of this mountain in August 1776, makes it to be only 1931 French toiles, or 12,340 English feet. See Doctor Forster's Objervations during a Voyage round the World, p. 32.

22

to

to be fo cauftic as to erode the fkin*; but I convinced them, though with much difficulty, to the contrary, by trufting my finger into the plant full of it, without afterwards wiping it off. They break down the bufnes of *eupborbia*, and fuffering them to dry, carry them home for fuel. I met with nothing elfe growing there, but two or three fmall fhrubs, and a few fig-trees near the bottom of the valley.

The bafis of the hills is a heavy, compact, blueifh ftone, mixed with fome fhining particles; and, on the furface, large maffes of red friable earth, or ftone, are fcattered about. I alfo often found the fame fubftance difpofed in thick *ftrata*; and the little earth, ftrewed here and there, was a blackifh mould. There were likewife fome pieces of flag; one of which, from its weight and fmooth furface, feemed almost wholly metalline.

The mouldering flate of these hills is, doubtlefs, owing to the perpetual action of the fun, which calcines their furface. This mouldered part being afterwards washed away by the heavy rains, perhaps is the caufe of their fides being fo uneven. For, as the different substances of which they are composed, are more or less eafily affected by the fun's heat, they will be carried away in the like proportions. Hence perhaps, the tops of the hills, being of the hardeft rock, have ftood, while the other parts on a declivity have been deftroyed. As I have ufually obferved, that the tops of most mountains that are covered with trees have a more uniform appearance, I am inclined to believe that this is owing to their being shaded,

The

^{*} Glas, p. 231, fpeaking of this plant, fays, that he cannot imagine why the natives of the Canaries do not extract the juice, and use it instead of pitch, for the bottoms of their boats. We now learn from Mr. Anderson their reason for not using it.

The city of Santa Cruz, though not large, is tolerably well built. The churches are not magnificent without, but within are decent, and indifferently ornamented. They are inferior to fome of the churches at Madeira; but, I imagine, this rather arifes from the different difpolition of the people, than from their inability to fupport them better. For the private houles, and drefs of the Spanish inhabitants of Santa Cruz, are far preferable to those of the Portuguese at Madeira; who, perhaps, are willing to ftrip themselves, that they may adorn their churches.

Almost facing the stone pier at the landingplace, is a handsome marble column lately put up, ornamented with some human figures, that do no discredit to the artist; with an inscription in Spanish, to commemorate the occasion of the erection; and the date.

Friday 2.

In the afternoon of the 2d, four of us hired mules to ride to the city of Laguna*, fo called from an adjoining lake, about four miles from Santa Cruz. We arrived there between five and fix in the evening; but found a fight of it very unable to compensate for our trouble, as the road was very bad, and the mules but indifferent. The place is, indeed, pretty extensive, but scarcely deferves to be dignified with the name of City. The disposition of its streets is very irregular; yet some of them are of a tolerable breadth, and have fome good houfes. In general, however, Laguna is inferior in appearance to Santa Cruz, though the latter is but fmall, if compared with the former. We were informed, likewife, that Laguna is declining faft;

* Its extended name is St. Christobal de la Laguna; and it used to be reckoned the capital of the island, the gentry and lawyers living there; though the Governor General of the Canary Islands refuses at Santa Cruz, as being the center of their trade, both with Europe and America. See *Glas's Hift*. p. 248.

there

there being, at prefent, fome vineyards where 1776. houses formerly flood; whereas Santa Cruz is August.

The road leading from Santa Cruz to Laguna runs up a fteep hill, which is very barren; but, lower down, we faw fome fig-trees, and feveral corn fields. Thefe are but fmall, and not thrown into ridges, as is practified in England. Nor does it appear that they can raife any corn here without great labour, as the ground is fo encumbered with ftones, that they are obliged to collect and lay them in broad rows, or walls, at fmall diftances. The large hills that run to the South-weft, appeared to be pretty well furnifhed with trees. Nothing elfe worth noticing prefented itfelf during this excurfion, except a few aloe plants in flower, near-the fide of the road, and the chearfulnefs of our guides who amufed us with fongs by the way.

Most of the laborious work in this island is performed by mules; horfes being to appearance scarce, and chiefly referved for the use of the offi-They are of a small fize, but well shaped cers. and fpirited. Oxen are also employed to drag their cafks along upon a large clumfy piece of wood; and they are yoked by the head; though it doth not feem that this has any peculiar advantage over our method of fixing the harnefs on the fhoulders. In my walks and excursions I faw fome hawks, parrots, which are natives of the ifland, the fea fwallow or tern, sea gulls, partridges, wagtails, fwallows, martins, blackbirds, and Canary-birds in There are also lizards of the comlarge flocks. mon, and another fort; fome infects, as locufts; and three or four forts of dragon flies.

I had an opportunity of converling with a fenfible and well-informed gentleman reliding here, and whole veracity I have not the least reason to doubt.

doubt. From him I learnt fome particulars, which, during the fhort ftay of three days, did not fall within my own obfervation. He informed me, that a fhrub is common here, agreeing exactly with the defeription given by Tournefort and Linnæus, of the *tea fbrub*, as growing in China and Japan. It is reckoned a weed, and he roots out thoufands of them every year, from his vineyards. The Spaniards, however, of the ifland, fometimes ufe it as tea, and aferibe to it all the qualities of that imported from China. They alfo give it the name of tea; but what is remarkable, they fay it was found here when the iflands were firft difcovered.

Another botanical curiofity, mentioned by him, is what they call the *impregnated lemon* *. It is a perfect and diffinct lemon, inclosed within another, differing from the outer one only in being a fittle more globular. The leaves of the tree that produces this fort, are much longer than those of the common one; and it was represented to me as being crooked, and not equal in beauty.

From him I learnt alfo, that a certain fort of grape growing here, is reckoned an excellent remedy in phthifical complaints. And the air and climate, in general, are remarkably healthful, and particularly adapted to give relief in fuch difeafes. This he endeavoured to account for, by it's being always in one's power to procure a different temperature of the air, by refiding at different heights in the ifland, and he exprefied his furprife that the Englifh phyficians fhould never have thought of fending their confumptive patients to Teneriffe, inftead of Nice or Lifbon. How much the tem-

* The Writer of the Relation of Teneriffe, in Sprat's Hiffory, p. 207, takes notice of this lemon as produced here, and calls it Pregnada. Probably, emprennada, the Spanith word for impregnated, is the name it goes by.

perature

perature of the air varies here, I myfelf could 1776. fenfibly perceive, only in riding from Santa Cruz Auguft. up to Laguna; and you may alcend till the cold becomes intolerable. I was affured that no perfon can live comfortably within a mile of the perpendicular height of the Pic, after the month of Auguft *.

Although fome fmoke conftantly iffues from near the top of the Pic, they have had no earthquake or eruption of a volcano fince 1704, when the port of Garrachica, where much of their trade was formerly carried on, was deftroyed +.

Their trade, indeed, muft be confidered as very confiderable; for they reckon that forty thousand pipes of wine are annually made; the greatest part of, which is either confumed in the island, or made into brandy, and fent to the Spanish West Indies ‡. About fix thousand pipes were exported every year to North America, while the trade with it

Philosophical Transactions, as quoted above. + This port was then filled up by the rivers of burning lava that flowed into it from a volcano; infomuch that houfes are now built where thips formerly lay at anchor. See Glas's Hift. p. 244.

Hift. p. 244. T Glas, p. 342, fays, that they annually export no lefs than fifteen thousand pipes of wine and brandy. In another place, p. 252, he tells us, that the number of the inhabitants of Tenerifie, when the laft account was taken, was no lefs than 96,000. We may reafonably fuppofe that there has been a confiderable increase of population fince Glas vifited the illand, which is above thirty years ago. The quantity of whne annually confumed, as the common beverage of at leaft one hundred thousand perfons, muft amount to feveral thousand pipes. There muft be a vaft expenditure of it, by conversion into brandy; to produce one pipe of which, five or fix pipes of wine muft be diffilled. An attention to these particulars will enable every one to judge, that the account given to Mr. Anderson, of an annual produce of 40,000 pipes of wine, has a foundation in truth. 27

was

^{*} This agrees with Dr. T. Heberden's account, who fays that the fugar-loaf part of the mountain, or *la pericola* (as it is called), which is an eighth part of a league (or 1980 feet) to the top, is covered with fnow the greateft part of the year. See Philolophical Transations, as quoted above.

was uninterrupted; at prefent, they think not above half the quantity. The corn they raife is, in general infufficient to maintain the inhabitants; but the deficiency ufed to be fupplied by importation from the North Americans, who took their wines in return.

They make a little filk; but unless we reckon the filtering-ftones, brought in great numbers from Grand Canary, the wine is the only confiderable article of the foreign commerce of Teneriffe.

None of the race of inhabitants found here when the Spaniards discovered the Canaries now remain a diffinct people *, having intermarried with the Spanish settlers; but their descendants are known, from their being remarkably tall, largeboned, and ftrong. The men are, in general, of a tawny colour, and the women have a pale complexion, entirely deftitute of that bloom which diftinguishes our Northern beauties. The Spanish cuftom of wearing black clothes continues amongft them; but the men feem more indifferent about this, and, in fome meafure, drefs like the French. In other respects, we found the inhabitants of Teneriffe to be a decent and very civil people, retaining that grave caft which diffinguishes those of their country from other European nations. Although we do not think that there is a great fimilarity between our manners and those of the Spaniards, it is worth observing, that Omai did not think there was much difference. He only faid, that they feemed not fo friendly as the Englifh; and that, in their perfons, they approached those of his countrymen."

^{*} It was otherwife in Glas's time, when a few families of the *Guanches* (as they are called) remained fiill in Teneriffe, not blended with the Spaniards. *Glas*, p. 240.

CHAP. III.

Departure from Teneriffe.—Danger of the Ship near Bonavista.—Isle of Mayo.—Port Praya.—Precautions against the Rain and fultry Weather in the Neighbourhood of the Equator.—Position of the Coast of Brazil.— Arrival at the Cape of Good Hope.—Transations there.—Junction of the Discovery.—Mr. Anderson's Journey up the Country.—Astronomical Observations.—Nautical Remarks on the Passage from England to the Cape, with regard to the Currents and the Variation.

H AVING completed our water, and got on 1776. August. neriffe, we weighed anchor on the 4th of August, Sunday 4. and proceeded on our voyage, with a fine gale at North Eaft.

At nine o'clock in the evening on the 10th*, Satur. 10. we faw the ifland of Bonavista bearing South, diftant little more than a league; though, at this time, we thought ourfelves much farther off; but this proved a mistake. For, after hauling to the Eastward till twelve o'clock, to clear the funken rocks that lie about a league from the South East point of the island, we found ourfelves, at that time, close upon them, and did but just weather the

* As a proof of Captain Cook's attention, both to the difcipline and to the health of his fhip's company, it may be worth while to obferve here, that it appears from his log-book, he exercifed them at great guns and fmall arms, and cleared and fmoked the fbip below decks, twice in the interval between the 4th and the 1oth of August.

breakers,

breakers. Our fituation, for a few minutes, was very alarming. I did not chufe to found, as that might have heightened the danger without any pofibility of leffening it. I make the North end of the island of Bonavista to lie in the latitude of 16° 17' North, and in the longitude of 22° 59' Weft.

Sundayıı,

^{11.} As foon as we were clear of the rocks, we fteered South South Weft, till day-break next morning, and then hauled to the Weftward, to go between Bonavifta and the ifle of Mayo, intending to look into Port Praya for the Difcovery, as I had told Captain Clerke that I fhould touch there, and did not know how foon he might fail after me. At one in the afternoon, we faw the rocks that lie on the South Weft fide of Bonavifta, bearing South Eaft, diftant three or four leagues.

Mond. 12.

Next morning, at fix o'clock, the ifle of Mayo bore South South Eaft, diftant about five leagues. In this fituation we founded, and found ground at At the fame time the variation, fixty fathoms. by the mean of feveral azimuths taken with three different compasses, was 9° $32\frac{1}{2}$ West. At eleven o'clock, one extreme of Mayo bore Eaft by North, and the other South Eaft by South. In this position, two roundifh hills appeared near its North East part; farther on, a large and higher hill; and, at about two-thirds of its length, a fingle one that is peaked. At the diftance we now faw this ifland, which was three or four miles, there was not the least appearance of vegetation, nor any relief to the eye from that lifeles brown which prevails in countries under the Torrid Zone that are unwooded.

Here I cannot help remarking that Mr. Nichelson, in his Preface to Sundry Remarks and Observations made in a Voyage 10 the East Indies. dies^{*}, tells us, that "with eight degrees Weft varia-"tion, or any thing above that, you may venture to "fail by the Cape de Verde Iflands night or day,

" being well affured, with that variation, that you " are to the Eaftward of them." Such an affertion might prove of dangerous confequence, were there any that would implicitly truft to it. We alfo tried the current, and found one fetting South Weft by Weft, fomething more than half a mile an hour. We had reafon to expect this, from the differences between the longitude given by the watch and dead reckoning, which, fince our leaving Teneriffe, amounted to one degree.

While we were amongst these islands we had light breezes of wind, varying from the South East to East, and some calms. This shews that the Cape de Verde Islands, are either extensive enough to break the current of the trade wind, or that they are fituated just beyond its verge, in that fpace where the variable winds, found on getting near the line, begin. The first supposition, however, is the most probable, as Dampier + found the wind westerly here in the month of February; at which time the trade wind is supposed to extend fartheft towards the equinoctial. The weather was hot and fultry, with fome rain; and, for the most part, a dull whitenefs prevailed in the fky, that feems a medium between fog and clouds. In general, the tropical regions feldom enjoy that clear atmosphere observable where variable winds blow; nor does the fun fhine with fuch brightnefs. This circumstance, however, seems an advantage; for otherwife, perhaps, the rays of the fun, being uninterrupted, would render the heat quite unfup-

+ Dampier's Voyages, Vol. iii. p. 10.

portable.

^{*} On board his Majefty's fhip Elizabeth, from 1758 to 1764; by William Nichelfon, Mafter of the faid Ship. London, 1773.

The nights are, neverthelefs, often clear portable. and ferene.

At nine o'clock in the morning of the 13th, we Tuefd. 13. arrived before Port Praya, in the island of St. Jago, where we faw two Dutch East India ships, and a fmall brigantine at anchor. As the Difcovery was not there, and we had expended but little water in our passage from Teneriffe, I did not think proper to go in, but flood to the Southward. Some altitudes of the Sun were now taken, to alcertain the true time. The longitude by the watch, deduced therefrom, was 23° 48' Weft ; the little island in the bay bore West North West, distant near three miles, which will make its longitude 23° 51'. The fame watch, on my late voyage, made the longitude to be 23° 30' Weft; and we observed the latitude to be 14° 53' 30' North. The day after we left the Cape de Verde Islands,

Wedn. 14.

we loft the North Eaft trade wind; but did not get

Friday 30. that which blows from the South Eaft till the 30th, when we were in the latitude of 2° North, and in

the twenty-fifth degree of Weft longitude. During this interval*, the wind was moftly in the South Weft quarter. Sometimes it blew frefh, and in fqualls, but for the most part a gentle breeze. The calms were few, and of fhort dura-Between the latitude of 12° and of 7° North, tion. the weather was generally dark and gloomy, with

* On the 18th, I funk a bucket with a thermometer feventy fathoms below the furface of the fea, where it remained two minutes; and it took three minutes more to haul it up. The mercury in the thermometer was at 66, which before, in the air, ftood at 78, and in the furface of the fea at 79. The water which came up in the bucket contained, by Mr. Cavendift's table, $\frac{1}{25}$, 7 part falt; and that at the furface of the fea $\frac{1}{25}$, 4. As this laft was taken up after a fmart flower of rain, it might be lighter on that account. Captain Cook's log-book.

frequent

frequent rains, which enabled us to fave as much 1776. water as filled moft of our empty cafks.

These rains, and the close fultry weather accompanying them, too often bring on fickness in this paffage. Every bad consequence, at least, is to be apprehended from them; and commanders of thips cannot be too much upon their guard, by purifying the air between decks with fires and fmoke, and by obliging the people to dry their clothes at every opportunity. These precautions were constantly observed on board the Resolution * and Difcovery; and we certainly profited by them, for we had now fewer fick than on either of my former voyages. We had, however, the mortification to find our fhip exceedingly leaky in all her upper works. The hot and fultry weather we had just passed through, had opened her feams, which had been badly caulked at first, so wide, that they admitted the rain water through as it fell. There was hardly a man that could lie dry in his bed; and the officers in the gun-room were all driven out of their cabbins, by the water that came through the fides. The fails in the fail-room got wet; and before we had weather to dry them, many of them were much damaged, and a great expence of canvas and of time became necessary to make them in fome degree ferviceable. Having experienced the fame defect in our fail-rooms on my late voyage, it had been reprefented to the yard officers, who undertook to remove it. But it did not appear to me that any thing had been done to remedy the complaint. To repair these

Vol. I.

defects

^{*} The particulars are mentioned in his log-book. On the 14th of August, a fire was made in the well, to air the fhip below. On the 15th, the fpare fails were aired upon deck, and a fire made to air the fail-room. On the 17th, cleaned and fmoked betwirt decks, and the bread-room aired with fires. On the 21ft, cleaned and fmoked betwirt decks; and on the 22d, the men's bedding was fpread on deck to air.

D

defects the caulkers were fet to work, as foon as we got into fair fettled weather, to caulk the decks and infide weather works of the fhip; for I would not truft them over the fides while we were at fea.

Septem-

On the first of September * we croffed the Equasunday 1. tor, in the longitude of 27° 38' Weft, with a fine gale at South Eaft by South; and notwithstanding my apprehentions of falling in with the coaft of Brazil in ftretching to the South Weft, I kept the Thip a full point from the wind. However, I found my fears were ill grounded; for on drawing near that coaft, we met with the wind more and more eafterly; fo that, by the time we were in the latitude of 10° South, we could make a South Eafterly courfe good.

Sunday 8.

On the 8th, we were in the latitude of 8° 57' South ; which is a little to the Southward of Cape St. Augustine, on the coast of Brafil. Our longitude, deduced from a very great number of lunar

* The afternoon, as appears from Mr. Anderson's Journal, was fpent in performing the old and ridiculous ceremony of ducking those who had not croffed the Equator before. Though Captain Cook did not fupprefs the cuftom, he thought it too trifling to deferve the leaft mention of it in his Journal, or even in his log-book. Pernetty, the Writer of Bougainville's Voyage to the Falkland Islands, in 1763 and 1764, thought differently; for his account of the celebration of this childlift festival on board his this in cruted through the feature of the schildlift festival on board his fhip, is extended through feventeen pages, and makes the fubject of an entire chapter, under the title of Baptême de la

Ligne. It may be worth while to transcribe his introduction to the defcription of it. "Ceft un usage qui ne remonte pas plus haut " que ce voyage célébre de Gama, qui a fourni au Camoens le "fujet de la Lusiade. L'Idée qu'on ne fçauroit être un bon ma-" rin, fans avoir traverse l'Equateur, l'ennui inséparable d'une " longue navigation, un certain esprit republicain qui regne dans * toutes les petites focietés, peut-être toutes ces caufes reunies, " on pu donner naiffance à ces especes de saturnales. Quoiqu'il " en foit, elles furent adoptees, en un inftant, dans toutes les " nations, & les hommes les plus clairés furent obligés de fe " foumettre à une coutume dont ils reconnoiffoient l'abfurdité. "Car, partout, dès que le peuple parle, it faut que le fage fe "mette à l'unifon." Histoire d'un Voyage aux Istes Malouines; p. 107, 108,

obler-

THE PACIFIC OCEAN.

observations, was 34° 16' West; and by the watch, 34° 47'. The former is 1° 43', and the latter 2° 14' Septemmore Westerly than the island of Fernando de Noronha, the fituation of which was pretty well determined during my late voyage*. Hence I concluded that we could not now be farther from the continent than twenty or thirty leagues at moft; and perhaps not much lefs, as we neither had foundings, nor any other figns of land. Dr. Hal! ley, however, in his voyage, published by Mr. Dalrymple, tells us +, that be made no more than one bundred and two miles, meridian distance, from the island [Fernando de Noronha] to the coast of Brafil; and feems to think that currents could not be the whole caufe of his making to little. But I rather think that he was miftaken, and that the currents had hurried him far to the Westward of his intended courfe. This was, in fome meafure, confirmed by our own obfervations; for we had found, during three or four days preceding the 8th, that the currents fet to the Weftward; and, during the laft twenty-four hours, it had fet ftrong to the Northward, as we experienced a difference of twenty-nine miles between our observed latitude and that by dead reckoning. Upon the whole, till fome better aftronomical observations are made on fhore on the Eastern coast of Brafil, I shall conclude that its longitude is thirty five degrees and a half, or thirty-fix degrees Weft, at moft.

We proceeded on our voyage, without meeting October. with any thing of note, till the 6th of October. Sunday 6. Being then in the latitude of 35° 15' South, longitude 7° 45' Weft, we met with light airs and calms by turns, for three days fuccessively. We had, for fome days before, feen albatroffes, pintadoes, and

35

1776.

ber.

^{*} See Cook's Voyage, Vol. II. p. 278. ↑ P. II. other D 2

other petrels; and here we faw three penguins, 1776. October: which occafioned us to found; but we found no ground with a line of one hundred and fifty fathoms. We put a boat in the water, and fhot a few birds; one of which was a black petrel, about the fize of a crow, and, except as to the bill and feet, very like one. It had a few white feathers under the throat; and the under fide of the quillfeathers were of an afh-colour. All the other feathers were jet black, as also the bill and legs.

Tuefdays. On the 8th, in the evening, one of those birds which failors call noddies, fettled on our rigging, and was caught. It was fomething larger than an English black-bird, and nearly as black, except the upper part of the head, which was white, looking as if it were powdered; the whiteft feathers growing out from the base of the upper bill, from which they gradually affumed a darker colour, to about the middle of the upper part of the neck, where the white fhade was loft in the black, without being divided by any line. It was web-footed; had black legs and a black bill, which was long, and not unlike that of a curlew. It is faid these birds never fly far from land. We knew of none nearer the flation we were in, than Gough's or Richmond Island, from which our diftance could not be lefs than one hundred leagues. But it must be observed that the Atlantic Ocean, to the Southward of this latitude, has been but little frequented; fo that there may be more iflands there than we are acquainted with.

> We frequently, in the night, faw those luminous marine animals mentioned and defcribed in my first voyage*. Some of them feemed to be confiderably larger than any I had before met with; and

* See Hawkefworth's Collection of Voyages, Vol. II. p. 15. fome-

fometimes they were to numerous, that hundreds were vifible at the fame moment.

This calm weather was fucceeded by a frefh gale from the North Weft, which lafted two days. Then we had again variable light airs for about twenty-four hours; when the North Weft wind returned, and blew with fuch ftrength, that on the 17th we had fight of the Cape of Good Hope; Thurf. 17. and the next day anchored in Table Bay, in four Friday 18. fathoms water, with the church bearing South Weft $\frac{1}{4}$ South, and Green Point North Weft $\frac{1}{4}$ Weft.

As foon as we had received the ufual vifit from the Mafter Attendant and the Surgeon, I fent an officer to wait on Baron Plettenberg, the Governor; and, on his return, faluted the garrifon with thirteen guns, which compliment was returned with the fame number.

We found in the bay two French East India Ships; the one outward, and the other homeward bound. And two or three days before our arrival, another homeward bound thip of the fame nation had parted from her cable, and been driven on fhore at the head of the bay, where fhe was loft. The crew were faved; but the greateft part of the cargo fhared the fame fate with the thip, or (which amounted to the fame) was plundered and ftolen by the inhabitants, either out of the fhip, or as it was driven or carried on fhore. This is the account the French officers gave to me; and the Dutch themselves could not deny the fact. But, by way of excufing themfelves from being guilty of a crime difgraceful to every civilized state, they endeavoured to lay the whole blame on the French Captain, for not applying in time for a guard.

1776.

October.

Aa

As foon as we had faluted, I went on fhore, acoccober. companied by fome of my officers, and waited on the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the Fifcal, and the commander of the troops. These gentlemen received me with the greatest civility; and the Governor, in particular, promised me every affistance that the place afforded. At the fame time I obtained his leave to fet up our observatory on any spot I should think most convenient; to pitch tents for the failmakers and coopers; and to bring the cattle on shore, to graze near our encampment. Before I returned on board, I ordered soft bread, fresh meat, and greens, to be provided, every day, for the ship's company.

- Tuefd. 22. On the 22d, we fet up the tents and observatory, and began to fend the several articles out of the fhip which I wanted on fhore. This could not be done sooner, as the militia of the place were exercifing on, or near the ground which we were to occupy.
- Wedn. 23. The next day, we began to observe equal altitudes of the Sun, in order to afcertain the rate of the watch, or, which is the fame thing, to find whether it had altered its rate. These observations were continued every day, whenever the weather would permit, till the time of our departure drew near. But before this, the caulkers had been fet to work to caulk the fhip; and I had concerted measures with Messes. Brandt and Chiron, for fupplying both fhips with fuch provisions as I should want. Bakers, likewife, had been ordered, immediately after our arrival, to bake such a quantity of bread as I thought would be requifite. As fast as the several articles destined for the Refolution were got ready, they were carried on board.

On

On the 26th, the French fhip failed for Europe, 1776. and by her, we fent letters to England. The next October. day, the Hampfhire Eaft India fhip, from Bencoo-Satur. 26. len, anchored in the bay, and faluted us with Sunday27. thirteen guns, which we returned with eleven.

Nothing remarkable happened till the evening of the 31ft, when it came on to blow exceflively Thurf. 31. hard at South Eaft, and continued for three days; during which time there was no communication between the fhip and the fhore. The Refolution was the only fhip in the bay that rode out the gale without dragging her anchors. We felt its effects as fenfibly on fhore. Our tents and obfervatory were torn to pieces; and our aftronomical quadrant narrowly efcaped irreparable damage. On the November. 3d of November the ftorm ceafed, and the next Sunday 3. day we refumed our different employments.

On the 6th, the Hampshire India ship failed for $w_{edn. 6}$. England. In her I fent home an invalid, whom Captain Trimble was so obliging as to receive on board. I was afterwards forry that I had not availed myself of this opportunity to part with two or three more of my crew, who were troubled with different complaints; but, at this time, there was some hope of their health being re-established.

In the morning of the 10th, the Difcovery ar-Sunday 10, rived in the bay. Captain Clerke informed me that he had failed from Plymouth on the 1ft of August, and should have been with us here a week fooner if the late gale of wind had not blown him off the coast. Upon the whole, he was seven days longer in his passage from England than we had been. He had the misfortune to lose one of his marines, by falling over-board; but there had been no other mortality amongst his people, and they now arrived well and healthy.

2

Captain

^{1776.} Captain Clerke having reprefented to me that November. might be loft in repairing this defect, next day I Mond. 11. fent all my workmen on board her, having already

> completed this fervice on board the Refolution. I lent every other alliftance to the Captain to expedite his fupply of provifions and water, having given him an order to receive on board as much of both articles as he could conveniently flow. I now found that the bakers had failed in baking the bread I had ordered for the Difcovery. They pretended a want of flour; but the truth was, they were doubtful of her coming, and did not care to begin, till they faw her at anchor in the bay.

I have before made mention of our getting our cattle on fhore. The bull and two cows, with their calves, were fent to graze along with fome other cattle; but I was advifed to keep our fheep, fixteen in number, clofe to our tents, where they were penned up every night. During the night

Thurf. 14. preceding the 14th, fome dogs having got in amongst them, forced them out of the pen, killing four, and dispersing the reft. Six of them were recovered the next day; but the two rams, and two of the finest ewes in the whole flock were amongst those missing. Baron Plettenberg being now in the country, I applied to the Lieutenant Governor, Mr. Hemmy, and to the Fifcal. Both these Gentlemen promised to use their endeavours for the recovery of the loft fheep. The Dutch, we know, boaft that the police at the Cape is fo carefully executed, that it is hardly possible for a flave, with all his cunning and knowledge of the country, to effectuate his escape. Yet my theep evaded all the vigilance of the Fifcal's officers and people. However, after much trouble and expence, by employing fome of the meaneft and loweft fcoundrels in the place (who, to use the phrase of the

40

the perfon who recommended this method to me, 1776. would, for a ducatoon, cut their mafter's throat, Novemburn the houfe over his head, and bury him and the whole family in the afhes), I recovered them all but the two ewes. Of thefe I never could hear the leaft tidings; and I gave over all inquiry after them, when I was told, that fince I had got the two rams, I might think myfelf very well off. One of thefe, however, was to much hurt by the dogs, that there was reason to believe he would never recover.

Mr. Hemmy very obligingly offered to make up this lofs, by giving me a Spanish ram, out of some that he had fent for from Lifbon. But I declined the offer, under a perfualion that it would answer my purpose full as well, to take with me some of the Cape rams; the event proved, that I was under a miftake. This Gentleman has taken fome pains to introduce European sheep at the Cape; but his endeavours, as he told me, have been fruftrated by the obstinacy of the country people, who hold their own breed in greater effimation, on account of their large tails, of the fat of which they fometimes make more money than of the whole carcais befides *; and think that the wool of European theep will, by no means, make up for their deficiency in this respect. Indeed, I have heard fome fenfible men here make the fame obfervation. And there feems to be foundation for it. For, admitting that European fheep were to pro-

* "The most remarkable thing in the Cape fheep, is the length and thickness of their tails, which weigh from fasteen to twenty pounds. The fat is not for tallowith as that of European mutton, and the poorer fort use it for butter." Kolben's Cape of Good Hope [English translation], Vol. II. p. 65. De la Caille, who finds every thing wrong in Kolben, fays, the weight of the tails of the Cape fheep is not above five or fix pounds. Voyage de la Caille, p. 343. If the information given to Captain Cook may be depended upon, it will prove that, in this inftance at leaft, Kolben is unjuitly accused of exaggeration.

duce

1776. Novem-

duce wool of the fame quality here as in Europe, which experience has fhewn not to be the cafe, the ber. Dutch have not hands, at the Cape of Good Hope,

to fpare for the manufacturing even their own clothing. It is certain that, were it not for the continual importation of flaves, this fettlement would be thinner of people than any other inhabited part of the world.

While the fhips were getting ready for the profecution of our voyage, fome of our officers made an excursion to take a view of the neighbouring country. Mr. Anderfon, my Surgeon, who was one of the party, gave me the following relation of their proceedings *:

Satur. 16.

"On the 16th, in the forenoon, I fet out in a waggon, with five more, to take a view of fome part of the country. We croffed the large plain that lies to the Eaftward of the town, which is entirely a white fand, like that commonly found on beaches, and produces only heath, and other fmall plants of various forts. At five in the afternoon we paffed a large farm-house, with some cornfields, and pretty confiderable vineyards, fituated beyond the plain, near the foot of fome low hills, where the foil becomes worth cultivating. Between fix and feven we arrived at Stellenbosh, the colony next to that of the Cape for its importance.

The village does not confift of more than thirty houses, and stands at the foot of the range of lofty

mountains,

^{*} In the Philosophical Transactions, Vol. lavi. p. 268 to 319, is an Account of Three Journies from the Cape Town into the Southern Parts of Africa, in 1772, 1773, and 1774; by Mr. Francis Maflon, who had been fent from England for the difcovery of new plants, towards the improvement of the Royal Botanical Garden at Kew. Much curious information is contained in Mr. Maffon's account of these journies. M. de Pagés, who was at the Cape in 1773, gives fome remarks on the flate of that fettlement, and also the particulars of his journey from False Bay to the Cape Town. Voyage vers le Pole du Sud, p. 17 to 32.

mountains, above twenty miles to the Eaftward of 1776. the Cape Town. The houfes are neat; and, with November. the advantage of a rivulet which runs near, and the ber. fhelter of fome large oaks, planted at its first fettling, forms what may be called a rural prospect in this defert country. There are fome vineyards and orchards about the place, which, from their thriving appearance, feem to indicate an excellent foil; though, perhaps, they owe much to climate, as the air here has an uncommon ferenity.

I employed the next day in fearching for plants Sund. 17. and infects about Stellenboth, but had little fuccefs. Few plants are in flower here at this featon, and infects but fcarce. I examined the foil in feveral places, and found it to confift of yellowifh clay, mixed with a good deal of fand. The fides of the low hills, which appear brown, feem to be conflituted of a fort of ftone marle.

We left Stellenbosh next morning, and soon ar-Mond. 18. rived at the houfe we had paffed on Saturday; the owner of which, Mr. Cloeder, had fent us an invitation, the evening before, to vifit him. This Gentleman entertained us with the greateft holpitality, and in a manner very different from what we expected. He received us with mufic; and a band also played while we are at dinner; which, confidering the fituation of the place, might be reckoned elegant. He shewed us his wine-cellars, his orchards, and vineyards; all which, I muft own, infpired me with a wifh to know in what manner these industrious people could create such plenty in a fpot where, I believe, no other European nation would have attempted to fettle.

In the afternoon we croffed the country, and paffed a few plantations, one of which feemed yery confiderable, and was laid out in a tafte fome1776. November.

formewhat different from any other we faw. In the evening we arrived at a farm-houfe, which is the first in the cultivated tract called the *Pearl*. We had, at the fame time, a view of Drakenstein, the third colony of this country, which lies along by the foot of the losty hills already mentioned, and contains several farms or plantations, not very extensive.

Tuefd. 19.

9. I went, on the 19th in the forenoon, in queft of plants and infects, which I found almost as fcarce as at Stellenbosh; but I met with more shrubs or small trees, naturally produced, in the valleys, than in any part of the country I had hitherto seen.

In the afternoon, we went to fee a ftone of a remarkable fize, called by the inhabitants the Tower of Babylon, or the Pearl Diamond*. It lies, or ftands, upon the top of fome low hills, at the foot of which our farm-house was fituated; and though the road to it is neither very fteep nor rugged, we were above an hour and a half in walking to it. It is of an oblong shape, rounded on the top, and lies nearly South and North. The East and West

* In the Philosophical Transactions, Vol. 1xviii. Part I. p. 102. we have a Letter from Mr. Anderson to Sir John Pringle, describing this remarkable flone. The account fent home from the Cape, and read before the Royal Society, is much the fame with that now published, but rather fuller. In particular, he tells Sir John, that he went to see it at Mr. Maffon's defire, who, probably, had not had an opportunity of sufficiently examining it himself. In the account of his journies, above referred to, p. 270, he only fays, "there are two large folid rocks on the Peret Berg, each of which (he believes) is more than a mile in circumference at the bafe, and upwards of two hundred feet high. Their furfaces are nearly fmooth, without chink or fifures; and they are found to be a species of granite, different from that which composes the neighbouring mountains."

Mr. Anderion having, with his letter to Sir John Pringle, alfo fent home a specimen of the rock, it was examined by Sir William Hamilton, whose opinion is, that "this fingular, immense fragment of granite, most probably has been raised by a volcanic explosion, or fome such cause." See his Letter to Sir John Pringle, annexed to Mr. Anderson's, in the Philosophical Transactions.

fides

44

fides are fteep, and almost perpendicular. The South end is likewife fleep, and its greateft height Novemis there; from whence it declines gently to the North part, by which we ascended to its top, and had an extensive view of the whole country.

Its circumference, I think, must be at least half a mile; as it took us above half an hour to walk round it, including every allowance for the bad road, and stopping a little. At its highest part, which is the fouth end, comparing it with a known object, it feems to equal the dome of St. Paul's church. It is one uninterrupted mass or stone, if we except fome fillures, or rather impreffions, not above three or four feet deep, and a vein which runs across near its North end. It is of that fort of stone called, by Mineralogists, Saxum conglutinatum, and confifts chiefly of pieces of coarfe quartz and glimmer, held together by a clayey cement. But the vein which croffes it, though of the fame materials, is much compacter. This vein is not above a foot broad or thick; and its furface is cut into little fquares or oblongs, difpofed obliquely, which makes it look like the remains of fome artificial work. But I could not observe whether it penetrated far into the large rock, or was only fuperficial. In descending, we found at its foot a very rich black mould; and on the fides of the hills, fome trees of a confiderable fize, natives of the place, which are a fpecies of *olea* *.

* It is ftrange that neither Kolben nor de la Caille fhould have thought the Tower of Babylon worthy of a particular defcription. The former [Vol. II. p. 52, 53, English Translation] only men-tions it as a high mountain. The latter contents himself with telling us, that it is a very low hillock, un tres bas monticule. Voyage de la Gaille, p. 341. We are much obliged to Mr. An-derfon for his very accurate account of this remarkable rock, which agrees with Mr. Sonnerat's, who was at the Cape of Good Hope fo late as 1781. His words are, "La Montagne de la "Perle, merite d'être obfervée. C'eft un des plus hautes des " environs du Cap. Elle n'est composée que d'un seul bloc " ďe 1776. ber.

In

In the morning on the 20th, we fet out from

1776. ber.

Novem- the Pearl; and going a different road from that by which we came, paffed through a country Wedn. 20. wholly uncultivated, till we got to the Tyger hills, when fome tolerable corn-fields appeared. At noon, we stopped in a hollow for refreshment; but, in walking about here, were plagued with a vaft number of musquitoes or fand flies, which were the first I saw in the country. In the afternoon we set out again, and in the evening arrived at the Cape Town, tired with the jolting waggon."

Satur. 23.

On the 23d, we got on board the observatory, clock, &c. By a mean of the feveral refults of the equal altitudes of the Sun, taken with the aftronomical quadrant, the aftronomical clock was found to lofe on fidereal time, 1' 8', 368 each day. The pendulum was kept at the fame length as at Greenwich, where the daily loss of the clock on fidereal time, was 4".

The watch, by the mean of the refults of fifteen days observations, was found to be losing 2",261, on mean time, each day; which is 1",052 more than at Greenwich: and on the 21st, at noon, the was too flow for mean time by 1^h. 20' 57",66. From this, 6' 48",956, is to be fubftracted, for what the was too flow on the 11th of June at Greenwich, and her daily rate fince; and the remainder, viz. 1^h. 14'. 08",704, or 18° 32' 10", will be the longitude of the Cape Town by the watch. Its true longitude, as found by Meffrs. Mason and Dixon, is 18° 23' 15".

" de granit crevaffé dans plufieurs endroits." Voyage aux Indes. Tom. II. p. 91.

Mr. Sonnerat tells us, that Mr. Gordon, Commander of the troops at the Cape, had lately made three journies up the country, from which, when he publishes his Journal, we may expect much curious information.

46

our observations were made about half a mile to the Eaft of theirs, the error of the watch, in lon- Novemgitude, is no more than 8' 25". Hence we have reason to conclude, that she had gone well all the way from England, and that the longitude, thus given, may be nearer the truth than any other.

If this be admitted, it will, in a great measure, enable me to find the direction and ftrength of the currents we met with on this paffage from Eng-For, by comparing the latitude and longiland. tude by dead reckoning, with those by observation and the watch, we shall, from time to time, have, very accurately, the error of the fhip's reckoning, be the caufe what it will. But as all imaginable care was taken in having and keeping the log, and every neceffary allowance made for lee-way, heave of the fea, and other fuch circumstances, I cannot attribute those errors that did happen, to any other caufe but currents; but more particularly when the error was conftantly the fame way, for feveral days fucceffively.

On the contrary, if we find the fhip a-head of the reckoning on one day, and a ftern of it on another, we have reafon to believe that fuch errors are owing to accidental caufes, and not to This feems to have been the cafe in currents. our paffage between England and Teneriffe. But, from the time of our leaving that island, till the 15th of August, being then in the latitude of 12° North, and longitude 24° Weft, the ship was carried 1° 20' of longitude to the Weftward of her reckoning. At this station, the currents took a contrary direction, and fet to East South East, at the rate of twelve or fourteen miles a day, or twenty-four hours, till we arrived into the latitude of 5° North, and longitude of 20° Weft; which was our most Easterly situation after leaving

1776. ber.

1776. November.

ing the Cape de Verde Islands, till we got to the Southward. For in this fituation the wind came Southerly, and we tacked and ftretched to the Weftward; and for two or three days, could not find that our reckoning was affected by any current. So that, I judged, we were between the current that generally, if not conftantly, fets to the Eaft upon the coaft of Guinea, and that which fets to the Weft towards the coaft of Brafil.

This Wefterly current was not confiderable till we got into 2° North, and 25° Weft. From this ftation, to 3° South and 30° West, the ship, in the fpace of four days, was carried one hundred and fifteen miles in the direction of South Weft by Weft, beyond her reckoning; an error by far too great to have any other caufe but a ftrong current running in the fame direction. Nor did its ftrength abate here; but its course was, afterward, more Wefterly, and to the North of Weft; and off Cape Augustine, North, as I have already mentioned. But this Northerly current did not exift at twenty or thirty leagues to the Southward of that Cape; nor any other, that I could perceive, in the remaining part of the paffage. The little difference we afterward found between the reckoning and observations, might very well. happen without the affiftance of currents; as will appear by the Table of Days Works.

In the account of my laft voyage *, I remarked, that the currents one meets with in this paffage generally balance each other. It happened to then; because we croffed the line about 20° more to the Eastward than we did now, so that we were, of confequence, longer under the influence of the Easterly current, which made up for the Westerly one.

* Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. I. p. 14.

And

And this, I apprehend, will generally be the 1776. cafe, if you cross the line 10° or 15° to the East of November. the meridian of St. Jago.

From thefe remarks I shall draw the following conclution, That, after paffing the Cape de Verde Island, if you do not make above 4° or 5" Eafling, and cross the line in, or to the Westward of, the meridian of St. Jago, you may expect to find your thip 3° or 4° to the Weftward of her reckoning, by the time you get into the latitude of 10° South. If, on the other hand, you keep well to the Eaft, and crofs the line 15° or 20° to the East of St. Jago, you will be then as much to the East of your reckoning; and the more you keep to the Eaftward, the greater will be your error; as has been experienced by fome India fhips, whole people have found themfelves close upon the coaft of Angola, when they thought its diftance was above two hundred leagues.

During the whole of our paffage from England, no opportunity was omitted of observing, with all the attention and accuracy that circumftances would permit, the variation of the compais, which I have inferted in a Table, with the latitude and longitude of the ship at the time of observation. As the longitude may be depended upon, to a quarter or half a degree at most, this Table will be of use to those navigators who correct their reckoning by the variation. It will also enable Mr. Dun to correct his new Variation Chart, a thing very much wanted.

It feems strange to me, that the advocates for the variation should not agree amongst themselves. We find one * of them telling us, as I have already observed, that with 8° West variation, or any thing above that, you may venture to fail by the

* Nichelfon.

Vol. I.

E

Cap!

1776. November.

Cape de Verde Islands, by night or day, being well affured, with that variation, that you are to the Eastward of them. Another, in his Chart *, lays down this variation ninety leagues to the Weftward of them. Such a difagreement as this, is a ftrong proof of the uncertainty of both. However, I have no doubt, the former found here, as well as in other places, the variation he mentions. But he should have confidered, that at fea, nay even on land, the refults of the most accurate observations will not always be the fame. Different compasies will give different variations; and even the fame compass will differ from itfelf two degrees, without our being able to discover, much less to remove, the cause.

Whoever imagines he can find the variation within a degree, will very often fee himfelf much deceived. For, befides the imperfection which may be in the conftruction of the inftrument, or in the power of the needle, it is certain that the motion of the fhip, or attraction of the ironwork, or forme other caufe not yet difcovered, will frequently occafion far greater errors than this. That the variation may be found, with a fhare of accuracy more than fufficient to determine the fhip's courfe, is allowed; but that it can be found fo exactly as to fix the longitude within a degree, or fixty miles, I abfolutely deny.

* Mr. Dun.

CHAP.

CHAP. IV.

The two ships leave the Cape of Good Hope.-Two Islands, named Prince Edward's, Seen, and their Appearance described.-Kerguelen's Land visited.—Arrival in Christmas Harbour.—Occurrences there.-Description of it.

F T E R the difafter which happened to our A fheep, it may be well fuppofed I did not truft Novemthose that remained, long on shore; but got them, and the other cattle, on board as fast as possible. I alfo added to my original flock, by purchafing two young bulls, two heifers, two young ftonehorfes, two mares, two rams, feveral ewes and goats, and fome rabbits and poultry. All of them were intended for New Zealand, Otaheite, and the neighbouring iflands, or any other places, in the course of our voyage, where there might be a prospect that the leaving any of them would be ufeful to posterity.

Towards the latter end of November, the caulkers had finished their work on board the Difcovery, and the had received all her provisions and water. Of the former, both thips had a fupply fufficient for two years and upwards. And every other article we could think of, neceffary for fuch a voyage, that could be had at the Cape, was procured; neither knowing when, or where, we might come to a place where we could furnish ourselves fo well.

1776. ber.

٢ĩ

Ε2

Having

1776.

ber.

Novem- ftructions, and an order directing him how to proceed in cafe of feparation; in the morning of the Satur. 30. 30th, we repaired on board. At five in the afternoon a breeze fprung up at South Eaft, with which we weighed, and flood out of the bay. At nine it fell calm, and we anchored between Penguin Ifland Decemand the East shore, where we lay till three o'clock ·ber. Sunday. 1. next morning. We then weighed and put to fea, with a light breeze at South; but did not get clear

Tuesday3, of the land till the morning of the 2d, when with a fresh gale at West North West, we stood to the South Eaft, to get more into the way of these winds.

On the 5th, a fudden fquall of wind carried away the Refolution's mizen top-maft. Having another to replace it, the loss was not felt; especially as it was a bad flick, and had often complain-

Friday 6. ed. On the 6th, in the evening, being then in the latitude of 39° 14' South, and in the longitude of 23° 56' East, we passed through feveral small spots of water of reddifh colour. Some of this was taken up; and it was found to abound with a fmall animal, which the microfcope difcovered to be like a cray fifh, of a reddifh hue.

We continued our course to the South East, with a very ftrong gale from the Weftward, followed by a mountainous fea; which made the fhip roll and tumble exceedingly, and gave us a great deal of trouble to preferve the cattle we had on board. Notwithstanding all our care, feveral goats, especially the males, died; and some sheep. This misfortune was, in a great measure, owing to the cold, which we now began most fensibly to feel.

Thurf. 12.

On the 12th, at noon, we faw land extending from South East by South, to South East by East. Upon a nearer approach, we found it to be two islands.

Thurf. 5.

is also the largeft, I judged to be about fifteen beccmleagues in circuit; and to be in the latitude of beccmtaft. The most Northerly one is about nine leagues in circuit; and lies in the latitude of 46° 40° South, and in 38° 8° East longitude. The diffance from the one to the other is about five leagues.

We paffed through this channel, at equal diftance from both illands; and could not discover. with the affiftance of our best glasses, either tree or fhrub on either of them. They feemed to have a rocky and bold fhore; and, excepting the South Eaft parts, where the land is rather low and flat, a furface compoled of barren mountains, which rife to a confiderable height, and whole fummits and fides were covered with fnow, which in many places feemed to be of a confiderable depth. The South East parts had a much greater quantity on them than the reft; owing probably, to the Sun acting for a lefs space of time on these than on the North and North West parts. The ground, where it was not hid by the fnow, from the various shades it exhibited, may be supposed to be covered with mofs, or, perhaps, fuch a coarfe grass as is found in fome parts of Falkland's Islands. On the North fide of each of the islands is a detached rock : that near the South island is Thaped like a tower, and feemed to be at fome diftance from the fhore. As we passed along, a quantity of fea-weed was feen, and the colour of the water indicated foundings. But there was no appearance of an inlet, unless near the rock juft mentioned; and that, from its smallness, did not promise a good anchoring-place.

These

1776. December. These two islands, as also four others which lie from nine to twelve degrees of longitude more to the East, and nearly in the same latitude, were

difcovered, as I have mentioned in my late Voyage^{*}, by Captains Marion du Freſne, and Crozet, French Navigators, in January 1772, on their paffage in two ſhips from the Cape of Good Hope to the Philippine Islands. As they have no names in the French chart of the Southern hemisphere, which Captain Crozet communicated to me in 1775⁺, I shall diftinguish the two we now faw, by calling them Prince Edward's Islands, after his Majetty's fourth fon, and the other four, by the name of Marion's and Crozet's Islands, to commemorate their difcoverers.

We had now, for the most part, ftrong gales between the North and Weft, and but very indifferent weather; not better, indeed, than we generally have in England in the very depth of Winter, though it was now the middle of Summer in this hemisphere. Not discouraged, however, by this, after leaving Prince Edward's Islands, I shaped our course to pass to the Southward of the others, that I might get into the latitude of the land discovered by Monsieur de Kerguelen.

I had applied to the Chevalier de Borda, whom, as I have mentioned, I found at Teneriffe, requefting, that if he knew any thing of the ifland difcovered by Monfieur de Kerguelen, between the Cape of Good Hope and New Holland, he would

^{*} Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii, p. 26655 Thefe islands are there faid to be in the latitude of 48° South, that is, two degrees farther South; than what here appears to be their real polition.

A See Cook's Voyage, as above. Dr. Forster, in his objervations made during that voyage, p. 30, gives us this description of the Chart then communicated by Monseur Crozet: that it was published under the patronage of the Duke de Croye, by Robert de Vaugendy. Captain Cook tells us lower in this Chapter, that it was published in 1773.

be fo obliging as to communicate it to me. Accordingly, just before we failed from Santa Cruz bay, he fent me the following account of it, viz. " That the Pilot of the Bouffole, who was in the " voyage with Monfieur de Kerguelen, had given " him the latitude and longitude of a little island, " which Monsieur de Kerguelen called the isle " of Rendezvous, and which lies not far from " the great island which he faw. Latitude of the " little ifle, by feven observations, 48° 26' South; " longitude, by feven obfervations of the diftance " of the Sun and Moon, 64° 57' East from Paris." I was very forry I had not fooner known that there was on board the frigate at Teneriffe, an officer who had been with Monfieur de Kerguelen, especially the Pilot; becaufe from him I might have obtained more interefting information about this land than the fituation alone, of which I was not before entirely ignorant *.

* Captain Cook's proceedings, as related in the remaining part of this Chapter, and in the next, being upon a coaft newly difcovered by the French, it could not but be an object of his attention to trace the footfleps of the original explorers. But no fuperiority of profefional fkill, nor diligence in exerting it, could poffibly qualify him to do this fuecefsfully, without poffeffing, at the fame time, full and authentic intelligence of all that had been performed here by his predeceffors in the difcovery. But that he was not fo fortunate as to be thus fufficiently infructed, will appear from the following facts, which the Reader is part of the Journal.

How very little was known, with any precifion, about the operations of Kerguelen, when Gaptain Cook failed in 1776, may be inferred from the following paragraph of his Infructions: "You are to proceed in fearch of fome illands faid to have been "lately feen by the French in the latitude of 48° South, and in "the meridian of Mauritius (a)." This was, barely, the amount of the very indefinite and imperfect information, which Captain Cook himfelf had received from Baron Plettenberg at the Cape of Good Hope, in November 1772 (b); in the beginning of which year Kerguelen's first?

Μv

1776. December.

⁽¹⁾ See the Inftructions in the Introduction.

⁽b) See Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 16.

1776. December. My inftructions directing me to examine it, with a view to difcover a good harbour, I proceeded in the

The Captain, on his return homeward, in March 1775, heard, a fecond time, fomething about this French difcovery at the Cape, where he met with Monfieur Crozet, who very obligingly communicated to him a Chart of the Southern Hemifphere, wherein were delineated not only his own difcoveries, but alfo that of Captain Kerguelen (a). But what little information that Chart could convey, was fill neceffarily confined to the operations of the first voyage; the Chart here referred to, having been published in France in 1773; that is, before any intelligence could possibly be conveyed from the Southern Hemisphere of the refult of Kerguelen's fecond visit to this new land; which, we now know, happened towards the close of the fame year.

Of thefe latter operations, the only account (if that can be called an account, which conveys no particular information) received by Captain Cook from Monlieur Crozet, was, that a later Voyage had been undertaken by the French, under the command of Captain Kerguelen, which had ended much to the difgrace of that commander (b).

What Crozet had not communicated to our Author, and what we are fure, from a variety of circumflances, he had never heard of from any other quarter, he milfed an opportunity of learning at Teneriffe. He expresses his being forry, as we have just read, that he did not know foner that there was on board the frigate an officer who had been with Kerguelen, as he might have obtained from him more interessing information about this land, than its fituation. And, indeed, if he had converfed with that officer, he might have obtained information more interessing than he was aware of; he might have learnt that Kerguelen had actually visited this Southern land a fecond time, and that the little is of which he then received the name and position from the Chevalier de Borda, was a discovery of this later voyage. But the account conveyed to him being, as the Reader will observe, unaccompanied with any date, or other diffinguishing circumflance, he left Teneriffe, and arrived on the coafts of Kerguelen's Land, under a full persuation that it had been visited only once before. And even, with regard to the operations of that first voyage, he had nothing to guide him, but the very fcanty materials afforded to him by Baron Plettenberg and Monfieur Crozet.

The truth is, the French less for forme realow or other; not furely founded on the importance of Kerguelen's differency, to have been very fly of publiching a full and diffinct account of it. No fuch account had been in this in 1780, the Gentleman who obligingly lent his addiffance to give a view of the prior obfervations of the French, and to connect them on the fame Chart with thole of our Ambor, though his affiduity in procuring geographical information can be equalled only by his readinets in communicating it, had not, it thould feem, been able to procure

any

⁽a) See Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 266. (b) Ibid. p. 168.

the fearch; and on the 16th, being then in the 1776. latitude of 48° 45', and in the longitude of 52° becember. Eaft, we faw penguins and divers, and rock-weed ber. floating in the fea. We continued to meet with Mond. 16. more or lefs of thefe every day, as we proceeded to the Eaftward; and on the 21ft, in the latitude Satur. 21. of 48° 27' South, and in the longitude of 65° Eaft, a very large feal was feen. We had now much foggy weather, and, as we expected to fall in with the land every hour, our navigation became both tedious and dangerous.

At length, on the 24th, at fix o'clock in the Tuefd. 24. morning, as we were fteering to the Eaftward, the fog clearing away a little, we faw land *, bearing South

any materials for that purpole, but fuch as mark the operations of the first French voyage; and even for these, he was indebted to a MS. drawing.

But this veil of unneceffary fecrecy is at length drawn afide. Kerguelen himfelf has, very lately, publithed the Journal of his proceedings in two fucceffive voyages, in the years 1772 and 1773; and has annexed to his Narrative a Chart of the coafts of this land, as far as he had explored them in both voyages. Monfieur de Pagés, alfo, much about the fame time, favoured us with another account of the fecond voyage, in fome refpects fuller than Kerguelen's own, on board whole thip he was then an officer.

From these fources of authentic information, we are enabled to draw every neceffary material to correct what is erroneous, and to illufirate what, otherwife, would have remained obfcure, in this part of Captain Cook's Journal. We shall take occasion to do this in feparate Notes on the passage as they occur, and conclude this tedious, but, it is hoped, not unneceffary, detail of facts, with one general remark, fully expressive of the difadvantages our Author laboured under. He never faw that part of the coast upon which the French had been in 1772; and he never knew that they had been upon another part of it in 1773, which was the very fcene of his own operations. Confequently, what he knew of the former voyage, as delineated upon Crozet's Chart, only ferved to latter, put it out of his power to compare his own observations with those then made by Kerguelen; though we, who are better inftructed, can do this, by tracing the plainest marks of coincidence and agreement.

* Captain Cook was not the original difcoverer of thefe fmall iflands which he now fell in with. It is certain that they had been feen and named by Kerguelen, on his fecond voyage, in December

1776. December.

South South Eaft, which, upon a nearer approach, we found to be an island of confiderable height, and about three leagues in circuit*. Soon after, we faw another of the fame magnitude, one league to the Eaftward +; and between these two, in the direction of South Eaft, fome fmaller ones t. In the direction of South by East 1/2 East, from the East end of the first island, a third § high island was feen. At times, as the fog broke away, we had the appearance of land over the fmall islands; and I had thoughts of fteering for it, by running in between them. But, on drawing nearer, 1 found this would be a dangerous attempt, while the weather continued foggy. For if there should be no passage, or if we should meet with any fudden danger, it would have been impoffible for us to get off; the wind being right a-ftern, and a prodigious fea running, that broke on all the fhores in a frightful furf. At the fame time, feeing another island in the North East direction, and not knowing but that there might be more, I judged it prudent to haul off, and wait for clearer weather, left we should get intangled amongst unknown lands in a thick fog.

We did but just weather the island last mentioned. It is a high round rock, which was named

ber 1773. Their polition, relatively to each other, and to the adjoining coafts of the greater land, as reprefented on the annexed Chart, bears a firling refemblance to Kerguelen's delineation of them; whofe Chart, however, the Public may be affured, was unknown in England till after ours had been engraved.

* This is the ille to which Kerguelen gave the name of Croy This is the file to which Kergueien gave the name of *Lroy* or *Group*. Befides delineating it upon his Chart, he has added a particular view of it, exactly corresponding with Captain Cook's account of it's being of *confiderable height*.
Kerguelen called this *fle Rolland*, after the name of his own fhip. There is allo a particular view of it on the French Chart. I The obfervations of the French and English navigators agree exactly, as to the position of these finaller ifles.

§ The fituation of Kerguelen's *Ifle de Clugny*, as marked on his Chart, flews it to be the *third high ifland* feen by Captain Cook.

Bligh's

Bligh's Cap. Perhaps this is the fame that Monfieur de Kerguelen called the Ifle of Rendezvous *, Decembut I know nothing that can rendezvous at it, but fowls of the air, for it is certainly inacceffible to every other animal.

At eleven o'clock the weather began to clear up, and we immediately tacked, and fteered in for the land. At noon we had a pretty good obfervation, which enabled us to determine the latitude of Bligh's Cap, which is the northernmost island, to be 48° 29' South, and its longitude 68° 40' East \ddagger . We passed it at three o'clock, standing to the South South East, with a fresh gale at West.

Soon after we faw the land, of which we had a faint view in the morning; and at four o'clock it extended from South East $\frac{1}{2}$ East, to South West by South, distant about four miles. The left extreme, which I judged to be the Northern point of this land called, in the French Chart of the

+ The French and English agree very nearly (as might be expected) in their accounts of the latitude of this island, but the observations by which they fix its longitude, vary confiderably. The Pilot at Teneriffe made it only 64° 57' East from Paris.

The Pilot at Teneriffe made it only $6_{4^{\circ}}$ 57 Eaft from Paris, which is about 67° 16' Eaft from London; or 1° 24' more Wefferly than Captain Cook's observations fix it.

erly than Captain Cook's observations fix it. Monfieur de Pagés fays it is $66^{\circ} 47'$ East from Paris, that is $69^{\circ} 6'$ East from London, or twenty-fix miles more Easterly than it is placed by Captain Cook.

Kerguelen' himfelf only fays that it is about 68° of East longitude, par 68° de longitude.

Southern

2

^{*} This ifle, or rock, was the fingle point about which Captain Cook had received the leaft information at Teneriffe; and we may obferve how fagacious he was in tracing it. What he could only fpeak of as probable, a comparison of his Chart with that lately published by Kerguelen, proves to be certain; and if he had even read and copied what his predeceffor in the difcovery fays of it, he could fcarcely have varied his account of its fhape. Kerguelen's words are, "Ife de Reunion, qui n'eft qu'une Roche, nous "fervoit de Rendezvous, ou de point de ralliement; & retlemble a un coin de mire."

1776. December. Southern Hemisphere, Cape St. Louis *, terminated in a perpendicular rock of a confiderable height; and the right one (near which is a detached rock) in a high indented point +. From this point the coaft feemed to turn short round to the Southward; for we could fee no land to the Westward of the direction in which it now bore to us, but the islands we had observed in the morning; the most Southerly ‡ of them lying nearly West from the point, about two or three leagues distant.

About the middle of the land there appeared to be an inlet, for which we fteered; but, on approaching, found it was only a bending on the coaft, and therefore bore up, to go round Cape St. Louis §. Soon after, land opened off the

* Hitherto, we have only had occafion to fupply defects, owing to Captain Cook's entire ignorance of Kerguelen's fecond voyage in 1773; we mult now correct errors, owing to his very limited knowledge of the operations of the first voyage in 1772. The Chart of the Southern Hemilphere, his only guide, having given him, as he tells us, the name of Cape St. Louis (or Cape Louis) as the most Northerly promontory then feen by the French; and his own obfervations now fatisfying him that no part of the main land fittetched farther North than the *left extreme* now before him; from this fuppoled fimilarity of fluation, he judged that his own perpendicular rock mult be the Cape Louis of the first difcoverers. By looking upon our Chart, we fhall find Cape Louis lying upon a very different part of the coaft; and by comparing this Chart with that lately published by Kerguelen, it will appear, in the clearett manner, that the Northern point ow deficibed by Captain Cook, is the very fame to which the French have given the name of Cape François.

+ This right extreme of the coaft, as it now thewed itfelf to Captain Cook, feems to be what is reprefented on Kerguelen's Chart under the name of Cape Aubert. It may be proper to obferve here, that all that extent of coaft lying between Cape Louis and Cape François, of which the French faw very little during their firft vifit in 1772, and may be called the North Weft fide of this land, they had it in their power to trace the polition of in 1773, and have affigned names to fome of its bays, rivers, and promontories, upon their Chart.

I Kerguelen's Isle de Clugny.

S Cape François, as already obferved.

1

Cape,

Cape, in the direction of South 53° Eaft, and ap-1776. peared to be a point at a confiderable diftance; for December. the trending of the coaft from the Cape was more Southerly. We also faw feveral rocks and islands to the Eaftward of the above directions, the most diftant of which was about feven leagues from the Cape, bearing South 88° Eaft *.

We had no fooner got off the Cape, than we observed the coast, to the Southward, to be much indented by projecting points and bays; fo that we now made fure of foon finding a good harbour. Accordingly, we had not run a mile farther, before we discovered one behind the Cape, into which we began to ply; but after making one board, it fell calm, and we anchored at the entrance in forty-five fathoms water, the bottom black fand; as did the Difcovery foon after. I immediately difpatched Mr. Bligh, the Mafter, in a boat to found the harbour; who, on his return, reported it to be fafe and commodious, with good anchorage in every part; and great plenty of fresh water, feals, penguins, and other birds on the fhore; but not a flick of wood. While we lay at anchor, we obferved that the flood tide came from the South East, running two knots, at least, in an hour.

At day-break, in the morning of the 25th, we Wedn. 25. weighed with a gentle breeze at Weft; and having wrought into the harbour, to within a quarter of a mile of the fandy beach at its head, we anchored in eight fathoms water, the bottom a fine dark The Difcovery did not get in till two fand. o'clock in the afternoon; when Captain Clerke informed me, that he had narrowly escaped being

driven

^{*} The observations of the French, round Cape François, re-markably coincide with Captain Cook's in this paragraph; and the rocks and iflands here mentioned by him, also appear upon their Chart.

December.

driven on the South point of the harbour, his anchor having flarted before they had time to fhorten in the cable. This obliged them to fet fail, and drag the anchor after them, till they had room to heave it up; and then they found one of its palms was broken off.

As foon as we had anchored, I ordered all the boats to be hoifted out; the fhip to be moored with a kedge anchor; and the water-cafks to be got ready to fend on fhore. In the mean time I landed, to look for the most convenient fpot where they might be filled, and to fee what elfe the place afforded.

I found the fhore, in a manner, covered with penguins and other birds, and feals. Thefe latter were not numerous, but fo infenfible of fear (which plainly indicated that they were unaccustomed to fuch vifiters), that we killed as many as we chofe, for the fake of their fat or blubber, to make oil for our lamps, and other uses. Fresh water was in no less plenty than were birds; for every gully afforded a large ftream. But not a fingle tree or fhrub, nor the least fign of any, was to be discovered, and but very little herbage of any fort. The appearances, as we failed into the harbour, had flattered us with the hope of meeting with fomething confiderable growing here, as we observed the fides of many of the hills to be of a lively green. But I now found that this was occasioned by a fingle plant, which, with the other natural productions, shall be described in another place. Before I returned to my thip, I alcended the firft ridge of rocks, which rife in a kind of amphitheatre above one another. I was in hopes, by this means, of obtaining a view of the country; but before I reached the top, there came on fo thick a fog, that I could hardly find my way down again, In

In the evening, we hauled the feine at the head 1776. of the harbour, but caught only half a dozen Decemfmall fifh. We had no better fuccefs next day, when we tried with hook and line. So that our only refource here, for fresh provisions, were birds, of which there was an inexhauftible flore.

The morning of the 26th proved foggy, with Thurf. 26. rain. However, we went to work to fill water, and to cut grafs for our cattle, which we found in fmall foots near the head of the harbour. The rain which fell, fwelled all the rivulets to fuch a degree, that the fides of the hills, bounding the harbour, feemed to be covered with a fheet of water. For the rain, as it fell, run into the fiffures and crags of the rocks that composed the interior parts of the hills, and was precipitated down their fides in prodigious torrents.

The people having wrought hard the two preceding days, and nearly completed our water, which we filled from a brook at the left corner of the beach, I allowed them the 27th as a day of Friday 27. reft, to celebrate Chriftmas. Upon this indulgence, many of them went on fhore, and made excursions, in different directions, into the country, which they found barren and defolate in the highest degree. In the evening, one of them brought to me a quart bottle which he had found, fastened with fome wire to a projecting rock on the North This bottle contained a piece fide of the harbour. of parchment, on which was written the following infeription :

ber.

63

Ludevice

1776. Decem--ber. Ludovico XV Galliarum rege, et d.* de Boynes regi a Secretis ad res maritimas annis 1772 es

1773.

From this infeription, it is clear, that we were not the first Europeans who had been in this harbour. I supposed it to be left by Monssieur de Boisguehenneu, who went on shore in a boat on the 13th of February 1772, the same day that Monssieur de Kerguelen discovered this land; as appears by a Note in the French Chart of the Southern Hemisphere, published the following year †.

As

* The (d), no doubt is a contraction of the word Domino. The French Secretary of the Marine was then Monfieur de Boynes.

+ On perufing this paragraph of the Journal, it will be natural to afk, How could Monfieur de Boifguehenneu, in the beginning of 1772, leave an infcription, which, upon the very face of it, commemorates a transfaction of the following year? Captain Cook's manner of exprefing himfelf here, ftrongly marks, that he made this fuppofition, only for want of information to enable him to make any other. He had no idea that the French had vifited this land a fecond time; and, reduced to the neceffity of trying to accommodate what he faw himfelf, to what little he had heard of their proceedings, he confounds a transfaction which we, who have been better inftructed, know, for a certainty, belongs to the fecond Voyage, with a fimilar one, which his Chart of the Southern Hemisphere has recorded, and which happened in a different year, and at a different place.

The bay, indeed, in which Monfieur de Boifguehenneu landed, is upon the Weft fide of this land, confiderably to the South of Cape Louis, and not far from another more Southerly promontory, called Cape Bourbon; a part of the coaft which our fhips were not upon. Its futuation is marked upon our Chart; and a particular view of the bay du Lion Marin (for fo Boifguehenneu called it), with the foundings, is preferved by Kerguelen. But if the bottle and infeription found by Captain Cook's peo-

But if the bottle and infeription found by Captain Cook's people, were not left here by Boifguehenneu, by whom and when were they left? This we learn moft fatisfatorily, from the accounts of Kerguelen's fecond Voyage, as published by himfelf and Monsser That they arrived on the Weft fide of this land on the rath of December 1773; that, fleering to the North Eaft, they discovered, on the 16th, the *J/k ed Reunion*, and the other fmall islands as mentioned above; that, on the 17th, they had before them.

64

As a memorial of our having been in this harbour, I wrote on the other fide of the parchment,

them the principal land (which they were fure was connected with that feen by them on the 14th), and a high point of that land, named by them Cape François; that beyond this Cape, the coaft took a South Easterly direction, and behind it they found a bay, called by them *Baie de l'Oifeau*, from the name of their frigate; that they then endeavoured to enter it, but were prevented by contrary winds and blowing weather, which drove them off the coaft Eastward; but that, at last, on the 6th of January, Monfieur de Rosnevet, Captain of the Oifeau, was able to field his boat on fhore into this bay, under the command of Monfieur de Rochegude, one of his officers, who took possible for a france, with all the requisite formalities." Here then we trace, by the most unexceptionable evidence,

Here then we trace, by the most unexceptionable evidence, the hiftory of the bottle and infcription; the leaving of which was, no doubt, one of the requisite formalities observed by Monfieur de Rochegude on this occasion. And though he did not land till the 6th of January 1774, yet, as Kerguelen's fhips arrived upon the coast on the 14th of December 1779, and had difcovered and looked into this very bay on the 17th of that month, it was with the ftrictes propriety and truth that 1773, and not 1774, was mentioned as the date of the difcovery. We need only look at Kerguelen's and Cook's Charts, to judge

We need only look at Kerguelen's and Cook's Charts, to judge that the *Baie de l'Ojfeau*, and the harbour where the French infcription was found, is one and the fame place. But befides this agreement as to the general polition, the fame conclution refults more decifively fill, from another circumflance worth mentioning: The French, as well as the Englith vifiters of this bay and harbour, have given us a particular Plan of it; and whoever compares ours, published in this Volume, with that to be met with in Kerguelen's and de Pagés's Voyages, mult be flruck with a refemblance that could only be produced by copying one common original with fidelity. Nay, even the foundings are the fame upon the fame fpots in both Plans, being forty-five fathoms between the two Capes, before the entrance of the bay; fixteen fathoms farther in, where the flores begin to contract; and eight fathoms we near the bottom of the harbour.

fathoms up, near the bottom of the harbour. To these particulars, which throw abundant light on this part of our Author's Journal, I shall only add, that the distance of our harbour from that where Boilguehenneu landed in 1772, is forty leagues. For this we have the authority of Kerguelen, in the following passage: "Monsieur de Boilguehenneu descendit le 13 "de Fevrier 1772, dans un Baie, qu'il nomme Baie du Lion "Marin, & prit possentiation de cette terre au nom de Roi ; il n'y "vit aucune trace d'habitants. Monsieur de Rochegude, en "1774, a descendu dans un autre baie, que nous avons nomme Baie de l'Oifeau, & cette feconde rade est à quarantes lieues de "la premiere. Il en a également pris possention, & il n'y trouva "également aucune trace d'habitants." Kerguelen, p. 92.

F

Vol. I.

Naves

65 1776. December.

A VUIAGE IV

1776. December.

Naves Rofolution et Difcovery de Rege Magnæ Britanniæ, Decembris 1776.

I then put it again into a bottle, together with a filver two-penny piece of 1772; and having covered the mouth of the bottle with a leaden cap, I Satur. 28. placed it, the next morning, in a pile of ftones erected for the purpole, upon a little eminence on the North fhore of the harbour, and near to the place where it was first found; in which position it cannot escape the notice of any European, whom chance or design may bring into this port. Here I displayed the British flag, and named the place

Christmas Harbour, from our having arrived in it

on that feftival. It is the firft, or northernmoft inlet that we meet with on the South Eaft fide of Cape St. Louis *, which forms the North fide of the harbour, and is alfo the Northern point of this land. The fituation alone is fufficient to diftinguifh it from any of the other inlets; and, to make it more remarkable, its South point terminates in a high rock, which is perforated quite through, fo as to appear like the arch of a bridge. We faw none like this upon the whole coaft +. The harbour has another diftinguifhing mark within, from a fingle ftone or rock, of

* Cape François, for reafons already affigned.

+ If there could be the leaft doubt remaining of the identity of the Baie de l'Oifeau, and Chriffmas harbour, the circumflance of the perforated rock, which divides it from another bay to the South, would amount to a friedt demonfiration. For Monfieur de Pagés had obferved this difcriminating mark before Captain Cook. His words are as follows: "L'on vit que la cote de l'Eft, "voifine du Cap François, avoit deux baies; elles étoient fepa-"rées par une pointe très reconnoiffable par la forme, qui repre-"fentoit une porte cochere, au travers de laquelle l'on voyoit le "jour." Voyages du M. de Pagés, Vol. ii. p. 67. Every one knows how exactly the form of a porte cochere, or arched gateway, correfponds

66

of a vaft fize, which lies on the top of a hill on the South fide, near its bottom; and oppofite this Decemon the North fide, there is another hill, much like, it, but smaller. There is a fmall beach at its bottom, where we commonly landed; and, behind it, fome gently rifing ground; on the top of which is a large pool of fresh water. The land on both fides of the inlet is high, and it runs in West, and Weft North Weft, about two miles. Its breadth is one mile and a quarter, for more than half its length; above which, it is only half a mile. The depth of water, which is forty-five fathoms at the entrance, varies, as we proceed farther in, from thirty, to five and four fathoms, as marked upon the Plan. The shores are steep; and the bottom is every where a fine dark fand, except in fome places close to the shore, where there are beds of fea-weed, which always grows on rocky ground. The head of the harbour lies open only to two points of the compass; and even these are covered by islands in the offing, fo that no fea can fall in to hurt a fhip. The appearances on fhore confirmed this; for we found grass growing close to high-water mark, which is a fure fign of a pacific harbour *. It

corresponds with that of the arch of a bridge. It is very fatisfactory to find the two navigators, neither of whom knew any thing of the other's defcription, adopting the fame idea; which both proves that they had the fame uncommon object before their

eyes, and that they made an accurate report. * In the laft Note, we faw how remarkably Monfieur de Pagés and Captain Cook agree about the appearance of the South Point of the harbour; I fhall here fubjoin another quotation from the former, containing his account of the harbour itfelf, in which the Reader may trace the fame diffinguifhing features obferved by Captain Cook in the foregoing paragraph. "Le 6, l'on mit à terre dans la premiere baie à l'Eft du Cap

" François, & l'on prit possession de ces contrées. Ce mouillage, " confiste en un petite rade, qui a environs quatres encablures

" ou quatre cents toises de profondeur, fur un tiers en sus de lar-F 2 " geur, " geur, 1776.

ber.

1776. It is high water here, at the full and change days, Decem- about ten o'clock; and the tide rifes and falls about ber. four feet.

> After I had finished this business of the infeription, I went in my boat round the harbour, and landed in feveral places, to examine what the fhore afforded; and, particularly, to look for drift wood. For, although the land here was totally defitute of trees, this might not be the cafe in other parts; and if there were any, the torrents would force fome, or, at least, fome branches, into the fea, which would afterward throw them upon the fhores; as in all other countries where there is wood, and in many where there is none: but, throughout the whole extent of the harbour, I found not a fingle piece.

> In the afternoon, I went upon Cape St. Louis *, accompanied by Mr. King, my Second Lieutenant. I was in hopes, from this elevation, to have had a view of the fea-coaft, and of the islands lying off it. But, when I got up, I found every diftant object below me hid in a thick fog. The land on the fame plain, or of a greater height, was visible enough, and appeared naked and delolate in

" geur. En dedans de cette rade est un petit port, dont l'en-"" trée, de quatres encablures de largeur, prefente au Sud-Esti. " La fonde de la petite rade est depuis guarante-cinq jusqu' " trente brasses, celle du port depuis feize jusqu'à huit. Le " fond des deux est de fable noir & vaseux. La cote des deux " bords est haute, & par une pente très rude; elle est couverte " de verdure, & il y a une quantité prodigieuse d'Outardes. Le " fond du port est occupé par un monticule qui laisse ner lui, " & la mer une plage de fable. Une petite riviere, de très " bonne eau, coule à la mer dans cet endroit; & elle est fournie " par un lac qui est un peu au loin, au dessus du monticule. Il " y avois fur le plage beaucoup de pinguoins & de lions marins. " Ces deux especes d'animaux ne fuyoient pas, & l'on augura " que le pays n'étoit point habité; la terre rapportoit de l'herbe " large, noire, & bien nourrie, qui n'avoit cependant que cinque " pouces ou plus de hauteur. L'on ne vit aucun arbre, ni figne " d'habitation." *Voyage du Monsseur de Pages*, Tom, ii. p. 69, 70.

68

the

the higheft degree; except fome hills to the Southward, which were covered with fnow.

When I got on board, I found the launch hoifted ber. in, the fhips unmoored, and ready to put to fea; Sunday29. but our failing was deferred till five o'clock the next morning, when we weighed anchor.

69

CHAP.

CHAP. V.

Departure from Cbriftmas Harbour.—Range along the Coaft, to difcover its Pofition and Extent.— Several Promontories and Bays, and a Peninfula, defcribed and named.—Danger from Shoals.— Another Harbour and a Sound.—Mr. Anderfon's Obfervations on the natural Productions, Animals, Soil, &c. of Kerguelen's Land.

A S foon as the fhips were out of Chriftmas ber. Sunday29. Weft, and clear weather. This we thought the more fortunate, as, for fome time paft, fogs had prevailed, more or lefs, every day; and the continuance of them would have defeated our plan of extending Kerguelen's difcovery. We kept the lead conftantly going; but feldom ftruck ground with a line of fifty or fixty fathoms.

About feven or eight o'clock, we were off a promontory, which I called Cape Cumberland. It lies a league and a half from the South point of Chriftmas Harbour, in the direction of South Eaft ½ South. Between them is a bay with two arms, both of which feemed to afford good fhelter for fhipping. Off Cape Cumberland is a fmall but pretty high ifland, on the furmit of which is a rock like a fentry box, which occafioned our giving that name to the ifland. Two miles farther to the Eaftward, lies a groupe of fmall iflands and and rocks, with broken ground about them; we 1776. failed between these and Sentry-Box Island, the December. channel being a full mile broad, and more than ber. forty fathoms deep; for we found no bottom with that length of line.

Being through this channel, we difcovered, on the South fide of Cape Cumberland, a bay, running in three leagues to the Weftward. It is formed by this Cape to the North, and by a promontory to the South, which I named Point Pringle, after my good friend Sir John Pringle, Prefident of the Royal Society. The bottom of this bay was called Cumberland Bay; and it feemed to be disjoined from the fea, which waftes the North Weft coaft of this country, by a narrow neck of land. Appearances, at leaft, favoured fuch a conjecture.

To the Southward of Point Pringle, the coaft is formed into a fifth bay; of which this point is the Northern extreme; and from it, to the Southern extreme, is about four miles in the direction of South South Eaft $\frac{1}{2}$ Eaft. In this bay, which obtained the Name of White Bay, on account of fome white fpots of land or rocks in the bottom of it, are feveral leffer bays or coves, which feemed to be fheltered from all winds. Off the South point, are feveral rocks which raife their heads above water; and, probably, many more that do not.

Thus far our courfe was in a direction parallel to the coaft, and not more than two miles from it. Thither our glaffes were continually pointed; and we could eafily fee that, except the bottoms of the bays and coves, which, for the most part, terminated in fandy beaches, the fhores were rocky, and, in many places, fwarmed with birds; but the country had the fame barren and naked appear1776. Decem-

appearance as in the neighbourhood of Chriftmas

We had kept on our larboard bow, the land which first opened off Cape St. Louis *, in the direction of South 53° East, thinking that it was an island, and that we should find a passage between it and the main. We now discovered this to be a mistake; and found that it was a peninfula, joined to the rest of the coast by a low isthmus. I called the bay, formed by this peninfula, Repulse Bay; and a branch of it feemed to run a good way inland towards the South South Weft. Leaving this, we steered for the Northern point of the Peninfula, which we named Howe's Foreland, in honour of Admiral Lord Howe.

As we drew near it, we perceived fome rocks and breakers near the North Weft part; and two islands a league and a half to the Eaftward of it, which, at first, appeared as one. I steered between them and the Foreland \dagger , and was in the middle of the channel by noon. At that time our latitude, by observation, was $48^{\circ} 51$ South, and we had made twenty fix miles of East longitude from Cape St. Louis \ddagger .

From this function, the most advanced land to the Southward bore South East; but the trending of the coast from the Foreland was more Southerly. The islands which lie off Christmas Harbour

* Cape François.

Though Kerguelen's fhips, in 1773, did not venture to explore this part of the coaft, Monfieur de Pagés's account of it anfwers well to Captain Cook's. " Du 17 au 23, l'on ne prit " d'autre connoiffance que celle de la figure de la cote, qui, " courant d'abord au Sud-Eft, & revenant enfuire au Nord-Eft, " formoit un grand golfe. Il étoit occupé par des brifans & des " rochers, il avoit aufi une ille baffe, & affez etendue, & l'on " ufa d'une bien foigneufe precaution, pour ne pas s'affaler dans " ce golfe." *Poyage du M. de Pagés*, Tom. ii. p. 67.

I

bore

- ~

bore North ; and the North point of the Foreland, North 60° Weft, diftant three miles. The land of L this Peninfula, or Foreland, is of a moderate height, and of a hilly and rocky fubftance. The coaft is low, with rocky points fhooting out from it ; between which points are little coves, with fandy beaches; and thefe, at this time, were moftly covered with fea birds. We also faw upon them fome feals.

As foon as we were clear of the rocks and iflands before mentioned, I gave orders to fteer South East by South, along the coast. But before these orders could be carried into execution, we difcovered the whole fea before us to be chequered with large beds of rock-weed, which we knew to be faft to the bottom, and to grow on rocky fhoals. I had often found a great depth of water on fuch fhoals; and I had, as often, found rocks that have raifed their heads nearly to the furface of the water. It is always dangerous, therefore, to fail over them before they are well examined; but more especially, when there is no furge of the fea to difcover the danger. This was the cafe at prefent, for the fea was as fmooth as a mill-pond. Confequently we endeavoured to avoid them, by fteering through the winding channels by which they were feparated. We kept the lead continually going; but never ftruck ground with a line This circumftance increased of fixty fathoms. the danger, as we could not anchor, whatever neceffity there might be for it. After running in this manner above an hour, we discovered a lurking rock, just even with the furface of the fea. It bore North Eaft - Eaft, diftant three or four miles, and lay in the middle of one of these large beds of weeds. This was a fufficient warning to make us use every precaution to prevent our coming upon them. We

1776. December.

1776. December.

We were now cross the mouth of a large bay, that lies about eight miles to the Southward of Howe's Foreland. In and before the entrance of this bay are feveral low iflands, rocks, and those heds of fea-weed. But there feemed to be winding channels between them. After continuing our courfe half an hour longer, we were to much embarraffed with these shoals, that I resolved to haul off to the Eaftward, as the likelieft means of extricating ourfelves from the danger that threatened us. But fo far was this from answering the intended purpole, that it brought us into more. I therefore found it absolutely necessary to fecure the fhips, if possible, in some place before night; especially as the weather had now become hazy, and a fog was apprehended. And feeing fome inlets to the South Weft of us, I ordered Captain Clerke, as the Discovery drew less water than the Refolution, to lead in for the fhore; which was accordingly done.

In ftanding in, it was not possible to avoid running over the edges of fome of the fhoals, on which we found from ten to twenty fathoms water; and the moment we were over, had no ground at the depth of fifty fathoms. After making a few boards to weather a spit that run out from an ifland on our lee, Captain Clerke made the fignal for having difcovered an harbour; in which, about five o'clock, we anchored in fifteen fathoms water, over a bottom of fine dark fand, about three quarters of a mile from the fhore; the North point of the harbour bearing North by East + East, one mile diftant; and the imall islands in the entrance, within which we anchored, extending from Eaft to South Eaft.

Scarcely were the thips fecured, when it began to blow very ftrong; fo that we thought it prudent to strike top-gallant yards. The weather, 2 however,

however, continued fair; and the wind difperfing 1776. the fog that had fettled on the hills, it was tole- Decemrably clear alfo. The moment, therefore, we had, anchored, I hoifted out two boats; in one of which I tent Mr. Bligh, the Mafter, to furvey the upper-part of the harbour, and look for wood: for not a fhrub was to be feen from the fhip. I also defired Captain Clerke to fend his Mafter to found the channel that is on the South fide of the fmall ifles, between them and a pretty large island which lies near the South point of the harbour. Having given these directions, I went myfelf, in my other boat, accompanied by Mr. Gore, my First Lieutenant, and Mr. Baily, and landed on the North point, to fee what I could difcover from thence.

From the higheft hill over the point, we had a pretty good view of the fea-coaft, as far as Howe's Foreland. It is much indented, and feveral rocky points feemed to fhoot out from it, with coves and inlets of unequal extent. One of the latter, the end of which I could not fee, was disjoined from that in which the fhips were at anchor, by the point we then flood upon. A great many fmall iflands, rocks, and breakers appeared fcattered along the coaft, as well to the Southward as Northward; and I faw no better channel to get out of the harbour, than by the one through which we had entered it.

While Mr. Baily and I were making the obfervations, Mr. Gore encompaffed the hill; and joined us by a different route, at the place where I had ordered the boat to wait for us. Except the craggy precipices, we met with nothing to obstruct our walk. For the country was, if polfible, more barren and desolate than about Chriftmas Harbour. And yet, if there be the leaft fertility ber

1776. December.

fertility in any part of this land, we ought to have found it in this, which is completely fheltered from the predominating bleak Southerly and Wefterly winds. I obferved, with regret, that there was neither food nor covering for cattle of any fort; and that, if I left any, they muft inevitably perifh. In the little cove where the boat waited for us (which I called Penguin Cove, as the beach was covered with thefe birds), is a fine rivulet of frefh water, that may be eafily come at. Here were alfo fome large feals, fhags, and a few ducks; and Mr. Baily had a tranfient fight of a very fmall land bird; but it flew amongft the rocks, and we loft it. About nine o'clock we got on board.

Soon after, Mr. Bligh returned, and reported, that he had been four miles up the harbour, and, as he judged, not far from the head of it. He found that its direction was Weft South Weft; and that its breadth, a little above the ships, did not exceed a mile; but grew narrower towards The foundings were very irregular, the head. being from thirty-feven to ten fathoms; and, except under the beds of fea-weed, which in many places extended from the shore near half channel over, the bottom was a fine fand. He landed on both fhores, which he found barren and rocky, without the leaft figns of tree or fhrub. and with very little verdure of any kind. Penguins, and other oceanic birds and feals, occupied part of the coaft; but not in fuch numbers as at Chriftmas Harbour.

Finding no encouragement to continue our Mond. 30. refearches, and, the next morning, both wind and weather being favourable, I weighed anehor and put to fea. To this harbour I gave the name of Port Pallifer, in honour of my worthy friend Admiral Admiral Sir Hugh Pallifer. It is fituated in the latitude of 49° 3' South, in the longitude of 60° 37' Eaft, and five leagues from Howe's Foreland, in the direction of South 25° Eaft. There are feveral iflands, rocks, and breakers lying in and without the entrance, for which the annexed Chart of the coaft, and fketch of the harbour may be confulted. We went in and out between them and the North head; but I have no doubt that there are other channels.

As we were ftanding out of Port Pallifer, we difcovered a round hill, like a fugar-loaf, in the direction of South 72° Eaft, about nine leagues diftant. It had the appearance of an ifland lying at fome diftance from the coaft, but we afterwards found it was upon the main land. In getting out to fea, we had to fteer through the winding channels amongft the fhoals. However, we ventured to run over fome of them, on which we never found lefs than eighteen fathoms, and often did not ftrike ground with twenty-four; fo that, had it not been for the fea-weed growing upon all of them, they would not have been difcovered.

After we had got about three or four leagues from the coaft, we found a clear fea, and then fteered Eaft till nine o'clock, when the Sugar Loaf hill, above mentioned, which I named Mount Campbell, bore South Eaft, and a finall ifland that lies to the Northward of it, South South Eaft, diftant four leagues. I now fteered more Southerly, in order to get in with the land. At noon, the latitude by double altitudes was 40° 8' South; and we had made eighty miles of Eaft longitude from Cape St. Louis*. Mount Campbell bore South 47° Weft, diftant about four leagues; a low point, beyond which no land was to be feen,

* Cape François.

bore

1776. ber.

bore South South East, at the distance of about Decem- twenty miles; and we were about two leagues from the fhore.

> The land here is low and level*. The mountains ending about five leagues from the low point, a great extent of low land is left, on which Mount Campbell is fituated, about four miles from the foot of the mountains, and one from the fea coaft. These mountains have a confiderable elevation. as also most of the inland ones. They feemed to be composed of naked rocks, whole fummits were capt with fnow. Nor did the valleys appear to greater advantage. To whatever quarter we directed our glaffes, nothing but fterility was to be feen.

> We had fcarcely finished taking the bearings at noon, before we observed low land opening off the low point just mentioned, in the direction of South South Eaft, and eight miles beyond it. This new point proved to be the very Eaftern extremity of this land, and it was named Cape Digby. It is fituated in the latitude of 49° 23' South, and in the longitude of 70° 34' Eaft.

> Between Howe's Foreland and Cape Digby, the fhore forms (belides the feveral leffer bays and harbours) one great bay that extends feveral leagues to the South Weft, where it feemed to lofe itfelf in various arms running in between the mountains. A prodigious quantity of fea-weed grows all over it, which feemed to be the fame fort of weed that Mr. Banks diffinguished by the name

of

^{*} This part of the coaft feems to be what the French faw on the 5th of January 1774. Monfieur de Pagés speaks of it thus: " Nous reconnumes une nouvelle cote etendue de toute veu dans " l'Eft, & dans le Ouest. Les terres de cette cote étoient moins " elevées que celles que nous avions veues jusques ici elles " étoient auffi d'un aspect moins rude." De Pagés, Tom. ii. p. 68.

of *fucus giganteus*^{*}. Some of this weed is of a n776. moft enormous length, though the ftem is not Decemmuch thicker than a man's thumb. I have mentioned, that on fome of the fhoals upon which it grows, we did not flrike ground with a line of twenty-four fathoms. The depth of water, therefore, muft have been greater. And as this weed does not grow in a perpendicular direction, but makes a very acute angle with the bottom, and much of it afterwards fpreads many fathoms on the furface of the fea, I am well warranted to fay, that fome of it grows to the length of fixty fathoms and upward.

At one o'clock (having run two leagues upon a South Eaft $\frac{1}{2}$ Eaft courie, from noon) we founded, and found eighteen fathoms water, and a bottom of fine fand. Seeing a fmall bending in the coaft, on the North fide of Cape Digby, I fleered for it. It was my intention to anchor there, if I should find it might be done with safety, and to land on the Cape, to examine what the low land within it produced. After running in one league, we founded again, and found thirteen fathoms; and immediately after, faw a fhoal right before us, that feemed to extend off from the fhore, from which we were diftant about two miles. This difcovery obliged us to haul off, Eaft by South, one league, where our depth of water encreafed to twenty five fathoms. We then fteered along fhore, and continued in the fame depth, over a bottom of fine fand, till Cape Digby bore West, two leagues distant, when we found twentv-fix fathoms.

After this we did not ftrike ground, though we tried feveral times; but the fhip having a

* See Hawkefworth's Collection of Voyages, Vol. ii. p. 42. good 1776. December.

good deal of way, ran the line out before the lead - could reach the bottom; and being difappointed in my views both of anchoring and of landing,

I would not fhorten fail, but pushed forward, in order to see as much of the coast as possible before night. From Cape Digby, it trends nearly South West by South for about four or five leagues, or to a low point, to which, in honour of her Majesty, I gave the name of Point Charlotte, and it is the Southernmost on the low coast.

Six leagues from Cape Digby, in the direction of South South Weft $\frac{1}{2}$ Weft, is a pretty high projecting point, which was called Prince of Wales's Foreland; and fix leagues beyond that, in the fame direction, and in the latitude of 49° 54' South, and the longitude of 70° 13' Eaft, is the moft Southerly point of the whole coaft, which I diftinguished by the name of Cape George, in honour of his Majefty.

Between Point Charlotte and Prince of Wales's Foreland, where the country to the South Weft began again to be hilly, is a deep inlet, which was called Royal Sound. It runs in Weft, quite to the foot of the mountains which bound it on the South Weft, as the low land before-mentioned does on the North. There are islands lying in the entrance, and others higher up, as far as we could diftinguish. As we advanced to the South. we observed, on the South West fide of Prince of Wales's Foreland, another inlet into Royal Sound; and it then appeared, that the Foreland was the East point of a large island lying in the mouth of it. There are feveral fmall iflands in this inlet; and one about a league to the Southward of Prince of Wales's Foreland.

All the land on the South Weft fide of Royal Sound, quite to Cape George, is composed of elevated hills, that rife directly from the fea, one behind

behind another, to a confiderable height. Moft of the fummits were capt with fnow, and they ap- Decempeared as naked and barren as any we had feen. _ The fmalleft veftige of a tree or fhrub was not difcoverable, either inland or on the coaft; and, I think, I may venture to pronounce that the country produces none. The low land about Cape Digby, when examined through our glaffes, refembled the reft of the low land we had before met with; that is, it appeared to be partly naked and partly covered with a green turf; a defcription of which shall be given in its proper place. The fhore is compoled of fandy beaches, on which were many penguins, and other oceanic birds; and an immenfe number of fhags kept perpetually flying about the fhips as we failed along.

Being defirous of getting the length of Cape George, to be affured whether or no it was the most Southerly point of the whole land, I continued to stretch to the South, under all the fail we could carry, till half an hour paft feven o'clock; when, feeing no likelihood of accomplishing my defign, as the wind had, by this time, fhifted to Weft South Weft, the very direction in which we wanted to go, I took the advantage of the fhifting of the wind, and flood away from the coaft.

At this time Cape George bore South 53° Weft, diftant about feven leagues. A fmall ifland that lies off the pitch of the Cape, was the only land we could fee to the South of it; and we were farther confirmed that there was no more in that quarter, by a South Weft fwell which we met as foon as we brought the Cape to bare in this direction.

But we have still a stronger proof that no part of this land can extend much, if at all, to the Southward of Cape George; and that is, Captain Furneaux's tract in February 1773, after his fepara-Vol. I. G tion tion: Vol. I.

8ι 1776.

ber.

1776. December.

tion from me during my late voyage. His logbook is now lying before me; and I find from it, that he croffed the meridian of this land only about feventeen leagues to the Southward of Cape George; a diftance at which it may very well be feen in clear weather. This feems to have been the cafe when Captain Furneaux paffed it. For his log-book makes no mention of fogs or hazy weather; on

the contrary, it expressly tells us, that, when in this fituation, they had it in their power to make obfervations, both for latitude and longitude, on board his fhip; fo that, if this land extends farther South than Cape George, it would have been fcarcely possible that he should have passed without feeing it.

From these circumstances we are able to determine, within a very few miles, the quantity of latitude that this land occupies; which does not much exceed one degree and a quarter. As to its extent from East to West, that still remains undecided. We only know, that no part of it can reach so far to the West as the meridian of 65°; because, in 1773, under that meridian, I fearched for it in vain *.

The French discoverers, with some reason, imagined Cape St. Louis + to be the projecting point

of

^{*} If the French observations, as marked upon Captain Cook's Chart, and still more authentically upon that published by their own discoverers, may be depended upon, this land doth not reach fo far to the West as the meridian of 68° ; Cape Louis, which is represented as its most Westerly point, being laid down by them to the East of that meridian.

[↑] The idea of Cape Louis being this projecting point of a Southern continent, muft have foon vanifhed, as Cape François, within a year after, was found, by the fame difcoverer, to lie above one third of a degree farther North upon the fame land. But if Kerguelen entertained any fuch imagination at firft, we are fure that, at prefent, he thinks very differently. This appears from the following explicit declaration of his fentiments, which deferves to be transcribed from his late publication, as it loes equal honour

of a Southern continent. The English have fince 1776. proved that no fuch continent exists; and that the December land in question is an island of no great extent *; which, from its sterility, I should, with great propriety, call the Island of Defolation, but that I would not rob Monsieur de Kerguelen of the honour of its bearing his name †.

honour to his candour, and to Captain Cook's abilities. "La "terre que j'ai decouverte est certainement une J/e; puisque le "célebre Capitaine Cook a passé au Sud, lors de fon premiere "voyage, fans rien rencontrer. Je juge même, que cette ille n'ef"*pas bien grande*. Il y a aussi apparence, d'apres le Voyage de "Monsieur Cook, que toute cette étendue de Mers Meridionales, " est femée d'Isles ou de rochers; mais qu'il n'y a ni continent ni " grande terre." Kerguelen, p. 92.

"grande terre." Kerguelen, p. 92. * Kerguelen, as we fee in the laft Note, concurs with Captain Cook as to this. However, he tells us, that he has reafon to believe that it is about two hundred leagues in circuit; and that he was acquainted with about fourfcore leagues of its coaft. " J'en " connois environs quatre-vingt lieues des cotes; & j'ai lieu de " croire, qu'elle a environ deux cents lieues de circuit." Kerguelen, ibid.

⁺ Some of Monfieur de Kerguelen's own countrymen feem more defirous than we are, to rob him of this honour. It is very remarkable that Monfieur de Pagés never once mentions the name of his commander. And, though he takes occafion to enumerate the feveral French explorers of the Southern Hemifphere, from Gonneville down to Crozet, he affects to preferve an entire filence about Kerguelen, whole firit voyage, in which the difcovery of this confiderable tract of land was made, is kept as much out of fight, as if it never had taken place. Nay, not fatisfied with refußing to acknowledge the right of another, he almost affumes it to himfelf. For upon a Map of the World, annexed to his book, at the fpot where the new land is delineated, we read this infeription: *Jles nowvelles Auftrales vules par Monfeur de Pagés, en 1774.* He could fcarcely have expressed himfelf in ftronger terms, if he had meant to convey an idea that he was only a Lieutenant [Enfeigne de vailfeau] on board one of the three fhips commanded by Kerguelen, and that the difcovery had been already made in a former voyage, undertaken while he was actually engaged in his fingular journey round the world.

After all, it cannot but be remarked that Kerguelen was peculiarly unfortunate, in having doue fo little to complete what he had begun. He difcovered a new land indeed, but, in two expeditions to it, he could not once bring his fhips to an auchor upon any part of its coafts. Captain Cook, as we have feen in this, and in the foregoing Chapter, had either fewer difficulties to firuggle with, or was more fuccetsful in furmounting them.

G 2

Mr.

1776. December.

Mr. Anderfon, my Surgeon, who, as I have already mentioned, had made Natural Hiftory a part of his studies, lost no opportunity, during the short

time we lay in Chriftmas Harbour, of fearching the country in every direction. He afterwards communicated to me the observations he made on its natural productions; and I shall infert them here in his own words.

" Perhaps no place, hitherto discovered in either hemisphere, under the same parallel of latitude, affords to fcanty a field for the naturalist as this barren fpot. The verdure which appears, when at a little diftance from the shore, would flatter one with the expectation of meeting with fome herbage; but in this we were much deceived, For on landing, we faw that this lively colour was occafioned only by one fmall plant, not much unlike fome forts of faxifrage, which grows in large foreading tufts, to a confiderable way up the hills. It forms a furface of a pretty large texture, and grows on a kind of rotten turf, into which one finks a foot or two at every step. This turf, dried, might, in cafes of necessary, ferve for fuel, and is the only thing we met with here that could possibly be applied to this use.

There is another plant, plentifully enough fcattered about the boggy declivities, which grows to near the height of two feet, and not much unlike a small cabbage, when it has shot into feeds. The leaves about the root are numerous, large, and rounded; narrower at the base, and ending in a small point. Those on the stalks are much fmaller, oblong, and pointed. The ftalks, which are often three or four, all rife feparately from the root, and run into long cylindrical heads, composed of small flowers. It has not only the 2 appearance,

64

appearance, but the watery acrid tafte of the an-1776. tilcorbutic plants, and yet differs materially from December. the whole tribe; fo that we looked upon it as a, production entirely peculiar to the place. We eat it frequently raw, and found it almost like the New Zealand fcurvy-grafs. But it feemed to acquire a rank flavour by being boiled; which, however, fome of our people did not perceive, and effeemed it good. If it could be introduced into our kitchen gardens, it would in all probability, improve to far by cultivation, as to be an excellent pot-herb. At this time, none of its feeds were ripe enough to be preferved, and brought home, to try the experiment.

Two other small plants were found near the brooks and boggy places, which were eaten as failed; the one almost like garden creffes, and very fiery; and the other very mild. This last, though but small, is in itself a curiosity; having not only male and female, but what the botanists call androgynous plants.

A coarle grais, which we cut down for the cattle, grows pretty plentifully in a few fmall fpots about the fides of the harbour, with a fmaller fort which is rarer; and, upon the flat ground, a fort of goofe-grafs, and another fmall plant much like it. In fhort, the whole catalogue of plants does not exceed fixteen or eighteen, including fome forts of mofs, and a beautiful fpecies of *lichen*, which grows upon the rocks, higher up than the reft of the vegetable productions. Nor is there even the leaft appearance of a fhrub in the whole country.

Nature has rather been more bountiful in furnifhing it with animals; though, ftrictly speaking, they are not inhabitants of the place, being all of the marine kind; and, in general, only using 1776. December.

ufing the land for breeding, and for a reftingplace. The most confiderable are feals, or (as we ufed to call them) fea bears; being that fort called the urfine feal. These come ashore to reft or breed; but they were not very numerous, which is not to be wondered at, as it is known that these animals rather frequent out-rocks, and little islands lying off coasts, than bays or inlets. They were, at this time, shedding their hair, and fo tame, that we killed what number we chose.

No other quadruped, either of the fea or of the land kind, was feen; but a great number of birds, viz. ducks, petrels, albatroffes, fhags, gulls, and fea-fwallows.

The ducks are about the fize of a teal or widgeon; but fomewhat different in colour from either. They were in tolerable plenty about the fides of the hills, or even lower; and we killed a confiderable number, which were good, and without the leaft fifty tafte. We met with fome of the fame fort at the island of Georgia, in our late voyage.

The Cape petrel, or Pintado bird; the fmall blue one, which is always feen at fea; and the fmall black one, or Mother Carey's Chicken, are not here in great numbers. But we found a neft of the first with an egg in it, about the fize of a pullet's; and the fecond, though fcarce, was met with in fome holes like rabbit-burrows.

Another fort, which is the largeft of all the petrels, and called by the feamen Mother Carey's Goofe, is in greater numbers; and fo tame, that at firft we could kill them with a flick upon the beach. They are not inferior in fize to an albatrofs, and are carnivorous, feeding on the dead carcaffes of feals or birds that were thrown into the fea. Their colour is a futty brown, with a greenifh greenish bill and feet; and, doubtles, they are 1776. the fame that the Spaniards call quebrantabueffos, Decemwhole head is figured in Pernetty's Voyage to Falk-

Of the albatroffes, none were found on fhore except the grey one, which is commonly met with at fea in the higher Southern latitudes. Once I faw one of these fitting in the cliff of a rock, but they were frequently flying about the harbour; and the common large fort, as well as a fmaller with a black face, were feen farther out.

Penguins form, by far, the greateft number of birds here; and are of three forts: The firft, or largeft, I have feen formerly at the island of Georgia \ddagger . It is also mentioned by Bougainville \ddagger ; but it does not feem to be fo folitary as he reprefents it, for we found confiderable numbers flocking together. The head is black, the upper part of the body a leaden grey, and the under part white, with black feet. It has two broad ftripes of fine yellow, that begin on the fides of the head, and defcending by each fide of the neck, meet above its breaft. The bill is partly reddifh, and longer than in the other forts.

The fecond fort of penguin fcarcely exceeds half the fize of the former. The upper part of the body is a blackifh grey, with a white fpot on the upper part of the head, growing broader at each fide. The bill and feet are yellowifh. A very accurate figure and defcription, both of this and of the preceding, is given by Mr. Sonnerat §.

1 Voyage autour du Monde, p. 69.

§ Voyage à la Nouvelle Guinée, p. 181, 182. Tab. 113. 115.

The

⁺ Pennant's Patagonian penguin. See his Genera of Birds. Tab. 14. p. 66.

1776. December.

The third fort of penguin met with here, had never been feen by any of us before. Its length is twenty four inches, and its breadth twenty.

The upper part of the body and throat are black; the reft white, except the upper part of the head, which has a fine yellow arch, looking backward, and ending on each fide in long foft feathers, which it can erect as two crefts.

The two first forts were found together on the beach; the large ones keeping by themselves, and walking in small flocks amongs the others, which were more numerous, and were sometimes seen a confiderable way up the fides of the hills. The third fort were only found by themselves, but in great numbers, on the outer shores of the harbour. They were breeding at this time; and they lay, on the bare stores, only one white egg, larger than that of a duck. All the three forts of penguins were so tame, that we took as many as we pleased with our hands.

The fhags of this place are of two forts; the leffer corvorant or water crow, and another, which is black above, with a white belly; the fame that is found in New Zealand, Terra del Fuego, and the ifland of Georgia.

We also met with here the common fea-gull, fea-fwallow, tern, and Port Egmont hen; the last of which were tame and numerous.

Another fort of white bird, flocks of which flew about the bay, is very fingular, having the bafe of the bill covered with a horny cruft *. It is larger than a pigeon, with the bill black and the feet white, made like those of a curlew.

* The fheath-bill. See Pennant's Genera of Birds, p. 43.

Some

Some of our people put it in competition with the 1776. duck, as food.

The feine was hauled once; but we found only a few fifth about the fize of a fmall haddock; though quite different from any we knew. The fnout is lengthened; the head armed with fome ftrong fpines; the rays of the back-fin long, and very ftrong; the belly is large; and the body without fcales. The only fhell fifth are a few limpets and mufcles; and, amongft the ftones, a few fmall ftar-fifth, and fea-anemonies, were found.

The hills are of a moderate height; yet many of their tops were covered with fnow at this time, though answering to our June. Some of them have large quantities of stones, irregularly heaped together at their foot, or on their fides. The fides of others, which form steep cliffs towards the sea, are rent from the top downward, and seem ready to fall off, having stones of a considerable size lying in the fissures. Some were of opinion that frost might be the cause of these fissures, which I shall not dispute; but how others of the appearances could be effected, but by earthquakes, or some such sever shocks, I cannot say.

It appears that rain muft be almost constant here, not only from the marks of large torrents having rushed down, but from the disposition of the country, which even on the hills, is almost an entire bog or swamp, the ground sinking at every step.

The rocks, or foundations of the hills, are composed chiefly of a dark blue, and very hard, ftone, intermixed with small particles of glimmer or quartz. This seems to be one of the most universal productions of Nature, as it conftitutes whole mountains in Sweden, in Scotland, at the Canary

ber.

1776. Canary Iflands, the Cape of Good Hope, and at this place. Another brownifh brittle ftone forms here fome confiderable rocks; and one which is blacker, and found in detached pieces, inclofes bits of coarfe quartz. A red, a dull yellow, and a purplifh fand-ftone, are alfo found in fmall pieces; and pretty large lumps of femi-transparent quartz, disposed irregularly in polyedral pyramidal crystals of long fhining fibres. Some fmall pieces of the common fort are met with in the brooks, made round by attrition; but none hard enough to refift a file. Nor were any of the other ftones acted on by aqua fortis, or attracted by the magnet.

Nothing, that had the least appearance of an ore or metal, was feen."

9•

CHAP.

CHAP. VI.

Paffage from Kerguelen's to Van Diemen's Land. -Arrival in Adventure Bay. - Incidents there. -Interviews with the Natives.-Their Perfons and Drefs described. - Account of their Behaviour. - Table of the Longitude, Latitude, and Variation.—Mr. Anderfon's Observations on the natural Productions of the Country, on the Inbabitants, and their Language.

FTER leaving Kerguelen's Land, I fteered 1776. A East by North, intending, in obedience to Decemb. my inftructions, to touch next at New-Zealand; to recruit our water, to take in wood, and to make hay for the cattle. Their number, by this time, had been confiderably diminifhed; two young bulls, one of the heifers, two rams, and feveral of the goats, having of late died, while we were employed in exploring this defolate coaft.

The gift, in the morning, being the day after Tuefd. 31. we ftood out to fea, we had feveral obfervations of the fun and moon. Their refults gave the longitude 72° 33' 36" East. The time-keeper, in this fituation, gave 72° 38' 15". These observations were the more uleful, as we had not been able to get any for fome time before, and they now ferved to affure us that no material error had crept into the time keeper.

On the 1st of January, being then in the latitude 1777. lanuary. of 48° 41' South, longitude 76° 50' East, the va-Wedn. 1. riation

riation was 30° 39' West; and the next day, in 1777. January. the latitude of 48° 22' South, longitude 80' 22' Thurf. 2. East, it was 30° 47' 18" West. This was the greatest variation we found in this passage; for afterward it began to decrease, but so flowly, that

Friday 3. on the 3d, in the evening, being then in the latitude of 48° 16' South, longitude 85° Eaft, it was 29° 38' Weft.

> Thus far we had fresh gales from the West and South Weft, and tolerably clear weather. But now the wind veered to the North, where it continued eight days, and was attended with a thick fog. During this time, we ran above three hundred leagues in the dark. Now and then the weather would clear up, and give us a fight of the fun; but this happened very feldom, and was always

Tuefd. 7. of fhort continuance. On the 7th, I hoifted out a boat, and fent an order to Captain Clerke, appointing Adventure Bay, in Van Diemen's Land, as our place of rendezvous, in cale of feparation before we arrived in the meridian of that land. But we were fortunate enough, amidit all this foggy weather, by frequently firing guns as fignals, though we feldom faw each other, not to lofe company.

Sunday12. On the 12th, being in the latitude of 48° 40' South, longitude 110° 26' Eaft, the Northerly winds ended in a calm; which, after a few hours, was fucceeded by a wind from the Southward. This, with rain, continued for twenty-four hours ; when it freshened, and veered to the West and North Weft, and brought on fair and clear weather.

We continued our courfe to the Eaftward, without meeting with any thing worthy of notice, till Sundayig, four o'clock in the morning of the 19th ; when, in a sudden squall of wind, though the Discovery received no damage, our fore-top-maft went by the

board,

92

board, and carried the main top-gallant-maft with 1777. it. This occasioned fome delay, as it took us up January. the whole day to clear the wreck, and to fit ano-The former was accomplished ther top-maft. without loling any part of it, except a few fathioms of fmall rope. Not having a fpare main-top-gallant-maft on board, the fore-top-gallant-maft was converted into one for our immediate ufe.

The wind continued Wefterly, blew a frefh gale, and was attended with clear weather; fo that fcarcely a day paffed without being able to get observations for fixing the longitude, and the variation of The latter decreased in such a manthe compais. ner, that in the latitude of 44° 18' South, longitude 132° 2' East, it was no more than 5° 34' 18" Weft: and on the 22d, being then in the latitude Wedn. 22. of 43° 27' South, longitude 141° 50' Eaft, it was 1º 24 15" East. So that we had crossed the line where the compass has no variation.

On the 24th, at three o'clock in the morning, Friday 24. we difcovered the coaft of Van Diemen's Land, bearing North + Weft. At four o'clock, the South Weft Cape bore North North Weft + Weft; and the Mewftone, North Eaft by Eaft, three leagues diftant. There are feveral islands and high rocks lying fcattered along this part of the coaft, the Southernmost of which is the Mewstone. It is a round elevated rock, five or fix leagues diftant from the South Weft Cape, in the direction of South 55° Eaft.

At noon, our latitude was 43° 47' South, longitude 147° East; and the fituation of the lands round us as follows: An elevated round-topped hill bore North 17° Weft; the South Weft Cape North 74° Weft; the Mewftone Weft 1/2 North; Swilly Ifle or Rock South 49° Eaft; and the South Eaft or South Cape North 40° Eaft, diftant near three leagues.

93

1777. January. leagues. The land between the South Weft and the South Capes is broken and hilly, the coaft winding, with points flooting out from it; but we were too far off, to be able to judge whether the bays formed by these points were sheltered from the fea-winds. The bay which appeared to be the largest and deepest, lies to the Westward of the peaked hill above-mentioned. The variation of the compass here, was 5° 15 East.

At fix o'clock in the afternoon we founded, and found fixty fathoms water, over a bottom of broken coral and fhells. The South Cape then bore North 75° Weft, two or three leagues diftant; Tafman's Head North Eaft; and Swilly Rock South by Weft $\frac{1}{2}$ Weft. About a league to the Eaftward of Swilly, is another elevated rock, that is not taken notice of by Captain Furneaux. I called it the Eddyftone, from its very great refemblance to that light-house. Nature seems to have left these two rocks here, for the same purpose that the Eddyftone light-house was built by man, viz. to give navigators notice of the dangers around them. For they are the confpicuous fummits of a ledge of rocks under water, on which the fea, in many places, breaks very high. Their furface is white with the dung of fea-fowls; fo that they may be feen at fome diftance, even in the night. On the North East fide of Storm Bay, which lies between the South Cape and Taiman's Head, there are fome coves or creeks, that feemed to be sheltered from the fea-winds; and I am of opinion that, were this coaft examined, there would be found fome good harbours.

Soon after we had fight of land the Wefterly winds left us, and were fucceeded by variable light

Sunday26. airs and alternate calms, till the 26th at noon. At that time a breeze fprung up and freshened at South

South Eaft, which put it in my power to carry into 1777. execution the defign I had, upon due confideration, January. formed, of carrying the thips into Adventure Bay, where I might expect to get a fupply of wood and of grafs for the cattle; of both which articles we should, as I now found, have been in great want, if I had waited till our arrival in New Zealand. We therefore flood for the bay, and anchored in it at four o'clock in the afternoon, in twelve fathoms water, over a bottom of fand and oufe. Penguin Ifland, which lies close to the East point of the bay, bore North 84° Eaft; the Southernmost point of Maria's Iflands bore North 76° ± Eaft: and Cape Frederic Henry, or the North point of the bay, bore North 33° Eaft. Our diftance from the nearest shore was about three quarters of a mile.

As foon as we had anchored, I ordered the boats to be hoifted out. In one of them I went myfelf, to look for the most commodious place for furnishing ourselves with the necessfary supplies; and Captain Clerke went in his boat upon the fame fervice. Wood and water we found in plenty, and in fituations convenient enough, especially the first. But grass, of which we stood most in need, was scarce, and also very coarse. Necessfity, however, obliged us to take such as we could get.

Mond. 27.

Next morning early, I fent Lieutenant King to the Eaft fide of the bay with two parties; one to cut wood, and the other to cut grafs, under the protection of the marines, whom I judged it prudent to land as a guard. For although, as yet, none of the natives had appeared, there could be no doubt that fome were in our neighbourhood, as we had feen columns of fmoke, from the time of our approaching the coaft; and fome now was obferved, at no great diftance up in the woods. I alfo fent the launch for water; and 1777. and afterwards visited all the parties myfelf. In January. the evening, we drew the feine at the head of the bay, and, at one haul, caught a great quantity of fifth. We fhould have got many more, had not the net broken in drawing it afhore. Moft of them were of that fort known to feamen by the name of elephant fifth. After this every one repaired on board with what wood and grass we had cut, that we might be ready to fail whenever the wind fhould ferve.

Tuefd. 28. This not happening next morning, the people were fent on fhore again, on the fame duty as the day before. I also employed the carpenter, with part of his crew, to cut fome spars for the use of the ship; and dispatched Mr. Roberts, one of the mates, in a small boat to survey the bay.

> In the afternoon, we were agreeably furprifed, at the place where we were cutting wood, with a vifit from fome of the natives; eight men and a boy. They approached us from the woods, without betraying any marks of fear, or rather with the greateft confidence imaginable; for none of them had any weapons, except one who held in his hand a flick about two feet long, and pointed at one end.

> They were quite naked, and wore no ornaments, unlets we confider as fuch, and as a proof of their love of finery, fome large punctures or ridges raifed on different parts of their bodies, fome in ftraight, and others in curved lines.

> They were of the common flature, but rather flender. Their fkin was black, and alfo their hair, which was as woolly as that of any native of Guinea; but they were not diftinguithed by remarkably thick lips, nor flat nofes. On the contrary, their features were far from being difagreeable.

able. They had pretty good eyes; and their teeth 1777. were tolerably even, but very dirty. Most of them January. had their hair and beards fmeared with a red ointment; and fome had their faces also painted with the fame composition.

They received every prefent we made to them, without the leaft appearance of fatisfaction. When fome bread was given, as foon as they underftood that it was to be eaten, they either returned it, or threw it away, without even tafting it. They also refused some elephant fish, both raw and dreffed, which we offered to them. But upon giving fome birds to them, they did not return these, and eafily made us comprehend that they were fond of fuch food. I had brought two pigs afhore, with a view to leave them in the woods. The inftant these came within their reach, they seized them, as a dog would have done, by the ears, and were for carrying them off immediately; with no other intention, as we could perceive, but to kill them.

Being defirous of knowing the use of the flick which one of our vifiters carried in his hand, I made figns to them to fhew me; and fo far fucceeded, that one of them fet up a piece of wood as a mark, and threw at it, at the diftance of about twenty yards. But we had little reafon to commend his dexterity; for after repeated trials, he was still very wide from the object. Omai, to thew them how much fuperior our weapons were to theirs, then fired his mulquet at it; which alarmed them fo much, that notwithstanding all we could do or fay, they ran inftantly into the woods. One of them was fo frightened, that he let drop an axe and two knives, that had been given to him. From us, however, they went to the place, where fome of the Discovery's people were employed in taking water into their beat. The

VOL. I.

Ĥ

97

1777.

The officer of that party, not knowing that they January- had paid us fo friendly a vifit, nor what their intent might be, fired a musquet in the air, which fent them off with the greatest precipitation.

> Thus ended our first interview with the natives. Immediately after their final retreat, judging that their fears would prevent their remaining near enough to obferve what was paffing, I ordered the two pigs, being a boar and fow, to be carried about a mile within the woods, at the head of the bay. I faw them left there, by the fide of a fresh-water brook. A young bull and a cow, and fome fheep and goats, were alfo, at first, intended to have been left by me, as an additional prefent to Van Diemen's Land. But I foon laid alide all thoughts of this, from a perfualion that the natives, incapable of entering into my views of improving their country, would deftroy them. If ever they should meet with the pigs, I have no doubt this will be their fate. But as that race of animals foon becomes wild, and is fond of the thickeft cover of the woods, there is great probability of their being preferved. An open place must have been chosen for the accommodation of the other cattle; and in fuch a fituation, they could not pollibly have remained concealed many days.

Wedn. 29. The morning of the 29th was ufhered in with a dead calm, which continued all day, and effectually prevented our failing. I therefore fent a party over to the east point of the bay to cut-grafs; having been informed that fome of a fuperior quality grew there. Another party, to cut wood, was ordered to go to the ufual place, and I accompanied them myself. We had observed feveral of the natives, this morning, fauntering along the shore, which assured us, that though their

98

their confternation had made them leave us fo abruptly the day before, they were convinced that January. we intended them no mifchief, and were defirous of renewing the intercourfe. It was natural that I fhould wifh to be prefent on the occafion.

We had not been long landed, before about twenty of them, men and boys, joined us, without expressing the least fign of fear or distruct. There was one of this company confpicuoufly deformed; and who was not more diffinguishable by the hump upon his back, than by the drollery of his geftures, and the feeming humour of his fpeeches; which he was very fond of exhibiting, as we fupposed, for our entertainment. But, unfortunately, we could not underftand him; the language fpoken here being wholly unintelligible to us. It appeared to me, to be different from that spoken by the inhabitants of the more northern parts of this country, whom I met with in my first voyage; which is not extraordinary, fince those we now faw, and those we then visited, differ in many other respects*. Nor did they feem to be fuch milerable wretches as the natives

* The most firiking difference feems to be with regard to the texture of the hair. The natives whom Captain Cook met with at Endeavour River in 1769, are faid, by him, to have naturally long and black hair, though it be univerfally cropped fort. In general it is frait, but fometimes it has a flight curl. We faw none that was not matted and filthy. Their beards were of the fame colour with the hair, and bufby and thick. See Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. iii. chap. 8. p. 632. It may be neceffary to mention here, on the authority of Captein King that Captain Cook was yery unwilling to allow that

It may be neceffary to mention here, on the authority of Captain King, that Captain Cook was very unwilling to allow that the hair of the natives now met with in Adventure Bay was woolly, fancying that his people, who first observed this, had been deceived, from its being clotted with grease and red ochre. But Captain King prevailed upon him afterward, to examine carefully the hair of the boys, which was generally, as well as that of the women, free from this dirt; and then he owned himself fatisfied that it was naturally woolly. Perhaps we may suppose it possible, that he himself had been deceived when he was in Endeavour River, from this very circumstance; as he expressly fays, that they faw none that was not matted and filthy.

H 2

whom

whom Dampier mentions to have feen on its weft-1777. January. ern coaft *.

Some of our prefent groupe wore, loofe, round their necks, three or four folds of fmall cord, made of the fur of fome animal; and others of them had a narrow flip of the kangooroo fkin tied round their ancles. I gave to each of them a ftring of beads, and a medal; which I thought they received with fome fatisfaction. They feemed to fet no value on iron, or on iron tools. They were even ignorant of the use of fish-hooks, if we might judge from their manner of looking at fome of ours which we fhewed to them.

We cannot, however, fuppole it to be pollible that a people who inhabit a fea-coaft, and who feem to derive no part of their fuftenance from the productions of the ground, fhould not be acquainted with fome mode of catching fifh, although we did not happen to fee any of them thus employed; nor observe any canoe or veffel, in which they could go upon the water. Though they abfolutely rejected the fort of fifh that we offered to them, it was evident that shell-fish, at least.

* And yet Dampier's New Hollanders, on the Western coast, bear a firiking refemblance to Captain Cook's at Van Diemen's Land, in many remarkable inftances :

tft, As to their becoming familiar with the flrangers.

adly, As to their perfons; being ftraight-bodied, and thin; their fkin black; and black, fhort, curled hair, like the Negroes of Guinea; with wide mouths.

3dly, As to their wretched condition; having no houfes, no garment, no canoes, no inftrument to catch large fifh ; feeding on broiled mufcles, cockles, and periwinckles; having no fruits of the earth ; their weapons a ftraight pole, fharpened and hardened at the end, &c. &c.

The chief peculiarities of Dampier's miferable wretches are, ift, Their eye-lids being always half cloted, to keep the flies out, which were excellively troublefome there : and, 2dly, Their wanting the two fore-teeth of the upper jaw, and their having no beards. See Dampier's Voyages, Vol. 1. p. 464, &c. There feems to be no reason for supposing that Dampier was mistaken in the above account of what he faw.

100

made a part of their food, from the many heaps of mulcle-fhells we faw in different parts near the fhore, and about fome deferted habitations near the head of the bay. Thefe were little fheds or hovels built of flicks, and covered with bark. We could alfo perceive evident figns of their fometimes taking up their abode in the trunks of large trees, which had been hollowed out by fire, moft probably for this very purpofe. In or near all thefe habitations, and wherever there was a heap of fhells, there remained the marks of fire; an indubitable proof that they do not eat their food raw.

After flaying about an hour with the wooding party and the natives, as I could now be pretty confident that the latter were not likely to give the former any diffurbance, I left them, and went over to the grafs-cutters on the Eaft point of the bay, and found that they had met with a fine patch. Having feen the boats loaded, I left that party, and returned on board to dinner; where, fome time after, Lieutenant King arrived.

From him I learnt, that I had but just left the shore, when feveral women and children made their appearance, and were introduced to him by fome of the men who attended them, He gave prefents to all of them, of fuch trifles as he had about him. These females wore a kangooroo skin (in the fame shape as it came from the animal) tied over the fhoulders, and round the waift. But its only use seemed to be, to support their children when carried on their backs; for it did not cover those parts which most nations conceal; being, in all other respects, as naked as the men, and as black, and their bodies marked with fcars in the fame manner. But in this they differed from the men, that though their hair was of the fame

1777.

fame colour and texture, fome of them had their January heads completely fhorn or fhaved; in others this operation had been performed only on one fide, while the reft of them had all the upper part of the head fhorn close, leaving a circle of hair all round, fomewhat like the tonfure of the Romifh Ecclefiaftics *. Many of the children had fine features, and were thought pretty; but of the perfons of the women, especially those advanced in years, a less favourable report was made. However, fome of the gentlemen belonging to the Difcovery, I was told, paid their addreffes, and made liberal offers of prefents, which were rejected with great difdain; whether from a fenfe of virtue, or the fear of displeasing their men, I shall not pretend to determine. That this gallantry was not very agreeable to the latter, is certain: for an elderly man, as foon as he obferved it, ordered all the women and children to retire, which they obeyed, though fome of them shewed a little reluctance.

> This conduct of Europeans amongft Savages to their women, is highly blameable; as it creates a jealoufy in their men, that may be attended with confequences fatal to the fuccefs of the common enterprize, and to the whole body of adventurers,

^{*} Captain Cook's account of the natives of Van Diemen's Land, in this Chapter, no doubt proves that they differ, in many re/pects, as he fays, from the inhabitants of the more northerly parts of the East coaft of New Holland, whom he met with in his first voyage. It feems very remarkable, however, that the only woman any of his people came close to, in Botany Bay, hould have her hair cropped flort; while the man who was with her, is faid to have had the hair of his head bufy, and his beard long and rough. Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. iii. p. 502. Could the natives of Van Diemen's Land be more accurately defcribed, than by faying that the hair of the mens heads is bu/hy, and their beards long and rough, and that the women's hair is cropped (hort? So far North, therefore, as Botany Bay, the na-tives of the Eaft coaft of New Holland feem to refemble those of Van Diemen's Land, in this circumstance.

without advancing the private purpole of the in-1777. dividual, or enabling him to gain the object of January. his wifnes. I believe it has been generally found amongst uncivilized people, that where the women are easy of access, the men are the first to offer them to ftrangers; and that, where this is not the cafe, neither the allurement of prefents, nor the opportunity of privacy, will be likely to have the This observation, I am fure, will defired effect. hold good, throughout all the parts of the South Sea where I have been. Why then should men act fo abfurd a part, as to rifk their own fafety, and that of all their companions, in pursuit of a gratification which they have no probability of obtaining ?

In the afternoon I went again to the grafs cutters, to forward their work. I found them then upon Penguin Island, where they had met with a plentiful crop of excellent grafs. We laboured hard till fun-fet, and then repaired on board, fatisfied with the quantity we had collected, and which I judged fufficient to last till our arrival in New Zealand.

During our whole ftay, we had either calms or light airs from the Eaftward. Little or no time, therefore, was loft by my putting in at this place. For if I had kept the fea, we fhould not have been twenty leagues advanced farther on our voyage. And, fhort as our continuance was here, it has enabled me to add fomewhat to the imperfect acquaintance that hath hitherto been acquired, with this part of the globe.

Van Diemen's Land has been twice vifited before. It was fo named by Tafman, who difcovered it in November 1642. From that time it had efcaped all farther notice by European navigators, till Captain Furneaux touched at it in March 1773. I hardly need 1777. need fay, that it is the Southern point of New January. Holland, which if it doth not deferve the name of a continent, is by far the largeft island in the world.

The land is, for the moft part, of a good height, diversified with hills and valleys, and every where of a greenish hue. It is well wooded; and if one may judge from appearances, and from what we met with in Adventure Bay, is not ill supplied with water. We found plenty of it in three or four places in this bay. The best, or what is most convenient for ships that touch here, is a rivuler, which is one of several that fall into a pond, that lies behind the beach at the head of the bay. It there mixes with the seawater; fo that it must be taken up above this pond, which may be done without any great trouble. Fire-wood is to be got, with great ease, in several places.

The only wind to which this bay is expoled, is the North Eaft. But as this wind blows from Maria's iflands, it can bring no very great fea along with it; and therefore, upon the whole, this may be accounted a very fafe road. The bottom is clean, good holding ground; and the depth of water from twelve, to five and four fathoms. But the annexed Chart will convey a better idea of every thing neceffary to be known about Adventure Bay, than any defcription.

Captain Furneaux's sketch of Van Diemen's Land, published with the Narrative of my last Voyage *, appears to me to be without any material error, except with regard to Maria's slands, which have a different situation from what is there represented. What my idea of them is, will be seen in the sketch of that coast here inferted; and

* Vol. i. p. 115.

I infert

104

I infert it, not as the refult of a more faithful, but merely of a fecond examination. The longitude was determined by a great number of lunar obfervations, which we had before we made the land, while we were in fight of it, and after we had left it; and reduced to Adventure Bay, and the feveral principal points, by the time-keeper. The following Table will exhibit both the longitude and latitude at one view :

	Latitude South. Longitude East.			
Adventure Bay, -	4 3°	21	20"-147° 29' 0"	•
Taíman's Head, -			0-147 28 0	
South Cape,	43		0-146 56 0	
South Weft Cape, -	43	37	0-146 7 0	
Swilly Ifle,	43	55	0-147 60	

Adventure Bay, $\begin{cases} Variation of the compais 5° 15' Eaft. \\ Dip of the South End of the Needle <math>70^{\circ} 15\frac{1}{2}$.

We had high-water on the 29th, being two days before the last quarter of the moon, at nine in the morning. The perpendicular rife then was eighteen inches; and there was no appearance of its having ever exceeded two feet and a half. These are all the memorials useful to navigation, which my short stay has enabled me to preferve, with respect to Van Diemen's Land.

Mr. Anderlon, my Surgeon, with his ufual diligence, fpent the few days we remained in Adventure Bay, in examining the country. His account of its natural productions, with which he favoured me, will more than compensate for my filence about them: fome of his remarks on the inhabitants will fupply what I may have omitted or represented impersectly; and his specimen of their language, 1777. January.

language, however fhort, will be thought worth attending to, by those who wish to collect materials for tracing the origin of nations. I shall only premise, that the tall straight forest trees, which Mr. Anderson describes in the following account, are of a different fort from those which are found in the more Northern parts of this coast. The wood is very long and close-grained; extremely tough; fit for spars, oars, and many other uses; and would, on occasion, make good masts (perhaps none better), if a method could be found to lighten it.

" At the bottom of Adventure Bay is a beautiful fandy beach, which feems to be wholly formed by the particles washed by the fea from a very fine white fand ftone, that in many places bounds the fhore, and of which Fluted Cape, in the neighbourhood, from its appearance, feems to This beach is about two miles be composed. long, and is excellently adapted for hauling a feine. which both thips did repeatedly with fucces. Behind this, is a plain or flat, with a falt, or rather brackifh lake (running in length parallel with the beach), out of which we caught, with angling rods, many whitish bream, and some small trout. The other parts of the country adjoining the bay are quite hilly; and both those and the flat are an entire foreft of very tall trees, rendered almoft impaffible by fhrubs, brakes of fern, and fallen trees; except on the fides of fome of the hills, where the trees are but thin, and a coarfe grafs is the only interruption.

To the Northward of the bay there is low land, ftretching farther than the eye can reach, which is only covered with wood in certain fpots; but we had no opportunity to examine in what refpects it differed from the hilly country. The foil on I the

Joe

the flat land is either fandy, or confifts of a yellowifh mould, and, in fome places, of a reddifh clay. The fame is found on the lower part of the hills; but farther up, especially where there are few trees, it is of a grey tough caft, to appearance very poor.

In the valleys between the hills, the water drains down from their fides; and at laft, in fome places, forms fmall brooks; fuch indeed as were fufficient to fupply us with water, but by no means of that fize we might expect in fo extensive a country, efpecially as it is both hilly and well wooded. Upon the whole, it has many marks of being naturally a very dry country; and perhaps might (independent of its wood) be compared to Africa, about the Cape of Good Hope, though that lies ten degrees farther Northward, rather than to New Zealand, on its other fide, in the fame latitude, where we find every valley, however fmall, furnifhed with a confiderable ftream of water. The heat too appears to be great, as the thermometer flood at 64, 70, and once at 74. And it was remarked, that birds were feldom killed an hour or two, before they were almost covered with small maggots, which I would rather attribute merely to the heat; as we had not any reason to suppose there is a peculiar disposition in the climate to render substances soon putrid.

No mineral bodies, nor indeed ftones of any other fort, but the white fand one already mentioned, were observed.

Amongst the vegetable productions, there is not one, that we could find, which afforded the smallest sublistence for man.

The foreft trees are all of one fort, growing to a great height, and in general quite ftraight, branching but little, till towards the top. The bark 1777. January.

bark is white, which makes them appear, at a diftance, as if they had been peeled; it is alfo thick; and within it are fometimes collected, pieces of a reddift transparent gum or refin, which has an aftringent tafte. The leaves of this tree are leng, narrow, and pointed; and it bears clufters of fmall white flowers, whole cups were, at this time, plentifully fcattered about the ground, with another fort refembling them fomewhat in fhape, but much larger; which makes it probable that there are two *species* of this tree. The bark of the fmaller branches, fruit, and leaves, have an agreeable pungent tafte, and aromatic finell, not unlike peppermint; and in its nature, it has fome affinity to the *myrtus* of botanifts.

The most common tree, next to this, is a small one about ten feet high, branching pretty much, with narrow leaves, and a large, yellow, cylindrical flower, confisting only of a vast number of filaments; which, being filed, leave a fruit like a pine top. Both the above-mentioned trees are unknown in Europe.

The underwood confifts chiefly of a fhrub fomewhat refembling a myrtle, and which feems to be the *leptofpermum fcoparium*, mentioned in Dr. Forfter's *Char. Gen. Plant.*; and, in fome places, of another, rather fmaller, which is a new *fpecies* of the *melaleuca* of Linnæus.

Of other plants, which are by no means numerous, there is a *fpecies* of *gladiolus*, rufh, bell-flower, famphire, a fmall fort of wood-forrel, milk-wort, cudweed, and Job's tears; with a few others, peculiar to the place. There are feveral kinds of fern, as polypody, fpleenwort, female fern, and fome moffes; but the *fpecies* are either common, or at leaft found in fome other countries, efpecially New Zealand.

The

The only animal of the quadruped kind we got, was a fort of opoffum, about twice the fize January. of a large rat; and is, most probably, the male of that *species* found at Endeavour River, as mentioned in Hawkefworth's Collection of Voyages*. It is of a dufky colour above, tinged with a brown or rufty caft, and whitish below. About a third of the tail, towards its tip, is white, and bare underneath; by which it probably hangs on the branches of trees, as it climbs thefe, and lives on berries. The kangooroo, another animal found farther Northward in New Holland, as defcribed in the fame Voyage +, without all doubt alfo inhabits here, as the natives we met with had fome pieces of their fkins; and we feveral times faw animals, though indiffinctly, run from the thickets when we walked in the woods, which, from the fize, could be no other. It should feem alfo, that they are in confiderable numbers, from the dung we faw almost every where, and from the narrow tracks or paths they have made amongft the fhrubbery.

There are feveral forts of birds, but all fo fcarce and thy, that they are evidently haraffed by the natives, who, perhaps, draw much of their fubfiftence from them. In the woods, the principal forts are large brown hawks or eagles; crows, nearly the fame as ours in England; yellowifh paroquets; and large pigeons. There are also three or four fmall birds, one of which is of the thrush kind; and another fmall one, with a pretty long tail, has part of the head and neck of a most beautiful azure colour; from whence we named it motacilla cyanea. On the fhore were feveral common and fea gulls; a few black oyfter catchers,

> * Vol. iii. p. 586. 1 Ibid. p. 577.

> > or

109

1777.

January.

or fea pies; and a pretty plover of a ftone colour, with a black hood. About the pond or lake behind the beach, a few wild ducks were feen; and fome fhags used to perch upon the high leaflefs trees near the fhore.

Some pretty large blackifh fnakes were feen in the woods, and we killed a large, hitherto unknown, lizard, fifteen inches long and fix round, elegantly clouded with black and yellow; befides a fmall fort, of a brown gilded colour above, and rufty below.

The fea affords a much greater plenty, and at leaft as great a variety as the land. Of thefe the elephant fifh, or *pejegallo*, mentioned in Frezier's Voyage*, are the most numerous; and though inferior to many other fifh, were very palatable food. Several large rays, nurses, and small leatherjackets were caught; with some small white bream, which were firmer and better than those caught in the lake. We likewise got a few soles and flounders; two forts of gurnards, one of them a new *species*; fome small spotted mullet; and, very unexpectedly, the small fish with a filver band on its fide, called *atherina hepsetus* by Haffelquift +.

But that next in number, and fuperior in goodnefs, to the elephant fifh, was a fort none of us recollected to have feen before. It partakes of the nature both of a round and of a flat fifh, having the eyes placed very near each other; the fore-part of the body much flattened or depreffed, and the reft rounded. It is of a brownish fandy colour, with rufty fpots on the upper part, and whitifh below. From the quantity of flime it was always covered with, it feems

> * Tom. ii. p. 211. 12mo. Planche XVII. † Iter Palastinum.

> > to

to live after the manner of flat fifh, at the bottom.

January.

Upon the rocks are plenty of muscles, and some other small shell-fish. There are also great numbers of fea-stars, some small limpets, and large quantities of sponge; one fort of which, that is thrown on shore by the sea, but not very common, has a most delicate texture; and another, is the *spongia dicbotoma*.

Many pretty Medufa's beads were found upon the beach; and the flinking laplyfia or fea-hare, which, as mentioned by fome authors, has the property of taking off the hair by the acrimony of its juice; but this fort was deficient in this refpect.

Infects, though not numerous, are here in confiderable variety. Amongft them are grafshoppers, butterflies, and feveral forts of fmall moths, finely variegated. There are two forts of dragonflies, gad-flies, camel-flies; feveral forts of fpiders; and fome fcorpions; but the laft are rather rare. The moft troublefome, though not very numerous tribe of infects, are the mulquitoes; and a large black ant, the pain of whole bite is almoft intolerable, during the fhort time it lafts. The mufquitoes, alfo, make up the deficiency of their number, by the feverity of their venemous probofcis.

The inhabitants whom we met with here, had little of that fierce or wild appearance common to people in their fituation; but, on the contrary, feemed mild and cheerful, without referve or jealoufy of ftrangers. This, however, may arife from their having little to lofe or care for.

With

With respect to personal activity or genius, we January. can fay but little of either. They do not feem to poffefs the first in any remarkable degree; and as for the laft, they have, to appearance, lefs than even the half-animated inhabitants of Terra del Fuego, who have not invention fufficient to make clothing for defending themfelves from the rigor of their climate, though furnished with the materials. The fmall flick, rudely pointed, which one of them carried in his hand, was the only thing we faw that required any mechanical exertion, if we except the fixing on the feet of fome of them pieces of kangooroo fkin, tied with thongs; though it could not be learnt whether these were in ule as shoes, or only to defend some fore. It must be owned, however, they are masters of fome contrivance, in the manner of cutting their arms and bodies in lines of different lengths and directions, which are raifed confiderably above the furface of the fkin, fo that it is difficult to guefs the method they use in executing this embroidery of their perfons. Their not expressing that furprize which one might have expected from their feeing men fo much unlike themfelves, and things, to which, we were well affured, they had been hitherto utter ftrangers; their indifference for our prefents; and their general inattention; were fufficient proofs of their not poffeffing any acutenefs of underftanding.

Their colour is a dull black, and not quite for deep as that of the African Negroes. It should feem also, that they fometimes heightened their black colour, by fmutting their bodies; as a mark was left behind on any clean fubstance, fuch as white paper, when they handled it. Their hair, however, is perfectly weally, and it is clotted or divided into fmall parcels, like that of the Hottentots, with the use of some fort of grass, mixed with a 2

112 1777.

red

red paint or ochre, which they fmear in great abundance over their heads. This practice, as January. fome might imagine, has not the effect of changing their hair into the frizzling texture we obferved; for, on examining the head of a boy. which appeared never to have been imeared, I found the hair to be of the fame kind. Their nofes, though not flat, are broad and full. The lower part of the face projects a good deal, as is the cafe of most Indians I have leen; fo that a line let fall from the forehead, would cut off a much larger portion than it would in Europeans. Their eyes are of a middling fize, with the white lefs clear than in us; and though not remarkably quick or piercing, fuch as give a frank cheerful caft to the whole countenance. Their teeth are broad, but not equal, nor well fet; and, either from nature or from dirt, not of fo true a white as is usual among people of a black colour. Their mouths are rather wide; but this appearance feems heightened by wearing their beards long, and clotted with paint, in the fame manner as the hair on their heads. In other respects, they are well-proportioned; though the belly feems rather projecting. This may be owing to the want of compression there, which few nations do not use, more or lefs. The pofture of which they feem fondeft, is to ftand with one fide forward, or the upper part of the body genuly reclined, and one hand grasping (across the back) the opposite arm, which hangs down by the projecting fide.

What the ancient Poets tell us of Fauns and Satyrs living in hollow trees, is here realized. Some wretched constructions of sticks, covered with bark, which do not even deferve the name of huts, were indeed found near the fhore in the bay; but these seemed only to have been erected for temporary purposes; and many of their largest trees

VOL. I.

I

113

1777.

trees were converted into more comfortable ha-These had their trunks hollowed out January. bitations. by fire, to the height of fix or feven feet; and that they take up their abode in them fometimes, was evident from the hearths, made of clay, to contain the fire in the middle, leaving room for four or five perfons to fit round it *. At the fame time, these places of shelter are durable; for they take care to leave one fide of the tree found, which is fufficient to keep it growing as luxuriantly as those which remain untouched.

> The inhabitants of this place are, doubtlefs, from the fame flock with those of the Northern parts of New Holland. Though fome of the circumstances mentioned by Dampier, relative to those he met with on the Western coast of this country, fuch as their defective fight, and want of fore-teeth, are not found here; and though Hawkefworth's account of those met with by Captain Cook on the East fide, shews also that they differ in many respects; yet still, upon the whole, I am perfuaded that diffance of place, entire feparation, diverfity of climate, and length of time, all concurring to operate, will account for greater differences, both as to their perfons and as to their cuftoms, than really exift between our Van Diemen's Land natives, and those described by Dampier, and in Captain Cook's first voyage. This is certain, that the figure of one of those seen in Endeavour River, and represented in Sidney Parkinfon's Journal of that voyage, very much refembles our visiters in Adventure Bay. That there is not the like refemblance in their language, is a circumftance that need not create any difficulty. For

* Tafman, when in the bay of Frederick Henry, adjoining to Adventure Bay, found two trees, one of which was two fathoms, and the other two fathoms and a half in girth, and fixty or fixty-five feet high, from the root to the branches. See his Voyage, in Harris's Collection, Campbell's Edition, Vol. i. p. 326.

though

114

1777.

though the agreement of the languages of people living 1777. diftant from each other, may be affumed as a ftrong January. argument for their having forung from one common fource; difagreement of language is by no means a proof of the contrary *.

However, we must have a far more intimate acquaintance with the languages spoken here and in the more Northern parts of New Holland, before we can be warranted to pronounce that they are totally different. Nay, we have good grounds for the opposite opinion; for we found that the animal called kangooroo at Endeavour river, was known under the fame name here; and I need not observe, that it is fcarcely possible to suppose that this was not transmitted from one another, but accidentally adopted by two nations, differing in language and extraction. Belides, as it feems very improbable that the Van Diemen's Land inhabitants should have ever lost the use of canoes or failing veffels, if they had been originally conveyed thither by fea, we must necessarily admit that they, as well as the kangooroo itself, have been

* The ingenious Author of Récherches fur les Americains, illuftrates the grounds of this affertion in the following fatisfactory manner: "C'eft quelque chofe de furprenant, que la foule des "idiomes, tous variés entr'eux, que parlent les naturels de "l'Amérique Septentrionale. Qu'on réduife ces idiomes à des "racines, qu'on les fimplifie, qu'on en fépare les dialectes & les "jargons derivés, il en refulte toujours cinq ou fix langues-meres, "refpedivement incomprehenfibles. On a obfervé la même "fingularité dans la Siberie & la Tartarie, où le nombre des "idiomes, & des dialectes, ett également multiplicit, & rien n'eft "plus commun, que d'y voir deux hordes voifines qui ne fe com-"prennent point. On rétrouve cette même multiplicité de jargons "dans toutes les Provinces de l'Amérique Méridionale." [He might alfo have included Africa.] "Il y a beaucoup d'appa-"rence que la wie fauvage, en difperfant les hommes par petites "troupes ifolés dans des bois épais, occafione néteffairement cette " grande diverfité des langues, dont le nombre diminue à méture " que la fociété, en raffemblant les barbares vagabonds, en forme " un corps de nation. Alors l'idiome le plus riche, ou le moins " un corps de nation. Alors l'idiome le plus riche, ou le moins " pauvre en mots, devient dominant, & abforbe les autres." Tom. i. p. 159, 160.

I 2

ftragglers

.1777. January.

ftragglers by land from the more Northern parts of the country. And if there be any force in this obfervation, while it traces the origin of the people, it will, at the fame time, ferve to fix another point, if Captain Cook and Captain Furneaux have not already decided it, that New Holland is no where totally divided by the fea into iflands, as fome have imagined *.

As the New Hollanders feem all to be of the fame extraction, fo neither do I think there is any thing peculiar in them. On the contrary, they much refemble many of the inhabitants whom I have feen at the iflands Tanna and Manicola. Nay, there is even fome foundation for hazarding a fuppolition, that they may have originally come from the fame place with all the inhabitants of the South Sea. For, of only about ten words which we could get from them, that which exprefies cold, differs little from that of New Zealand and Otaheite; the first being Mallareede, the fecond Makka'reede, and the third Ma'reede. The reft of our very fcanty Van Diemen's Land Vocabulary is as follows:

Quadne,	A woman.
Eve'rai,	The eye.
Muidje,	The nose.
Ka'my,	The teeth, mouth, or tongue.
Lae'renne,	A small bird, a native of the woods
	bere,
Koy'gee,	The ear.
No'onga,	Elevated fcars on the body.
Teegera,	To eat.
Toga'rago,	I must be gone, or, I will go.

Their pronunciation is not difagreeable, but rather quick; though not more fo than is that

• Dampier seems to be of this opinion. Vol. iii. p. 104. 125. of of other nations of the South Sea; and, if we 1777. may depend upon the affinity of languages as a January. clue to guide us in discovering the origin of nations, I have no doubt but we shall find, on a diligent inquiry, and when opportunities offer to collect accurately a fufficient number of these words, and to compare them, that all the people from New Holland, Eastward to Easter Island, have been derived from the fame common root *."

CHAP.

^{*} We find Mr. Anderfon's notions on this fubject conformable to thole of Mr. Mariden, who has remarked, " that one gene-" ral language prevailed (however mutilated and changed in the " sourle of time) throughout all this portion of the world, from " Madagafcar to the most distant discoveries Eastward ; of which " the Malay is a dialect, much corrupted or refined by a mix-" ture of other tongues. This very extensive fimilarity of lan-"ture of other tongues. This very extended milliarity of lan-"guage indicates a common origin of the inhabitants; but the "circumflances and progrefs of their feparation are wrapped in "the darkeft veil of obfcurity." *Hiffory of Sumatra*, p. 35. See alfo his very curious paper, read before the Society of An-tiquaries, and published in their *Archaeologia*, Vol. vi. p. 155; where his femiments on this fubject are explained more at large, where the study was a compresenting where

and illustrated by two Tables of corresponding Words.

CHAP. VII.

The Passage from Van Diemen's Land to New Zealand. — Employments in Queen Charlotte's Sound.—Transactions with the Natives there.— Intelligence about the Massacre of the Adventure's Boat's Crew.—Account of the Chief who headed the Party on that Occasion.—Of the two young Men who embark to attend Omai. — Various Remarks on the Inhabitants.—Aftronomical and Nautical Observations.

January. Thurf. 30. A T eight o'clock in the morning of the 30th Weft, we weighed anchor, and put to fea from Adventure Bay. Soon after, the wind veered to the Southward, and increased to a perfect florm: Its fury abated in the evening, when it veered to the Eaft and North Eaft.

This gale was indicated by the barometer, for the wind no fooner began to blow, than the mercury in the tube began to fall. Another remarkable thing attended the coming on of this wind, which was very faint at firft. It brought with it a degree of heat that was almost intolerable. The mercury in the thermometer rofe, as it were inftantaneously, from about 70° to near 90°. This heat was of fo short a continuance, that it feemed to be wasted away before the breeze that brought it, fo that fome on board did not perceive it.

We

We purfued our course to the Eastward, "without meeting with any thing worthy of note, till February, the night between the 6th and 7th of February, Friday 7. when a marine belonging to the Discovery fell over-board, and was never seen afterward. This was the second missfortune of the kind that had happened to Captain Clerke fince he left England.

On the 10th, at four in the afternoon, we dif-Mond. 10. covered the land of New Zealand. The part we faw proved to be Rock's Point, and bore South Eaft by South, about eight or nine leagues diftant. During this run from Van Diemen's Land, the wind, for the first four or five days, was at North East, North, and North North West, and blew, for the most part, a gentle breeze. It afterward veered to South East, where it remained twenty-four hours. It then came to West and South West; in which points it continued, with very little deviation, till we reached New Zealand.

After making the land, I fteered for Cape Farewell, which at day-break, the next morning, Tuefd. 17. bore South by Weft, diffant about four leagues. At eight o'clock, it bore South Weft by South, about five leagues diffant, and, in this fituation, we had forty-five fathoms water over a fandy bottom. In rounding the Cape we had fifty fathoms, and the fame fort of bottom.

I now fteered for Stephen's Ifland, which we Wedn. 12. came up with at nine o'clock at night; and at ten, next morning, anchored in our old ftation, in Queen Charlotte's Sound *. Unwilling to lofe any time, our operations commenced that very afternoon, when we landed a number of empty watercafks, and began to clear a place where we might fet up the two obfervatories, and tents for the re-

* See the Chart of Queen Charlotte's Sound, in Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. ii. p. 385.

ception

root ception of a guard, and of fuch of our people rebruary. whole bufinels might make it neceffary for them to remain on fhore.

We had not been long at anchor before feveral canoes, filled with natives, came along-fide of the ships; but very few of them would venture on board; which appeared the more extraordinary, as I was well known to them all. There was one man in particular amongst them, whom I had treated with remarkable kindness, during the whole of my flay when I was laft here. Yet now, neither professions of friendship, nor presents, could prevail upon him to come into the fhip. This flynefs was to be accounted for only upon this fuppolition, that they were apprehensive we had revifited their country, in order to revenge the death of Captain Furneaux's people. Seeing Omai on board my fhip now, whom they must have remembered to have feen on board the Adventure when the melancholy affair happened, and whole first convertation with them, as they approached, generally turned on that fubject, they must be well affured that I was no longer a ftranger to it. - I thought it necessary, therefore, to use every endeavour to affure them of the continuance of my friendship, and that I should not disturb them on that account. I do not know whether this had any weight with them; but certain it is, that they very foon laid afide all manner of reftraint and diftruft.

Thurf. 13. On the 13th we fet up two tents, one from each fhip; on the fame fpot where we had pitched them formerly. The observatories were at the fame time erected; and Meffis. King and Bayly began their operations immediately, to find the rate of the time-keeper, and to make other observations. The remainder of the empty water-cafks were 2 also

alfo fent on fhore, with the cooper to trim, 11777. and a fufficient number of failors to fill them, February. Two men were appointed to brew fpruce beer; and the carpenter and his crew were ordered to cut wood. A boat, with a party of men, under the direction of one of the mates, was fent to collect grass for our cattle; and the people that remained on board were employed in refitting the fhip, and arranging the provisions. In this manner, we were all profitably bufied during our flay. For the protection of the party on fhore, I appointed a guard of ten marines, and ordered arms for all the workmen; and Mr. King, and two or three petty officers, conftantly remained with A boat was never fent to any confiderable them. diftance from the fhips without being armed, and under the direction of fuch officers as I could depend upon, and who were well acquainted with the natives. During my former vifits to this country, I had never taken fome of these precautions; nor were they, I firmly believe, more neceflary now than they had been formerly. But after the tragical fate of the Adventure's boat's crew in this found, and of Captain Marion du Freine, and of fome of his people, in the Bay of Iflands*, it was impoffible totally to diveft ourfelves of all apprehenfion of experiencing a fimilar calamity.

If the natives entertained any sufficient of our revenging these acts of barbarity, they very soon laid it as for, during the course of this day, a great number of families came from different parts of the coast, and took up their residence close to us; so that there was not a spot in the cove where a hut could be put up, that was not occupied by them, except the place where we had fixed

* In 1772.

our

1777. February.

our little encampment. This they left us in quiet poffeffion of; but they came and took away the ruins of fome old huts that were there, as materials for their new erections.

It is curious to obferve with what facility they build these occasional places of abode. I have feen above twenty of them erected on a fpot of ground, that, not an hour before, was covered with fhrubs and plants. They generally bring fome part of the materials with them; the reft they find upon the premifes. I was prefent when a number of people landed, and built one of these villages. The moment the canoes reached the flore, the men leaped out, and at once took poffeffion of a piece of ground, by tearing up the plants and fhrubs, or flicking up fome part of the framing of a hut. They then returned to their canoes, and fecured their weapons, by fetting them up against a tree, or placing them in fuch a polition, that they could be laid hold of in an inftant. I took particular notice that no one neglected this precaution. While the men were employed in raifing the huts, the women were not idle. Some were stationed to take care of the canoes; others to fecure the provisions, and the few utenfils in their poffeffion; and the reft went to gather dry flicks, that a fire might be prepared for dreffing their victuals. As to the children, I kept them, as alfo fome of the more aged, fufficiently occupied in fcrambling for beads, till I had emptied my pockets, and then I left them.

These temporary habitations are abundantly fufficient to afford shelter from the wind and rain, which is the only purpose they are meant to anfwer. I observed that, generally, if not always, the same tribe or family, though it were ever so large, affociated and built together; so that we frequently frequently faw a village, as well as their larger 1777. towns, divided into different diffricts, by low pal. February. lifades, or fome fimilar mode of feparation.

The advantage we received from the natives coming to live with us, was not inconfiderable. For, every day, when the weather would permit. fome of them went out to catch fifh; and we generally got, by exchanges, a good fhare of the produce of their labours. This supply, and what our own nets and lines afforded us, was fo ample, that we feldom were in want of fifh. Nor was there any deficiency of other refreshments. Celery, fcurvy-grafs, and portable foup were boiled with the peafe and wheat, for both thips companies, every day during our whole ftay; and they had fpruce-beer for their drink. So that, if any of our people had contracted the feeds of the fcurvy, fuch a regimen foon removed them. But the truth is, when we arrived here, there were only two invalids (and these on board the Resolution) upon the fick lifts in both fhips.

Befides the natives who took up their abode close to us, we were occasionally visited by others of them, whole relidence was not far off; and by fome who lived more remote. Their articles of commerce were, curiofities, fifh, and women. The two first always came to a good market; which the latter did not. The feamen had taken a kind of diflike to thefe people; and were either unwilling, or afraid, to affociate with them; which produced this good effect, that I knew no inftance of a man's quitting his flation, to go to their habitations.

A connection with women I allow, becaufe I cannot prevent it; but never encourage, because I always dread its confequences. I know, indeed, that many men are of opinion, that fuch an intercourfe

1777.

courfe is one of our greateft fecurities amongst February. lavages; and perhaps they who, either from neceffity or choice, are to remain and fettle with them, may find it fo. But with travellers and transient visiters, such as we were, it is generally otherwife; and, in our fituation, a connection with their women betrays more men than it faves. What elfe can be reafonably expected, fince all their views are felfish, without the least mixture of regard or attachment? My own experience, at leaft, which hath been pretty extensive, hath not pointed out to me one inftance to the contrary.

> Amongst onr occasional visiters, was a chief named Kahoora, who, as I was informed, headed the party that cut off Captain Furneaux's people, and himfelf killed Mr. Rowe, the officer who commanded. To judge of the character of Kahoora, by what I heard from many of his countrymen, he feemed to be more feared than beloved amongft them. Not fatisfied with telling me that he was a very bad man, fome of them even importuned me to kill him : and, I believe, they were not a little furprifed that I did not liften to them; for, according to their ideas of equity, this ought to have been done. But if I had followed the advice of all our pretended friends, I might have extirpated the whole race; for the people of each hamlet or village, by turns, applied to me to deftroy the other. One would have almost thought it imposfible, that fo striking a proof of the divided state in which this miferable people live, could have been affigned. And yet I was fure that I did not milconceive the meaning of those who made these ftrange applications to me; for Omai, whole language was a dialect of their own, and perfectly underftood all that they faid, was our interpreter.

On

On the 15th, I made an excursion in my boat to look for grafs, and visited the Hippah, or fortified February. village, at the South Weft point of Motuara, and the places where our gardens had been planted on that island. There were no people at the former; but the houses and pallisades had been rebuilt, and were now in a state of good repair; and there were other evident marks of its having been inhabited not long before. It would be unneceffary, at prefent, to give a particular account of this Hippah, sufficient notice having been taken of it in the Account of my first Voyage, to which I refer *.

When the Adventure arrived first at Queen Charlotte's Sound, in 1773+, Mr. Bayly, fixed upon this place for making his observations; and he, and the people with him, at their leifure hours, planted feveral spots with English garden feeds. Not the least veftige of these now remained. It is probable that they had been all rooted out to make room for buildings, when the village was reinhabited; for, at all the other gardens then planted by Captain Furneaux, although now wholly over-run with the weeds of the country, we found cabbages, onions, leeks, purflain, radifhes, muftard, &c. and a few potatoes. These potatoes, which were first brought from the Cape of Good Hope, had been greatly improved by change of foil; and, with proper cultivation, would be fuperior to those produced in most other countries. Though the New Zealanders are fond of this root, it was evident that they had not taken the trouble to plant a fingle one when the structure of the articles which we had introduced); and if it were not for the difficulty

of

^{*} Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. ii. p. 395, &c.

⁷ Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 120.

r777. of clearing ground where potatoes had been once February. planted, there would not have been any now remaining.

Sund. 16. On the 16th, at day-break, I fet out with a party of men, in five boats, to collect food for our cattle. Captain Clerke, and feveral of the officers, Omai, and two of the natives, accompanied me. We proceeded about three leagues up the found, and then landed on the Eaft fide, at a place where I had formerly been. Here we cut as much grafs as loaded the two launches.

As we returned down the found, we vifited Grafs Cove, the memorable fcene of the Maffacre of Captain Furneaux's people. Here I met with my old friend Pedro, who was almost continually with me the last time I was in this found, and is mentioned in my Hiftory of that Voyage *. He, and another of his countrymen, received us on the beach, armed with the pa-too and spear. Whether this form of reception was a mark of their courtefy or of their fear, I cannot fay; but I thought they betrayed manifest figns of the latter. However, if they had any apprehensions, a few prefents foon removed them, and brought down to the beach two or three more of the family; but the greatest part of them remained out of fight.

Whilft we were at this place, our curiofity prompted us to inquire into the circumftances attending the melancholy fate of our countrymen; and Omai was made use of as our interpreter for this purpose. Pedro, and the rest of the natives present, answered all the questions that were-put to them on the subject, without referve, and like men who are under no dread of punishment for a

* Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 158, 159.

crime

crime of which they are not guilty. For we already knew that none of them had been concern-February. ed in the unhappy transaction. They told us, that while our people were fitting at dinner, furrounded by feveral of the natives, fome of the latter stole, or snatched from them, some bread and fifh, for which they were beat. This being refented, a quarrel enfued, and two New Zealanders were fhot dead, by the only two mufquets that were fired. For before our people had time to discharge a third, or to load again those that had been fired, the natives rushed in upon them, overpowered them with their numbers, and put them all to death. Pedro and his companions, befides relating the hiftory of the maffacre, made us acquainted with the very fpot that was the fcene of it. It is at the corner of the cove on the righthand. They pointed to the place of the fun, to mark to us at what hour of the day it happened; and, according to this, it must have been late in the afternoon. They also shewed us the place where the boat lay; and it appeared to be about two hundred yards diftant from that where the crew were feated. One of their number, a black fervant of Captain Furneaux, was left in the boat to take care of her.

We were afterward told that this black was the caufe of the quarrel, which was faid to have happened thus: One of the natives flealing fomething out of the boat, the Negro gave him a fevere blow with a flick. The cries of the fellow being heard by his countrymen at a diftance, they imagined he was killed, and immediately began the attack on our people; who, before they had time to reach the boat, or to arm themfelves against the unexpected impending danger, fell a facrifice to the fury of their favage affailants.

1777.

127

The

1777. February.

The first of these accounts, was confirmed by the teftimony of many of the natives, whom we conversed with, at different times, and who, I think, could have no intereft in deceiving us. The fecond manner of relating the transaction, refts upon the authority of the young New Zealander, who choie to abandon his country and go away with us, and who, confequently, could have no poffible view in difguifing the truth. All agreeing that the quarrel happened when the boat's crew were fitting at their meal, it is highly probable that both the accounts are true, as they perfectly coincide. For we may very naturally fuppole, that while fome of the natives were ftealing from the man who had been left in the boat, others of them might take the fame liberties with the property of our people who were on fhore.

Be this as it will, all agree, that the quarrel first took its rife from fome thefts, in the commission of which the natives were detected. All agree, alfo, that there was no premeditated plan of bloodshed, and that, if these theses had not been, unfortunately, too haftily refented, no mifchief would have happened. For Kahoora's greateft enemies, those who folicited his destruction most carneftly, at the fame time confeffed that he had no intention to quarrel, much lefs to kill, till the fray had actually commenced. It also appears that the unhappy victims were under no fort of apprehenfion of their fate; otherwife they never would have ventured to fit down to a repart at fo confiderable a diftance from their boat, amongst people. who were the next moment to be their murderers." What became of the boat I never could learn. Some faid the was pulled to pieces and burnt; others told us that fhe was carried, they knew not whither, by a party of ftrangers.

We

We flayed here till the evening, when, having 1777. loaded the reft of the boats with grafs, celery, fcurvy-grafs, &c. we embarked to return to the thips. We had prevailed upon Pedro to launch his canoe, and accompany us; but we had fcarcely put off from the fhore, when the wind began to blow very hard at North Weft, which obliged him to put back. We proceeded ourfelves, but it was with a good deal of difficulty that we could reach the fhips; where fome of the boats did not arrive till one o'clock the next morning; and it was for-Mond. 17. tunate that they got on board then, for it afterward blew a perfect ftorm, with abundance of rain, fo that no manner of work could go forward that day. In the evening the gale ceafed, and the wind having veered to the Eaft, brought with it fair weather.

The next day we refumed our works; the na-Tuefd. 18. tives ventured out to catch fifh; and Pedro, with all his family, came and took up his abode near us. This Chief's proper name is Matahouah; the other being given him by fome of my people during my last Voyage, which I did not know till now. He was, however, equally well known amongst his countrymen by both names.

On the 20th, in the forenoon, we had another Thurf. 20. ftorm from the North Weft. Though this was not of fo long continuance as the former, the gufts of wind from the hills were far more violent, infomuch that we were obliged to ftrike the yards and top-mafts to the very utmost; and, even with all this precaution, it was with difficulty that we rode it out. These storms are very frequent here, and fometimes violent and troublefome. The neighbouring mountains, which at these times are always loaded with vapours, not only increase the force of the wind, but alter its direction in Κ fuch Vol. I.

fuch a manner, that no two blafts follow each other 1777. February. from the fame quarter; and the nearer the fhore, the more their effects are felt.

The next day we were visited by a tribe or family, confifting of about thirty perfons, men, women, and children, who came from the upper part of the Sound. I had never feen them be-The name of their Chief was Tomatonfore. geauooranuc; a man of about forty-five years of age, with a cheerful open countenance. And, indeed, the reft of his tribe were, in general, the handfomeft of the New Zealand race I had ever met with.

By this time more than two-thirds of the inhabitants of the Sound had fettled themselves about us. Great numbers of them daily frequented the fhips, and the encampment on fhore: but the latter became, by far, the most favourite place of refort, while our people there were melting fome feal blubber. No Greenlander was ever fonder of train-oil, than our friends here feem to be. They relished the very skimmings of the kettle, and dregs of the cafks; but a little of the pure flinking oil was a delicious feaft, fo eagerly defired, that I supposed it is feldom enjoyed.

Having got on board as much hay and grafs as we judged fufficient to ferve the cattle till our arrival at Otaheite, and having completed the wood Sunday23. and water of both ships, on the 23d we struck our tents, and carried every thing off from the Mond. 24 fhore; and next morning we weighed anchor, and ftood out of the Cove. But the wind not being very fair, and finding that the tide of ebb would be spent before we could get out of the Sound, we caft anchor again a little without the ifland Motuara, to wait for a more favourable opportunity of putting into the ftrait.

W hile

While we were unmooring and getting under 1777fail, Tomatongeauooranuc, Matahouah, and ma-February. ny more of the natives, came to take their leave of us, or rather to obtain, if they could, fome additional prefent from us before we left them. These two Chiefs became fuitors to me for some goats, and hogs. Accordingly, I gave to Matahouah two goats, amale and female with kid; and to Tomatongeauooranuc two pigs, a boar and a fow. They made me a promife not to kill them; though I must own I put no great faith in this. The animals which Captain Furneaux fent on fhore here, and which foon after fell into the hands of the natives, I was now told were all dead; but I could get no intelligence about the fate of those I had left in West Bay, and in Cannibal Cove, when I was here in the course of my last Voyage. However, all the natives whom I converfed with, agreed, that poultry are now to be met with wild in the woods behind Ship Cove; and I was afterward informed, by the two youths who went away with us, that Tiratou, a popular Chief amongst them, had a great many cocks and hens in his feparate possession, and one of the fows.

On my prefent arrival at this place, I fully intended to have left not only goats and hogs, but fheep, and a young bull, with two heifers, if I could have found either a Chief powerful enough to protect and keep them, or a place where there might be a probability of their being concealed from thole who would ignorantly attempt to deftroy them. But neither the one nor the other prefented itfelf to me. Tiratou was now abfent; and Tringoboohee, whom I had met with during my laft Voyage *, and who feemed to be a perfon of much confequence at that time, had been kill-

* See Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 157.

K 2

eđ

ed five months ago, with about feventy perfons 1777. February. of his tribe; and I could not learn that there now remained in our neighbourhood any tribe, whole numbers could fecure to them a fuperiority of power over the reft of their countrymen. Τo have given the animals to any of the natives who poffeffed no fuch power, would not have answered the intention. For in a country like this, where no man's property is fecure, they would foon have fallen a prey to different parties, and been either feparated or killed; but most likely both. This was to evident, from what we had obferved fince our arrival, that I had refolved to leave no kind of animal, till Matahouah and the other Chief folicited me for the hogs and goats. As I could fpare them, I let them go, to take their chance. I have, at different times, left in New Zealand, no lefs than ten or a dozen hogs, befides those put on shore by Captain Furneaux. It will be a little extraordinary, therefore, if this race should not increase and be preferved here, either in a wild or in a domeftic ftate, or in both.

> We had not been long at anchor near Motuara, before three or four canoes, filled with natives, came off to us from the South Eaft fide of the Sound; and a brifk trade was carried on with them for the curiofities of this place. In one of these canoes was Kahoora, whom I have already mentioned as the leader of the party who cut off the crew of the Adventurer's boat. This was the third time he had vifited us, without betraying the imalleft appearance of fear. I was ashore when he now arrived, but had got on board just as he was going away. Omai, who had returned with me, prefently pointed him out, and folicited me to fhoot him. Not fatisfied with this, he addreffed himfelf to Kahoora, threatening

ing to be his executioner, if ever he prefumed to 1777. vifit us again.

The New Zealander paid fo little regard to thefe threats, that he returned, the next morning, with Tuefd. 25. his whole family, men, women, and children, to the number of twenty and upwards. Omai was the first who acquainted me with his being alongfide the fhip, and defired to know if he fhould afk him to come on board. I told him he might: and accordingly he introduced the Chief into the cabin, faying, " There is Kahoora; kill him!" But, as if he had forgot his former threats, or were afraid, that I fhould call upon him to perform them, he immediately retired. In a fhort time, however, he returned; and feeing the Chief unhurt, he expoftulated with me very earneftly, faying, "Why do you not kill him? You tell "me, if a man kills another in England, that " he is hanged for it. This man has killed ten, " and yet you will not kill him; though many " of his countrymen defire it, and it would be " very good." Omai's arguments, though fpecious enough, having no weight with me, I defired him to ask the Chief, why he had killed Captain Furneaux's people? At this queftion, Kahoora folded his arms, hung down his head, and looked like one caught in a trap: And, I firmly believe, he expected inftant death. But no fooner was he affured of his fafety, than he became cheerful. He did not, however, feem willing to give me an answer to the question that had been put to him, till I had, again and again, repeated my promife that he should not be hurt. Then he ventured to tell us, That one of his countrymen having brought a ftone hatchet to barter, the man to whom it was offered, took it, and would neither return it, nor give any thing for it; on which the owner of it fnatched up the

1777. the bread as an equivalent; and then the quarrel February began.

The remainder of Kahoora's account of this unhappy affair, differed very little from what we had before learnt, from the reft of his countrymen. He mentioned the narrow efcape he had, during the fray, a mulquet being levelled at him, which he avoided by fkulking behind the boat; and another man, who ftood clofe to him, was fhot dead. As foon as the mulquet was difcharged, he infantly feized the opportunity to attack Mr. Rowe, who commanded the party, and who defended himfelf with his hanger (with which he wounded Kahoora in the arm), till he was overpowered by numbers.

Mr. Burney, who was fent by Captain Furneaux the next day *, with an armed party, to look for his mifling people, upon difcovering the horrid proofs of their shocking fate, had fired several vollies amongst the crowds of natives who still remained affembled on the fpot, and were, probably, partaking of the deteftable banquet. It was natural to suppose that he had not fired in vain; and that, therefore, fome of the murderers and devourers of our unhappy countrymen had fuffered under our just refentment. Upon inquiry, however, into this matter, not only from Kahoora, but from others who had opportunities of knowing, it appeared that our fuppolition was groundlefs, and that not one of the flot fired by Mr. Burney's people had taken effect, to as to kill, or even to burt, a fingle perfon.

It was evident, that most of the natives we had met with fince our arrival, as they knew I was fully acquainted with the history of the massacre,

* See his Narrative. Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 255-259. expected

expected I should avenge it with the death of 1777. Kahoora. And many of them feemed not only February. to wifh it, but expressed their surprize at my forbearance. As he could not be ignorant of this, it was a matter of wonder to me, that he put himfelf to often in my power. When he vifited us while the fhips lay in the Cove, confiding in the number of his friends that accompanied him, he might think himfelf fafe. But his two laft visits had been made under such circumstances, that he could no longer rely upon this. We were then at anchor in the entrance of the Sound. and at fome diftance from any fhore; fo that he could not have any affiftance from thence, nor flatter himfelf he could have the means of making his efcape, had I determined to detain him. And yet, after his first fears, on being interrogated, were over, he was to far from entertaining any uneafy fenfations, that, on feeing a portrait of one of his countrymen hanging up in the cabin, he defired to have his own portrait drawn; and fat till Mr. Webber had finished it, without marking the leaft impatience. I must confess, I admired his courage, and was not a little pleafed to observe the extent of the confidence he put in me. For he placed his whole fafety in the declarations I had uniformly made to those who folicited his death, That I had always been a friend to them all, and would continue fo, unlefs they gave me caufe to act otherwife; that as to their inhuman treatment of our people, I should think no more of it, the transaction having happened long ago, and when I was not prefent; but that, if ever they made a fecond attempt of that kind, they might reft affured of feeling the weight of my refentment.

For fome time before we arrived at New Zealand, Omai had expressed a defire to take one of the natives with him to his own country. We

We had not been there many days, before he February had an opportunity of being gratified in this; for a youth about feventeen or eighteen years of age, named Taweiharooa, offered to accompany him; and took up his refidence on board. I paid little attention to this at first, imagining that he would leave us when we were about to depart, and after he had got what he could from Omai. At length, finding thas he was fixed in his refolution to go with us, and having learnt that he was the only fon of a deceafed Chief, and that his mother, still living, was a woman much respected here, I was apprehensive that Omai had deceived him and his friends. by giving them hopes and affurances of his being fent back. I therefore cauled it to be made known to them all, that if the young man went away with us, he would never return. But this declaration feemed to make no fort of impreffion. The afternoon before we left the Cove. Tiratoutou, his mother, came on board, to receive her last present from Omai. The same evening, the and Taweiharooa parted, with all the marks of tender affection that might be expected between a parent and a child, who were never to meet again. But the faid the would cry no more; and, fure enough, the kept her word. For when fhe returned the next morning, to take her laft farewell of him, all the time fhe was on board fhe remained quite cheerful, and went away wholly unconcerned.

> That Taweiharooa might be fent away in a manner becoming his birth, another youth was to have gone with him as his fervant; and, with this view, as we supposed, he remained on board till we were about to fail, when his friends took him afhore. However, hisplace was supplied, next morning, by another, a boy of about nine or ten years of

age,

age, named Kokoa. He was prefented to me by his own father, who, I believe, would have parted February. with his dog with far lefs indifference. The very little clothing the boy had, he ftripped him of, and left him as naked as he was born. It was to no purpofe that I endeavoured to convince thefe people of the improbability, or rather of the impofibility, of thefe youths ever returning home. Not one, not even their neareft relations, feemed to trouble themfelves about their future fate. Since this was the cafe, and I was well fatisfied that the boys would be no lofers by exchange of place, I the more readily gave my confent to their going.

From my own obfervations, and from the in-formation of Taweiharooa and others, it appears to me that the New Zealanders muft live under perpetual apprehensions of being deftroyed by each other; there being few of their tribes that have not, as they think, fuftained wrongs from fome other tribe, which they are continually upon the watch to revenge. And, perhaps, the defire of a good meal may be no fmall incitement. I am told that many years will fometimes elaple, before a favourable opportunity happens, and that the fon never lofes fight of an injury that has been done to Their method of executing their horhis father. rible defigns, is by ftealing upon the adverse party in the night; and if they find them unguarded (which, however, I believe, is very feldom the cafe), they kill every one indiferiminately; not even fparing the women and children. When the maffacre is completed, they either feaft and gorge themfelves on the fpot, or carry off as many of the dead bodies as they can, and devour them at home, with acts of brutality too flocking to be defcribed. If they are difcovered before they can execute their bloody purpole, they generally steal off again; and fome-

1777.

fometimes are purfued and attacked by the other February. party, in their turn. To give quarter, or to take prifoners, makes no part of their military law : fo that the vanquished can only fave their lives by This perpetual flate of war, and deftrucflight. tive method of conducting it, operates fo ftrongly in producing habitual circumfpection, that one hardly ever finds a New Zealander off his guard, either by night or by day. Indeed, no other man can have fuch powerful motives to be vigilant, as the prefervation both of body and of foul depends upon it. For, according to their fyftem of belief, the foul of the man whole flesh is devoured by the enemy, is doomed to a perpetual fire, while the foul of the man whole body has been releved from thole who killed him, as well as the fouls of all who die a natural death, afcend to the habitations of the I asked, Whether they eat the flesh of such Gods. of their friends as had been killed in war, but whole bodies were faved from falling into the enemy's hands? They feemed furprifed at the queftion, which they answered in the negative, expressing fome abhorrence at the very idea. Their common method of difpoling of their dead, is by depoliting their bodies in the earth; but if they have more of their flaughtered enemies than they can eat, they throw them into the fea.

They have no fuch thing as morais, or other places of public worfhip; nor do they ever affemble together with this view. But they have Priefts. who alone address the Gods in prayers, for the profperity of their temporal affairs; fuch an enterprife against a hostile tribe, a fishing party, or the like.

Whatever the principles of their religion may be, of which we remain very ignorant, its inftructions are very ftrongly inculcated into them from their their very infancy. Of this I faw a remarkable 1777. instance, in the youth who was first destined to February. accompany Taweiharooa. He refrained from eating the greatest part of the day, on account of his hair being cut; though every method was tried to induce him to break his refolution; and he was tempted with the offer of fuch victuals as he was known to effeem the moft. He faid, if he eat any thing that day, the Eatooa would kill him. However, towards evening, the cravings of nature got the better of the precepts of his religion, and he eat, though but sparingly. I had often conjectured, 'before this, that they had fome fuperflitious notions about their hair, having frequently observed quantities of it tied to the branches of trees near fome of their habitations; but what these notions are, I never could learn.

Notwithstanding the divided and hostile state in which the New Zealanders live, travelling ftrangers, who come with no ill defign, are well received and entertained during their ftay; which, however, it is expected, will be no longer than is requifite to transact the business they come upon. Thus it is that a trade for poenammoo, or green tale, is carried on throughout the whole northern island. For they tell us, that there is none of this ftone to be found, but at a place which bears its name, for the evidence about the head of Queen Charlotte's Sound, and not above one or two days journey, at most, from the flation of our fhips. I regretted much that I could not fpare time fufficient for paying a vifit to the place; as we were told a hundred fabulous ftories about this stone, not one of which carried with it the leaft probability of truth, though fome of their most fensible men would have us believe them. One of these ftories is, that this ftone is originally a fifh, which they ftrike with a gig in the

1777. February.

the water, tie a rope to it, and drag it to the fhore, to which they faften it, and it afterward becomes ftone. As they all agree, that it is fifted out of

a large lake, or collection of waters, the moft probable conjecture is, that it is brought from the mountains, and deposited in the water, by the torrents. This lake is called by the natives *Tavai Poenammoo*; that is, the water of Green Talc; and it is only the adjoining part of the country, and not the whole Southern island of New Zealand, that is known to them by the name which hath been given to it on my chart *.

Polygamy, is allowed amongft these people; and it is not uncommon for a man to have two or three wives. The women are marriageable at a very early age; and it should seem, that one who is unmarried, is but in a forlorn state. She can with difficulty get a substitution of the state of the state of the great measure, without a protector, though in constant want of a powerful one.

The New Zealanders feem to be a people perfectly fatisfied with the little knowledge they are mafters of, without attempting, in the leaft, to improve it. Nor are they remarkably curious, either in their obfervations, or their inquiries. New objects do not firike them with fuch a degree of furprife as one would naturally expect; nor do they even fix their attention for a moment. Omai, indeed, who was a great favourite with them, would fometimes attract a circle about him; but they feemed to liften to his fpeeches, like perfons who neither underflood, nor wifned to underfland, what they heard.

One day, on our inquiring of Taweiharooa, how many fhips, fuch as ours, had ever arrived in Queen

* See Captain Cook's Chart of New Zealand, in Hawkef. Coll. vol. ii. p. 281.

Charlotte's

Charlotte's Sound, or in any part of its neighbour-1777. hood? He began with giving an account of one February. absolutely unknown to us. This, he faid, had put into a port on the North Weft coaft of Teerawitte, but a very few years before I arrived in the Sound in the Endeavour, which the New Zealanders diftinguish, by calling Tupia's ship. At first, I thought he might have been miftaken as to the time and place; and that the fhip in queftion might be either Monfieur Surville's, who is faid to have touched upon the North East coast of Eaheinomauwe, the fame year I was there in the Endeavour; or elfe Monfieur Marion du Frefne's, who was in the Bay of Islands, on the fame coaft, a few years after. But he affured us, that he was not miftaken, either as to the time, or as to the place of this ship's arrival; and that it was well known to every body about Queen Charlotte's Sound and Teerawitte. He faid, that the Captain of her, during his ftay here, cohabited with a woman of the country; and that fhe had a fon by him ftill living, and about the age of Kokoa; who, though not born then, feemed to be equally well acquainted with the ftory. We were also informed by Taweiharooa, that this ship first introduced the venereal disease amongst the New Zealanders. I with that fublequent vifiters from Europe may not have their thare of guilt, in leaving fo dreadful a remembrance of them amongft this unhappy race. The diforder now is but too common here's though they do not feem to regard it; faying, that its effects are not near fo pernicious at prefent, as they were at its first ap-The only method, as far as I ever pearance. heard, that they make use of as a remedy, is by giving the patient the use of a fort of hot bath, which they produce by the fteam of certain green plants laid over hot ftones.

I regretted

1777.

I regretted much that we did not hear of this ship February. while we were in the Sound; as, by means of Omai, we might have had full and correct information about her from eye-witneffes. For Taweiharooa's account was only from what he had been told, and therefore liable to many miftakes. I have not the leaft doubt, however, that his teftimony may fo far be depended upon, as to induce us to believe, that a fhip really had been at Teerawitte prior to my arrival in the Endeavour, as it corresponds with what I had formerly heard. For in the latter end of 1773, the fecond time I vifited New Zealand, during my last voyage, when we were continually making inquiries about the Adventure, after our feparation, some of the natives informed us of a fhip's having been in a port on the coaft of Teerawitte. But, at that time, we thought we must have mifunderstood them, and took no notice of the intelligence.

The arrival of this unknown thip has been marked by the New Zealanders with more caufe of remembrance, than the unhappy one just men-Taweiharooa told us, their country was tioned. indebted to her people for the prefent of an animal, which they left behind them. But as he had not feen it himfelf, no fort of judgment could be formed from his description, of what kind it was.

We had another piece of intelligence from him. more correctly given, though not confirmed by our own observations, that there are fnakes and lizards there of an enormous fize. He defcribed the latter as being eight feet in length, and as big round as a man's body. He faid, they fometimes feize and devour men; that they burrow in the ground; and that they are killed by making fires at the mouths of the holes. We could not be miftaken as to the animal; for, with his own hand, he he drew a very good reprefentation of a lizard on a 1777. piece of paper; as also of a snake, in order to shew February. what he meant.

Though much has been faid, in the Narratives of my Two former Voyages, about this country and its inhabitants, Mr. Anderfon's Remarks, as ferving either to confirm or to correct our former accounts, may not be fuperfluous. He had been three times with me in Queen Charlotte's Sound, during my laft Voyage; and, after this fourth vifit, what he thought proper to record, may be confidered as the refult of fufficient obfervation. The Reader will find it in the next Chapter; and I have nothing farther to add, before I quit New Zealand, but to give fome account of the aftronomical and nautical obfervations made during our ftay there.

The Longitude of the Observato- ry in Ship Cove, by a mean of
103 fets of observations, each
fet confifting of fix or more
observed distances, was 174° 25' 15" East.
By the time-keeper, at Green-
wich rate, it was 175 26 30
By ditto, at the Cape rate, it was 174 56 12
Variation of the compais, being
the mean of fix needles, ob-
ferved on board the ship - 12 40 0 East.
By the fame needles on fhore,
it was 1353 O
The dip of the South end, ob-
ferved on shore, was 63 42 0

By a mean of the refults of eleven days obfervations, the time keeper was too flow for mean time, on February 22 at noon, by 11^h 50' 37", 396; and fhe was found to be losing on mean time, 1777. February. time, at the rate of 2",913 per day. From this rate the longitude will be computed, till fome other opportunity offers to afcertain her rate anew.

The aftronomical clock, with the fame length of pendulum as at Greenwich, was found to be losing on fidereal time 40",239 per day.

It will not be amils to mention, that the longitude, by lunar observations, as above, differs only 6' 45" from what Mr. Wales made it during my last Voyage; his being so much more to the West, or 174° 18' 30".

The latitude of Ship Cove is 41° 6' o'', as found by Mr. Wales.

CHAP.

CHAP. VIII.

Mr. Anderfon's Remarks on the Country near Queen Charlotte's Sound. — The Soil. — Climate. — Weather. — Winds. — Trees. — Plants — Birds. — Fifb. — Other Animals. — Of the Inhabitants. — Defcription of their Perfons. — Their Drefs. — Ornaments. Habitations. — Boats. — Food and Cookery. — Arts. — Weapons. — Cruelty to Prifoners. — Various Cuftoms. — Specimen of their Language.

THE land every where about Queen Charlotte's Sound is uncommonly mountainous, rifing immediately from the fea into large hills with blunted tops. At confiderable diffances are valleys, or rather imprefions on the fides of the hills, which are not deep; each terminating toward the fea in a finall cove, with a pebbly or fandy beach; behind which are finall flats, where the natives generally build their huts, at the fame time hauling their cances upon the beaches. This fituation is the more convenient, as in every cove a brook of very fine water (in which are fome finall trout) empties itfelf into the fea.

The bases of these mountains, at least toward the shore, are constituted of a brittle, yellowish fand-stone, which acquires a bluish cast, where the sea washes it. It runs, at some places, in horizontal, and, at other places, in oblique strata, being frequently divided, at small distances, by thin Vol. I. L veins 14\$

veins of coarle quartz, which commonly follow the February direction of the other; though they fometimes interfect it. The mould, or foil, which covers this, is also of a yellowish cast, not unlike marl; and is commonly from a foot to two, or more, in thickneís.

> The quality of this foil is beft indicated by the luxuriant growth of its productions. For the hills (except a few toward the fea, which are covered with fmaller bufhes) are one continued foreft of lofty trees, flourishing with a vigour almost superior to any thing that imagination can conceive, and affording an august prospect to those who are delighted with the grand and beautiful works of nature.

> The agreeable temperature of the climate, no doubt, contributes much to this uncommon ftrength in vegetation. For at this time, though answering to our month of August, the weather was never difagreeably warm; nor did it raife the thermometer higher than 66°. The winter, alfo, feems equally mild with respect to cold: for in June 1773, which corresponds to our December, the mercury never fell lower than 48°; and the trees, at that time, retained their verdure, as if in the Summer feason; so that, I believe, their foliage is never fhed, till pushed off by the fucceeding leaves in, fpring.

> The weather, in general, is good; but fometimes windy, with heavy rain; which, however, never lasts above a day, nor does it appear that it is ever excellive. For there are no marks of torrents rushing down the hills, as in many countries; and the brooks, if we may judge from their channels, feem never to be greatly increased. I have observed, in the four different times of my being here, that the winds from the South Eastward are commonly

THE PACIFIC OCEAN.

commonly moderate, but attended with cloudy 1777. weather, or rain. The South Weft winds blow February. very ftrong, and are also attended with rain; but they feldom laft long. The North Weft winds are the most prevailing; and though often pretty ftrong, are almost constantly connected with fine weather. In fhort, the only obstacle to this being one of the finest countries upon earth, is its great hillinefs; which, allowing the woods to be cleared away, would leave it lefs proper for pafturage than flat land; and still more improper for cultivation, which could never be effected here by the plough.

The large trees which cover the hills are chiefly of two forts. One of them, of the fize of our largest firs, grows much after their manner; but the leaves, and finall berries on their points, are much liker the yew. It was this which supplied the place of fpruce in making beer; which we did with a ftrong decoction of its leaves, fermented with treacle or fugar. And this liquor, when well prepared, was acknowledged to be little inferior to the American foruce beer, by those who had experience of both. The other fort of tree is not unlike a maple; and grows often to a great fize; but it only ferved for fuel, as the wood, both of this and of the preceding, was found to be rather too heavy for mafts, yards, and other fimilar repairs.

There is a greater variety of trees on the small flat fpots behind the beaches. Amongst these are two that bear a kind of plum of the fize of prunes; the one yellow, called karraca; and the other black, called maitao; but neither of them of a very agreeable tafte; though the natives eat both, and our people did the fame. Those of the first fort grow on fmall trees, always facing the fea, but

L 2

1777. but the others belong to larger trees that fland far-February. ther within the wood, and which we frequently cut down for fuel.

> A fpecies of *Philadelphus* grows on the eminences which jut out into the fea, and alfo a tree bearing flowers almost like myrtle, with roundifh fpotted leaves of a difagreeable fmell. We drank the leaves of the *Philadelphus* as tea, and found that they had a pleafant tafte and fmell, and might make an excellent fubfitute for the oriental fort.

> Among other plants that were useful to us, may be reckoned wild celery, which grows plentifully in almost every cove; especially if the natives have ever refided there before; and one that we used to call feury-grafs, though entirely different from the plant to which we give that name. This, however, is far preferable to ours for common use; and may be known by its jagged leaves, and fmall clufters of white flowers on the top. Both forts were boiled every morning, with wheat ground in a mill, and with portable foup, for the people's breakfast; and also amongst their peasefoup, for dinner. Sometimes they were used as fallad, or dreffed as greens. In all which ways they are good; and together with the fifh, with which we were conftantly fupplied, they formed a fort of refreshment, perhaps little inferior to what is to be met with in places most noted by navigators for plentiful fupplies of animal and vegetable food.

> Amongst the known kinds of plants met with here, are common and rough bindweed; nightthade and nettles, both which grow to the fize of fmall trees; a fhrubby speedwell, found near all the beaches; fow-thistles, virgin's bower, vanelloe, French

French willow, euphorbia, and crane's-bill: alfo cudweed, rushes, bull-rushes, flax, all-heal, Ame-February. rican night-shade, knot-grass, brambles, eyebright, and groundfel; but the fpecies of each are different from any we have in Europe. There is alfo polypody, fpleenwort, and about twenty other different forts of ferns, entirely peculiar to the place; with feveral forts of moffes, either rare, or produced only here; befides a great number of other plants, whole uses are not yet known, and fubiects fit only for botanical books.

Of these, however, there is one which deserves particular notice here, as the natives make their garments of it, and it produces a fine filky flax, fuperior in appearance to any thing we have; and probably, at leaft, as ftrong. It grows every where near the fea, and in fome places a confiderable way up the hills, in bunches or tufts, with fedge-like leaves, bearing, on a long stalk, yellowish flowers, which are fucceeded by a long roundifh pod, filled with very thin fhining black feeds. А ipecies of long pepper is found in great plenty; but it has little of the aromatic flavour that makes fpices valuable; and a tree much like a palm at a diftance, is pretty frequent in the woods, though the deceit appears as you come near it. It is remarkable that, as the greatest part of the trees and plants had, at this time, loft their flowers, we perceived they were generally of the berry-bearing kind; of which, and other feeds, I brought away about thirty different forts. Of these, one in particular, which bears a red berry, is much like the supple jack, and grows about the trees, stretching from one to another, in fuch a manner as to render the woods almost wholly impassable.

1777.

The

The birds, of which there is a tolerable flock, February. as well as the vegetable productions, are almost entirely peculiar to the place. And though it be difficult to follow them, on account of the quantity of underwood and the climbing plants, that render travelling, for pleafure alone, uncommonly fatiguing, yet a perfon, by remaining in one place, may shoot as many in a day as would serve fix or eight others. The principal forts are, large brown parrots, with white or greyish heads; green parroquets, with red foreheads; large wood pigeons, brown above, with white bellies, the reft green, and the bill and feet red. Two forts of cuckoos, one as large as our common fort, of a brown colour, variegated with black; the other not larger than a sparrow, of a splendid green cast above, and elegantly varied with waves of golden, green, brown, and white colours below. Both these are fcarce; but feveral others are in greater plenty; one of which, of a black colour, with a greenish cast, is remarkable for having a tust of white curled feathers hanging under the throat, and was called the Pay bird by our people. Another fort, rather finaller, is black, with a brown back and wings, and two fmall gills under the root of the This we called the small wattle bird, to difbill. tinguish it from another, which we called the large one, of the fize of a common pigeon, with two large yellow and purple membranes alfo, at the root of the bill. It is black, or rather blue, and has no refemblance of the other but in name; for the bill is thick, fhort, and crooked, and has altogether an uncommon appearance. A grofs-beak, about the fize of a thrush, of a brown colour, with a reddifh tail, is frequent; as is also a small greenifh bird, which is almost the only mulical one here.

here, but is fufficient by itfelf to fill the woods 1777. with a melody, that is not only fweet, but fo varied. February that one would imagine he was furrounded by a hundred different forts of birds, when the little warbler is near. From this circumftance we named it the mocking bird. There are likewife three or four forts of fmaller birds; one of which, in figure and tameness, exactly resembles our robin, but is black where that is brown, and white where that is red. Another differs but little from this, except in being smaller; and a third fort has a long fail, which it expands as a fan on coming near, and makes a chirping noife when it perches. Kingfifthers are feen, though rare, and are about the fize of our English ones, but with an inferior plumage,

About the rocks are feen black fea-pies with red bills; and crefted fhags of a leaden colour, with fmall black foots on the wings and fhoulders, and the reft of the upper part, of a velvet black tinged with green. We frequently fhot both thefe, and alfo a more common fort of fhags, black above and white underneath, that build their nefts upon trees, on which fometimes a dozen or more fit at once. There are also, about the shore, a few seagulls; fome blue herons; and fometimes, though very rarely, wild ducks; a small fandy coloured plover, and fome fand larks. And fmall penguins black above, with a white belly, as well as numbers of little black divers, fwim often about the Sound. We likewife killed two or three rails of a brown or yellowifh colour, variegated with black, which feed about the fmall brooks, and are nearly as large as a common fowl. No other fort of game was feen, except a fingle fnipe, which was fhot, and differs but little from that of Europe,

The

The principal fifh we caught by the Soine were February. mullets and elephant fifh, with a few foles and flounders; but those that the natives mostly supplied us with, were a fort of fea-bream of a filver colour with a black fpot on the neck, large Conger eels, and a fifh in fhape much like the bream, but fo large as to weigh five, fix, or feven pounds. It is blackifh with thick lips, and called Mogge by the natives. With hook and line we caught chiefly a blackish fish of the fize of a haddock, called cole-fifh by the feamen, but differing much from that known by the fame name in Europe; and another of the fame fize, of a reddifh colour with a little beard, which we called night walkers, from the greateft number being caught in the night. Sometimes we got a fort of fmall falmon, gurnards, fkate, and nurfes; and the natives, now and then, brought hake, paracutas, a fmall fort of mackerel, parrot-fifh, and leather jackets; belides another fifh which is very rare, fhaped almost like a dolphin, of a black colour, with ftrong bony jaws, and the back-fin, as well as those opposite to it, much lengthened at the end. All these forts, except the last, which we did not try, are excellent to eat; but the Mogge, fmall falmon, and cole-fifh are fuperior to the reft.

The rocks are abundantly furnished with great quantities of excellent mulcles; one fort of which, that is not very common, measures above a foot There are also cockles buried in the in length. fand of the finall beaches; and in fome places oyfters, which, though very finall, are well tafted. Of other shell-fish there are ten or twelve forts, fuch as periwincles, wilks, limpets, and fome very beautiful fea-ears; also another fort which flick to the weeds; with fome other things. as fea-eggs, ftar-fifh, &c. feveral of which are peculiar

culiar to the place. The natives likewife fometimes brought us very fine cray-fifh, equal to our February. largeft lobiters, and cuttle fifh, which they eat themfelves.

Infects are very rare. Of thefe, we only faw two forts of dragon-flies, fome butterflies, fmall grafhoppers, feveral forts of fpiders, fome fmall black ants, and vaft numbers of fcorpion flies, with whofe chirping the woods refound. The only noxious one is the fand-fly, very numerous here, and almoft as troublefome as the mulquitoe; for we found no reptile here, except two or three forts of fmall harmlefs lizards *.

It is remarkable, that, in this extensive land, there should not even be the traces of any quadruped, only excepting a few rats, and a fort of foxdog, which is a domestic animal with the natives.

Neither is there any mineral worth notice, but a green jasper or serpent-stone, of which the New-Zealanders make their tools and ornaments. This is effected a precious article by them; and they have fome fuperflitious notions about the method of its generation, which we could not perfectly understand. It is plain, however, that wherever it may be found (which, they fay, is in the channel of a large river far to the Southward), it is disposed in the earth in thin layers, or, perhaps, in detached pieces, like our flints; for the edges of those pieces, which have not been cut, are covered with a whitif cruft like thefe. A piece of this fort was purchafed, about eighteen inches long, a foot broad, and near two inches thick; which yet feemed to be only the fragment of a larger piece.

^{*} In a feparate memorandum-book, Mr. Anderson mentions the monstrous animal of the lizard kind, described by the two boys after they left the island.

1777. February.

The natives do not exceed the common ftature of Europeans; and, in general, are not fo well made, especially about the limbs. This is, perhaps, the effect of fitting, for the most part, on their hams; and of being confined, by the hilly dispofition of the country, from using that fort of exercise which contributes to render the body ftraight and well-proportioned. There are, however, several exceptions to this; and some are remarkable for their large bones and muscles; but few that I have feen are corpulent.

Their colour is of different cafts, from a pretty deep black to a yellowifh or olive tinge; and their features also are various, some refembling Europeans. But, in general, their faces are round, with their lips full, and alfo their nofes toward the point; though the first are not uncommonly thick, nor the last flat. I do not, however, recollect to have feen an inftance of the true aquiline note amongst them. Their teeth are commonly broad, white, and wellfet; and their eyes large, with a very free motion, which feems the effect of habit. Their hair is black, ftraight, and ftrong, commonly cut fhort on the hind part, with the reft tied on the crown of the head : but fome have it of a curling difpolition, or of a brown colour. In the young, the countenance is generally free or open; but in many of the men it has a ferious caft, and fometimes a fullenness or referve, especially if they are strangers. The women are, in general, fmaller than the men; but have few peculiar graces, either in form or features, to diffinguish them.

The drefs of both fexes is alike; and confifts of an oblong garment about five feet long, and four broad, made from the filky flax already mentioned. This feems to be their most material and complex manufacture, which is executed by knotting; and their

their work is often ornamented with pieces of dogskin, or chequered at the corners. They bring February. two corners of this garment over the shoulders, and faften it on the breaft with the other part, which covers the body; and about the belly, it is again tied with a girdle made of mat. Sometimes they cover it with large feathers of birds (which feem to be wrought into the piece of cloth when it is made), or with dog-fkin; and that alone we have feen worn as a covering. Over this garment many of them wear mats, which reach from the fhoulders to near the heels. But the most common outercovering is a quantity of the above fedgy plant, badly dreffed, which they faften on a ftring to a confiderable length, and, throwing it about the fhoulders, let it fall down on all fides, as far as the middle of the thighs. When they fit down with this upon them, either in their boats, or upon the fhore, it would be difficult to diffinguish them from large grey ftones, if their black heads, projecting beyond their coverings, did not engage one to a ftricter examination.

By way of ornament, they fix in their heads feathers, or combs of bone, or wood, adorned with pearl shell, or the thin inner skin of some leaf. And in the ears, both of men and women, which are pierced, or rather flit, are hung fmall pieces of jasper, bits of cloth, or beads when they can get them. A few alfo have the feptum of the nofe bored in its lower part; but no ornament was worn there that we faw; though one man paffed a twig through it, to fhew us that it was formetimes ufed for that purpofe. They wear long beards, but are fond of having them shaved.

Some are punctured or ftained in the face with curious spiral and other figures, of a black or deep blue colour; but it is doubtful whether this be 1777.

be ornamental, or intended as a mark of par-February ticular diffinction; and the women, who are marked fo, have the puncture only on their lips, or a fmall fpot on their chins. Both fexes often befmear their faces and heads with a red paint, which feems to be a martial ochre mixed with greafe; and the women fometimes wear necklaces of fhark's teeth, or bunches of long beads, which feem to be made of the leg-bones of fmall birds, or a particular shell. A few also have fmall triangular aprons adorned with the feathers of parrots, or bits of pearl shells, furnished with a double or 'treble fet of cords to fasten them about the waift. I have fometimes feen caps or bonnets made of the feathers of birds, which may be reckoned as ornaments; for it is not their cuftom to wear any covering on their heads.

They live in the small coves formerly described, in companies of forty or fifty, or more; and fometimes in fingle families, building their huts contiguous to each other; which, in general, are miserable lodging-places. The best I ever faw was about thirty feet long, fifteen broad, and fix high, built exactly in the manner of one of our country barns. The infide was both ftrong and regularly made of fupporters at the fides, alternately large and fmall, well fastened by means of withes, and painted red and black. The ridge pole was ftrong; and the large bull-rufhes, which composed the inner part of the thatching, were laid with great exactness parallel to each other. At one end was a fmall fquare hole, which ferved as a door to creep in at; and near it another much fmaller, feemingly for letting out the fmoke, as no other vent for it could be feen. . This, however, ought to be confidered as one of the beft, and the refidence of fome principal perfon; for I the

the greatest part of them are not half the above 1777. fize, and feldom exceed four feet in height; being, February, befides, indifferently built, though proof against wind and rain.

No other furniture is to be feen in them, than a few fmall bafkets or bags, in which they put their fifthing-hooks, and other trifles; and they fit down in the middle round a fmall fire, where they alfo probably fleep, without any other covering than what they wear in the day, or perhaps without that; as fuch confined places muft be very warm, though inhabited but by a few perform.

They live chiefly by fifting, making ufe either of nets of different kinds, or of wooden fifth hooks pointed with bone; but fo oddly made, that a ftranger is at a loss to know how they can anfwer fuch a purpole. It also appears, that they remove their habitations from one place to another when the fifth grow fcarce, or for fome other reason; for we found houses now built in several parts, where there had been none when we were here during our last voyage, and even these have been already deferted.

Their boats are well built, of planks raifed upon each other, and fastened with strong withes, which also bind a long narrow piece on the outfide of the feams to prevent their leaking. Some are fifty feet long, and fo broad as to be able to fail without an outrigger; but the fmaller fort commonly have one; and they often fasten two together by rafters, which we then call a double canoe. They carry from five to thirty men or more; and have often a large head ingenioufly carved, and painted with a figure at the point, which feents intended to reprefent a man, with his features difforted by rage. Their paddles are about four or five feet long, narrow, and pointed; with which, when they keep time, the boat 1777. boat is pushed along pretty swiftly. Their fail, February which is feldom used, is made of a mat of a triangular shape, having the broadest part above.

158

The only method of drefling their fifh, is by roafting, or rather baking; for they are intirely ignorant of the art of boiling. In the fame manner they drefs the root, and part of the stalk, of the large fern-tree, in a great hole dug for After that purpose, which serves as an oven. which they fplit it, and find, within, a fine gelatinous substance, like boiled fago powder, but firmer. They also use another smaller fern root, which feems to be their fubstitute for bread, as it is dried and carried about with them, together with dried fish in great quantities, when they remove their families, or go far from home. This they beat with a flick till it becomes pretty foft, when they chew it fufficiently, and fpit out the hard fibrous part, the other having a fweetifh mealy tafte not at all difagreeable.

When they dare not venture to fea, or perhaps from choice, they fupply the place of other fifth with mufcles and fea-ears; great quantities of the fhells of which lie in heaps near their houfes. And they fometimes, though rarely, find means to kill rails, penguins, and fhags, which help to vary their diet. They alfo breed confiderable numbers of the dogs, mentioned before, for food; but thefe cannot be confidered as a principal article of diet. From whence we may conclude, that, as there is not the leaft fign of cultivation of land, they depend principally for their fubliftence on the fea, which, indeed, is very bountiful in its fupply.

Their method of feeding corresponds with the naftiness of their persons, which often smell difagreeably from the quantity of grease about them,

and

and their clothes never being washed. We have 1777. feen them eat the vermin, with which their heads February. are sufficiently stocked.

They also used to devour, with the greatest cagernefs, large quantities of flinking train oil, and blubber of feals, which we were melting at the tent, and had kept near two months; and, on board the fhips, they were not fatisfied with emptying the lamps, but actually fwallowed the cotton, and fragrant wick, with equal voracity. It is worthy of notice, that though the inhabitants of Van Diemen's land appear to have but a fcanty sublistence, they would not even taste our bread, though they faw us eat it; whereas these people devoured it greedily, when both mouldy and rotten. But this must not be imputed to any defect in their fensations; for I have observed them throw away things which we eat, with evident difguft, after only fmelling to them.

They fhew as much ingenuity, both in invention and execution, as any uncivilized nations under fimilar circumftances. For, without the use of any metal tools, they make every thing by which they procure their fubliftence, clothing, and warlike weapons, with a degree of neatness, ftrength, and convenience for accomplishing their feveral purposes. Their chief mechanical tool is formed exactly after the manner of our adzes: and is made, as are also the chiffel and goudge, of the green ferpent-ftone or jasper, already mentioned; though fometimes they are composed of a black, fmooth, and very folid ftone. But their mafter-piece feems to be carving, which is found upon the most triffing things; and, in particular, the heads of their canoes are fometimes ornamented with it in fuch a manner, as not only fhews much defign, but is also an example of their great 2

great labour and patience in execution. Their February. cordage for fishing-lines is equal, in strength and evenness, to that made by us; and their nets not at all inferior. But what must cost them more labour than any other article, is the making the tools we have mentioned; for the ftone is exceedingly hard, and the only method of fashioning it, we can guess at, is by rubbing one stone upon another, Their fubstiwhich can have but a flow effect. tute for a knife is a shell, a bit of flint, or jasper. And, as an auger, to bore holes, they fix a fhark's tooth in the end of a fmall piece of wood. It is true, they have a fmall faw made of fome jagged fifthes teeth, fixed on the convex edge of a piece of wood nicely carved. But this, they fay, is only used to cut up the bodies of their enemies whom they kill in battle.

> No people can have a quicker fense of an injury done to them, and none are more ready to refent it. But, at the fame time, they will take an opportunity of being infolent when they think there is no danger of punishment; which is fo contrary to the spirit of genuine bravery, that, perhaps, their eagerness to resent injuries is to be looked upon rather as an effect of a furious disposition than of great courage. They also appear to be of a suspicious or mistrustful temper (which, however, may rather be acquired than natural), for ftrangers never came to our thips immediately, but lay in their boats at a small distance, either to observe our motions, or confult whether or no they fhould rifk their fafety with us. To this they join a great degree of diffionefty; for they ften every thing they can lay their hands on, if there be the least hope of not being detected; and, in trading, I have little doubt but they would take attaintages, if they thought it could be done with fafery; as they not only

only refuse to trust a thing in one's hand for ex-1777. amination, but exult if they think they have February. tricked you in the bargain.

Such conduct, however, is, in fome measure, to be expected where there appears to be but little fubordination, and confequently few, if any, laws, to punish transgreffions. For no man's authority feems to extend farther than his own family; and when, at any time, they join for mutual defence, or any other purpole, those amongst them who are eminent for courage or prudence, are directors. How their private quarrels are terminated is uncertain; but, in the few we faw, which were of little confequence, the parties concerned were clamorous and diforderly.

Their public contentions are frequent, or rather perpetual; for it appears, from their number of weapons, and dexterity in using them, that war is their principal profession. These weapons are spears, patoos and halberts, or sometimes stones. The first are made of hard wood pointed, of different lengths, from five, to twenty, or even thirty feet long. The fhort ones are used for throwing The patoo or emeete is of an elliptical as darts. shape, about eighteen inches long, with a handle made of wood, ftone, the bone of fome fea animal, or green jafper, and feems to be their principal dependence in battle. The halbert, or long club, is about five or fix feet long, tapering at one end with a carved head, and at the other, broad or flat, with fharp edges.

Before they begin the onfet, they join in a warfong, to which they all keep the exacteft time, and foon raife their paffion to a degree of frantic fury, attended with the most horrid diffortion of their eyes, mouths, and tongues, to ftrike terror into their enemies; which, to those who have not been accul-

Vue. I.

M

February. pear more like demons than men, and would almost chill the boldest with fear. To this fucceeds

a circumftance, almost foretold in their fierce demeanor, horrid, cruel, and difgraceful to human nature; which is, cutting in pieces, even before being perfectly dead, the bodies of their enemies, and, after dreffing them on a fire, devouring the flefth, not only without reluctance, but with peculiar fatisfaction.

One might be apt to fuppole, that people, capable of fuch excels of crueity, must be destitute of every humane feeling, even amongft their own party. And yet we find them lamenting the loss of their friends, with a violence of expression which argues the most tender remembrance of them. For both men and women, upon the death of those connected with them, whether in battle or otherwife, bewail them with the moft doleful cries; at the same time cutting their foreheads and cheeks, with shells or pieces of flint, in large gashes, until the blood flows plentifully and mixes with their tears. They also carve pieces of their green stone, rudely shaped, as human figures, which they ornament with bright eyes of pearlfhell, and hang them about their necks, as memorials of those whom they held most dear; and their affections of this kind are fo ftrong, that they even perform the ceremony of cutting, and lamenting for joy, at the return of any of their friends, who have been absent but for a short time.

The children are initiated, at a very early age, into all the practices, good or bad, of their fathers; fo that you find a boy or girl, nine or ten years old, able to perform all the motions, and to imitate the frightful geftures, by which the more aged ule use to infpire their enemies with terror, keeping 1777. the ftricteft time in their fong. They likewise fing, February. with forme degree of melody, the traditions of their forefathers, their actions in war, and other indifferent subjects; of all which they are immoderately fond, and spend much of their time, in these amusements, and in playing on a sort of flute.

Their language is far from being harsh or difagreeable, though the pronunciation is frequently guttural; and whatever qualities are requifite in any other language to make it mulical, certainly obtain to a confiderable degree here, if we may judge from the melody of fome forts of their fongs. It is also sufficiently comprehensive, though, in many respects, deficient, if compared with our European languages, which owe their perfection to long improvement. But a fmall fpecimen is here fubioined, from which fome judgment may I collected a great many of their be formed. words, both now and in the course of our former voyage; and being equally attentive, in my inquiries, about the languages of the other islands throughout the South Sea, I have the ampleft proof of their wonderful agreement, or rather identity. This general observation has, indeed, been already made in the accounts of the former voyages*. I fhall be enabled, however, to confirm and ftrengthen it, by a fresh list of words, selected from a large vocabulary in my pofferition; and by placing, in the oppofite column, the corresponding words as used at Otaheite, the curious reader will, at one view, be furnished with fufficient materials for judging by what fubordinate changes the difference of dialect has been effected.

* See Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. iii. p. 474, 475. and Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 364.

A VOYAGE TO

English. New Zealand. Otabeite. 1777. February. Water, Ewy, Evy. Ero. A tail of a dog, Wyeroo, Death, dead, Matte, roa. Kaoo, matte, To fly, Ererre, Eraire. A boufe, Ewharre. Ewharre, To sleep, Moea, Moe. Matou. A filb-book, Makoee, Sbut. Opanee, Opanee. A bed. Moenga, Moera. A butterfly, Epaipe, Pepe. Hekaee, To chew, or eat, Ey. Cold, Makkareede, Mareede. Aooanai. To-day, Agooanai, The band, Ereema. Reenga, Erahoi. Large, Keeerahoi, Red, Whairo, Oora, oora. We, Taooa. Taooa. Where is it? Tehaia. Kahaia, Powhy, A stone, Owhy. Taata. A man, Tangata, Purra, purra, Ere, ere. Black, White, Ema, Ooama. Nohonoa. To refide, or dwell, Nohoanna, Woho, ·Woho. Out, not within, Male kind (of any Toa, Etoa, animal), Female, Eoowha, Eooha. Mango, Mao. A fbark, Eetea. To understand, Geetaia, Forgot, Warre, Ooaro. Yefterday, Ninnahoi. Taeninnahoi, Tahaee, One, Atahay. Two, Rooa, Erooa. Three, Toroo, Toroo.

Englifh.	New Zealand.	••••••	1777. February.		
Four, Five, Six, Seven, Eight, Nine, Ten,	Faa, Reema, Ono, Heetoo, Waroo, Eeva, Angahoora,	Ahaa. Ereema. Aono. Aheitoo. Awaroo. Aeeva. Ahooroo.			
The New Zealanders to these numerals prefix Ma ; as,					
Eleven, Twelve, &c. &c. Twenty,	Matahee. Marooa, & <i>c.</i> & Mangahoora.	<i>Ŝ</i> c.			

A

V O Y A G E

то тне

PACIFIC OCEAN.

BOOK II.

From leaving New Zealand, to our Arrival at Otaheite, or the Society Islands.

CHAP. I.

Profecution of the Voyage.—Behaviour of the Two New Zealanders on board. — Unfavourable Winds.—An Ifland called Mangeea difcovered. —The Coaft of it examined.—Transactions with the Natives. — An Account of their Perfons, Drefs, and Canoe. — Defcription of the Island. —A Specimen of the Language.—Disposition of the Inbabitants.

ON the 25th, at ten o'clock in the morning, 1777. a light breeze fpringing up at North Weft February. by Weft, we weighed, ftood out of the Sound, Tuefd, 25. and made fail through the ftrait, with the Difcovery in company. We had hardly got the length of Cape Tierawhitte, when the wind took us aback at South Eaft. It continued in this quarter till two ^{1777.} two o'clock the next morning, when we had a few February hours calm. After which we had a breeze at Wedn. 26. North; but here it fixed not long, before it veered to the Eaft, and after that to the South. At length,

Thurf. 27. on the 27th, at eight o'clock in the morning, we took our departure from Cape Pallifer, which, at this time, bore Weft, feven or eight leagues diftant. We had a fine gale, and I fteered East by North.

We had no fooner loft fight of the land than our two New Zealand adventurers, the fea ficknefs they now experienced giving a turn to their reflections, repented heartily of the ftep they had taken. All the foothing encouragement we could think of, availed but little. They wept, both in public and in private; and made their lamentations in a kind of fong, which, as far as we could comprehend the meaning of the words, was expressive of their praifes of their country and people, from which they were to be feparated for ever. Thus they continued for many days, till their fea ficknefs wore off, and the tumult of their minds began to fublide. Then these fits of lamentation became lefs and lefs frequent, and at length entirely ceafed. Their native country and their friends were, by degrees, forgot, and they appeared to be as firmly attached to us, as if they had been born amongft us.

The wind had not remained many hours at Friday 28. South, before it veered to South Eaft and Eaft; and, with this, we flood to the North, till the 28th at noon. Being then in the latitude of 41° 17, and in the longitude of 177° 17' Eaft, we tacked and flood to the South Eaft, with a gentle breeze at Eaft North Eaft. It afterward freshened, and came about to North Eaft; in which quarter it continued two days, and sometimes blew a fresh gale with fqualls, accompanied with showers of rain.

168

On

On the 2d of March at noon, being in the 1777. latitude of 42° 35' 30", longitude 180° 8' Eaft, March, the wind fhifted to North Weft; afterward to Sunday 2. South Weft; and between this point and North it continued to blow, fometimes a ftrong gale with hard fqualls, and at other times very moderate. With this wind we fteered North Eaft by Eaft and Eaft, under all the fail we could carry, till the 11th at noon, at which time we were in the Tuefd. 11. latitude of 39° 29', longitude 196° 4' Eaft.

The wind now veered to North Eaft and South East, and I stood to the North, and to the North Eaft, as the wind would admit, till one o'clock in the morning on the 16th, when having a more Sund. 16. favourable gale from the North, I tacked and flood to the East; the latitude being 33° 40', and the longitude 198° 50' East. We had light airs and calms by turns, till noon the next day, when Mond. 17. the wind began to freshen at East South East. and I again flood to the North Eaft. But as the wind often veered to East and East North East, we frequently made no better than a northerly courfe; nay fometimes to the Weftward of North. But the hopes of the wind coming more Southerly, or of meeting with it from the Westward, a little without the Tropic, as I had experienced in my former vifits to this ocean, encouraged me to continue this courfe. Indeed it was neceffary that I should run all risks, as my proceeding to the North this year, in profecution of the principal object of the voyage, depended entirely on my making a quick patlage to Otaheite, or the Society Iflands.

The wind continued invariably fixed at East South East, or feldom shifting above two points on either side. It also blew very faint, so that it was the 27th before we crossed the Tropic, Thurs. 27. and then we were only in the longitude of 201°

23.

23' East, which was nine degrees to the Westward of our intended port. In all this run we March. faw nothing, except now and then a Tropic bird, that could induce us to think we had failed near any land. In the latitude of 34° 20', longitude 199°, we paffed the trunk of a large tree, which was covered with barnacles; a fign that it had been long at fea.

On the 29th, at ten in the morning, as we were Satur. 29. ftanding to the North Eaft, the Difcovery made the fignal of feeing land. We faw it from the maft head almost the same moment, bearing North East by East by compass. We soon discovered it to be an island of no great extent, and flood for it till funfet, when it bore North North Eaft, diftant about two or three leagues.

The night was spent in standing off and on, Sunday 30. and at day-break the next morning, I bore up for the lee or Weft fide of the ifland, as neither anchorage nor landing appeared to be practicable on the South fide, on account of a great furf *, which broke every where with violence against the fhore, or against the reef that furrounded it.

> We prefently found that the island was inhabited, and faw feveral people, on a point of the land we had paffed, wading to the reef, where, as they found the ship leaving them quickly, they remained. But others, who foon appeared in different parts, followed her courfe; and fometimes feveral of them collected into fmall bodies, who made a fhouting noise all together, nearly after the manner of the inhabitants of New Zealand.

> Between feven and eight o'clock, we were at the West North West part of the island, and,

^{*} A very ingenious and fatisfactory account of the caufe of the furf. is to be met with in Marsden's History of Sumatra, p. 29. 32.

being near the fhore, we could perceive with our glaffes, that feveral of the natives, who appeared March. upon a fandy beach, were all armed with long fpears and clubs, which they brandifhed in the air with figns of threatening, or, as fome on board interpreted their attitudes, with invitations to land. Most of them appeared naked, except having a fort of girdle, which, being brought up between the thighs, covered that part of the body. But fome of them had pieces of cloth of different colours, white, ftriped, or chequered, which they wore as a garment, thrown about their shoulders. And almost all of them had a white wrapper about their heads, not much unlike a turban; or, in fome inftances, like a high conical cap. We could also perceive that they were of a tawny colour, and in general of a middling ftature, but robuft, and inclining to corpulence.

At this time, a fmall canoe was launched in a great hurry from the further end of the beach, and a man getting into it, put off, as with a view to reach the fhip. On perceiving this, I brought to, that we might receive the vifit : but the man's refolution failing, he foon returned toward the beach, where, after fome time, another man joined him in the canoe; and then they both paddled towards us. They ftopt fort, however, as if afraid to approach, until Omai, who addreffed them in the Otaheite language, in fome measure quieted their apprehensions. They then came near enough to take fome beads and nails, which were tied to a piece of wood, and thrown They feemed afraid to touch thefe into the canoe. things, and put the piece of wood afide without untying them. This, however, might arife from fuperstition; for Omai told us, that when they faw us offering them prefents, they alked fomething for their Eatooa, or god. He also, perhaps improperly,

1777.

perly, put the queftion to them, Whether they March. ever eat human flefh ? which they answered in the negative, with a mixture of indignation and abhorrence. One of them, whole name was Mourooa, being afked how he came by a fcar on his forehead, told us that it was the confequence of a wound he had got in fighting with the people of an island, which lies to the North Eastward, who fometimes came to invade them. They afterward took hold of a rope. Still, however, they would not venture on board; but told Omai, who underftood them pretty well, that their countrymen on shore had given them this caution, at the fame time directing them to inquire, from whence our fhip came, and to learn the name of the Captain. On our part, we inquired the name of the ifland, which they called Mangya or Mangeea; and fometimes added to it Nooe, nai, naiwa. The name of their Chief, they faid, was Orooaeeka.

Mourooa was lufty and well made, but not very His features were agreeable, and his diftall. polition feemingly no lefs fo; for he made feveral droll gefticulations, which indicated both goodnature and a fhare of humour. He also made others which feemed of a ferious kind, and repeated fome words with a devout air, before he ventured to lay hold of the rope at the fhip's ftern ; which was probably to recommend himfelf to the protection of fome Divinity. His colour was nearly of the fame caft with that common to the most fouthern Europeans. The other man was not fo Both of them had ftrong, ftraight hair, handfome. of a jet colour, tied together on the crown of the head with a bit of cloth. They wore fuch girdles as we had perceived about those on shore, and we found they were a fubftance made from the Morus papyrifera, in the fame manner as at the other iflands of

of this ocean. It was glazed like the fort ufed by the natives of the Friendly Islands; but the cloth on their heads was white, like that which is found at Otaheite. They had on, a kind of fandals, made of a graffy fubftance interwoven, which we alfo obferved were worn by those who ftood upon the beach; and, as we supposed, intended to defend their feet against the rough coral rock. Their beards were long; and the infide of their arms. from the shoulder to the elbow, and some other parts, were punctured or tatooed, after the manner of the inhabitants of almost all the other islands in the South Sea. The lobe of their ears was pierced. or rather flit, and to fuch a length, that one of them fluck there a knife and fome beads, which he had received from us; and the fame perfon had two polifhed pearl-fhells, and a bunch of human hair, loofely twifted, hanging about his neck, which was the only ornament we observed. The canoe they came in (which was the only one we faw), was not above ten feet long, and very narrow; but both ftrong and neatly made. The forepart had a flat board fastened over it, and projecting out, to prevent the fea getting in on plunging, like the fmall Evaas at Otaheite; but it had an upright ftern, about five feet high, like fome in New Zealand; and 'the upper end of this ftern-poft was The lower part of the canoe was of forked. white wood; but the upper was black, and their paddles, made of wood of the fame colour, not above three feet long, broad at one end, and blunted. ' They paddled either end of the canoe forward indifferently; and only turned about their faces to paddle the contrary way.

We now flood off and on; and as foon as the fhips were in a proper flation, about ten o'clock I ordered two boats, one of them from the Difcovery, to found the coaft, and to endeavour to find

I

1777. March. 1777. March.

find a landing-place. With this view, I went in one of them myfelf, taking with me fuch articles to give the natives, as I thought might ferve to gain their good-will. I had no fooner put off from the fhip, than the canoe, with the two men, which had left us not long before, paddled towards my boat; and, having come alongfide, Mourooa ftept into her, without being afked, and without a moment's hefitation.

Omai, who was with me, was ordered to inquire of him, where we could land; and he directed us to two different places. But I faw, with regret, that the attempt could not be made at either place, unlefs at the rifk of having our boats filled with water, or even flaved to pieces. Nor were we more fortunate in our fearch for anchorage; for we could find no bottom, till within a cable's length of the breakers. There we met with from forty to twenty fathoms depth, over fharp coral rocks; fo that anchoring would have been attended with much more danger than landing.

While we were thus employed in reconnoitring the fhore, great numbers of the natives thronged down upon the reef, all armed as above mentioned. Mourooa, who was now in my boat, probably thinking that this warlike appearance hindered us from landing, ordered them to retire back. As many of them complied, I judged he must be a perfon of fome confequence among them. Indeed, if we underftood him right, he was the king's brother. So great was the curiofity of feveral of them, that they took to the water, and, fwimming off to the boats, came on board them without referve. Nay, we found it difficult to keep them out; and still more difficult to prevent their carrying off every thing they could lay their hands upon. At length, when

when they perceived that we were returning to the fhips, they all left us, except our original March. vifiter Mourooa. He, though not without evident figns of fear, kept his place in my boat, and accompanied me on board the fhip.

The cattle and other new objects, that prefented themfelves to him there, did not ftrike him with fo much furprife as one might have expected. Perhaps his mind was too much taken up about his own fafety, to allow him to attend to other things. It is certain, that he feemed very uneafy; and the ship, on our getting on board, happening to be flanding off shore, this circumstance made him the more fo. I could get but little new information from him; and therefore, after he had made a fhort flay, I ordered a boat to carry him in toward the land. As foon as he got out of the cabin, he happened to flumble over one of the goats. His curiofity now overcoming his fear, he ftopped, looked at it, and afked Omai, what bird this was? and not receiving an immediate answer from him, he repeated the question The boat to fome of the people upon deck. having conveyed him pretty near to the furf, he leaped into the fea, and fwam ashore. He had no fooner landed, than the multitude of his countrymen gathered round him, as if with an eager curiofity to learn from him what he had feen; and in this fituation they remained, when we loft fight of them. As foon as the boat returned, we hoifted her in, and made fail from the land . to the Northward.

Thus were we obliged to leave, unvifited, this fine ifland, which feemed capable of fupplying all our wants. It lies in the latitude of 21" 5? South; and in the longitude of 201° 53' Eaft. Such parts of the coaft, as fell under our observation, are guarded by a reef of coral rock, on the

2

1777.

1777. March.

the outfide of which the fea is of an unfathomable depth. It is full five leagues in circuit, and of a moderate and pretty equal height; though in clear weather, it may be certainly feen at the diftance of ten leagues; for we had not loft fight of it at night, when we had run above feven leagues, and the weather was cloudy. In the middle, it rifes into little hills, from whence there is a gentle defcent to the fhore, which, at the South Weft part, is steep, though not above ten or twelve feet high: and has feveral excavations made by the beating of the waves against a brownish fandftone of which it is composed. The descent here is covered with trees of a deep green colour, very thick, but not high, which feem all of one fort, unless nearest the shore, where there are great numbers of that species of dracæna found in the woods of New Zealand, which are alfo fcattered in fome other places. On the North Weft part, the shore, as we mentioned above, ends in a fandy beech; beyond which the land is broken down into fmall chafms or gullies, and has a broad border of trees refembling tall willows : which, from its regularity, might be fuppofed a work of art, did not its extent forbid us to think Farther up on the afcent, the trees were of fo. the deep green mentioned before. Some of us fupposed these to be the rima, intermixed with low cocoa palms; and a few of fome other forts. They feemed not fo thick as on the South Weft part, and higher; which appearance might be owing to our nearer approach to the fhore. On the little hills, were fome trees of a taller fort, thinly fcattered; but the other parts of them were either bare, and of a reddifh colour, or covered with fomething like fern. Upon the whole, the ifland has a pretty aspect, and might be made a beautiful spot by cultivation.

As

As the inhabitants feemed to be both numerous and well fed, fuch articles of provision as the island produces muft be in great plenty. It might, however, be a matter of curiofity to know, particularly, their method of fublistence; for our friend Mourooa told us, that they had no animals, as hogs and dogs, both which, however, they had heard of; but acknowledged they had plantains, bread-fruit, and taro. The only birds we faw, were fome white egg birds, terns, and noddies; and one white heron, on the fhore.

The language of the inhabitants of Mangeea is a dialect of that fpoken at Otaheite; though their pronunciation, as that of the New Zealanders, be more guttural. Some of their words, of which two or three are perhaps peculiar to this ifland, are here fubjoined, as taken, by Mr. Anderson, from Omai, who had learnt them in his conversations with Mourooa. The Otaheite words, where there is any refemblance, are placed opposite.

Englifh.	Mangeea.	Otabeite.
A cocoa nut,	Eakkaree,	Aree,
Bread-fruit,	Kooroo,	Ooroo.
A canoe,	Ewakka,	Evaa.
Friend,	Naoo, mou.	
A man,	Taata, or Tangata,	Taata.
Cloth, or cloth	Taia, taia aoutee,	Eoute.
plant,		
Good,	Mata,	Myty.
A club,	Pooroohee.	
Yes.	Aee,	Ai.
No.	Aoure,	Aoure.
A (pear,	Heyhey.	
A fight, or battle,	Etamagee,	Tamaee.
A woman.	Waheine,	Waheine.
Vol. I.	N	

A VOYAGE TO

1777. March.	English.	Mangeea.	Otabeite,	
\sim	A daughter,	Maheine,	Maheine.	
	The fun,	Heetaia matooa.		
	I.	Ou,	Wou.	
	The shore,	Euta,	Euta.	
	What is that ?	Ehataieee ?	Owytaieeoa?	
	There,	Оо.	•	
	A chief.	Ereekee,	Eree.	
	Great, or powerfu	l, { Manna (an a. to the last).	djun <i>t</i> i	
	To kifs,	Qoma.		

The natives of Mangeea feem to refemble those of Otaheite and the Marquefas in the beauty of their perfons, more than any other nation I have feen in these seas; having a smooth skin, and not Their general disposition also being mulcular. corresponds, as far as we had opportunities of judging, with that which diftinguishes the first mentioned people. For they are not only cheerful. but, as Mourooa shewed us, are acquainted with all the lascivious gesticulations which the Otaheiteans practife in their dances. It may also be fupposed, that their method of living is fimilar. For, though the nature of the country prevented our feeing many of their habitations, we obferved one house near the beach, which much refembled, in its mode of construction, those of Otaheite. It was pleafantly fituated in a grove of trees, and appeared to be about thirty feet long, and feven or eight high, with an open end, which represented an ellipse divided transversely. Before it, was spread something white on a few bushes; which we conjectured to be a fifting net, and, to appearance, of a very delicate texture,

They

тне PACIFIC OCEAN:

the New Zealanders, by joining nofes; adding March, however, the additional coremony of reliance however, the additional ceremony of taking the hand of the perfon to whom they are paying civilities, and rubbing it with a degree of force upon their nofe and mouth *.

CHAP. N 2

^{*} The inhabitants of the Palaos, New Philippine, or rather Caroline Islands, at the distance of almost fifteen hundred leagues from Mangeea, have the fame mode of falutation. "Leur ci-"vilité, & la marque de leur respect, confile à prendre la main " ou le pied de celui à qui ils veulent faire honneur, & s'en " frotter doucement tout le visage." Lettres Edifiantes & Cu-rieuses, Tom. xv. p. 208. Edit. 1781.

CHAP. II.

The Difcovery of an Island called Wateeoo. — Its Coasts examined. — Visits from the Natives on board the Ships.—Melf. Gore, Burney, and Anderfon, with Omai, fent on Shore.—Mr. Anderfon's Narrative of their Reception.—Omai's Expedient to prevent their being detained.—His meeting with fome of his Countrymen, and their diftrefsful Voyage. — Farther Account of Wateeoo, and of its Inbabitants.

March. Sunday30. Ward all that night, and till noon on the 31ft; Mond. 31. when we again faw land, in the direction of North-Eaft by North, diftant eight or ten leagues.

April. Next morning, at eight o'clock, we had got Tuefd. 1. abreaft of its North end, within four leagues of it, but to leeward; and could now pronounce it to be an ifland, nearly of the fame appearance and extent with that we had fo lately left. At the fame time, another ifland, but much fmaller, was feen right ahead. We could have foon reached this; but the largeft one had the preference, as most likely to furnifh a fupply of food for the cattle, of which we began to be in great want.

> With this view I determined to work up to it; but as there was but little wind, and that little was unfavour

unfavourable, we were ftill two leagues to leeward 1777. at eight o'clock the following morning. Soon April. after, I fent two armed boats from the Refolution, Wedn. 2. and one from the Difcovery, under the command of Lieutenant Gore, to look for anchoring-ground, and a landing-place. In the mean time, we plyed up under the ifland with the fhips.

Just as the boats were putting off, we observed feveral fingle canoes coming from the fhore. They went first to the Discovery, she being the nearest ship. It was not long after, when three of these canoes came along-fide of the Resolution, each conducted by one man. They are long and narrow, and supported by outriggers. The ftern is elevated about three or four feet, fomething like a ship's stern-post. The head is flat above, but prow-like below, and turns down at the extremity, like the end of a violin. Some knives, beads, and other trifles were conveyed to our vifiters; and they gave us a few cocoa-nuts, upon our asking for them. But they did not part with them by way of exchange for what they had received from us. For they feemed to have no idea of bartering; nor did they appear to effimate any of our prefents at a high rate.

With a little perfusion, one of them made his cance fast to the fhip, and came on board; and the other two, encouraged by his example, foon followed him. Their whole behaviour marked that they were quite at their ease, and felt no fort of apprehension of our detaining, or using them ill.

After their departure, another canoe arrived, conducted by a man who brought a bunch of plantains as a prefent to me; afking for me by name, having learnt it from Omai, who was fent before us in the boat with Mr. Gore. In return for this civility,

civility, I gave him an axe, and a piece of red cloth; and he paddled back to the fhore well fatisfied. I afterward underftood from Omai, that this prefent had been fent from the king, or principal Chief of the ifland.

Not long after, a double canoe, in which were twelve men, came toward us. As they drew near the fhip, they recited fome words in concert, by way of chorus *, one of their number firft flanding up, and giving the word before each repetition. When they had finished their folemn chant, they came along-fide, and asked for the Chief. As soon as I shewed myself, a pig and a few cocoa-nuts were conveyed up into the ship, and the principal person in the canoe made me an additional present of a piece of matting, as soon as he and his companions got on board.

Our vifiters were conducted into the cabin, and to other parts of the fhip. Some objects feemed to ftrike them with a degree of furprife; but nothing fixed their attention for a moment. They were afraid to come near the cows and horfes; nor did they form the least conception of their nature. But the fheep and goats did not furpais the limits of their ideas; for they gave us to understand, that they knew them to be birds. It will appear rather incredible, that human ignorance

* Something like this ceremony was performed by the inhabitants of the Marquefas, when Captain Cook vifited them in 1774. See his Voyage, Vol. i. p. 301. It is curious to obferve, at what immenfe diftances this mode of receiving ftrangers prevails. Padillo, who failed from Manilla in 1710, on a voyage to difcover the Palaos Iflands, was thus received there. The writer of the relation of his voyage fays, "Auflitot qu'ils "approcherent de notre bord, ils fe mirent à chanter. Ils re-"gloient la cadence, en frappat des mains fur leurs cuiffes." Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv, p. 323.

could

could ever make fo ftrange a miftake; there not being the most distant fimilitude between a sheep or goat, and any winged animal. But these people feemed to know nothing of the exiftence of any other land-animals, belides hogs, dogs, and birds. Our sheep and goats, they could see, were very different creatures from the two first, and therefore they inferred, that they must belong to the latter class, in which they knew there is a confiderable variety of species. I made a present to my new friend of what I thought might be most acceptable to him; but, on his going away, he feemed rather disappointed than pleased. I afterward underftood that he was very defirous of obtaining a dog, of which animal this island could not boaft, though its inhabitants knew that the race exifted in other iflands of their ocean. Captain Clerke had received the like prefent, with the fame view, from another man, who met with from him the like difappointment.

The people in these canoes were in general of a middling fize, and not unlike those of Mangeea: though feveral were of a blacker caft than any we faw there. Their hair was tied on the crown of the head, or flowing loofe about the fhoulders; and though in fome it was of a frizzling difpolition, yet, for the most part, that, as well as the ftraight fort, was long. Their features were various, and fome of the young men rather handfome. Like those of Mangeea, they had girdles of glazed cloth, or fine matting, the ends of which, being brought betwixt their thighs, covered the adjoining parts. Ornaments, compoled of a fort of broad grafs, ftained with red, and ftrung with berries of the night-shade, were worn about their necks. Their ears were bored, but not flit; and they were punctured upon the legs, from the knee to

1777

April.

to the heel, which made them appear as if they wore a kind of boots. They also refembled the inhabitants of Mangeea in the length of their beards, and, like them, wore a fort of fandals upon their feet. Their behaviour was frank and cheerful, with a great deal of good-nature.

At three o'clock in the afternoon, Mr. Gore returned with the boat, and informed me, that he had examined all the Weft fide of the ifland, without finding a place where a boat could land, or the fhips could anchor, the fhore being every where bounded by a steep coral rock, against which the fea broke in a dreadful furf. But as the natives feemed very friendly, and to express a degree of disappointment when they faw that our people failed in their attempts to land, Mr. Gore was of opinion, that by means of Omai, who could beft explain our request, they might be prevailed upon to bring off to the boats, beyond the furf, fuch articles as we most wanted; in particular, the stems of plantain trees, which make good food for the cattle. Having little or no wind, the delay of a day or two was not of any moment; and therefore I determined to try the experiment, and got every thing ready against the next morning.

Thurf. 3.

Soon after day-break, we obferved fome cances coming off to the fhips, and one of them directed its courfe to the Refolution. In it was a hog, with fome plantains and cocca nuts, for which the people, who brought them, demanded a dog from us, and refufed every other thing that we offered in exchange. One of our gentlemen on board, happened to have a dog and a bitch, which were great mulfances in the fhip, and might have been difpofed of on this occasion for a purpose of real utility, by propagating a race of fo uleful an animal in this island. But their owner had no fuch views, views, in making them the companions of his voyage. However, to gratify these people, Omai parted with a favourite dog he had brought from England; and with this acquisition they departed highly satisfied.

About ten o'clock, I dispatched Mr. Gore with three boats, two from the Refolution, and one from the Difcovery, to try the experiment he had propofed. And, as I could confide in his diligence and ability, I left it entirely to himfelf, to act as, from circumstances, he should judge to be most proper. Two of the natives, who had been on board, accompanied him, and Omai went with him in his boat as an interpreter. The fhips being a full league from the island when the boats put off, and having but little wind, it was noon before we could work up to it. We then faw our three boats riding at their grapplings, just without the furf, and a prodigious number of the natives on the fhore, abreaft of them. By this we concluded, that Mr. Gore, and others of our people, had landed, and our impatience to know the event may be eafily conceived. In order to observe their motions, and to be ready to give them fuch affiftance as they might want, and our respective fituations would admit of, I kept as near the fhore as was prudent. I was fensible, however, that the reef was as effectual a barrier between us and our friends who had landed, and put them as much beyond the reach of our protection, as if half the circumference of the globe had intervened. But the iflanders, it was probable, did not know this fo well as we did. Some of them, now and then, came off to the fhips in their canoes, with a few cocoa nuts; which they exchanged for whatever was offered to them, without feeming to give the preference to any particular article.

These occational visits ferved to leften my folicitude about our people who had landed. Though we

we could get no information from our vifiters; yet their venturing on board feemed to imply, at leaft, that their countrymen on fhore had not made an improper use of the confidence put in them. At length, a little before fun-fet, we had the fatisfaction of feeing the boats put off. When they got on board, I found that Mr. Gore himself, Omai, Mr. Anderson, and Mr. Burney, were the only perfons who had landed. The transactions of the day were now fully reported to me by Mr. Gore; but Mr. Anderson's account of them being very particular, and including fome remarks on the island and its inhabitants, I shall give it a place here, nearly in his own words.

"We rowed toward a fmall fandy beach, upon which, and upon the adjacent rocks, a great number of the natives had affembled; and came to an anchor within a hundred yards of the reef, which extends about as far, or a little farther, from the shore. Several of the natives swam off, bringing cocoa nuts; and Omai, with their countrymen. whom we had with us in the boats, made them fenfible of our wifh to land. But their attention was taken up, for a little time, by the dog, which had been carried from the fhip, and was just brought on fhore, round whom they flocked with great eagernels. Soon after, two canoes came off; and, to create a greater confidence in the illanders, we determined to go unarmed, and run the hazard of being treated well or ill.

Mr. Burney, the firft Lieutenant of the Difcovery, and I, went in one canoe, a little time before the other; and our conductors, watching attentively the motions of the furf, landed us fafely upon the reef. An iflander took hold of each of us, obvioufly with an attention to fupport us in walking, over the rugged rocks, to the beach, where where feveral of the others met us, holding the 1777. green boughs, of a species of Mimofa, in their April. hands, and faluted us by applying their nofes to ours

We were conducted from the beach by our guides, amidit a great crowd of people, who flocked with very eager curiofity to look at us; and would have prevented our proceeding, had not fome men, who feemed to have authority, dealt blows, with little diffinction, amongft them, to keep them off. We were then led up an avenue of cocoa-palms; and foon came to a number of men. arranged in two rows, armed with clubs, which they held on their fhoulders, much in the manner we reft a mulquet. After walking a little way amongft thefe, we found a perfon who feemed a Chief, fitting on the ground crofs-legged, cooling himfelf with a fort of triangular fan, made from a leaf of the cocoa-palm, with a polifhed handle, of black wood, fixed to one corner. In his ears were large bunches of beautiful red feathers, which pointed forward. But he had no other mark, or ornament, to diftinguish him from the reft of the people; though they all obeyed him with the greatest alacrity. He either naturally had, or at this time put on, a ferious, but not fevere countenance; and we were defired to falute him as he fat, by fome people who feemed of confequence.

We proceeded ftill amongft the men armed with clubs, and came to a fecond Chief, who fat fanning himfelf, and ornamented as the first. He was remarkable for his fize, and uncommon corpulence, though, to appearance, not above thirty years of In the fame manner, we were conducted age. to a third Chief, who feemed older than the two former,

I

former, and, though not fo fat as the fecond, was of a large fize. He also was fitting, and adorned with red feathers; and after faluting him as we had done the others, he defired us both to fit down. Which we were very willing to do, being pretty well fatigued with walking up, and with the exceffive heat we felt amongst the vast crowd that furrounded us.

In a few minutes, the people were ordered to feparate; and we faw, at the diftance of thirty yards, about twenty young women, ornamented as the Chiefs, with red feathers, engaged in a dance, which they performed to a flow and ferious air, fung by them all. We got up, and went forward to fee them; and though we must have been ftrange objects to them, they continued their dance, without paying the leaft attention to us. They feemed to be directed by a man who ferved as a prompter, and mentioned each motion they were to make. But they never changed the fpot, as we do in dancing, and though their feet were not at reft, this exercise confifted more in moving the fingers very nimbly, at the fame time holding their hands in a prone polition near the face, and now and then also clapping them together*. Their motions and fong were performed in fuch exact concert, that it should feem they had been taught with great care; and probably they were felected for this ceremony, as few of those whom we faw in the crowd equalled them In general, they were rather flout in beauty. than flender, with black hair flowing in ringlets down the neck, and of an olive complexion.

Their

^{*} The dances of the inhabitants of the Caroline Iflands, have a great refemblance to thole here defiribed. See Lettres Edif. et Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 315. See alfo, in the fame volume, p. 207. what is faid of the finging and dancing of the inhabitants of the Palaos Iflands, which belong to the fame group.

Their features were, rather, fuller than what we allow to perfect beauties, and much alike; but their. eyes were of a deep black, and each countenance expressed a degree of complacency and modefty, peculiar to the fex in every part of the world; but perhaps more confpicuous here, where Nature prefented us with her productions in the fulleft perfection, unbiaffed in fentiment by cuftom, or unreftrained in manner by art. Their fhape and limbs were elegantly formed. For, as their drefs confifted only of a piece of glazed cloth faftened about the waift, and fcarcely reaching fo low as the knees, in many we had an opportunity of observing every This dance was not finished, when we heard part. a noife, as if fome horfes had been galloping toward us; and, on looking alide, we law the people armed with clubs, who had been defired, as we fuppofed, to entertain us with the fight of their manner of fighting. This they now did, one party purfuing another who fled.

As we supposed the ceremony of being introduced to the Chiefs was at an end, we began to look about for Mr. Gore and Omai; and, though the crowd would hardly fuffer us to move, we at length found them coming up, as much incommoded by the number of people as we had been, and introduced in the fame manner to the three Chiefs, whofe names were Otteroo, Taroa, and Fatou-Each of these expected a present; and weera. Mr. Gore gave them fuch things as he had brought with him from the ship, for that purpole. After this, making use of Omai as his interpreter, he informed the Chiefs with what intention we had come on fhore; but was given to underftand, that he must wait till the next day, and then he should have what was wanted.

189

April.

Thev

They now feemed to take fome pains to feparate us from each other; and every one of us had his circle, to furround and gaze at him. For my own part, I was, at one time, above an hour apart from my friends; and when I told the Chief, with whom I fat, that I wanted to fpeak to Omai, he peremptorily refused my request. At the same time, I found the people began to fteal feveral trifling things which I had in my pocket; and when I took the liberty of complaining to the Chief of this treatment, he juffified it. From these circumstances, I now entertained apprehenfions, that they might have formed the defign of detaining us amongst them. They did not, indeed, feem to be of a disposition fo favage, as to make us anxious for the fafety of our perfons; but it was, neverthelefs, vexing to think, we had hazarded being detained by their curiofity. In this fituation, I asked for fomething to eat; and they readily brought to me fome cocoa-nuts, bread-fruit, and a fort of four pudding, which was prefented by a woman. And on my complaining much of the heat, occafioned by the crowd, the Chief himfelf condefcended to fan me, and gave me a fmall piece of cloth, which he had round his waift.

Mr. Burney happened to come to the place where I was, I mentioned my fufpicions to him; and, to put it to the teft, whether they were well-founded, we attempted to get to the beach. But we were ftopped, when about half-way, by fome men, who told us, that we must go back to the place which we had left. On coming up, we found Omai entertaining the fame apprehenfions. But he had, as he fancied, an additional reafon for being afraid; for he had obferved, that they had dug a hole in the ground for an oven, which they were now heating; and he could affign no other reafon for this, than that they meant to roaft, and

and eat us, as is practifed by the inhabitants of New Zealand. Nay, he went fo far as to ask them the queftion; at which they were greatly surprifed, asking, in return, whether that was a custom with us? Mr. Burney and I were rather angry that they should be thus suspected by him; there having, as yet, been no appearances, in their conduct toward us, of their being capable of such brutality.

In this manner we were detained the greatest part of the day, being fometimes together, and fometimes separated; but always in a crowd; who, not fatisfied with gazing at us, frequently defired us to uncover parts of our fkin; the fight of which commonly produced a general murmur of admiration. At the fame time, they did not omit these opportunities of rifling our pockets; and, at last, one of them snatched a small bayonet from Mr. Gore, which hung in its fheath by This was reprefented to the Chief, who his fide. pretended to fend fome perfon in fearch of it. But, in all probability, he countenanced the theft; for, foon after, Omai had a dagger ftolen from his fide, in the fame manner; though he did not mis it immediately.

Whether they observed any signs of uneasiness in us, or that they voluntarily repeated their emblems of friendship when we expressed their emblems of friendship when we expressed a defire to go, I cannot tell; but, at this time, they brought fome green boughs, and flicking their ends in the ground, defired we might hold them as we fat. Upon our urging again the business we came upon, they gave us to understand, that we must stay and eat with them; and a pig which we faw, foon after, lying near the oven, which they had prepared and heated, removed Omai's apprehensions of being put into it himself; and made us think it might be intended for our repast.

paft. The Chief also promifed to fend fome people to procure food for the cattle; but it was not till pretty late in the afternoon, that we faw them return with a few plantain-trees, which they carried to our boats.

In the mean time, Mr. Burney and I attempted again to go to the beach; but when we arrived, found ourfelves watched by people, who, to appearance, had been placed there for this purpofe. For when I tried to wade in upon the reef, one of them took hold of my clothes, and dragged me back. I picked up fome fmall pieces of coral, which they required me to throw down again; and, on my refufal, they made no fcruple to take them forcibly from me. I had gathered fome fmall plants; but these also I could not be permitted to retain. And they took a fan from Mr. Burney, which he had received as a prefent on coming ashore. Omai said, we had done wrong in taking up any thing; for it was not the cuftom here to permit freedoms of that kind to ftrangers, till they had, in fome measure, naturalized them to the country, by entertaining them with feftivity for two or three days.

Finding that the only method of procuring better treatment was to yield implicit obedience to their will, we went up again to the place we had left; and they now promifed, that we fhould have a canoe to carry us off to our boats, after we had eaten of a repart which had been prepared for us.

Accordingly, the fecond Chief, to whom we had been introduced in the morning, having feated himfelf upon a low broad ftool of blackifh hard wood, tolerably polified, and directing the multitude to make a pretty large ring, made us fit down by him. A confiderable number of cocoa-nuts

2

192

were

were now brought; and, shortly after, a long green basket, with a sufficient quantity of baked April. plantains to have ferved a dozen perfons. A piece of the young hog, that had been dreffed, was then fet before each of us, of which we were defired to eat. Our appetites, however, had failed, from the fatigue of the day; and though we did eat a little to pleafe them, it was without fatisfaction to ourfelves.

It being now near fun-fet, we told them it was time to go on board. This they allowed; and fent down to the beach the remainder of the victuals that had been dreffed, to be carried with us to the fhips. But, before we fet out, Omai was treated with a drink he had been used to in his own country; which, we observed, was made here, as at other iflands in the South Sea, by chewing the root of a fort of pepper. We found a canoe ready to put us off to our boats, which the natives did, with the fame caution as when we landed. But, even here, their thievish disposition did not leave them. For a perfon of fome confequence among them, who came with us, took an opportunity, just as they were pushing the canoe into the furf, to fnatch a bag out of her, which I had, with the greateft difficulty, preferved all the day; there being in it a fmall pocket-piftol, which I was unwilling to part with. Perceiving him, I called out, expressing as much displeasure as I could. On which he thought proper to return, and fwim with the bag to the canoe; but denied he had ftolen it, though detected in the very act. They put us on board our boats, with the cocoa-nuts, plantains, and other provisions, which they had brought; and we rowed to the thips, very well pleased that we had at last got out of the hands of our troublesome mafters. 0

Vol. I.

We

We regretted much, that our reftrained fituation gave us fo little opportunity of making obfervations on the country. For, during the whole day, we were feldom a hundred yards from the place where we were introduced to the Chiefs on landing; and, confequently, were confined to the furrounding objects. The first thing that prefented itself, worthy of our notice, was the number of people; which must have been, at least, two thoufand. For those who welcomed us on the fhore, bore no proportion to the multitude we found amongst the trees, on proceeding a little way up.

We could also observe, that, except a few, those we had hitherto feen on board, were of the lower class. For a great number of those we now met with, had a fuperior dignity in their air, and were of a much whiter caft. In general, they had the hair tied on the crown of the head, long, black, and of a most luxuriant growth. Many of the young men were perfect models in fhape, of a complexion as delicate as that of the women, and, to appearance, of a disposition as amiable. Others, who were more advanced in years, were corpulent; and all had a remarkable fmoothnefs of the fkin. Their general drefs was a piece of cloth, or mat, wrapped about the waift, and covering the parts which modefly conceals. But fome had pieces of mats, most curiously varied with black and white, made into a fort of jacket without fleeves; and others wore conical caps of cocoa-nut core, neatly interwoven with fmall beads, made of a shelly fubstance. Their ears were pierced; and in them they hung bits of the membraneous part of fome plant, or fluck there an odoriferous flower, which feemed to be a species of gardenia. Some, who were of a superior class, and also the Chiefs, had two little balls, with a common bafe, made from the

the bone of fome animal, which was hung round the neck, with a great many folds of fmall cord. April. And after the ceremony of introduction to the Chiefs was over, they then appeared without their red feathers; which are certainly confidered here as a particular mark of diffinction; for none but themfelves, and the young women who danced, affumed them.

Some of the men were punctured all over the fides and back, in an uncommon manner; and fome of the women had the fame ornament on their legs. But this method was confined to those who feemed to be of a fuperior rank; and the men, in that cafe, were also generally diffinguished by their fize and corpulence, unlefs very young. The women of an advanced age had their hair cropped fhort; and many were cut, in oblique lines, all over the fore-part of the body; and fome of the wounds, which formed rhomboidal figures, had been to lately inflicted, that the coagulated blood ftill remained in them.

The wife of one of the Chiefs appeared with her child, laid in a piece of red cloth, which had been prefented to her hufband; and feemed to carry it with great tendernefs, fuckling it much after the manner of our women. Another Chief introduced his daughter, who was young and beautiful; but appeared with all the timidity natural to the fex; though the gazed on us with a kind of anxious concern, that feemed to ftruggle with her fear, and to express her aftonishment at so unufual a fight. Others advanced with more firmnefs, and, indeed, were lefs referved than we expected; but behaved with a becoming modefty. We did not observe any personal deformities amongst either fex; except in a few who had fcars of broad fuperficial ulcers, remaining on the face Q 2

face and other parts. In proportion to the number of people affembled, there appeared not many old 'men_or women; which may eafily be accounted for, by fuppoling that fuch as were in an advanced period of life, might neither have the inclination, nor the ability, to come from the more diftant parts of the ifland. On the other hand, the children were numerous; and both thefe, and the men, climbed the trees to look at us, when we were hid by the furrounding crowd.

About a third part of the men were armed with clubs and fpears; and, probably, thefe were only the perfons who had come from a diftance, as many of them had fmall bafkets, mats, and other things, faftened to the ends of their weapons. The clubs were generally about fix feet long, made of a hard black wood, lance-fhaped at the end, but much broader, with the edge nicely fcolloped, and the whole neatly polified. Others of them were narrower at the point, much fhorter, and plain; and fome were even fo fmall, as to be ufed with one hand. The fpears were made of the fame wood, fimply pointed; and, in general, above twelve feet long; though fome were fo fhort, that they feemed intended to be thrown as darts.

The place where we were all the day, was under the fhade of various trees; in which they preferved their canoes from the fun. About eight or ten of them were here, all double ones; that is, two fingle ones faftened together (as is ufual, throughout the whole extent of the Pacific Ocean), by rafters lafted acrofs. They were about twenty feet long, about four feet deep, and the fides rounded with a plank raifed upon them, which was faftened ftrongly by means of withes. Two of thefe canoes were most curioufly flained, or painted, all over with black, in numberlefs fmall fi-

2

gures;

gures; as fquares, triangles, &c. and excelled, by April. far, any thing of that kind I had ever feen at any April. other ifland in this ocean. Our friends here, indeed, feemed to have exerted more fkill in doing this, than in puncturing their own bodies. The paddles were about four feet long, nearly elliptical; but broader at the upper end than the middle. Near the fame place was a hut or fhed, about thirty feet long, and nine or ten high; in which, perhaps, thefe boats are built; but, at this time, it was empty.

The greatest number of the trees around us were cocoa-palms; fome forts of *hibi/cus*; a fpecies of euphorbia; and, toward the fea, abundance of the fame kind of trees we had feen at Mangeea Nooe Nainaiwa; and which feemed to furround the fhores of this island in the fame manner. They are tall and flender, not much unlike a cyprefs; but with bunches of long, round, articulated leaves. The natives call them etoa. On the ground we faw fome grafs; a fpecies of convolvulus; and a good deal of treacle-mustard. There are alfo, doubtlefs, other fruit-trees and ufeful plants which we did not fee, For, befides feveral forts of *plantains*, they brought, at different times, roots which they call taro (the coccos of other countries); a bread-fruit; and a basket of roasted nuts, of a kidney-shape, in taste like a chesnut, but coarfer.

What the foil of the ifland may be, farther inland, we could not tell. But, toward the fea, it is nothing more than a bank of coral, ten or twelve feet high, fteep, and rugged; except where there are fmall fandy beaches, at fome clefts where the afcent is gradual. The coral, though it has, probably, been exposed to the weather for many centuries, has undergone no farther change than becoming

coming black on the furface; which, from its irregularity, is not much unlike large maffes of a burnt fubftance. But, on breaking fome pieces off, we found, that, at the depth of two or three inches, it was juft as frefh as the pieces that had been lately thrown upon the beach by the waves. The reef or rock, that lines the fhore entirely, runs to different breadths into the fea, where it ends, all at once, and becomes like a high, fteep wall. It is, nearly, even with the furface of the water, and of a brown or brick colour; but the texture is rather porous, yet fufficient to withftand the wafhing of the furf which continually breaks upon it."

Though the landing of our Gentlemen proved the means of enriching my Journal with the foregoing particulars, the principal object I had in view was, in a great measure, unattained; for the day was spent without getting any one thing from the island worth mentioning. The natives, however, were gratified with a sight they never before had; and, probably, will never have again. And mere curiosity seems to have been their chief motive for keeping the gentlemen under such restraint, and for using every art to prolong their continuance amongs them.

It has been mentioned, that Omai was fent upon this expedition; and, perhaps, his being Mr. Gore's interpreter was not the only fervice he performed this day. He was afked, by the natives, a great many queftions concerning us, our fhips, our country, and the fort of arms we ufed; and, according to the account he gave me, his anfwers were not a little upon the marvellous. As, for inftance, he told them, that our country had fhips as large as their ifland; on board which were inftruments of war (defcribing our guns), of fuch dimenfions, that feveral people might fit within them; and that one of them them was fufficient to crush the whole island at one April. fhot. This led them to inquire of him, what fort of guns we actually had in our two fhips. He faid, that though they were but fmall, in comparifon with those he had just described, yet, with fuch as they were, we could, with the greatest eafe, and at the diftance the ships were from the fhore, deftroy the ifland, and kill every foul in it. They perfevered in their inquiries, to know by what means this could be done; and Omai explained the matter as well as he could. He happened luckily to have a few cartridges in his pocket. Thefe he produced; the balls, and the gunpowder which was to fet them in motion, were fubmitted to infpection; and to fupply the defects of his defeription, an appeal was made to the fenfes of the fpec-It has been mentioned above, that one of tators. the Chiefs had ordered the multitude to form themfelves into a circle. This furnished Omai with a convenient stage for his exhibition. In the center of this amphitheatre, the inconfiderable quantity of gunpowder, collected from his cartridges, was properly disposed upon the ground, and, by means of a bit of burning wood from the oven, where dinner was dreffing, fet on fire. The fudden blaft, and loud report, the mingled flame and fmoke, that inftantly fucceeded, now filled the whole affembly with aftonifhment; they no longer doubted the tremendous power of our weapons, and gave full credit to all that Omai had faid.

If it had not been for the terrible ideas they conceived of the guns of our thips, from this fpecimen of their mode of operation, it was thought that they would have detained the gentlemen all night. For Omai affured them, that, if he and his companions did not return on board the fame day, they might expect that I would fire upon the ifland.

ifland. And as we ftood in nearer the land in the evening, than we had done any time before, of which polition of the fhips they were obferved to take great notice, they, probably, thought we were meditating this formidable attack; and, therefore, fuffered their guefts to depart; under the expectation, however, of feeing them again on fhore next morning. But I was too fenfible of the rifk they had already run, to think of a repetition of the experiment.

This day, it feems, was defined to give Omai more occafions than one, of being brought forward to bear a principal part in its transactions. The island, though never before visited by Europeans, actually happened to have other strangers refiding in it; and it was entirely owing to Omai's being one of Mr. Gore's attendants, that this curious circumstance came to our knowledge.

Scarcely had he been landed upon the beach, when he found amongft the crowd there affembled, three of his own countrymen, natives of the Society Iflands. At the diffance of about two hundred leagues from those iflands, an immense unknown ocean intervening, with fuch wretched fea-boats as their inhabitants are known to make use of, and fit only for a passe where fight of land is fcarcely ever loft, fuch a meeting, at fuch a place, so accidentally visited by us, may well be looked upon as one of those unexpected fituations, with which the writers of feigned adventures love to furprise their readers, and which, when they really happen in common life, deferve to be recorded for their fingularity.

It may eafily be gueffed, with what mutual furprife and fatisfaction Omai and his countrymen engaged in conversation. Their ftory, as related by them, is an affecting one. About twenty perfons in number,

200 1777

April.

number, of both fexes, had embarked on board a canoe at Otaheite, to crofs over to the neigh- April. bouring island Ulietea. A violent contrary wind arifing, they could neither reach the latter, nor get back to the former. Their intended paffage being a very fhort one, their flock of provisions was fcanty and foon exhaufted. The hardfhips they fuffered, while driven along by the ftorm, they knew not whither, are not to be conceived. They paffed many days without having any thing to eat or drink. Their numbers gradually diminished, worn out by famine and fatigue. Four men only furvived, when the canoe overfet; and then the perdition of this fmall remnant feemed inevitable. However, they kept hanging by the fide of their veffel, during fome of the laft days, till Providence brought them in fight of the people of this island, who immediately fent out canoes, took them off their wreck, and brought them ashore. Of the four who were thus faved, one was fince dead. The other three, who lived to have this opportunity of giving an account of their almost miraculous transplantation, fpoke highly of the kind treatment they here met with. And fo well fatisfied were they with their fituation, that they refused the offer made to them by our gentlemen, at Omai's requeft, of giving them a passage on board our ships, to restore them to their native islands. The fimilarity of manners and language, had more than naturalized them to this fpot; and the fresh connexions which they had here formed, and which it would have been painful to have broken off, after fuch a length of time, fufficiently account for their declining to revifit the places of their birth. They had arrived upon this island at least twelve years ago. For I learnt from Mr. Anderson, that he found they knew nothing of Captain Wallis's vifit to

201

1777.

to Otaheite in 1765; nor of feveral other memorable occurrences, fuch as the conqueft of Ulietea by those of Bolabola, which had preceded the arrival of the Europeans. To Mr. Anderson I am also indebted for their names, Orououte, Otirreroa, and Tavee; the first, born at Matavai in Otaheite; the fecond, at Ulietea; and the third at Huaheine.

The landing of our gentlemen on this island, though they failed in the object of it, cannot but be confidered as a very fortunate circumftance. It has proved, as we have feen the means of bringing to our knowledge a matter of fact, not only very curious, but very inftructive. The application of the above narrative is obvious. It will ferve to explain, better than a thousand conjectures of speculative reasoners, how the detached parts of the earth, and, in particular, how the islands of the South Sea, may have been first peopled; especially those that lie remote from any inhabited continent, or from each other *.

* Such accidents as this here related, probably happen frequently in the Pacific Ocean. In 1696, two cances, having on board thirty perfons of both fexes, were driven by contrary winds and tempelluous weather, on the ifle of Samal, one of the Philippines, after being toft about at fea feventy days, and having performed a voyage, from an ifland called by them Amorfet, soo leagues to the Eaft of Samal. Five of the number who had embarked, died of the hardhips fuffered during this extraordinary paflage. See a particular account of them, and of the iflands they belonged to, in *Lettres Edifantes & Curieufes*, Tom. xv. from p. 196. to p. 215. In the fame Volume, from p. 282. to p. 320. we have the relation of a fimilar adventure, in 1721; when two cances, one containing twenty-four, and the other fix perfons, men, women, and children, were driven, from an ifland they called Farroil-p, Northward to the ifle of Guam, or Guahan, one of the Ladrones or Mariannes. But thefe had not failed fo far as their countrymen, who reached Samal as above, and they had been at fea only twenty days. There feems to be no reainformation contained in the letters of the Jefuits, about thefe iflands, now known under the name of the Carolines, and difcovered to the Spaniards by the arrival of the cances at Samal and Guam, has been adopted by all our later writers. See Prefident de Broffe's *Voyages aux Terres Auftrales*, Tom. ii from p. 443. to p. 490. See allo the *Modern Univerfal Hiftory*.

This

This island is called Wateeoo by the natives. It lies in the latitude of 20° 1' South, and in the April. longitude 201° 45' East, and is about fix leagues in circumference. It is a beautiful fpot, with a furface composed of hills and plains, and covered with verdure of many hues. Our gentlemen found the foil, where they paffed the day, to be light and fandy. But farther up the country, a different fort, perhaps, prevails; as we faw from the ship, by the help of our glasses, a reddish cast upon the rifing grounds. There the inhabitants have their houses; for we could perceive two or three, which were long and fpacious. Its produce, with the addition of hogs, we found to be the fame as at the last island we had visited, which the people of this, to whom we pointed out its position, called Owhavarouah; a name so different from Mangeea Nooe Nainaiwa, which we learnt from its own inhabitants, that it is highly probable Owhavarouah is another ifland.

From the circumftances already mentioned, it appears, that Wateeoo can be of little use to any ship that wants refreshment, unless in a case of the most absolute necessity. The natives, knowing now the value of fome of our commodities, might be induced to bring off fruits and hogs, to a fhip flanding off and on, or to boats lying off the reef, as ours did. It is doubtful, however, if any fresh water could be procured. For, though fome was brought, in cocoa nut fhells, to the gentlemen, they were told, that it was at a confiderable diftance; and, probably it is only to be met with in fome ftagnant pool, as no running ftream was any where feen.

According to Omai's report of what he learnt in conversation with his three countrymen, the manners of these islanders, their method of treating

1777-

ing ftrangers, and their general habits of life, are much like those that prevail at Otaheite, and its neighbouring ifles. Their religious ceremonies and opinions are also nearly the same. For, upon feeing one man, who was painted all over of a deep black colour, and inquiring the reason, our gentlemen were told, that he had lately been paying the laft good offices to a deceafed friend; and they found, that it was upon fimilar occafions, the women cut themfelves, as already mentioned. From every circumstance, indeed, it is indubitable, that the natives of Wateeoo fprung, originally, from the fame flock, which hath fpread itfelf to wonderfully all over the immente extent of the South Sea. One would fuppofe, however, that they put in their claim to a more illustrious extraction; for Omai affured us, that they dignified their island with the appellation of Wenova no te Eatooa, that is, A land of gods; efteeming themfelves a fort of divinities, and poffeffed with the fpirit of the Eatooa. This wild enthufaftic notion Omai feemed much to approve of, telling us there were inftances of its being entertained at Otaheite; but that it was universally prevalent amongst the inhabitants of Mataia, or Ofnaburg Ifland.

The language (poken at Wateeco was equally well underftood by Omai, and by our two New Zealanders. What its peculiarities may be, when compared with the other dialects, I am not able to point out, for, though Mr. Anderfon had taken care to note down a fpecimen of it, the natives, who made no diffinction of the objects of their theft, ftole the memorandum book.

CHAP.

CHAP. III.

Wenooa-ette, or Otakootaia, visited. — Account of that Island, and of its Produce. — Hervey's Island, or Terougge mou Attooa, found to be inbabited.—Transfactions with the Natives.—Their Persons, Drefs, Lauguage, Canoes. — Fruitless Attempt to land there. — Reasons for bearing away for the Friendly Islands. — Palmerston's Island touched at.—Description of the two Places where the Boats landed.—Refreshments obtained there. — Conjectures on the Formation of such low Islands.—Arrival at the Friendly Islands.

L IGHT airs and calms having prevailed, by turns, all the night of the 3d, the Eafterly fwell had carried the fhips fome diftance from Wateeoo, before day-break. But as I had failed in Friday 4. my object of procuring, at that place, fome effectual fupply, I faw no reafon for flaying there any longer. I, therefore quitted it, without regret, and fteered for the neighbouring ifland, which, as has been mentioned, we difcovered three days before.

With a gentle breeze at Eaft, we got up with it, before ten o'clock in the morning, and I immediately difpatched Mr. Gore, with two boats, to endeavour to land, and get fome food for our cattle. As there feemed to be no inhabitants here to obflruct our taking away whatever we might think proper, I was confident of his being able to make amends

amends for our late difappointment, if the landing could be effected. There was a reef here furrounding the land, as at Wateeoo, and a confiperable furf breaking against the rocks. Notwithflanding which, our boats no fooner reached the lee, or West fide of the island, but they ventured in, and Mr. Gore and his party got fafe on fhore. I could, from the fhip, fee that they had fucceeded fo far; and I immediately fent a fmall boat to know what farther affiftance was wanting. She did not return till three o'clock in the afternoon, having waited to take in a lading of what useful produce the ifland afforded. As foon as the was cleared fhe was fent again for another cargo; the Jolly boat was also dispatched, and Mr. Gore was ordered to be on board, with all the boats, before night; which was complied with.

The supply obtained here, confisted of about a hundred cocoa nuts for each fhip; and befides this refreshment for ourselves, we got for our cattle fome grafs, and a quantity of the leaves and branches of young cocoa trees, and of the wharra tree, as it is called at Otaheite, the pandanus of the East Indies. This latter being of a loft, spungy, juicy nature, the cattle eat it very well, when cut into fmall pieces; fo that it might be faid without any deviation from truth, that we fed them upon billet wood.

This island lies in the latitude of 19° 51' South. and the longitude of 201° 37 East, about three or four leagues from Wateeoo, the inhabitants of which called it Otakootaia; and fometimes they spoke of it under the appellation of Wenovaette. which fignifies little ifland. Mr. Anderfon who was on thore with our party, and walked round it, gueffed that it could not be much more than three miles in circuit. From him I also learned the fol-T

lowing

lowing particulars. The beach, within the reef, is <u>April</u>, composed of a white coral fand; above which, the land within does not rife above fix or feven feet, and is covered with a light reddish foil; but is entirely defitute of water.

The only common trees found there were cocoapalms, of which there were feveral clufters; and vaft numbers of the wharra: There were, likewife, the callophyllum, furiana, guettarda, a fpecies of tourneforia, and tahernæ montanæ, with a few other fhrubs; and fome of the etoa rree feen at Wateeoo. A fort of bind weed over-ran the vacant fpaces; except in fome places, where was found a confiderable quantity of treacle multard, a fpecies of fpurge, with a few other fmall plants, and the morinda citrifolia; the fruit of which is eaten by the natives of Otaheite in times of fcarcity. Omai, who had landed with the party, dreffed fome of it for their dinner; but it proved very indifferent.

The only bird feen amongs the trees, was a beautiful cuckoo, of a chefnut brown, variegated with black, which was shot. But, upon the shore, were fome egg-birds; a small fort of curlew; blue and white herons; and great numbers of noddies; which last, at this time, laid their eggs, a little farther up, on the ground, and often rested on the *wbarra* tree.

One of our people caught a lizard, of a moft forbidding afpect, though fmall, running up a tree; and many, of another fort, were feen. The bufnes toward the fea, were frequented by infinite numbers of a fort of moth, elegantly fpeckled with red, black, and white. There were also feveral other forts of moths, as well as fome pretty butterflies; and a few other infects.

Though

Though there were, at this time, no fixed in habitants upon the ifland, indubitable marks remained of its being, at leaft, occasionally frequent-

ed. In particular, a few empty huts were found. There were also feveral large stones erected, like monuments, under the shade of some trees; and feveral spaces inclosed with smaller ones; where, probably, the dead had been buried. And, in one place, a great many cockle-shells, of a particular fort, finely grooved, and larger than the first, were to be seen; from which it was reasonable to conjecture, that the island had been visited by perfons who feed, partly, on shell-fiss. In one of the huts, Mr. Gore left a hatchet, and some nails, to the full value of what we took away.

As foon as the boats were hoifted in, I made fail again to the northward, with a light air of wind Easterly; intending to try our fortune at Hervey's Ifland, which was difcovered in 1772, during my last voyage *. Although it was not above fifteen leagues diftant, yet we did not get fight of it Sunday 6. till day-break in the morning of the 6th, when it bore West South West, at the distance of about three leagues. As we drew near it, at eight o'clock, we observed several canoes put off from the fhore; and they came directly toward the thips. This was a fight that, indeed, furprifed me, as no figns of inhabitants were feen when the ifland was first discovered; which might be owing to a pretty brifk wind that then blew, and prevented their canoes venturing out, as the thips paffed to leeward; whereas now we were to windward.

> * See Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 190, where this island is faid to be about fix leagues in circuit.

As

As we still kept on toward the island, fix or feven of the canoes, all double ones, foon came near, us. There were, from three to fix men, in each of them. They flopped at the diftance of about a stone's throw from the ship; and it was some time before Omai could prevail upon them to come along-fide; but no intreaties could induce any of them to venture on board. Indeed their diforderly and clamorous behaviour, by no means indicated a disposition to truft us, or treat us well. We afterward learnt that they had attempted to take fome oars out of the Discovery's boat, that lay along-fide, and ftruck a man who endeavoured to prevent them. They also cut away, with a shell, a net with meat, which hung over that thip's ftern, and abfolutely refused to reftore it; though we, afterward, purchased it from them. Thofe who were about our fhip, behaved in the fame daring manner; for they made a fort of hook, of a long flick, with which they endeavoured, openly, to rob us of feveral things; and, at laft, actually got a frock belonging to one of our people, that was towing over-board. At the fame time. they immediately fhewed a knowledge of bartering, and fold fome fifh they had (amongft which was an extraordinary flounder, spotted like porphyry; and a crame-coloured eel, fpotted with black), for fmall nails, of which they were immoderately fond, and called them goore. But, indeed, they caught, with the greatest avidity, bits of paper, or any thing elfe that was thrown to them; and if what was thrown fell into the fea, they made no feruple to fwim after it.

There people feemed to differ as much in perfon, as in difpolition, from the natives of Wateeoo; though the diftance between the two iflands is not very great. Their colour was of a deeper caft; and leveral had a fierce, rugged afpect, refem-Vol. I. P bling 1777. April.

bling the natives of New Zealand; but fome were fairer. They had (trong black hair, which, in general, they wore either hanging loofe about the fhoulders, or tied in a bunch on the crown of the head. Some, however, had it cropped pretty fhort; and, in two or three of them, it was of a brown, or reddifh colour. Their only covering was a narrow piece of mat, wrapt feveral times round the lower part of the body, and which paffed between the thighs; but a fine cap of red feathers was feen lying in one of the canoes. The shell of a pearl-oyster polished, and hung about the neck, was the only ornamental fashion that we observed amongst them; for not one of them had adopted that mode of ornament, fo generally prevalent amongst the natives of this Ocean, of puncturing, or tatooing their bodies.

Though fingular in this, we had the most unequivocal proofs of their being of the fame common race. Their language approached ftill nearer to the dialect of Otaheite, than that of Wateeoo, or Mangeea. Like the inhabitants of these two islands, they inquired from whence our ships came; and whither bound; who was our Chief; the number of our men on board; and even the ship's name. And they very readily answered fuch queftions as we proposed to them. Amongst other things, they told us, they had feen two great fhips, like ours, before; but that they had not fpoken There can be no with them as they failed paft. doubt, that these were the Resolution and Adventure. We learnt from them, that the name of their island is Terouggemou Atooa; and that they were fubject to Teerevatooeah, king of Wateeoo *. According to the account that they

[•] The reader will observe, that this name bears little affinity to any one of the names of the three Chiefs of Wateeoo, as preferved by Mr. Anderfon.

gave, their articles of food are cocoa-nuts, fifh, and turtle; the ifland not producing plantains, or bread-fruit; and being deftitute of hogs and dogs. Their canoes, of which near thirty were, at one time, in fight, are pretty large and well built. In the conftruction of the ftern, they bear fome refemblance to those of Wateeoo; and the head projects out nearly in the fame manner; but the extremity is turned up inftead of down.

Having but very little wind, it was one o'clock before we drew near the North West part of the ifland; the only part where there feemed to be any probability of finding anchorage for our fhips, or a landing-place for our boats. In this polition, I fent Lieutenant King, with two armed boats, to found and reconnoitre the coaft, while we ftood off and on with the fhips. The inftant the boats were hoifted out, our visiters in the canoes, who had remained along-fide all the while, bartering their little trifles, fuspended their traffic, and, pushing for the fhore as faft as they could, came near us no more.

At three o'clock, the boats returned; and Mr. King informed me, " That there was no anchorage for the fhips; and that the boats could only land on the outer edge of the reef, which lay about a quarter of a mile from the dry land. He faid, that a number of the natives came down upon the reef, armed with long pikes and clubs, as if they intended to oppose his landing. And yet, when he drew near enough, they threw tome cocoa-nuts to our people, and invited them to come on fhore; though, at the very fame time, he observed that the women were very bufy bringing down a fresh supply of spears and darts. But, as he had no motive P 2 to

1777. April.

to land, he did not give them an opportunity to use them."

Having received this report, I confidered, that, as the ships could not be brought to an anchor, we should find that the attempt to procure grais here, would occafion much delay, as well as be attended with fome danger. Befides, we were equally in want of water; and though the inhabitants had told us, that there was water on their island, yet we neither knew in what quantity, nor from what diftance, we might be obliged to fetch it. And, after all, supposing no other obstruction, we were fure, that to get over the reef, would be an operation equally difficult and tedious.

Being thus disappointed at all the islands we had met with, fince our leaving New Zealand, and the unfavourable winds, and other unforefeen circumftances, having unavoidably retarded our progrefs fo much, it was now impoffible to think of doing any thing this year, in the high latitudes of the Northern hemisphere, from which we were still at fo great a distance, though the feason for our operations there was already begun. In this fituation, it was absolutely necessary to purfue fuch measures as were most likely to preferve the cattle we had on board, in the first place; and, in the next place (which was still a more capital object), to fave the ftores and provisions of the ships, that we migh be better enabled to profecute our Northern difcoveries, which could not now commence till a year later than was originally intended.

If I had been to fortunate as to have procured a fupply of water, and of grass, at any of the islands we had lately vifited, it was my purpose to have ftood

ftood back to the South, till I had met with a Weft-1777. April. erly wind. But the certain confequence of doing this, without fuch a fupply, would have been the lofs of all the cattle, before we could poffibly reach Otaheite, without gaining any one advantage, with regard to the great object of our voyage.

I, therefore, determined to bear away for the Friendly Islands, where I was fure of meeting with abundance of every thing I wanted : and it being neceffary to run in the night, as well as in the day, I ordered Captain Clerke to keep about a league ahead of the Refolution. I used this precaution, because his ship could best claw off the land; and it was very poffible we might fall in with fome, in our paffage.

The longitude of Hervey's Island, when first discovered, deduced from Otaheite, by the timekeeper, was found to be 201° 6' Eaft, and now, by the fame time-keeper, deduced from Queen Charlotte's Sound, 200° 56' East. Hence I con-clude, that the error of the time keeper, at this time, did not exceed twelve miles in longitude.

When we bore away, I fteered Weft by South, with a fine breeze Eafterly. I proposed to proceed first to Middleburgh, or Eooa; thinking, if the wind continued favourable, that we had food enough on board, for the cattle, to last till we should reach that island. But, about noon, next Monday 7. day, those faint breezes, that had attended and retarded us fo long, again returned; and I found it neceffary to haul more to the North, to get into the latitude of Palmerston's and Savage Islands, discovered in 1774, during my last voyage*; that, if neceffity required it, we might have recourse to them.

* See Cook's Voyage, Vol. II. p. 2, 3.

This

This day, in order to fave our water, I ordered the ftill to be kept at work, from fix o'clock in the morning to four in the afternoon; during which time, we procured from thirteen to fixteen gallons of fresh water. There has been lately made fome improvement, as they are pleafed to call it, of this machine, which, in my opinion, is much for the worfe.

Thurf. 10. Thefe light breezes continued till the roth, when we had, for fome hours, the wind blowing frefh from the North, and North North Weft; being then in the latitude of 18° 38', and longitude 198° 24' Eaft. In the afternoon, we had fome thunder fqualls from the South, attended with heavy rain; of which water, we collected enough to fill five puncheons. After thefe fqualls had blown over, the wind came round to the North Eaft, and North Weft; being very unfettled both in ftrength and in pofition, till about noon the

Friday 11. next day, when it fixed at North Weft, and North North Weft, and blew a fresh breeze, with fair weather.

Thus were we perfecuted with a wind in our teeth, whichever way we directed our courfe, and we had the additional mortification to find here, those very winds, which we had reason to expect 8° or 10° farther South. They came too late; for I durft not truft their continuance; and the event proved that I judged right.

Sund. 13.

At length, at day break, in the morning of the 13th, we faw Palmerfton Island, bearing West by South, distant about five leagues. However, we

Mond. 14. did not get up with it, till eight o'clock the next morning. I then fent four boats, three from the Refolution, and one from the Difcovery, with an officer in each, to fearch the coaft for the most convenient landing-place. For, now, we were under

214

an

an abfolute neceffity of procuring, from this ifland, fome food for the cattle; otherwife we must have April. loft them.

What is comprehended under the name of Palmerfton's Island, is a group of small islots, of which there are, in the whole, nine or ten, lying in a circular direction, and connected together by a reef of The boats first examined the South coral rocks. Easternmost of the islots which compose this group ; and, failing there, ran down to the fecond, where we had the fatisfaction to fee them land. I then bore down with the fhips, till abreaft of the place, and there we kept flanding off and on. For no bottom was to be found to anchor upon; which was not of much confequence, as the party who had landed from our boats, were the only human beings upon the ifland.

About one o'clock, one of the boats came on board, laden with fcurvy-grafs and young cocoanut trees; which, at this time, was a feast for the cattle. The fame boat brought a meffage from Mr. Gore, who commanded the party, informing me, that there was plenty of fuch produce upon the ifland, as also of the wharra tree, and fome cocoa-This determined me to get a good supply of nuts. these articles, before I quitted this station; and, before evening, I went ashore in a small boat, accompanied by Captain Clerke.

We found every body hard at work, and the landing place to be in a fmall creek, formed by the reef, of fomething more than a boat's length in every direction, and covered from the force of the fea, by rocks projecting out on each fide of it. The. island is scarcely a mile in circuit; and not above three feet higher than the level of the fea. It appeared to be composed entirely of a coral fand, with a fmall mixture of blackifh mould, produced from rotten

rotten vegetables. Notwithstanding this poor foil, it is covered with trees and bushes of the fame kind as at Wenooa-ette, though with lefs variety; and amongst these are some cocoa-palms. Upon the trees or buildes that front the fea, or even farther in, we found a great number of men of war birds. Tropic birds, and two forts of boobies, which, at this time, were laying their eggs, and fo tame, that they fuffered us to take them off with our Their nefts were only a few flicks loofely hands. put together; and the Tropic birds laid their eggs on the ground, under the trees. These differ much from the common fort, being entirely of a most fplendid white, flightly tinged with red, and having the two long tail-feathers of a deep crimfon or blood colour. Of each fort, our people killed a confiderable number; and, though not the most delicate food, they were acceptable enough to us > who had been long confined to a falt diet, and who, confequently, could not but be glad of the most indifferent variety. We met with vaft numbers of red crabs, creeping about, every where amongst the trees; and we caught feveral fifh that had been left in holes upon the reef, when the fea retired.

At one part of the reef, which looks into, or bounds, the lake that is within, there was a large bed of coral, almost even with the furface; which afforded, perhaps, one of the most enchanting prospects, that Nature has, any where, produced. Its base was fixed to the shore, but reached fo far in, that it could not be seen; so that it seemed to be fuspended in the water, which deepened fo fuddenly, that, at the distance of a few yards, there might be seven or eight fathoms. The sea was, at this time, quite unruffled; and the fun, shining bright, exposed the various forts of coral, in the most beautiful order; some parts branching into the the water with great luxuriance; others, lying col-April. lected in round balls, and in various other figures; all which were greatly heightened by spangles of the richeft colours, that glowed from a number of large clams, which were every where interferfed. But the appearance of these was still inferior to that of the multitude of fifnes, that glided gently along, feemingly with the most perfect fecurity. The colours of the different forts were the most beautiful that can be imagined; the yellow, blue, red, black, &c. far exceeding any thing that art can produce. Their various forms, alfo, contributed to increase the richness of this submarine grotto, which could not be furveyed without a pleafing transport, mixed, however, with regist, that a work, fo ftupendoufly elegant, 'hould be concealed, in a place where mankind could feldom have an opportunity of rendering the praifes justly due to fo enchanting a fcene.

There were no traces of inhabitants having ever been here; if we except a fmall piece of a canoe that was found upon the beach; which, probably, may have drifted from fome other island. But, what is pretty extraordinary, we faw feveral fmall brown rats on this spot; a circumstance, perhaps, difficult to account for, unlefs we allow that they were imported in the canoe of which we faw the remains.

After the boats were laden, I returned on board, leaving Mr. Gore, with a party, to pass the night on fhore, in order to be ready to go to work early the next morning.

That day, being the 15th, was accordingly Tuefd. 15. fpent, as the preceding one had been, its collecting, and bringing on board, food for the carde, confifting chiefly of palm cabbage, young corranut trees, and the tender branches of the wharra tree. Having got a fufficient fupply of thefe, by funfet,

fet, I ordered every body on board. But having April. little or no wind, I determined to wait, and to employ the next day, by endeavouring to get fome cocoa-nuts for our people, from the next island to leeward, where we could obferve that those trees were in much greater abundance, than upon that where we had already landed, and where only the wants of our cattle had been relieved.

With this view, I kept flanding off and on, all Wedn. 16. night; and, in the morning, between eight and nine o'clock, I went with the boats to the Weft fide of the ifland, and landed with little difficulty. I immediately fet the people with me to work, to gather cocoa-nuts, which we found in great abundance. But to get them to our boats was a tedious operation; for we were obliged to carry them at leaft half a mile over the reef, up to the middle in water, Omai, who was with me, caught, with a scoop net, in a very short time, as much fish as ferved the whole party on fhore for dinner, befides fending fome to both fhips. Here were alfo great abundance of birds, particularly men-of-war and Tropic birds; fo that we fared fumptuoufly. And it is but doing justice to Omai to fay, that, in these excursions to the uninhabited islands, he was of the greateft use. For he not only caught the fifh, but dreffed thefe, and the birds we killed, in an oven, with heated ftones, after the fashion of his country, with a dexterity and good-humour that did him great credit. The boats made two trips, before night, well laden; with the laft, I returned on board, leaving Mr. Williamson, my third Lieutenant, with a party of men, to prepare another lading for the boats which I proposed to fend next morning.

I, accordingly, difpatched them at feven o'clock, Thurf. 17. and they returned laden by noon. No time was loft in

218 1777.

in fending them back for another cargo; and they 1777-April. carried orders for every body to be on board by funfet. This being complied with, we holfted in the boats and made fail to the Weftward, with a light air of wind from the North.

We found this iflot near a half larger than the other, and almost entirely covered with cocoa-palms; the greatest part of which abounded with excellent nuts, having, often, both old and young on the fame tree. They were, indeed, too thick, in many places, to grow with freedom. The other productions were, in general, the fame as at the first iflot. Two pieces of board, one of which was rudely caryed, with an elliptical paddle, were found on the beach. Probably, thefe had belonged to the fame canoe, the remains of which were feen on the other beach, as the two iflots are not above half a mile apart. A young turtle had also been lately thrown ashore here, as it was still full of maggots. There were fewer crabs than at the laft place; but we found fome fcorpions, a few other infects, and a greater number of fifh upon the reefs. Amongst these were some large eels, beautifully spotted, which, when followed, would raife themfelves out of the water, and endeavour, with an open mouth, to bite their purfuers. The other forts were, chiefly, parrot-fifh, inappers, and a brown spotted rock-fifh, about the fize of a haddock, fo tame, that, inftead of fwimming away, it would remain fixed, and gaze at us. Had we been in abfolute want, a fufficient supply might have been had; for thousands of the clams, already mentioned, fluck upon the reef, fome of which weighed two or three pounds. There were, befides, fome other forts of fhell-fifh; particularly, the large periwinkle. When the tide flowed, feveral fharks came in, over the reef, fome of which our people killed; but they rendered

1777. April.

, rendered it rather dangerous to walk in the water at that time.

The party who were left on fhore with Mr. Williamion, were a good deal peftered (as Mr. Gore's had been) with musquitoes, in the night. Some of them, in their excursions, fhot two curlews, exactly like those of England; and faw fome plovers, or fand-pipers, upon the fhore; but, in the wood, no other bird, besides one or two of the cuckoos that were feen at Wenooa-ette.

Upon the whole, we did not fpend our time unprofitably at this iflot; for we got there about twelve hundred cocoa-nuts, which were equally divided amongst the whole crew; and were, doubtlefs, of great use to them, both on account of the juice and of the kernel. A fhip, therefore, paffing this way, if the weather be moderate, may expect to fucceed as we did. But there is no water upon either of the iflots where we landed. Were that article to be had, and a paffage could be got into the lake, as we may call it, furrounded by the reef, where a fhip could anchor, 1 fhould prefer this to any of the inhabited iflands, if the only want were refreshment. For the quantity of fish that might be procured, would be sufficient; and the people might roam about unmolefted by the petulance of any inhabitants.

The nine or ten low iflots, comprehended under the name of Palmerston's Island, may be reckoned the heads or summits of the reef of coral rock, that connects them together, covered only with a thin coat of fand, yet clothed, as already observed, with trees and plants, most of which are of the fame forts that are found on the low grounds of the high islands of this ocean.

There

· There are different opinions, amongst ingenious 1777. April. theorifts, concerning the formation of fuch low islands as Palmerston's. Some will have it, that, in remote times, these little separate heads or islots were joined, and formed one continued and more elevated tract of land, which the fea, in the revolution of ages, has washed away, leaving only the higher grounds; which, in time, alfo, will, according to this theory, fhare the fame fate. Another conjecture is, that they have been thrown up by earthquakes, and are the effect of internal convulfions of the globe. A third opinion, and which appears to me as the most probable one, maintains, that they are formed from fhoals, or coral banks, and, of confequence, increafing. Without mentioning the feveral arguments made use of in fupport of each of these systems. I shall only describe fuch parts of Palmerfton's Island, as fell under my own obfervation when I landed upon it.

The foundation is, every where, a coral rock : the foil is coral fand, with which the decayed vegetables have, but in a few places, intermixed, fo as to form any thing like mould. From this, a very ftrong prefumption may be drawn, that these little spots of land, are not of very ancient date, nor the remains of larger iflands now buried in the ocean. For, upon either of these suppolitions, more mould must have been formed, or fome part of the original foil would have remained. Another circumstance confirmed this doctrine of the increase of these islots. We found upon them, far beyond the prefent reach of the fea, even in the most violent storms, elevated coral rocks, which, on examination, appeared to have been perforated, in the fame manner that the rocks are, that now compose the outer edge of the reef. This evidently shews, that the fea I

April. April. fea had formerly reached fo far; and fome of thefe perforated rocks were almost in the centre of the land.

But the ftrongeft proof of the increase, and from the caufe we have affigned, was the gentle gradation observable in the plants round the skirts of the illands; from within a few inches of highwater mark, to the edge of the wood. In many places, the divisions of the plants, of different growths, were very diftinguishable, especially on the lee, or west-fide. This, I apprehend, to have been the operation of extraordinary high tides, occafioned by violent, accidental gales from the Weftward; which have heaped up the fand beyond the reach of common tides. The regular and gentle operation of thefe latter, again, throw up fand enough to form a barrier against the next extraordinary high tide, or ftorm, fo as to prevent its reaching as far as the former had done, and deftroying the plants that may have begun to vegetate from cocoa-nuts, roots, and feed brought thither by birds, or thrown up by the fea. This. doubtless, happens very frequently; for we found many cocoa-nuts, and fome other things, just fprouting up, only a few inches beyond where the fea reaches at prefent, in places where, it was evident, they could not have had their origin from those, farther in, already arrived at their full growth. At the fame time, the increase of vegetables will add fast to the height of this new-created land; as the fallen leaves, and broken branches, are, in fuch a climate, foon converted into a true black mould, or foil *.

Perhaps

^{*} Mr. Anderfon, in his Journal, mentions the following particulars, relative to Palmeriton's Island, which firongly confirm Captain Cook's opinion about its formation. "On the last of "the two islots, where we landed, the trees, being in great "numbers,

Perhaps there is another caufe, which, if allowed, will accelerate the increafe of thefe iflands as much as any other ; and will alfo account for the fea having receded from those elevated rocks before-mentioned. This is, the fpreading of the coral bank, or reef, into the fea ; which, in my opinion, is continually, though imperceptibly, affected. The waves receding, as the reef grows in breadth and height, leave a dry rock behind, ready for the reception of the broken coral and fand, and every other deposit neceffary for the formation of land fit for the vegetation of plants.

In this manner, there is little doubt, that, in time, the whole reef will become one ifland; and, I think, it will extend gradually inward, either from the increase of the islots already formed; or from the formation of new ones, upon the beds of coral, within the inclosed lake, if once they increase so as to rife above the level of the fea.

After leaving Palmerfton's Ifland, I fteered Weft, with a view to make the beft of my way to Annamooka. We ftill continued to have variable winds, frequently between the North and Weft, with fqualls, fome thunder, and much rain. During thefe fhowers, which were, generally, very copious, we faved a confiderable quantity of water;

and

223

[&]quot; numbers, had already formed, by their rotten parts, little " rifings or eminences, which, in time, from the fame caufe, " may become fmall hills. Whereas, on the first islot, the trees " being lefs numerous, no fuch thing had, as yet, happened. " Neverthelefs, on that little fpot, the manner of formation " was more plainly pointed out. For, adjoining to it, was a " fmall isle, which had, doubtlefs, been very lately formed; as " it was not, as yet, covered with any trees, but had a great ma-" ny fhrubs, fome of which were growing among pieces of coral " that the fea had thrown up. There was ttill a more fure proof " of this method of formation a little farther on, where two " patches of fand, about fifry yards long, and a foot or eighteen " inches high, lay upon the reef, but not, as yet, furnished with " a fingle buth, or tree."

1777. April.

and finding that we could get a greater fupply by the rain, in one hour, than we could get by diftilation in a month, I laid afide the ftill, as a thing attended with more trouble than profit.

The heat, which had been great for about a month, became now much more difagreeable in this clofe rainy weather; and, from the moifture attending it, threatened foon to be noxious, as the fhips could not be kept dry, nor the fkuttles open, for the fea. However, it is remarkable enough, that though the only refrefimment we had received fince leaving the Cape of Good Hope, was that at New Zealand; there was not, as yet, a fingle perfon, on board, fick, from the conftant ufe of falt food, or vicifitude of climate.

Thurf. 24. In the night between the 24th and 25th we paff-Friday 25. ed Savage Island, which I had discovered in 1774 *;

Mond. 28. and on the 28th, at ten o'clock in the morning, we got fight of the iflands which lie to the Eaftward of Annamooka, bearing North by Weft, about four or five leagues diftant. I fteered to the South of these iflands, and then hauled up for Annamooka; which, at four in the afternoon, bore North West by North, Fallafajeea South West by South, and Komango North by West, distant about five miles. The weather being squally, with rain, I anchored, at the approach of night, in fisteen fathoms deep water, over a bottom of coral-stand, and shells; Komango bearing North West, about two leagues distant.

СНАР.

^{*} For an account of the difcovery of Savage Ifland; a defcription of it; and the behaviour of its inhabitants, on Captain Cook's landing, fee his Voyage, Vol. II. p. 3. to p. 7.

CHAP. IV.

Intercourse with the Natives of Komango, and other Islands.—Arrival at Annamooka.—Transactions there.—Feenou, a principal Chief, from Tongataboo, comes on a Visit.—The Manner of his Reception in the Island, and on board.— Instances of the pilfering Disposition of the Natives.—Some Account of Annamooka.—The Passage from it to Hapaee.

SOON after we had anchored, two cances, the one with four, and the other with three men, paddled toward us, and came along-fide without the leaft hefitation. They brought fome coccanuts, bread-fruit, plantains, and fugar-cane, which they bartered with us for nails. One of the men came on board; and when these cances had left us, another visited us; but did not flay long, as night was approaching. Komango, the island nearest to us, was, at leaft, five miles off; which shews the hazard these people would run, in order to posses a few of our most trifling articles. Besides this supply from the shore, we caught, this evening, with hooks and lines, a considerable quantity of fish.

Next morning, at four o'clock, I fent Lieute-Tuefd. 29. nant King, with two boats, to Komango, to procure refreshments; and, at five, made the fignal to weigh, in order to ply up to Annamooka, the wind being unfavourable at North West.

Q

Vol. I.

It

1777. April.

1777. April.

It was no fooner day-light, than we were vifited by fix or feven canoes from different islands, bringing with them, belides fruits and roots, two pigs, feveral fowls, fome large wood-pigeons, fmall rails, and large violet-coloured coots. All these they exchanged with us for beads, nails, hatchets, &c. They had also other articles of commerce; fuch as pieces of their cloth, fifh-hooks, fmall bafkets, mufical reeds, and fome clubs, fpears and bows. But I ordered, that no curiofities fhould be purchased, till the fhips fhould be fupplied with provisions, and leave given for that purpole. Knowing, allo, from experience, that, if all our people might trade with the natives, according to their own caprice, perpetual quarrels would enfue, I ordered that particular perfons fhould manage the traffic both on board and on thore, prohibiting all others to interfere. Before mid-day, Mr. King's boat returned with feven hogs, fome fowls, a quantity of fruit and roots for ourfelves, and fome grafs for the cattle. His party was very civilly treated at Komango. The inhabitants did not feem to be numerous; and their huts, which flood close to each other, within a plantain walk, were but indifferent. Not far from them, was a pretty large pond of fresh water, tolerably good; but there was not any appearance of a ftream. With Mr. King, came on board the Chief of the island, named Tooboulangee; and another, whole name was Taipa. They brought with them a hog, as a prefent to me, and promifed more the next day.

As foon as the boats were aboard. I flood for Annamooka; and the wind being fcant, I intended to go between Annamooka-ette *, and the breakers to the South Eaft of it. But, on drawing

* That is, Little Annamooka.

near,

near, we met with very irregular foundings, vary-1777. ing, every caft, ten or twelve fathoms. This April. obliged me to give up the defign, and to go to the Southward of all; which carried us to leeward, and made it neceffary to fpend the night under fail. It was very dark; and we had the wind, from every direction, accompanied with heavy fhowers of rain. So that, at day-light the next Wedn. 30. morning, we found ourfelves much farther off than we had been the evening before; and the little wind that now blew, was right in our teeth.

We continued to ply, all day, to very little purpole; and, in the evening, anchored in thirtynine fathoms water; the bottom coral rocks, and broken shells; the West point of Annamooka bearing East North East, four miles diftant. Tooboulangee and Taipa kept their promife, and brought off to me fome hogs. Several others were alfo procured by bartering, from different canoes that followed us; and as much fruit as we could well manage. It was remarkable, that, during the whole day, our vifiters from the islands would hardly part with any of their commodities to any body but me. Captain Clerke did not get above one or two hogs.

At four o'clock next morning, I ordered a boat May. to be hoifted out, and fent the Mafter to found the South Weft fide of Annamooka; where there appeared to be a harbour, formed by the island on the North East, and by fmall islots, and shoals, to the South Weft and South Eaft. In the mean time the fhips were got under fail, and wrought up to the illand.

When the Mafter returned, he reported, that he had founded between Great and Little Annamooka, where he found ten and twelve fathoms depth of water, the bottom coral fand; that the place was very

 Q_2

1777. May. very well sheltered from all winds; but that there was no fresh water to be found, except at some diftance inland; and that, even there, little of it was to be got, and that little not good. For this reason only, and it was a very fufficient one, I determined to anchor on the North fide of the island, where, during my laft voyage, I had found a place fit both for watering and landing.

It was not above a league diftant; and yet we did not reach it till five o'clock in the afternoon, being confiderably retarded by the great number of canoes that continually crowded round the fhips, bringing to us abundant supplies of the produce of their island. Amongst these canoes, there were fome double ones, with a large fail, that carried These failed between forty and fifty men each. round us, apparently, with the fame eafe, as if we had been at anchor. There were feveral women in the canoes, who were, perhaps, incited by curiofity to vifit us; though, at the fome time, they bartered as eagerly as the men, and used the paddle with equal labour and dexterity. I came to an anchor in eighteen fathoms water, the bottom coarfe coral fand; the ifland extending from Eaft to South Weft; and the Weft point of the Wefternmost cove South East, about three quarters of a mile diftant. Thus I refumed the very fame ftation which I had occupied when I vifited Annamooka three years before *; and, probably, almost in the fame place where Tafman, the first discoverer of this, and fome of the neighbouring islands, anchored in 1643 +.

* See Captain Cook's laft Voyage, Vol. ii. p. 9. + See Tafman's account of this ifland, in Mr. Dalrymple's valuable Collection of Voyages to the Pacific Ocean, Vol. ii. p. 79. 80. The few particulars mentioned by Tafman, agree remarkably with Captain Cook's more extended relation.

The

The following day, while preparations were making for watering, I went afhore, in the forenoon, accompanied by Captain Clerke, and fome of the Officers, to fix on a place where the obfervatories might be fet up, and a guard be flationed; the natives having readily given us leave. They also accommodated us with a boat-house, to ferve as a tent, and shewed us every other mark of civility. Toobou, the Chief of the island, conducted me and Omai to his house. We found it fituated on a pleafant fpot, in the centre of his plantation. A fine grass plot furrounded it, which he gave us to understand, was for the purpose of cleaning their feet, before they went within doors. I had not, before observed such an instance of attention to cleanliness at any of the places I had visited in this ocean; but, afterward, found that it was very common at the Friendly Islands. The floor of Toobou's house was covered with mats; and no carpet, in the most elegant English drawing-room, could be kept neater. While we were on fhore, we procured a few hogs, and fome fruit, by bartering; and, before we got on board again, the fhips were crowded with the natives. Few of them coming empty-handed, every neceffary refreshment was now in the greatest plenty.

I landed again in the afternoon, with a party of marines; and, at the fame time, the horfes, and fuch of the cattle as were in a weakly ftate, were fent on fhore. Every thing being fettled to my fatisfaction, I returned to the fhip at funfet, leaving the command upon the ifland to Mr. King. Taipa, who was now become our faft friend, and who feemed to be the only active perfon about us, in order to be near our party in the night, as well as the day, had a houfe brought, on men's fhoulders, a full quarter of a mile, and placed clofe to the fhed which our party occupied. 229 1777.

May.

Next

1777. May.

Satur, 3.

Next day, our various operations on thore began. Some were employed in making hay for the cattle; others in filling out water cafks at the neighbouring ftagnant pool; and a third party in cutting wood. The greatest plenty of this last article being abreaft of the fhips, and in a fituation the most convenient for getting it on board, it was natural to make choice of this. But the trees here, which our people erroneoufly fuppofed to be manchineel, but were a species of pepper, called faitanoo by the natives, yielded a juice of a milky colour, of fo corrofive a nature, that it raifed blifters on the fkin, and injured the eyes of our workmen. They were, therefore, obliged to defift at this place, and remove to the cove, in which our guard was stationed, and where we embarked Other wood, more fuitable to our our water. purpofes, was there furnished to us by the natives. Thefe were not the only employments we were engaged in, for Meffrs. King and Bayly began, this day, to observe equal altitudes of the fun, in order to get the rate of the time-keepers. In the evening, before the natives retired from our post, Taipa harangued them for fome time. We could only guess at the subject; and judged, that he was inftructing them how to behave towards us, and encouraging them to bring the produce of the illand to market. We experienced the good effects of his eloquence, in the plentiful fupply of provisions which, next day, we received.

Sunday 4. Mond. 5.

Nothing worth notice happened on the 4th and 5th, except that, on the former of thefe days, the Difcovery loft her fmall bower anchor, the cable being cut in two by the rocks. This misfortune made it neceffary to examine the cables of the Retolution, which were found to be unhurt.

Qn

On the 6th, we were visited by a great Chief 1777. May. from Tongataboo, whofe name was Feenou, and whom Taipa was pleafed to introduce to us as Tuefd. 6. King of all the Friendly Ifles. I was now told, that, on my arrival, a canoe had been dispatched to Tongataboo with the news; in confequence of ` which, this Chief immediately paffed over to Annamooka. The Officer on fhore informed me, that when he first arrived, all the natives were ordered out to meet him, and paid their obeifance by bowing their heads as low as his feet, the foles of which they also touched with each hand, first with the palm, and then with the back part. There could be little room to fuspect that a person, received with fo much respect, could be any thing lefs than the King.

In the afternoon, I went to pay this great man a vifit, having first received a prefent of two fish from him, brought on board by one of his fervants. As foon as I landed, he came up to me. He appeared to be about thirty years of age, tall, but thin, and had more of the European features, than any I had yet feen here. When the first falutation was over, I asked if he was the King. For, notwithftanding what I had been told, finding he was not the man whom I remembered to have feen under that character during my former voyage, I began to entertain doubts. Taipa officioufly answered for him, and enumerated no less than one hundred and fifty-three islands, of which he faid, Feenou was the Sovereign. After a flort flay, our new vifiter, and five or fix of his attendants, accompanied me on board. I gave fuitable prefents to them all, and entertained them in fuch a manner, as I thought would be most agreeable.

In the evening, I attended them on fhore in my boat, into which the Chief ordered three hogs to be put,

put, as a return for the prefents he had received 1777. May. from me. I was now informed of an accident which had just happened, the relation of which will convey fome idea of the extent of the authority exercifed here over the common people. While Feenou was on board my thip, an inferior Chief, for what reafon our people on fhore did not know, ordered all the natives to retire from the poft we occupied. Some of them having ventured to return, he took up a large flick, and beat them most unmercifully. He ftrack one man, on the fide of the face, with fo much violence, that the blood gushed out of his mouth and noftrils; and, after lying fome time motionlefs, he was, at laft, removed from the place, in convultions. The perfon who had inflicted the blow, being told that he had killed the man, only laughed at it; and, it was evident, that he was not in the leaft forry for what had happened. We heard, afterward, that the poor fufferer recovered.

Wedn. 7.

The Difcovery having found again her fmall bower anchor, fhifted her birth on the 7th; but not before her beft bower cable had fhared the fate of the other. This day, I had the company of

Thurf. 8. Feenou at dinner; and alfo the next day, when he was attended by Taipa, Toobou, and fome other Chiefs. It was remarkable, that none but Taipa was allowed to fit at table with him, or even to eat in his prefence. I own that I confidered Feenou as a very convenient gueft, on account of this etiquette. For, before his arrival, I had, generally, a larger company than I could well find room for, and my table overflowed with crowds of both fexes. For it is not the cuftom at the Friendly lflands, as it is at Otaheite, to deny to their females the privilege of eating in company with the men.

The

The first day of our arrival at Annamooka, one of 1777. the natives had ftolen, out of the fhip, a large junk May. axe. I now applied to Feenou to exert his authority to get it reftored to me; and fo implicitly was he obeyed, that it was brought on board while we were at dinner. These people gave us very frequent opportunities of remarking what expert thieves they were. Even fome of their Chiefs did not think this profeffion beneath them. On the 9th, one of them Friday 9. was detected carrying out of the thip, concealed under his clothes, the bolt belonging to the fpun yarn winch; for which I fentenced him to receive a dozen lashes, and kept him confined till he paid a hog for his liberty. After this, we were not troubled with thieves of rank. Their fervants, or flaves, however, were still employed in this dirty work; and upon them a flogging feemed to make no greater impression, than it would have done upon the main-mast. When any of them happenened to be caught in the act, their mafters, far from interceding for them, would often advife us to kill them. As this was a punishment we did not choose to inflict, they generally escaped without any punishment at all; for they appeared to us to be equally infenfible of the fhame, and of the pain of corporal chastisfement. Captain Clerke, at last, hit upon a mode of treatment, which, we thought had fome effect. He put them under the hands of the barber, and completely shaved their heads; thus pointing them out as objects of ridicule to their countrymen, and enabling our people to deprive them of future opportunities for a repetition of their rogueries, by keeping them at a diftance.

Feenou was to fond of affociating with us, that he dined on board every day; though, fometimes, he did not partake of our fare. On the 10th, fome Satur, 10. of

1777. May.

of his fervants brought a mefs, which had been dreffed for him on fhore. It confifted of fifh, foup, and vams. Inftead of common water to make the foup, cocoa-nut liquor had been made use of, in which the fifth had been boiled or flewed; probably in a wooden veffel, with hot ftones; but it was carried on board in a plantain leaf. I tafted of the mefs, and found it fo good, that I, afterward, had fome fifh dreffed in the fame way. Though my cook fucceeded tolerably well, he could produce nothing equal to the difh he imitated. Finding that we had quite exhaufted the ifland,

of almost every article of food that it afforded, I Sunday11. employed the 11th in moving off, from the flore, the horfes, obfervatories, and other things that we had landed, as also the party of marines who had mounted guard at our flation, intending to fail, as foon as the Difcovery fhould have recovered her beft bower anchor. Feenou, understanding that I meant to proceed directly to Tongataboo, importuned me flrongly to alter this plan, to which he expressed as much aversion, as if he had some particular intereft to promote by diverting me from it. In preference to it, he warmly recommended an island, or rather a group of islands, called Hapaee, lying to the North Eaft. There, he affured us, we could be fupplied plentifully with every refreshment, in the easiest manner; and, to add weight to his advice, he engaged to attend us thither in perfon. He carried his point with me: and Hapaee was made choice of for our next station. As it had never been vifited by any European thips, the examination of it became an object with me.

Mond. 12. The 12th, and the 13th, were fpent in attempt-Tuefd. 13. ing the recovery of Captain Clerke's anchor, which,

after much trouble, was happily accomplifhed; and Wedn. 14. on the 14th, in the morning, we got under fail, and left Annamooka.

234

This

This island is somewhat higher than the other small isles that surround it; but, still, it cannot be admitted to the rank of those of a moderate height, fuch as Mangeea and Wateeoo. The shore, at that part where our fhips lay, is composed of a fteep, rugged coral rock, nine or ten feet high, except where there are two fandy beaches, which have a reef of the fame fort of rock extending crofs their entrance to the fhore, and defending them from the fea. The falt water lake that is in the center of the island, is about a mile and a half broad; and round it, the land rifes like a bank, with a gradual afcent. But we could not trace its having any communication with the fea. And yet, the land that runs across to it, from the largest fandy beach, being flat and low, and the foil fandy, it is most likely that it may have, formerly, communicated that way. The foil, on the rifing parts of the ifland, and effectially toward the feat, is either of a reddifh clayey disposition, or a black, loofe mould; but there is, no where, any ftream of fresh water.

The island is very well cultivated, except in a few places; and there are fome others, which, though they appear to lie wafte, are only left to recover the ftrength exhausted by constant culture; for we frequently faw the natives at work upon these spots, to plant them again. The plantations confift chiefly of yams and plantains. Many of them are very extensive, and often inclosed with neat fences of reed, disposed obliquely across each other, about fix feet high. Within thefe, we often faw other fences of lefs compais, furrounding the houses of the principal people. The bread-fruit, and cocoa-nut trees, are interspersed with little order; but chiefly near the habitations of the natives; and the other parts of the ifland, especially toward the fea, and about the fides of the lake, are covered

1777. May. 1777. May ed with trees and bufhes of a moft luxuriant growth; the laft place having a great many mangroves, and the firft a vaft number of the *faitanoo* trees already mentioned. There feem to be no rocks, or ftones, of any kind, about the ifland, that are not coral; except in one place, to the right of the fandy beach, where there is a rock twenty or thirty feet high, of a calcareous ftone, of a yellowifh colour, and a very clofe texture. But even about that place, which is the higheft part of the land, are large pieces of the fame coral rock that compofes the fhore.

Befides walking frequently up into the country, which we were permitted to do without interruption, we fometimes amufed ourfelves in fhooting wild ducks, not unlike the widgeon, which are very numerous upon the falt lake, and the pool where we got our water. In these excursions, we found the inhabitants had often deferted their houses to come down to the trading place, without entertaining any fulpicion, that ftrangers, rambling about, would take away, or deftroy, any thing that belonged to them. But though, from this circumstance, it might be supposed that the greater part of the natives were fometimes collected at the beach, it was impossible to form any accurate computation of their number; as the continual refort of vifiters from other iflands, mixing with them, might eafily miflead one. However, as there was never, to appearance, about a thousand perfons collected at one time, it would, perhaps, be fufficient to allow double that number for the whole island.

To the North and North Eaft of Annamooka, and in the direct tract to Hapaee, whither we were now bound, the fea is fprinkled with a great number of fmall ifles. Amidft the fhoals and rocks adjoining to this group, I could not be affured that there was a free or fafe paffage for fuch large fhips

as

as ours; though the natives failed through the in-1777. tervals in their canoes. For this fubftantial reafon, May. when we weighed anchor from Annamooka, I thought it neceffary to go to the Westward of Wedn. 14 the above islands, and steered North North West, toward Kao * and Toofoa, the two most Westerly islands in fight, and remarkable for their great height. Feenou, and his attendants, remained on board the Refolution till near noon, when he went into the large failing canoe, which had brought him from Tongataboo, and flood in amongst the clufter of islands above mentioned, of which we were now almost abreast; and a tide or current from the Weftward had fet us, fince our failing in the morning, much over toward them.

They lie fcattered, at unequal diffances, and are, in general, nearly as high as Annamooka; but only from two or three miles, to half a mile in length, and fome of them fcarcely fo much. They have either fteep rocky fhores like Annamooka, or reddifh cliffs; but fome have fandy beaches extending almoft their whole length. Moft of them are entirely clothed with trees, amongft which are many cocca palms, and each forms a profpect like a beautiful garden placed in the fea. To heighten this, the ferene weather we now had, contributed very much; and the whole might fupply the imagination with an idea of fome fairy land

* As a proof of the great difficulty of knowing accurately the exact names of the South Sea Iflands, as procured from the natives, I obferve that what Captain Cook calls. Aghao, Mr. Anderfon calls Kao; and Tafman's drawing, as I find it in Mr. Dalrymple's Collection of Voyages, gives the name of Kapbay to the fame ifland. Tafman's and Captain Cook's Amattafoa, is, with Mr. Anderfon, Tofoa. Captain Cook's Komango, is Tafman's Amango. There is fearcely an inflance, in which fuch variations are not obfervable. Mr. Anderfon's great attention to matters of this fort being, as we learn from Captain King, well known to every body on board, and admitted always by Captain Cook himfelf, his mode of fpelling has been adopted on the engraved chart of the Friendly Iflands; which has made it neceflary to adopt it alfo, in printing the jonrnal.

realized.

1777. May.

It should seem, that some of them, at realized. leaft, may have been formed, as we supposed Palmerfton's Island to have been; for there is one, which, as yet, is entirely fand, and another, on which there is only one bufh, or tree.

At four o'clock in the afternoon being the length of Kotoo, the Westernmost of the above cluster of fmall iflands, we fteered to the North, leaving Toofoa and Kao on our larboard, keeping along the West fide of a reef of rocks, which lie to the Westward of Kotoo, till we came to their Northern extremity, round which we hauled in for the ifland. It was our intention to have anchored for the night: but it came upon us before we could find a place in lefs than fifty-five fathoms water; and rather than come to in this depth, I chofe to fpend the night under fail.

We had, in the afternoon, been within two leagues of Toofoa, the imoke of which we faw feveral times in the day. The friendly Islanders have fome fuperflitious notions about the volcano upon it, which they call Kollofeea, and fay it is an Otooa, or divinity. According to their account, it fometimes throws up very large ftones; and they compare the crater, to the fize of a fmall iflot, which has never ceafed imoking in their memory; nor have they any tradition that it ever did. We fometimes faw the fmoke rifing from the centre of the ifland, while we were at Annamooka, though at the diftance of at leaft ten leagues. Toofoa, we were told, is but thinly inhabited, but the water upon it is good.

At day-break the next morning, being then not Thurf. 15. far from Kao, which is a vaft rock of a conic figure, we fleered to the East, for the passage between the illands Footooha and Hafaiva, with a gentle breeze at South Eaft. About ten o'clock, Feenou came on board, and remained with us all day. 2 He

He brought with him two hogs, and a quantity of fruit; and, in the course of the day, several May. canoes, from the different illands round us, came to barter quantities of the latter article, which was very acceptable, as our flock was nearly expended. At noon, our latitude was 19° 49' 45" South, and we had made feven miles of longitude from Annamooka; Toofoa bore North, 88° Weft; Kao North, 71° Weft; Footooha North, 89° Weft; and Hafaiva South, 12° Weft.

After paffing Footooha, we met with a reef of rocks; and, as there was but little wind, it coft us fome trouble to keep clear of them. This reef lies between Footooha and Neeneeva, which is a fmall low ifle, in the direction of East North East from Footooha, at the diffance of feven or eight miles. Footooha is a fmall ifland, of middling height, and bounded all round by a fteep rock. It lies South 67° East, distant fix leagues from Kao, and three leagues from Kotoo, in the direction of North 33" Eaft. Being paft the reef of rocks just mentioned, we hauled up for Neeneeva, in hopes of finding anchorage; but were again difappointed, and obliged to fpend the night, making fhort boards. For, although we had land in every direction, the fea was unfathomable.

In the course of this night, we could plainly see flames iffuing from the volcano upon Toofoa, though to no great height.

At day-break in the morning of the 16th, Friday 16. with a gentle breeze at South Eaft, we steered North East for Hapaee, which was now in light; and we could judge it to be low land, from the trees only appearing above the water. About nine o'clock, we could fee it plainly forming three islands, nearly of an equal fize; and foon after, a fourth to the Southward of these, as large

1777.

large as the others. Each feemed to be about fix or feven miles long, and of a fimilar height and appearance. The Northernmost of them is called Haanno, the next Foa, the third Lefooga, and the Southernmost Hoolaiva; but all four are included, by the natives, under the general name Hapaeee.

The wind fcanting upon us, we could not fetch the land; fo that we were forced to ply to windward. In doing this, we once paffed over fome coral rocks, on which we had only fix fathoms water; but the moment we were over them, found no ground with eighty fathoms of line. At this time, the ifles of Hapaee bore, from North, 50° East, to South, 9° West. We got up with the Northernmost of these isles by sunset; and there found ourfelves in the very fame diffrefs, for want of anchorage, that we had experienced the two preceding evenings; fo that we had another night to fpend under fail, with land and breakers in every direction. Toward the evening, Feenou, who had been on board all day, went forward to Hapaee, and took Omai in the canoe with him. He did not forget our disagreeable fituation; and kept up a good fire, all night, by way of a land-mark.

Satur. 17.

As foon as the day-light returned, being then clofe in with Foa, we faw it was joined to Haanno, by a reef running even with the furface of the fea, from the one ifland to the other. I now difpatched a boat to look for anchorage. A proper place was foon found; and we came to, abreaft of a reef, being that which joins Lefooga to Foa (in the fame manner that Foa is joined to Haanno), having twenty-four fathoms depth of water; the bottom coral fand. In this ftation, the northern point of Hapaee, or the North end of Haanno, bore North, 16° Eaft. The Southern point of I Hapaee,

240 1777. May. Hapaee, or the South end of Hoolaiva, South, 29° 1777. Weft; and the North end of Lefooga, South, 65° May. Eaft. Two ledges of rocks lay without us; the one bearing South, 50° Weft; and the other Weft by North $\frac{1}{2}$ North, diftant two or three miles. We lay before a creek in the reef, which made it convenient landing at all times; and we were not above three quarters of a mile from the fhore.

VOL. I.

R

CHAP.

CHÁP. V.

Arrival of the Ships at Hapace, and friendly Reception there. — Prefents and Solemnities on the Occafion.—Single Combats with Clubs.—Wreftling and Boxing Matches.— Female Combatants. — Marines exercifed. — A Dance performed by Men.— Fireworks exhibited. — The Night-entertainments of Singing and Dancing particularly defcribed.

^{1777.} **B**Y the time we had anchored, the fhips were filled with the natives, and furrounded by a Satur. ^{17.} multitude of canoes, filled alfo with them. They brought, from the fhore, hogs, fowls, fruit, and roots, which they exchanged for hatchets, knives, nails, beads, and cloth. Feenou and Omai having come on board, after it was light, in order to introduce me to the people of the ifland, I foon accompanied them on fhore, for that purpofe, landing at the North part of Lefooga, a little to the right of the fhip's flation.

> The Chief conducted me to a houfe, or rather a hut, fituated clofe to the fea-beach, which I had feen brought thither, but a few minutes before, for our reception. In this Feenou, Omai, and myfelf, were feated. The other Chiefs, and the multitude, composed a circle, on the outfide, fronting us; and they also fat down. I was then asked, How long I intended to ftay? On my faying, Five days, Taipa was ordered to come and fit by me,

me, and proclaim this to the people. He then 1777. May. harangued them, in a speech mostly dictated by The purport of it, as I learnt from Feenou. Omai, was, that they were all, both old and young, to look upon me as a friend, who intended to remain with them a few days; that, during my ftay, they must not steal any thing, nor molest me any other way; and that it was expected, they fhould bring hogs, fowls, fruit, &c. to the ships, where they would receive, in exchange for them, fuch and fuch things, which he enumerated. Soon after Taipa had finished this address to the affembly, Feenou left us. Taipa then took occasion to fignify to me, that it was necessary I should make a prefent to the Chief of the island, whofe name was Earoupa. I was not unprepared for this; and gave him fuch articles as far exceeded his expectation. My liberality to him brought upon me demands, of the fame kind, from two Chiefs of other ifles who were prefent; and from Taipa himfelf. When Feenou returned, which was immediately after I had made the last of these presents, he pretended to be angry with Taipa for fuffering me to give away fo much; but I looked upon this as a mere finesse; being confident that he acted in concert with the others. He now took his feat again, and ordered Earoupa to fit by him, and to harangue the people as Taipa had done, and to the fame purpole; dictating as before, the heads of the speech.

These ceremonies being performed, the Chief, at my request, conducted me to three flagnant pools of fresh water, as he was pleased to call it : and, indeed, in one of these the water was tolerable, and the fituation not inconvenient for filling our cafks. After viewing the watering-place, we returned to our former station, where I found a baked hog, and fome yams, fmoking hot, ready to be

R 2

1777. Мау. be carried on board for my dinner. I invited Feenou, and his friends, to partake of it; and we embarked for the thip; but none but himfelf fat down with us at the table. After dinner I conducted them on thore; and before I returned on board, the Chief gave me a fine large turtle, and a quantity of yams. Our supply of provisions was copious; for, in the course of the day, we got, by barter, along-fide the fhip, about twenty fmall hogs, befide fruit and roots. I was told, that, on my first landing in the morning, a man came off to the fhips, and ordered every one of the natives to go on fhore. Probably, this was done with a view to have the whole body of inhabitants prefent at the ceremony of my reception; for when that was over, multitudes of them returned again to the fhips.

Sunday 18.

Next morning early, Feenou, and Omai, who fcarcely ever quitted the Chief, and now flept on fhore, came on board. The object of the vifit, was to require my prefence upon the ifland. After fome time, I accompanied them; and, upon landing, was conducted to the fame place where I had been feated the day before; and where I faw a large concourfe of people already affembled. I gueffed that fomething more than ordinary was in agitation; but could not tell what, nor could Omai inform me.

I had not been long feated, before near a hundred of the natives appeared in fight, and advanced, laden with yams, bread-fruit, plantains, cocoanuts, and fugar-canes. They deposited their burdens, in two heaps, or piles, upon our left, being the fide they came from. Soon after, arrived a number of others from the right, bearing the fame kind of articles, which were collected into two piles upon that fide. To these were tied two pigs, and and fix fowls; and to thofe, upon the left, fix pigs, and two turtles. Earoupa feated himfelf before the feveral articles upon the left; and another Chief before thofe upon the right; they being, as I judged, the two Chiefs who had collected them, by order of Feenou, who feemed to be as implicitly obeyed here, as he had been at Annamooka; and, in confequence of his commanding fuperiority over the Chiefs of Hapaee, had laid this tax upon them for the prefent occafion.

As foon as this munificent collection of provifions was laid down in order, and disposed to the best advantage, the bearers of it joined the multitude, who formed a large circle round the whole. Prefently after, a number of men entered this circle, or area, before us, armed with clubs, made of the green branches of the cocoa nut tree. These paraded about, for a few minutes, and then retired; the one half to one fide, and the other half to the other fide; feating themfelves before the fpectators. Soon after, they fucceffively entered the lifts, and entertained us with fingle combats. One champion, rifing up and ftepping forward from one fide, challenged those of the other fide, by expressive gestures, more than by words, to fend one of their body to oppose him. If the challenge was accepted, which was generally the cafe, the two combatants put themfelves in proper attitudes, and then began the engagement, which continued till one or other owned himfelf conquered, or till their weapons were broken. As foon as each combat was over, the victor fquatted himfelf down facing the Chief, then role up, and retired. At the fame time, fome old men, who feemed to fit as judges, gave their plaudit in a few words; and the multitude, especially those on the fide to which the victor belonged, celebrated the glory he had acquired, in two or three huzzas.

245

This

1777. May.

This entertainment was, now and then, fulpended for a few minutes. During these intervals there were both wreftling and boxing matches. The firft were performed in the fame manner as at Otaheite; and the fecond differed very little from the method practifed in England. But what ftruck us with most surprise, was, to see a couple of lusty wenches ftep forth, and begin boxing, without the leaft ceremony, and with as much art as the men. This contest, however, did not last above half a minute, before one of them gave it up. The conquering heroine received the fame applaufe from the fpectators, which they beftowed upon the fuccefsful combatants of the other fex. We expressed fome diflike at this part of the entertainment; which, however, did not prevent two other females from entering the lifts. They feemed to be girls of fpirit, and would certainly have given each other a good drubbing, if two old women had not interpofed to part them. All these combats were exhibited in the midst of, at least, three thousand people; and were conducted with the greateft good humour on all fides; though fome of the champions, women as well as men, received blows, which, doubtlefs, they must have felt for fome time after.

As foon as thefe diverfions were ended, the Chief told me, that the heaps of provifions, on our righthand, were a prefent to Omai; and that thofe, on our left-hand, being about two-thirds of the whole quantity, were given to me. He added, that I might take them on board whenever it was convenient; but that there would be no occafion to fet any of our people as guards over them, as I might be affured, that not a fingle cocoa-nut would be taken away by the natives. So it proved; for I left every thing behind, and returned to the fhip to dinner, carrying the Chief with me; and when the

the provisions were removed on board, in the after- .1777. noon, not a fingle article was miffing. There was as much as loaded four boats; and I could not but be ftruck with the munificence of Feenou; for this prefent far exceeded any I had ever received from any of the Sovereigns of the various iflands I had visited in the Pacific Ocean. I loft no time in convincing my friend, that I was not infenfible of his liberality; for, before he quitted my thip, I beftowed upon him fuch of our commodities, as, I gueffed, were most valuable in his estimation. And the return I made was fo much to his fatisfaction, that, as foon as he got on fhore, he left me still indebted to him, by fending me a fresh prefent, confifting of two large hogs, a confiderable quantity of cloth and fome yams.

Feenou had expressed a defire to fee the marines go through their military exercise. As I was defirous to gratify his curiofity, I ordered them all ashore, from both ships, in the morning of the 20th. After they had performed various evoluti Tuefd. 20. ons, and fired feveral vollies, with which the numerous body of fpectators feemed well pleafed, the Chief entertained us, in his turn, with an exhibition, which, as was acknowledged by us all, was performed with a dexterity and exactnels, far furpaffing the fpecimen we had given of our military manœuvres. It was a kind of a dance, fo entirely different from any thing I had ever feen, that, I fear, I can give no description that will convey any tolerable idea of it, to my readers. It was performed by men; and one hundred and five perfons bore their parts in it. Each of them had in his hand an inftrument neatly made, fhaped fomewhat like a paddle, of two feet and a half in length. with a fmall handle, and a thin blade; fo that they were very light. With these instruments they made many and various flourishes, each of which was

247

May.

1777. May. was accompanied with a different attitude of the body, or a different movement. At first, the performers ranged themselves in three lines; and, by various evolutions, each man changed his station in fuch a manner, that those who had been in the rear, came into the front. Nor did they remain long in the same position; but these changes were made by pretty quick transitions. At one time, they extended themselves in one line; they, then, formed into a semicircle; and, lastly, into two sexecuting, one of them advanced, and performed an antic dance before me; with which the whole ended.

The mulical inftruments confifted of two drums, or rather two hollow logs of wood, from which fome varied notes were produced, by beating on them with two flicks. It did not, however, appear to me, that the dancers were much affifted or directed by these founds, but by a chorus of vocal mufic, in which all the performers joined at the fame time. Their fong was not deftitute of pleafing melody; and all their corresponding motions were executed with fo much fkill, that the numerous body of dancers feemed to act, as if they were one great machine. It was the opinion of every one of us, that fuch a performance would have met with universal applause on a European theatre; and it fo far exceeded any attempt we had made to entertain them, that they feemed to picque themfelves upon the fuperiority they had over us. As to our mulical inftruments, they held none of them in the leaft effeem, except the drum; and even that they did not think equal to their own. Our French horns, in particular, feemed to be held in great contempt; for neither here, nor at any other of the islands, would they pay the smallest attention to them.

In

In order to give them a more favourable opinion of Englifh amufements, and to leave their minds fully imprefied with the deepeft fenfe of our fuperior attainments, I directed fome fireworks to be got ready; and, after it was dark, played them off in the prefence of Feenou, the other Chiefs, and a vaft concourfe of their people. Some of the preparations we found damaged; but others of them were in excellent order, and fucceeded fo perfectly, as to anfwer the end I had in view. Our water and fky-rockets, in particular, pleafed and aftonifhed them beyond all conception; and the fcale was now turned in our favour.

This, however, feemed only to furnish them with an additional motive to proceed to fresh exertions of their very fingular dexterity; and our fireworks were no fooner ended, than a fucceffion of dances, which Feenou had got ready for our entertainment, began. As * a prelude to them, a band of mufic, or chorus of eighteen men, feated themfelves before us, in the centre of the circle, composed by the numerous spectators, the area of which was to be the fcene of the exhibitions. Four or five of this band, had pieces of large bamboo, from three to five or fix feet long, each managed by one man, who held it nearly in a vertical polition, the upper end open, but the other end closed by one of the joints. With this close end, the performers kept conftantly ftriking the ground, though flowly, thus producing different notes, according to the different lengths of the inftruments, but all of them of the hollow or base fort; to counteract which, a perfon kept ftriking quickly, and with two fticks, a piece of the fame fubftance, fplit, and laid along the

ground,

^{*} Mr. Anderfon's account of the night dances being much fuller than Captain Cook's, the reader will not be difpleafed that it has been adopted.

1777. May. ground, and, by that means, furnifhing a tone as acute, as those produced by the others were grave. The rest of the band, as well as those who performed upon the bamboos, so fung a show and soft air, which so tempered the harsher notes of the above instruments, that no bye-stander, however accustomed to hear the most perfect and varied modulation of sweet sounds, could avoid contessing the vast power, and pleasing effect, of this simple harmony.

The concert having continued about a quarter of an hour, twenty women entered the circle. Most of them had, upon their heads, garlands of the crimfon flowers of the China role, or others; and many of them had ornamented their perfons with leaves of trees, cut with a great deal of nicety about the edges. They made a circle round the chorus, turning their faces toward it, and began by finging a foft air, to which responses were made by the chorus in the fame tone; and thefe were repeated alternately. All this while, the women accompanied their fong with feveral very graceful motions of their hands toward their faces, and in other directions at the fame time, making confantly a ftep forward, and then back again, with one foot, while the other was fixed. They then turned their faces to the affembly, fung fome time, and retreated flowly in a body, to that part of the circle which was opposite the hut where the principal spectators fat. After this, one of them advanced from each fide, meeting and paffing each other in the front, and continuing their progrefs round, till they came to the reft. On which, two advanced from each fide, two of whom alfo paffed each other, and returned as the former; but the other two remained, and to these came one, from each fide, by intervals, till the whole number

number had again formed a circle about the chorus.

Their manner of dancing was now changed to a quicker measure, in which they made a kind of half turn by leaping, and clapped their hands, and fnapped their fingers, repeating some words in conjunction with the chorus. Toward the end, as the quickness of the music increased, their gestures and attitudes were varied with wonderful vigour and dexterity; and some of their motions, perhaps, would, with us, be reckoned rather indecent. Though this part of the performance, most probably, was not meant to convey any wanton ideas, but merely to display the astonishing variety of their movements.

To this grand female ballet, fucceeded one performed by fifteen men. Some of them were old; but their age feemed to have abated little of their agility or ardour for the dance. They were difpofed in a fort of circle, divided at the front, with their faces not turned out toward the affembly, nor inward to the chorus; but one half of their circle faced forward as they had advanced, and the other half in a contrary direction. They, fometimes, fung flowly, in concert with the chorus; and, while thus employed, they also made feveral very fine motions with their hands, but different from those made by the women, at the fame time inclining the body to either fide alternately, by raifing one leg, which was ftretched outward, and refting on the other; the arm of the fame fide being alfo ftretched fully upward. At other times, they recited fentences in a mulical tone, which were answered by the chorus; and, at intervals, increased the measure of the dance, by clapping the hands, and quickening the motions of the feet, which, however, were never varied. At

1777. May. 1777. May.' At the end, the rapidity of the mufic, and of the dancing, increased to much, that it was fearcely poffible to diffinguish the different movements; though one might suppose the actors were now almost tired, as their performance had lasted near half an hour.

After a confiderable interval, another act, as we may call it, began. Twelve men now advanced, who placed themfelves in double rows fronting each other, but on opposite fides of the circle; and, on one fide, a man was stationed, who, as if he had been a prompter, repeated feveral fentences, to which the twelve new performers, and the chorus, replied. They then fung flowly; and afterward danced and fung more quickly, for about a quarter of an hour, after the manner of the dancers whom they had fucceeded.

Soon after they had finished, nine women exhibited themfelves, and fat down fronting the hut where the Chief was. A man then role, and ftruck the first of these women on the back, with both fifts joined. He proceeded, in the fame manner, to the fecond and third; but when he came to the fourth, whether from accident or defign I cannot tell, inftead of the back, he ftruck her on the breaft. Upon this, a perfon role inftantly from the crowd, who brought him to the ground with a blow on the head; and he was carried off without the least noife or diforder. But this did not fave the other five women from to odd a difcipline, or perhaps necelfary ceremony; for a perfon fucceeded him, who treated them in the fame manner. Their difgrace did not end here; for when they danced, they had the mortification to find their performance twice difapproved of, and were obliged to repeat it. This dance did not differ much from that of the first women, except in this one circumstance, that the prefent fet, fometin es raifed the body upon one leg, by

by a fort of double motion, and then upon the 1777. May. Other alternately, in which attitude they kept fnapping their fingers; and, at the end, they repeated, with great agility, the brifk movements, in which the former group of female dancers had fhewn themfelves fo expert.

In a little time, a perfon entered unexpectedly, and faid fomething in a ludicrous way, about the fireworks that had been exhibited, which extorted a burft of laughter from the multitude. After this, we had a dance composed of the men who attended, or had followed, Feenou. They formed a double circle (i. e. one within another) of twenfour each, round the chorus, and began a gentle foothing fong, with corresponding motions of the hands and head. This lafted a confiderable time, and then changed to a much quicker meafure, during which they repeated fentences, either in conjunction with the chorus, or in answer to fome fpoken by that band. They then retreated to the back part of the circle, as the women had done, and again advanced, on each fide, in a triple row, till they formed a femicircle, which was done very flowly, by inclining the body on one leg, and advancing the other a little way, as they put it down. They accompanied this, with fuch a foft air as they had fung at the beginning; but foon changed it to repeat fentences in a harsher tone, at the fame time quickening the dance very much, till they finished with a general shout and clap of the hands. The fame was repeated feveral times; but, at last, they formed a double circle, as at the beginning, danced, and repeated very quickly, and finally closed with feveral very dexterous transpolitions of the two circles.

The entertainments of this memorable night concluded with a dance, in which the principal. people

1777. May.

people prefent exhibited. It refembled the immediately preceding one, in fome respects, having the fame number of performers, who began nearly in the fame way; but their ending, at each interval, was different. For they increased their motions to a prodigious quickness, shaking their heads from fhoulder to fhoulder, with fuch force, that a fpectator, unaccuftomed to the fight, would fuppole, that they ran a rifk of diflocating their necks. This was attended with a fmart clapping of the hands, and a kind of favage holla! or fhriek, not unlike what is fometimes practifed in the comic dances on our European theatres. They formed the triple femicircle, as the preceding dancers had done; and a perfon, who advanced at the head on one fide of the femicircle, began by repeating fomething in a truly mufical recitative, which was delivered with an air fo graceful, as might put to the blufh our most applauded performers. He was answered in the fame manner, by the perfon at the head of the oppofite party. This being repeated feveral times, the whole body, on one fide, joined in the refponfes to the whole corresponding body on the opposite fide, as the femicircle advanced to the front; and they finished, by finging and dancing as they had begun.

These two last dances were performed with so much spirit, and so great exactness, that they met with universal approbation. The native spectators, who, no doubt, were perfect judges whether the sevral performances were properly executed, could not withhold their applauses at some particular parts; and even a stranger, who never saw the diversion before, felt similar fatisfaction, at the same instant. For though, through the whole, the most strict concert was observed, some of the gestures were fo expressive, that it might be faid, they spoke the language that accompanied them; if we allow that there is any connection between motion and found. At At the fame time, it fhould be obferved, that though the mufic of the chorus, and that of the dancers, corresponded, conftant practice in these favourite amusements of our friends, seems to have a great share in effecting the exact time they keep in their performances. For we observed, that if any of them happened accidentally to be interrupted, they never found the smalless difficulty in recovering the proper place of the dance or fong. And their perfect discipline was, in no inftance, more remarkable, than in the sudden transitions they so dexterously made from the ruder exertions, and harsh founds, to the softest arts and gentless movements *.

The place where the dances were performed, was an open fpace amongft the trees, juft by the fea, with lights, at fmall intervals, placed round the infide of the circle. The concourfe of people was pretty large, though not equal to the number affembled in the forenoon, when the marines exercifed. At that time, fome of our gentlemen gueffed there might be prefent about five thoufand perfons; others thought there were more; but they who reckoned that there were fewer, probably, came nearer to the truth.

In a former note, at p. 188. it was observed, that the fongs and dances of the Caroline Islanders, in the North Pacific, bear a great refemblance to those of the inhabitants of Wateeoo. The remark may be now extended to those of the Friendly Islanders, defcribed at large in this chapter . That the reader may judge for himfelf, I have felected the following particulars from Father Can-" Pendant la nuit, au clair de la lune, ils tova's account. " s'affemblent, de temps en temps, pour chanter & danser de-" vant la maison de leur Tamole. Leurs danses se font au son de " la voix, car ils n'ont point d'instrument de musique. La beaute " de la danfe, confifte dans l'exacte uniformité des mouvemens " du corps. Les hommes, feparés des femmes, fe postent vis-" à-vis les uns des autres; après quoi, ils remuent la tête, les bras, " les mains, les pieds, en cadence.-Leur tête est couverte de " plumes, ou de fleurs;-et l'on voit, attachées à leurs oreilles, " des feuilles de palmier tiffues avec affez d'art.-Les femmes, de " leur coté,-fe regardant les unes les autres, commencent un " chant pathétique & langoureux, accompagnant le fon de leur " voix du mouvement cadence de la tête & des bras." Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 314, 315.

CHAP.

255

1777.

May.

CHAP. VI.

Defcription of Lefooga.—Its cultivated State.—Its Extent.—Transactions there.—A Female Oculist.—Singular Expedients for shaving off the Hair.—The Ships change their Station.—A remarkable Mount and Stone.—Description of Hoolaiva.—Account of Poulabo, King of the Friendly Islands.—Respectful Manner in which he is treated by his People.—Departure from the Hapace Islands.—Some Account of Kotoo.—Return of the Ships to Annamooka.—Poulabo and Feenou meet.—Arrival at Tongataboo.

URIOSITY, on both fides, being now May. A fufficiently gratified, by the exhibition of the various entertainments I have defcribed, I began to have time to look about me. Accordingly, next Wedn. 21. day, I took a walk into the island of Lefooga, of which I was defirous to obtain fome knowledge. I found it to be, in feveral refpects, fuperior to Annamooka. The plantations were both more numerous, and more extensive. In many places, indeed, toward the fea, efpecially on the East fide, the country is still waste; owing, perhaps, to the fandy foil; as it is much lower than Annamooka, and its furrounding ifles. But toward the middle of the ifland, the foil is better; and the marks of confiderable population, and of improved cultivation, were very confpicuous. For we met here with very large plantations, inclofeđ

ed in fuch a manner, that the fences running parallel to each other, from fine fpacious public roads, that would appear ornamental in countries where rural conveniences have been carried to the greatest perfection. We observed large spots covered with the paper mulberry-trees; and the plantations, in general, were well flocked with fuch roots and fruits as are the natural produce of the ifland. To thefe I made fome addition, by fowing the feeds of Indian corn, melons, pumpkins, and the like. At one place was a house, four or five times as large as those of the common fort, with a large area of grass before it; and, I take it for granted, the people refort thither on certain public occasions. Near the landing-place, we faw a mount, two or three feet high, covered with gravel; and on it ftood four or five fmall huts, in which, the natives told us, the bodies of fome of their principal people had been interred.

The illand is not above feven miles long; and, in fome places, not above two or three broad. The East fide of it, which is exposed to the trade-wind, has a reef, running to a confiderable breadth from it, on which the fea breaks with great violence. It is a continuation of this reef that joins Lefooga to Foa, which is not above half a mile diftant; and, at low water, the natives can walk upon this reef, which is then partly dry, from the one island to the other. The fhore itself is either a coral rock, fix or feven feet high, or a fandy beach; but higher than the West fide; which, in general, is not more than three or four feet from the level of the fea, with a fandy beach its whole length.

When I returned from my excursion into the country, and went on board to dinner; I found a large failing canoe fast to the ships stern. In this canoe was Latooliboula, whom I had feen s at

VOL. I.

257

1777. May.

at Tongataboo, during my laft voyage; and who was then supposed by us to be the King of that ifland He fat in the canoe, with all that gravity, by which, as I have mentioned in my Journal*, he was to remarkably diftinguished at that time; nor could I, by any intreaties, prevail upon him row to come into the fhip. Many of the islanders were prefent; and they all called him Areekee, which fignifies King. I had never heard any one of them give this title to Feenou, however extensive his authority over them, both here, and at Annamooka, had appeared to be; which had, all along, inclined me to fuspect, that he was not the King; though his friend Taipa had taken pains to make me believe he was. Latooliboula remained under the ftern till the evening, when he retired in his canoe to one of the iflands. Feenou was on board my flip at the fame time; but neither of thefe great men took the leaft notice of the other.

Thurf. 22.

Nothing material happened the next day, except that fome of the natives ftole a tarpaulin, and other things, from off the deck. They were foon miffed,

* See Captain Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 206, 207. The name of this extraordinary perfonage is there fail to be Kohagee-too Fallangou; which cannot, by the moft kilful etymologift, be tortured into the leaft moft diltant refemblance of Latooliboula. It is remarkable, that Captain Cook fhould not take any notice of his having called the fame perfon by two names fo very different. Perhaps we may account for this by fuppofing one to be the name of the perfon, and the other the defcription of his title or rank. This fuppoficion feems well founded, when we confider, that Latoo, in the language of thefe people, is fometimes ufed to figmify a Great Chief; and Dr. Fofter, in his Obfervations, p. 378, 379, and elfewhere, fpeaks of the fovereign of Tongataboo, under the title of their Latoo. This very perfon is called, by Dr. Fofter, p. 370. Latoo-Nipooroo; which furnifhes a very firking inflance of the variations of our people in writing down the fame word as pronounced by the natives. However, we can eafly trace the eaffnity between Nipooroo and Liboula, as the changes of the confonants are fuch as are perpetually made, upon hearing a word pronounced, to which our ears have not been accuftomed. Mr. Anderfaon here agrees with Captain Cook in writing Latooliboula.

258

May.

and

and the thieves purfued; but a little too late. I 1777. May. applied, therefore, to Feenou, who, if he was not king, was at leaft vefted with the higheft authority here, to exert it, in order to have my things reftored. He referred me to Earoupa; who put me off, from time to time; and, at last, nothing was done.

In the morning of the 23d, as we were going to Friday 23. unmoor, in order to leave the ifland, Feenou, and his prime-minister Taipa, came along-fide in a failing canoe, and informed me, that they were fetting out for Vavaoo, an illand, which, they faid, lies about two days fail to the Northward of Hapaee. The object of their voyage, they would have me believe, was to get for me an additional fupply of hogs, and fome red-feathered caps for Omai, to carry to Otaheite, where they are in high efteem. Feenou affured me, that he should be back in four or five days; and defired me not to fail till his return, when, he promifed, he would accompany me to Tongataboo. I thought this a good opportunity to get fome knowledge of Vavaoo, and proposed to him to go thither with the fhips. But he feemed not to approve of the plan; and, by way of diverting me from it, told me, that there was neither harbour, nor anchorage about it. I, therefore, confented to wait, in my prefent station, for his return; and he immediately fet out.

The next day, our attention was, for fome Satur. 24. time, taken up with a report, industriously spread about by fome of the natives, that a fhip, like ours, had arrived at Annamooka fince we left it; and was now at anchor there. The propagators of the report were pleafed to add, that Toobou, the Chief of that illand, was haftening thither to receive these new-comers; and as we knew that he had actually left us, we were the more ready to believe

S 2

1777. May.

believe there might be fome foundation for the ftory of this unexpected arrival. However, to gain fome farther information, I went on thore with Omai, in quest of the man who, it was faid, had brought the first account of this event from Annamcoka. We found him at the house of Earoupa; where Omai put fuch queftions to him as I thought neceffary; and the answers he gave, were fo clear and fatisfactory, that I had not a doubt remaining. But, just about this time, a Chief, of tome note, whom we well knew, arrived from Annamooka; and declared, that no ship was, at that island, nor had been, fince our leaving it. The propagator of the report, finding himfelf detected in a falsehood, instantly withdrew, and we faw no more of him. What end the invention of this tale could answer, was not easy to conjecture; unlefs we fuppole it to have been artfully contrived, to get us removed from the one island to the other.

Sunday25.

In my walk, on the 25th, I happened to ftep into a houfe, where a woman was dreffing the eyes of a young child, who feemed blind; the eyes being much inflamed, and a thin film fpread over them. The inftruments fhe ufed were two flender wooden probes, with which fhe had brufhed the eyes fo as to make them bleed. It feems worth mentioning, that the natives of thefe iflands fhould attempt an operation of this fort; though I entered the houfe too late, to defcribe exactly how this female oculift employed the wretched tools fhe had to work with.

I was fortunate enough to fee a different operation going on in the fame houfe, of which I can give a tolerable account. I found there another woman fhaving a child's head, with a fhark's tooth, fluck into the end of a piece of flick. I obferved, that fhe first wet the hair with a rag dipped in water,

≆бо

water, applying her inftrument to that part which fhe had previoufly foaked. The operation feemed, to give no pain to the child; although the hair was taken off as close as if one of our razors had been employed. Encouraged by what I now faw, I, foon after tried one of these singular instruments upon myfelf, and found it to be an excellent *fuccedaneum*, However, the men of these islands have recourse to another contrivance when they fhave their beards. The operation is performed with two fhells; one of which they place under a fmall part of the beard, and with the other, applied above, they fcrape that part off. In this manner they are able to shave very close. The process is, indeed, rather tedious, but not painful; and there are men amongst them who feem to profess this trade. It was as common, while we were here, to fee our failors go ashore to have their beards scraped off, after the fashion of Hapaee, as it was to see their Chiefs come on board to be fhaved by our barbers.

Finding that little or nothing of the produce of the ifland was now brought to the fhips, I refolved to change our station, and to wait Feenou's return from Vavaoo, in fome other convenient anchoring place, where refreshments might ftill be met with. Accordingly, in the forenoon of the 26th, we got under fail, and stood to the Mond. 26. Southward along the reef of the ifland; having fourteen and thirteen fathoms water, with a fandy bottom. However, we met with feveral detached fhoals. Some of them were difcovered by breakers; fome, by the water upon them appearing discoloured; and others, by the lead. At half paft two in the afternoon, having already paffed feveral of these shoals, and seeing more of them before us, I hauled into a bay, that lies between the South end of Lefooga, and the North end of Hoolaiva, and there anchored in feventeen fathoms

May.

1777. May. thoms water; the bottom a coral-fand; the point of Lefooga bearing South Eaft by Eaft, a mile and a half diftant. The Difcovery did not get to an anchor till funfet. She had touched upon one of the fhoals; but backed off again, without receiving any damage.

As foon as we had anchored, I fent Mr. Bligh to found the bay where we were now flationed; and myfelf, accompanied by Mr. Gore, landed on the Southern part of Lefooga, to examine the country, and to look for frefh water. Not that we now wanted a fupply of this article, having filled all the cafks at our late flation; but I had been told, that this part of the ifland could afford us fome, preferable to any we had got at the former watering-place. This will not be the only time I fhall have occafion to remark, that these people do not know what good water is. We were conducted to two wells; but the water in both of them proved to be execrable; and the natives, our guides, affured us that they had none better.

Near the South end of the island, and on the West fide, we met with an artificial mount. From the fize of some trees there were growing upon it, and from other appearances, I guessed that it had been raised in remote times. I judged it to be about forty feet high; and the diameter of its summit measured fifty feet. At the bottom of this mount, stood a stone, which must have been hewn out of coral rock. It was four feet broad, two and a half thick, and fourteen high; and we were told by the natives present, that not above half its length appeared above ground. They called it *Tangata Arekee**; and faid that it had been fet up, and the mount raised, by

^{*} Tangata, in their language, is man; Arekee, king. fome

fome of their forefathers, in memory of one of their kings; but how long fince, they could not tell.

Night coming on, Mr. Gore and I returned on board; and, at the fame time, Mr. Bligh got back from founding the bay, in which he found from fourteen to twenty fathoms water; the bottom, for the most part fand, but not without some coral The place where we now anchored is much rocks. better sheltered than that which we had lately come from; but between the two is another anchoring flation, much better than either. Lefooga and Hoolaiva are divided from each other by a reef of coral rocks, which is dry at low water; fo that one may walk, at that time, from the one to the other, without wetting a foot. Some of our Gentlemen, who landed in the latter ifland, did not find the leaft mark of cultivation, or habitation, upon it; except a fingle hut, the refidence of a man employed to catch fifh and turtle. It is rather extraordinary, that it fhould be in this deferted flate, communicating fo immediately with Lefooga, which is fo perfectly cultivated. For, though the foil is quite fandy, all the trees and plants found, in a natural state, on the neighbouring iflands, are produced here with the greatest vigour. The East fide of it has a reef like Lefooga; and the Weft fide has a bending, at the North part, where there feems to be good anchorage. Uninhabited as Hoolaiva is, an artificial mount, like that at the adjoining illand, has been railed upon it, as high as fome of the furrounding trees,

At day-break, next morning, I made the fignal Tuefd. 27 to weigh; and as I intended to attempt a paffage to Annamooka, in my way to Tongataboo, by the South Weft, amongft the intervening illands, I fent the Mafter in a boat to found before the fhips. But before we could get under fail,

1777. May. fail, the wind became unfettled; which made it unfafe to attempt a paffage this way, till we were better acquainted with it. I, therefore, lay faft, and made the fignal for the Mafter to return; and afterward fent him and the Mafter of the Difcovery, each in a boat, with inftructions to examine the channels, as far as they could, allowing themfelves time to get back to the fhips before the close of the day.

About noon, a large failing canoe came under our ftern, in which was a perfon named Futtafaihe, or Poulaho, or both; who, as the natives then on board told us, was King of Tongataboo, and of all the neighbouring islands, that we had seen or heard of. It was a matter of furprize to me, to have a ftranger introduced under this character, which I had to much reafon to believe really belonged to another. But they perfifted in their account of the supreme dignity of this new visiter; and now, for the first time, they owned to me, that Feenou was not the King, but only a fubordinate Chief, though of great power; as he was often fent from Tongataboo to the other islands, on warlike expeditions, or to decide differences. It being my interest, as well as my inclination, to pay court to all the great men, without making inquiry into the validity of their affumed titles, I invited Poulabo on board, as I underftood he was very defirous to come. He could not be an unwelcome gueft; for he brought with him, as a prefent to me, two good fat hogs; though not fo fat as himfelf. If weight of body could give weight in rank or power, he was certainly the most eminent man in that refpect, we had feen; for, though not very tall, he was very unwieldly, and almost shapeless with corpulence. He feemed to be about forty years of age, had ftraight hair, and his features differed a good

26**4** 1777.

May.

good deal from those of the bulk of his people. Ι 1777. May. found him to be a fedate fenfible man. He viewed the fhip, and the feveral new objects, with uncommon attention; and afked many pertinent queftions; one of which was, What could induce us to vifit these islands? After he had fatisfied his curiofity in looking at the cattle, and other novelties which he met with upon deck, I defired him to walk down into the cabin. To this, fome of his attendants objected, faying, that, if he were to accept of that invitation, it must happen, that people would walk over his head; which could not be permitted. I directed my interpreter Omai, to tell them, that I would obviate their objection, by giving orders, that no one fhould prefume to walk upon that part of the deck which was over the cabin. Whether this expedient would have fatisfied them, was far from appearing; but the Chief himfelf, lefs fcrupulous, in this respect, than his attendants. waved all ceremony, and walked down without any flipulation. He now appeared to be as folicitous himfelf, as his people were, to convince us that he was king, and not Feenou, who had paffed with us as fuch. For he foon perceived that we had fome doubts about it; which doubts Omai was not very defirous of removing. The closeft connection had been formed between him and Feenou. in teftimony of which, they had exchanged names; and, therefore, he was not a little chagrined, that another perfon now put in his claim to the honours which his friend had hitherto enjoyed.

Poulaho fat down with us to dinner; but he eat little, and drank lefs. When we role from the table, he defired me to accompany him ashore. Omai was asked to be of the party, but he was too faithfully attached to Feenou, to shew any attention to his competitor; and, therefore, excused

himfelf.

I

1777. May.

himfelf. I attended the Chief in my own boat, having first made presents to him, of such articles as, I could observe, he valued much, and were even beyond his expectation to receive. I was not difappointed in my view of thus fecuring his friendfhip; for the moment the boat reached the beach, and, before he quitted her, he ordered two more hogs to be brought, and delivered to my people to be conveyed on board. He was then carried out of the boat, by fome of his own people, upon a board refembling a hand-barrow, and went and feated himfelf in a fmall houfe near the fhore; which feemed to have been erected there for his accommodation. He placed me at his fide; and his attendants, who were not numerous, feated themfelves in a femi-circle before us, on the outlide of the house. Behind the Chief, or rather on one fide, fat an old woman, with a fort of fan in her hand, whole office it was to prevent his being peltered with the flies.

The feveral articles which his people had got, by trading on board the fhips, were now displayed before him. He looked over them all, with attention, inquired what they had given in exchange, and feemed pleafed with the bargains they had made. At length, he ordered every thing to be reftored to the respective owners, except a glass bowl, with which he was fo much pleafed, that he referved it for himfelf. The perfons who brought these things to him, first squatted themselves down before him, then they deposited their feveral purchafes, and immediately role up and retired. The fame respectful ceremony was observed in taking them away; and not one of them prefumed to speak to him standing. I stayed till several of his attendants left him, first paying him⁴obeilance, by bowing the head down to the fole of his foot, and touching

touching or tapping the fame, with the upper and under fide of the fingers of both hands. Others, May. who were not in the circle, came, as it feemed, on purpole, and paid him this mark of respect, and then retired, without speaking a word. I was quite charmed with the decorum that was observed. I had, no where, feen the like, not even amongft more civilized nations.

I found the Mafter returned from his expedition. when I got on board. He informed me, that, as far as he had proceeded, there was anchorage, and a paffage for the fhips; but that, toward the South and South East, he faw a number of small isles, fhoals, and breakers. Judging, from this report, that my attempting a paffage that way would be attended with fome rifk, I now dropped all thoughts of it; thinking it better to return toward Annamooka by the fame route, which we had fo lately experienced to be a fafe one.

Having come to this refolution, I fhould have Wedn. 28. failed next morning, if the wind had not been too far Southerly, and, at the fame time, very unfettled. Poulaho, the king, as I shall now call him, came on board betimes; and brought, as a prefent to me, one of their caps, made, or, at least, covered with red feathers. These caps were much fought after by us; for we knew they would be highly valued at Otaheite. But, though very large prices were offered, not one was ever brought for fale; which shewed, that they were no lefs valuable in the effimation of the people here; nor was there a perfon in either fhip, that could make himfelf the proprietor of one, except myfelf, Captain Clerke, and Omai. These caps, or rather bonnets, are composed of the tail feathers of the Tropic bird, with the red feathers of the parroquets wrought upon them, or jointly with them.

1777.

them. They are made fo as to tie upon the forehead without any crown, and have the form of a femicircle, whole *radius* is eighteen or twenty inches. The Chief ftayed on board till the evening, when he left us; but his brother, whole name was alfo Futtafaihe, and one or two, or more, of his attendants, continued in the fhip all night.

Thurf. 29. At day-break, the next morning, I weighed with a fine breeze, at East North East, and ftood to the Westward, with a view to return to Annamooka, by the track we had already experienced. We were followed by feveral failing canoes, in one of which was the king. As foon as he got on board the Refolution, he inquired for his brother, and the others who had remained with us all night. It now appeared, that they had flayed without his leave; for he gave them, in a very few words, fuch a reprimand as brought tears from their eyes; and yet they were men not lefs than thirty years of age. He was, however, foon reconciled to their making a longer flay; for, on quitting us, he left his brother, and five of his attendants, on board. We had also the company of a Chief, just then arrived from Tongataboo, whole name was Tooboueitoa. The moment he arrived, he fent his canoe away, and declared, that he and five more, who came with him, would fleep on board; fo that I had now my cabin filled with vifiters. This, indeed, was fome inconvenience; but I bore with it more willingly, as they brought plenty of provisions with them, as prefents to me; for which they always had fuitable returns.

About

About one o'clock in the afternoon, the Eafterly May. wind was fucceeded by a fresh breeze at South South Eaft. Our course, now being South South West, or more Southerly, we were obliged to ply to windward, and did but just fetch the North Side of Footooha, by eight o'clock, where we spent the night, making short boards.

The next morning, we plied up to Lofanga, Friday 36. where, according to the information of our friends, there was anchorage. It was one o'clock, in the afternoon, before we got foundings, under the lee or North Weft fide, in forty fathoms water, near half a mile from the fhore; but the bank was fteep, and the bottom rocky, and a chain of breakers lay to leeward. All these circumstances being against us, I ftretched away for Kotoo, with the expectation of finding better anchoring ground under that island. But so much time had been spent in plying up to Lofanga, that it was dark before we reached the other; and, finding no place to anchor in, the night was spent as the preceding one.

At day-break, on the 31st, I stood for the chan- Satur. 31. nel which is between Kotoo, and the reef of rocks that lie to the Westward of it; but, on drawing near, I found the wind too fcant to lead us through. I, therefore, bore up on the outfide of the reef, and stretched to the South West, till near noon, when, perceiving that we made no progress to windward, and being apprehenfive of lofing the iflands, with fo many of the natives on board, I tacked and ftood back, intending to wait till fome more favourable opportunity. We did but just fetch in with Footooha, between which and Kotoo we fpent the night, under reefed topfails and forefail. The wind blew fresh, and by squalls, with rain; and we were not without apprehenfions of danger. I kept

1777. May.

I kept the deck till midnight, when I left it to the Mafter, with fuch directions as, I thought, would keep the fhips clear of the fhoals and rocks, that lay round us. But, after making a trip to the North, and fanding back again to the South, our fhip, by a fmall fhift of the wind, fetched farther to the windward than was expected. By this means the was very near running full upon a low fandy ifle, called Pootoo Pootooa, furrounded with breakers. It happened, very fortunately, that the people had just been ordered upon the deck, to put the ship about, and the most of them were at their stations; fo that the neceffary movements were not only executed with judgment, but also with alertnes; and this alone faved us from destruction. The Discovery being aftern, was out of danger. Such hazardous fituations are the unavoidable companions of the man, who goes upon a voyage of difcovery.

, June. Sunday 1.

This circumftance frightened our paffengers for much, that they expressed a strong defire to get ashore. Accordingly, as soon as day-light returned, I hoifted out a boat, and ordered the Officer who commanded her, after landing them at Kotoo, to found along the reef that fpits off from that ifland, for anchorage. For I was full as much tired as they could be, with beating about amongst the furrounding ifles and fhoals, and determined to get to an anchor, fomewhere or other, if pof-While the boat was ablent, we attempted fible. to turn the fhips through the channel, between the fandy ifle and the reef of Kotoo, in expectation of finding a moderate depth of water behind them to anchor in. But, meeting with a tide or current against us, we were obliged to defist, and anchor in fifty fathoms water, with the fandy ifle bearing East by North, one mile distant.

2

We

We lay here till the 4th. While in this fta-1777. tion we were, feveral times, vifited by the king, June. by Tooboueitoa, and by people from the neighbouring islands, who came off to trade with us, though the wind blew very fresh most of the time. The Mafter was now fent to found the channels between the iflands that lie to the Eaftward; and I landed on Kotoo, to examine it, in the forenoon of the 2d.

This island is fcarcely accessible by boats, on account of coral reefs that furround it. It is not more than a mile and half, or two miles, long; and not fo broad. The North Weft end of it is low, like the iflands of Hapaee; but it rifes fuddenly in the middle, and terminates in reddifh clayey cliffs, at the South East end, about thirty feet high. The foil, in that quarter, is of the fame fort as in the cliffs; but, in the other parts, it is a loofe, black mould. It produces the fame fruits and roots which we found at the other islands; is tolerably cultivated, but thinly inhabited. While I was walking all over it, our people were employed in cutting fome grafs for the cattle; and we planted fome melon feeds, with which the natives feemed much pleafed, and inclofed them with branches. On our return to the boat, we paffed by two or three ponds of dirty water, which was more or lefs brackifh in each of them; and faw one of their burying-places, which was much neater than those that were met with at Hapaee.

On the 4th, at feven in the morning, we weigh-Wedn. 4. ed; and, with a fresh gale at East South East, ftood away for Annamooka, where we anchored, next morning, nearly in the fame flation which Thurf. 5. we had to lately occupied.

Mond. 2.

I went

1777. June.

I went on fhore foon after, and found the inhabitants very bufy in their plantations, digging up vams to bring to market, and, in the course of the day, about two hundred of them had affembled on the beach, and traded with as much eagernes, as during our late vifit. Their flock appeared to have been recruited much, though we had returned fo foon; but, inftead of bread-fruit, which was the only article we could purchase on our first arrival, nothing was to be feen now but yams, and a few plantains. This flews the quick fucceffion of the feafons, at leaft of the different vegetables produced here, at the feveral times of the year. It appeared also that they had been very bufy, while we were absent, in cultivating; for we now faw feveral large plantain fields, in places which we had, fo lately, feen lying wafte. The yams were now in the greatest perfection; and we procured a good quantity, in exchanges for pieces of iron.

Thele people, in the ablence of Toobou, whom we left behind us at Kotoo, with Poulaho and the other Chiefs, feemed to be under little fubordination. For we could not perceive, this day, that one man affumed more authority than another. Before I returned on board, I vifited the feveral places where I had fown melon feeds, and had the mortification to find, that moft of them were deftroyed by a finall ant; but fome pine-apple plants, which I had alfo left, were in a thriving ftate.

Friday 6.

About noon, next day, Feenou arrived from Vavaoo. He told us that feveral canoes, laden with hogs, and other provisions, which had failed with him from that island, had been lost, owing to the late blowing weather; and that every body on board them had perished. This melancholy tale did not seem to affect any of his countrymen who

who heard it; and, as to ourfelves, we were, by June. this time too well acquainted with his character, to give much credit to fuch a ftory. The truth, probably, was, that he had not been able to procure at Vavaoo the fupplies which he expected; or, if he got any there, that he had left them at Hapace, which lay in his way back, and where he could not but receive intelligence that Poulaho had been with us; who, therefore, he knew, would, as his fuperior, have all the merit and reward of procuring them, though he had not any fhare of the trouble. The invention of this lofs at fea was, however, well imagined. For there had lately been very blowing weather; in fo much, that the King and other Chiefs, who had followed us from Hapaee to Kotoo, had been left there, not caring to venture to fea when we did; but defired I might wait for them at Annamooka, which was the reason of my anchoring there, this fecond time, and of my not proceeding directly to Tongataboo.

The following morning, Poulaho, and the other Satur. 7. Chiefs who had been wind-bound with him, arrived. I happened, at this time, to be ashore in company with Feenou; who now feemed to be fenfible of the impropriety of his conduct, in affurning a character that did not belong to him. For he not only acknowledged Poulaho to be King of Tongataboo, and the other ifles; but affected to infift much on it, which, no doubt, was with a view to make amends for his former prefumption. I left him, to vifit this greater man, whom I found fitting with a few people before him. But, every one haftening to pay court to him, the circle increased pretty faft. I was very defirous of observing Feenou's behaviour on this occafion; and had the most convincing proof of his т

Vol. I.

fuperi-

273

1777.

fuperiority; for he placed himfelf amongst the rest that fat before Poulaho, as attendants on his ma-He feemed, at first, rather abashed; as jefty. iome of us were prefent who had been used to fee him act a different part; but he foon recovered himfelf. Some little conversation passed between thefe two Chiefs, which none of us underftood : nor were we fatisfied with Omai's interpretation of We were, however, by this time, fufficientit. ly undeceived as to Feenou's rank. Both he and Poulaho went on board with me to dinner; but only the latter fat at table. Feenou, having made his obeifance, in the ufual way, faluting his fovereign's foot with his head and hands, retired out of the cabin *. The king had before told us, that this would happen; and it now appeared, that Feenou could not even eat nor drink in his royal prefence.

Sunday 8.

At eight o'clock, next morning, we weighed and fteered for Tongataboo, having a gentle breeze at North Eaft. About fourteen or fifteen failing veffels, belonging to the natives, fet out without us; but every one of them outrun the fhips confiderably. Feenou was to have taken his paffage in the

* Marks of profound refpect, very fimilar to those paid by natives of the Friendly Islands to their fovereign, are also paid to the principal Chiefs, or *Tamoles* of the Caroline Islands, as appears from father Cantova's account here transcribed. "Lorf-"qu'un *Tamole* donne audience, il paroit affis fur une table "elevée: les peuples s'inclinent devant lui jusqu'à terre; & du "plus loin qu'ils arrivent, ils marchent le corps tout courbé, & "la tête prefqu'entre les génoux, jusqu'à ce qu'ils foient au-"près de la perfonne; alors ils s'alleyent à plate terre; &, les "yeux baißles, ils resoivent fes ordres avec le plus profond "refpect. Quand le *Tamole* les congedie, ils fe retirent, en fe "courbant de la même manière que quand ils font venus, & "ne fe relevent que lorfqu'ils font hors de fa prefence. Ses "paroles font autant d'oracles qu'on revere; on rend à fes or-"dres une obeiffance aveugle; enfin, on baiß les mains & les "pieds, quand on lui demande quelque grace."

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 312, 313.

Refo-

274 1777.

June.

Refolution; but preferred his own canoe; and put 1777. June. two men on board, to conduct us to the best anchorage. We fteered South by Weft by compass.

At five in the afternoon we faw two fmall islands, bearing West, about four leagues distant. Our pilots called the one Hoonga Hapaee, and the other Hoonga Tonga. They lie in the latitude of 20° 36'; and ten or eleven leagues from the Weft point of Annamooka, in the direction of South, 46° Weft. According to the account of the islanders on board, only five men refide upon Hoonga Hapaee; and Hoonga Tonga is uninhabited ; but both of them abound with fea-fowl.

We continued the fame courfe till two o'clock Mond. o. next morning, when, feeing fome lights ahead, and not knowing whether they were on fhore, or on board the canoes, we hauled the wind, and made a fhort trip, each way, till day-break. We then refumed our courfe to the South by Weft; and, prefently after, faw feveral finall iflands before us, and Eooa and Tongataboo beyond them. We had, at this time, twenty-five fathoms water, over a bottom of broken coral and fand. The depth gradually decreafed as we drew near the ifles above mentioned, which lie ranged along the North East fide of Tongataboo. By the direction of our pilots we fteered for the middle of it, and for the wideft space between the small ifles which we were to pais; having our boats ahead, employed in founding. We were, infenfibly, drawn upon a large flat, upon which lay innumerable coral rocks, of different depths, below the furface of the water. Notwithstanding all our care and attention to keep the fhip clear of them, we could not prevent her from ftriking on one of these rocks. Nor did the Discovery though behind us, escape any better. Fortunately, neither T 2 of

1777. June.

of the fhips fluck faft, nor received any damage: We could not get back without increasing the danger, as we had come in almost before the wind. Nor could we caft anchor, but with the certainty of having our cables inftantly cut in two by the rocks. We had no other refource but to proceed. To this, indeed, we were encouraged, not only by being told, but by feeing, that there was deeper water between us and the fhore. However, that we might be better informed, the moment we found a fpot where we could drop the anchor, clear of rocks, we came to; and fent the Mafters, with the boats, to found.

Soon after we had anchored, which was about noon, feveral of the inhabitants of Tongataboo came off in their canoes to the fhips Thefe, as well as our pilots, affured us, that we fhould find deep water farther in, and a bottom free from rocks. They were not miftaken; for, about four o'clock, the boats made the fignal for having found good anchorage. Upon this we weighed, and flood in till dark, and then anchored in nine fathoms, having a fine, clear, fandy bottom.

During the night we had fome flowers of rain ; but toward the morning, the wind fhifted to the South, and South Eaft, and brought on fair wea-

Tuefd. 10. ther. At day-break we weighed, and, working in to the fhore, met with no obstructions, but fuch as were visible, and easily avoided.

While we were plying up to the harbour, to which the natives directed us, the king kept failing round us in his canoe. There were, at the fame time, a great many fmall canoes about the fhips. Two of these, which could not get out of the way of his royal veffel, he run quite over, with as little concern, as if they had been bits of wood. Amongst many others who came on board the Refolution,

folution, was Otago, who had been fo ufeful to me June. when I vifited Tongataboo during my laft voyage; and one Toobou, who, at that time, had attached himfelf to Captain Furneaux. Each of them brought a hog, and fome yams, as a teftimony of his friendship; and I was not wanting, on my part, in making a fuitable return.

At length, about two in the afternoon, we arrived at our intended flation. It was a very fnug place, formed by the thore of Tongataboo on the South Eaft, and two fmall islands on the East and North Eaft. Here we anchored in ten fathoms water, over a bottom of oozy fand; diftant from the fhore one-third of a mile.

277 1777.

 \sim

CHAP.

CHAP. VII.

Friendly Reception at Tongataboo.—Manner of diftributing a baked Hog and Kava to Poulabo's Attendants. — The observatory, &c. erested. — The Village where the Chiefs reside, and the adjoining Country, described.—Interviews with Mareewagee, and Toobou, and the King's Son.—A grand Haiva, or Entertainment of Songs and Dances, given by Mareewagee. — Exhibition of Fireworks. — Manner of Wrestling and Boxing. —Distribution of the Cattle. — Thefts committed by the Natives.—Poulabo, and the other Chiefs, confined on that Account. — Poulabo's Present, aud Haiva.

¹⁷⁷⁷. June. SOON after we had anchored, having firft din-Tuefd. 10. of the Officers. We found the king waiting for us upon the beach. He, immediately, conducted us to a fmall neat houfe, fituated a little within the fkirts of the woods, with a fine large area before it. This houfe, he told me, was at my fervice, during our ftay at the ifland; and a better fituation we could not wifh for.

We had not been long in the houfe, before a pretty large circle of the natives were affembled before us, and feated upon the area. A root of the kava plant being brought, and laid down before the king, he ordered it to be fplit into pieces, and diffributed to feveral people of both fexes, who began

began the operation of chewing it; and a bowl of June. their favourite liquor was foon prepared. In the mean time, a baked hog, and two bafkets of baked yams, were produced, and afterward divided into ten portions. These portions were then given to certain people prefent; but how many were to fhare in each, I could not tell. One of them, I observed, was bestowed upon the king's brother: and one remained undifpoted of, which, I judged, was for the king himfelf, as it was a choice bit. The liquor was next ferved out; but Poulaho feemed to give no directions about it. The first cup was brought to him, which he ordered to be given to one who fat near him. The fecond was alfo brought to him, and this he kept. The third was given to me; but their manner of brewing having quenched my thirst, it became Omai's pro-The reft of the liquor was diffributed to perty. different people, by direction of the man who had the management of it. One of the cups being carried to the king's brother, he retired with this, and with his mefs of victuals. Some others alfo quitted the circle with their portions; and the reafon was, they could neither eat nor drink in the royal prefence; but there were others prefent, of a much inferior rank, of both texes, who did both. Soon after, most of them withdrew, carrying with them what they had not eat of their thare of the feaft.

I observed, that not a fourth part of the company had tafted either the victuals or the drink; those who partook of the former, I supposed to be of the king's household. The fervants, who diftributed the baked meat, and the kava, always delivered it out of their hand fitting, not only to the king, but to every other perfon. It is worthy of remark, though this was the first time of our landing, and a great many people were prefent who had never 2.79

\$777.

1777. June.

never feen us before, yet no one was troublefome; but the greateft good order was preferved, throughout the whole affembly.

Before I returned on board, I went in fearch of a watering place, and was conducted to fome ponds, or rather holes, containing frefh water, as they were pleafed to call it. The contents of one of thefe, indeed, were tolerable; but it was at fome diftance inland, and the fupply to be got from it was very inconfiderable. Being informed, that the little ifland of Pangimodoo, near which the fhips lay, could better furnifh this neceffary article, I went Wedn. 11, over to it, next morning, and was fo fortunate as

to find there a finall pool, that had rather frefher water, than any we had met with amongft thefe iflands. The pool being very dirty, I ordered it to be cleaned; and here it was that we watered the fhips.

As I intended to make fome flay at Tongataboo, we pitched a tent, in the forenoon, just by the house which Poulaho had assigned for our use. The hories, cattle, and sheep, were afterward landed, and a party of marines, with their Officer, flationed there as a guard. The observatory was then fet up, at a small distance from the other tent: and Mr. King refided on fhore, to attend the obfervations, and to superintend the several operations neceffary to be conducted there. For the fails were carried thither, to be repaired a party was employed in cutting wood for fuel, and plank for the ule of the thips; and the gunners of both, were ordered to remain upon the fpot, to conduct the traffic with the natives, who thronged from every part of the island, with hogs, yams, cocoa-nuts, and other articles of their produce. In a fhort time, our land poft was like a fair, and the firips were fo crowded with vifiters, that we had hardly room to fir upon the decks.

Feenou

280

vedn. 11.

Feenou had taken up his refidence in our neigh-1777. June. bourhood; but he was no longer the leading man. However, we still found him to be a perfon of confequence, and we had daily proofs of his opulence and liberality, by the continuance of his valuable prefents. But the king was equally attentive in this respect; for scarcely a day passed, without receiving from him fome confiderable donation. We now heard, that there were other great men of the ifland, whom we had not, as yet, feen. Otago and Toobou, in particular, mentioned a perfon named Mareewagee, who, they faid, was of the first consequence in the place, and held in great veneration; nay, if Omai did not mifunderftand them, fuperior even to Poulaho, to whom he was related; but, being old, lived in retirement; and, therefore, would not vifit us. Some of the natives even hinted, that he was too great a man to confer that honour upon us. This account exciting my curiofity, I, this day, mentioned to Poulaho, that I was very defirous of waiting upon Mareewagee; and he readily agreed to accompany me, to the place of his refidence, the next morning.

Accordingly, we fet out, pretty early, in the Thurf. 12. pinnace; and Captain Clerke joined me in one of his own boats. We proceeded round, that is, to the Eaftward of the little ifles that form the harbour, and then, turning to the South, according to Poulaho's directions, entered a fpacious bay or inlet, up which we rowed about a league, and landed amidft a confiderable number of people, who received us with a fort of acclamation, not unlike our huzzaing. They immediately feparated, to let Poulaho pafs, who took us into a fmall inclofure, and fhifted the piece of cloth he wore, for a new piece, neatly folded, that was carried by a young man. An old woman affifted in drefling him,

1777. June.

him, and put a mat over his cloth; as we supposed, to prevent its being dirtied when he fat down. On our now afking him where Mareewagee was, to our great furprize, he faid, he had gone from the place, to the fhip, just before we arrived. However, he defired us to walk with him to a malaee, or houfe of public refort, which flood about half a mile up the country. But when we came to a large area before it, he fat down in the path, and defired us to walk up to the houfe. We did fo, and feated ourfelves in front, while the crowd that followed us filled up the reft of the fpace. After fitting a little while, we repeated our inquiries, by means of Omai, Whether we were to fee Mareewagee ? But receiving no fatisfactory information, and fuspecting that the old Chief was purposely concealed from us, we went back to our boats, much piqued at our difappointment; and when I got on board, I found that no fuch perfon had been there. It afterward appeared, that, in this affair, we had laboured under fome grofs miftakes, and that our interpreter Omai had either been mifinformed, or, which is more likely, had mifunderflood what was told him about the great man, on whole account we had made this excursion.

The place we went to was a village most delightfully fituated on the bank of the inlet, where all, or most of the principal perfons of the island relide; each having his houle in the midft of a imall plantation, with leffer houfes, and offices for Thefe plantations are neatly fenced fervants. round; and, for the most part, have only one entrance. This is by a door, fastened, on the infide, by a prop of wood; fo that a perfon has to knock, before he can get admittance. Public roads, and narrow lanes, lie between each plantation; fo that no one trespatieth upon another. Great part of some of thefe inclosures is laid out in grafs-plots, and planted planted with fuch things as feem more for orna-1777. June. ment than use. But hardly any were without the kava plant, from which they make their favourite liquor. Every article of the vegetable produce of the ifland, abounded in others of these plantations; but thefe, I observed, are not the residence of people of the first rank. There are some large houses near the public roads, with fpacious fmooth Thefe, I grafs-plots before them, and uninclosed. was told, belonged to the King; and, probably, they are the places where their public affemblies are held. It was to one of these houses, as I have already mentioned, that we were conducted, foon after our landing at this place.

About noon, the next day, this Mareewagee, Friday 1 of whom we had heard to much, actually came to the neighbourhood of our post on shore; and, with him, a very confiderable number of people of all ranks. I was informed, that he had taken this trouble, on purpose to give me an opportunity of waiting upon him; having probably, heard of the displeasure I had shewn, on my disappointment the day before. In the afternoon, a party of us, accompanied by Feenou, landed, to pay him a vifit. We found a perfon fitting under a large tree, near the fhore, a little to the right of the tent. A piece of cloth, at least forty yards long, was spread before him, round which a great number of people, of both fexes, were feated. It was natural to fuppofe, that this was the great man; but we were undeceived by Feenou; who informed us, that another, who fat on a piece of mat, a little way from this Chief, to the right hand, was Mareewagee, and he introduced us to him, who received us very kindly, and defired us to fit down by him. The perfon, who fat under the tree, fronting us, was called Toobou; and, when I have occasion to fpeak of him afterward, I shall call him old Toobou,

283

bou, to diftinguish him from his namesake, Captain Furneaux's friend. • Both he and Mareewagee had a venerable appearance. The latter is a sliender man, and, from his appearance, seems to be considerably above threefcore years of age. The former is rather corpulent, and almost blind with a diforder of his eyes; though not so old.

Not expecting to meet with two Chiefs, on this occafion, I had only brought on fhore a prefent for one. This I now found myfelf under a neceffity of dividing between them; but it happened to be pretty confiderable, and both of them feemed fatisfied. After this, we entertained them, for about an hour, with the performance of two French horns, and a drum. But they feemed most pleafed with the firing off a piftol, which Captain Clerke had in his pocket. Before I took my leave, the large piece of cloth was rolled up, and, with a few cocoa-nuts, prefented to me.

Satur. 14.

The next morning, old Toobou returned my vifit on board the fhip. He alfo vifited Captain Clerke; and if the prefent we made to him, the evening before, was fcanty, the deficiency was now made up. During this time, Mareewagee vifited our people afhore; and Mr. King fhewed to him every thing we had there. He viewed the cattle with great admiration; and the crofs-cut faw fixed his attention for fome time.

Toward noon, Poulaho returned from the place where we had left him two days before, and brought with him his fon, a youth about twelve years of age. I had his company at dinner; but the fon, though prefent, was not allowed to fit down with him. It was very convenient to have him for my gueft. For when he was prefent, which was generally the cafe while we flayed here, every other native was excluded from the table;

June.

table; and but few of them would remain in the 1777lune. Whereas, if, by chance, it happened, that, cabin. neither he nor Feenou were on board, the inferior Chiefs would be very importunate to be of our dining party, or to be admitted into the cabin at that time; and then we were fo crowded, that we could not fit down to a meal with any fatisfaction. The king was very foon reconciled to our manner of cookery. But still, I believe, he dined thus frequently with me, more for the fake of what we gave him to drink, than for what we fet before him to eat. For he had taken a liking to our wine, could empty his bottle as well as most men. and was as cheerful over it. He now fixed his refidence at the houfe, or *Malaee*, by our tent; and there he entertained our people, this evening, with a dance. To the furprile of every body, the unwieldy Poulaho endeavoured to vie with others, in that active amufement.

In the morning of the 15th, I received a mef-Sundayrefage from Old Toobou, that he wanted to fee me afhore. Accordingly Omai and I went to wait upon him. We found him, like an ancient patriarch, feated under the fhade of a tree, with a large piece of a cloth, made in the ifland, fpread out at full length before him; and a number of refpectably looking people fitting round it. He defired us to place ourfelves by him; and then he told Omai, that the cloth, together with a piece of red feathers, and about a dozen cocoa-nuts, were his prefent to me. I thanked him for the favour; and defired he would go on board with me, as I had nothing on fhore to give him in return.

Omai now left me, being fent for by Poulaho; and, foon after, Feenou came, and acquainted me that young Fatrafaihe, Poulaho's fon, defired to fee me. I obeyed the fummons, and found the prince, and Omai, fitting under a large canopy 285

1

of

1777. June.

of the finer fort of cloth; with a piece of the coarfer fort, fpread under them and before them, that was feventy-fix yards long, and feven and a half broad. On one fide was a large old boar; and on the other fide a heap of cocoa-nuts. A number of people were feated round the cloth; and, amongft them, I observed Mareewagee, and others of the I was defired to fit down by the firft rank. prince; and then Omai informed me, that he had been inftructed by the king to tell me, that, as he and I were friends, he hoped that his fon might be joined in this friendship; and that, as a token of my confent, I would accept of his prefent. I very readily agreed to the proposal; and, it being now dinner-time, I invited them all on board.

Accordingly, the young prince, Mareewagee, old Toobou, three or four inferior Chiefs, and two respectable old ladies of the first rank, accompanied me. Mareewagee was dreffed in a new piece of cloth, on the fkirts of which were fixed fix pretty large patches of red feathers. This drefs feemed to have been made, on purpole, for this vifit; for, as foon as he got on board, he put it off, and prefented it to me; having, I guefs, heard that it would be acceptable, on account of the feathers. Every one of my viliters received from me fuch prefents, as, I had reafon to believe, they were highly fatisfied with. When dinner came upon table, not one of them would fit down, or eat a bit of any thing that was ferved up. On expressing my surprize at this, they were all taboo, as they faid; which word has a very comprehenfive meaning; but, in general, fignifies that a thing is forbidden. Why they were laid under fuch restraints, at present, was not explained. Dinner being over, and, having gratified their curiofity, by fhewing to them every part of the fhip, I then conducted them ashore.

As

As foon as the boat reached the beach, Fee-1777. June. nou, and some others, instantly stepped out. Young Fattafaile following them, was called back by Mareewagee, who now paid the heir apparent the fame obeifance, and in the fame manner, that I had feen it paid to the king. And when old Toubou, and one of the old ladies, had shewn him the fame marks of respect, he was fuffered to land. This ceremony being over, the old people stepped from my boat, into a canoe, that was waiting to carry them to their place of abode.

I was not forry to be prefent on this occasion. as I was thus furnished with the most unequivocal proofs of the fupreme dignity of Poulaho and his fon, over the other principal Chiefs. Indeed, by this time, I had acquired fome certain information about the relative fituations of the feveral great men, whole names have been to often menti-I now knew, that Mareewagee and old oned. Toobou were brothers. Both of them were men of great property in the island, and feemed to be in high effimation with the people; the former, in particular, had the very honourable appellation given to him, by every body, of Motooa Tonga; that is to fay, Father of Tonga, or of his Country. The nature of his relationship to the king was also no longer a fecret to us; for we now underftood, that he was his father-in-law; Poulaho having married one of his daughters, by whom he had this fon; fo that Mareewagee was the prince's grandfather. Poulaho's appearance having fatisfied us. that we had been under a miltake, in confidering Feenou as the fovereign of these islands, we had been at first, much puzzled about his real rank; but that was, by this time, accertained. Feenou was one of Marcewagee's fons; and Tooboueitoa was another.

On my landing, I found the king, in the houfe adjoining to our tent, along with our people who refided on fhore. The moment I got to him, he beftowed upon me a prefent of a large hog, and a quantity of yams. About the dufk of the evening, a number of men came, and, having fat down in a round group, began to fing in concert with the mufic of bomboo drums, which were placed in the centre *. There were three long ones, and two fhort. With thefe they ftruck the ground endwife, as before defcribed. There were two others, which lay on the ground, fide by fide, and one of them was split or shivered; on these a man kept beating with two fmall flicks. They fung three fongs while I ftayed; and, I was told, that after Heft them, the entertainment lasted till ten o'clock. They burnt the leaves of the wharra palm for a light; which is the only thing I ever faw them make use of for this purpole.

While I was paffing the day in attendance on thefe great men, Mr. Anderfon, with fome others, made an excursion into the country, which furnished him with the following remarks: "To the Weftward of the tent, the country is totally uncultivated for near two miles, though quite covered with trees and busines, in a natural flate, growing with the greatest vigour. Beyond this is a pretty large plain, on which are fome cocoa-trees, and a few small plantations that appear to have been lately made; and, seemingly, on ground that has never been cultivated before. Near the creek, which runs to the Westward of the tent, the land is quite flat, and partly overflowed by the fea every

tide.

288 -1777.

June.

^{*} The fame fort of evening concert is performed round the houfe of the Chief, or *Tamole*, at the Caroline Iflands. "Le "*Tamole* ne s'endort qu'au bruit d'un concert de mufique que "forme une troupe de jeunes gens, qui s'affemblent le foir, au-"toir de fa maifon, & qui chantent, à leur manière, certaines "poëfies." Lettres Editiontes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 314

tide. When that retires, the furface is feen to be composed of coral rock, with holes of yellowish mud fcattered up and down; and toward the edges, where it is a little firmer, are innumerable little openings, from which iffue as many fmall crabs, of two or three different forts, which fwarm upon the fpot, as flies upon a carcafe; but are fo nimble, that, on being approached, they difappear in an inftant, and baffle even the natives to catch any of them.

At this place is a work of art, which shews, that these people are capable of some design, and perfeverance, when they mean to accomplifh any thing. This work begins, on one fide, as a narrow caufeway, which, becoming gradually broader, rifes, with a gentle alcent, to the height of ten feet, where it is five paces broad, and the whole length feventy-four paces. Joined to this is a fort of circus, whole diameter is thirty paces, and not above a foot or two higher than the caufeway that joins it, with fome trees planted in the middle. On the opposite fide, another caufeway of the fame fort defcends; but this is not above forty paces long, and is partly in ruin. The whole is built with large coral ftones, with earth on the furface, which is quite overgrown with low trees and fhrubs; and, from its decaying in feveral places, feems to be of no modern date. Whatever may have been its use formerly, it feems to be of none now; and all that we could learn of it from the natives was, that it belonged to Poulaho, and is called Etchee."

On the 16th, in the morning, after visiting the Mond. 16. feveral works now carrying on ashore, Mr. Gore, and I, took a walk into the country; in the course of which nothing remarkable appeared, but our having opportunities of seeing the whole process of making cloth, which is the principal manufac-

Vol, I.

ture

1797. June.

ture of these islands, as well as of many others in this Ocean. In the narrative of my first Voyage *, a minute description is given of this operation, as performed at Otaheite; but the process, here, differing in some particulars, it may be worth while to give the following account of it:

The manufacturers, who are females, take the flender stalks or trunks of the paper-mulberry, which they cultivate for that purpose; and which feldom grows more than fix or feven feet in height, and about four fingers in thickness. From these they ftrip the bark, and fcrape off the outer rind with a muscle-shell. The bark is then rolled up to take off the convexity which it had round the stalk, and macerated in water for fome time (they fay, a night). After this, it is laid across the trunk of a fmail tree fquared, and beaten with a fquare wooden inftrument, about a foot long, full of coarfe grooves on all fides; but, fometimes, with one that is plain. According to the fize of the bark, a piece is foon produced; but the operation is often repeated by another hand, or it is folded feveral times, and beat longer, which feems rather intended to clofe than to divide its texture. When this is fufficiently effected, it is fpread out to dry; the pieces being from four to fix, or more, feet in length, and half as broad. They are then given to another perfon, who joins the pieces, by fmearing part of them over with the viscous juice of a berry, called tooo, which ferves as a glue. Having been thus lengthened, they are laid over a large piece of wood, with a kind of ftamp, made of a fibrous fubstance pretty closely interwoven, placed beneath. They then take a bit of cloth, and dip it in a juice, expressed from the bark of a

* Hawkefworth's Collection of Voyages, Vol. ii. p. 210.

tree,

tree, called kokka, which they rub brickly upon the piece that is making. This, at once, leaves, June. a dull brown colour, and a dry gloss upon its furtace; the ftamp, at the fame time, making a flight impression, that answers no other purpose that I could fee, but to make the feveral pieces, that are glued together, flick a little more firmly. In this manner they proceed, joining and flaining by degrees, till they produce a piece of cloth, of fuch length and breadth as they want; generally leaving a border, of a foot broad, at the fides, and longer at the ends, unstained. Throughout the whole, if any parts of the original pieces are too thin, or have holes, which is often the cafe, they glue spare bits upon them, till they become of an equal thickness. When they want to produce a black colour, they mix the foot procured from an oily nut, called dooedooe, with the juice of the kokka, in different quantities, according to the propoled depth of the tinge. They fay, that the black fort of cloth, which is commonly moft glazed, makes a cold drefs, but the other a warm one; and, to obtain ftrength in both, they are always careful to join the fmall pieces lengthwife, which makes it impossible to tear the cloth in any direction but one.

On our return from the country, we met with Feenou, and took him, and another young Chief, on board to dinner. When our fare was fet upon the table, neither of them would eat a bit; faying, that they were taboo avy. But, after enquiring how the victuals had been dreffed, having found that no avy (water) had been used in cooking a pig and fome yams, they both fat down, and made a very hearty meal; and, on being affored that there was no water in the wine, they drank of it alfo. From this we conjectured, that, on fome account or

U 2

or another, they were, at this time, forbidden to use water; or, which was more probable, they did not like the water we made use of, it being taken up out of one of their bathing-places. This was not the only time of our meeting with people that were *taboo avy*; but, for what reason, we never could tell with any degree of certainty.

Next day, the 17th, was fixed upon by Maree-Tuefd. 17. wagee, for giving a grand Haiva, or entertainment; to which we were all invited. For this purpose a large space had been cleared, before the temporary hut of this Chief, near our poft, as an area where the performances were to be exhibited. In the morning, great multitudes of the natives came in from the country, every one carrying a pole, about fix feet long, upon his fhoulder; and at each end of every pole, a yam was fuspended. These yams and poles were deposited on each fide of the area, fo as to form two large heaps, decorated with different forts of fmall fifh, and piled up to the greateft advantage. They were Mareewagee's prefent to Captain Clerke and me; and it was hard to fay, whether the wood for fuel, or the yams for food, were of most value to us. As for the fifh, they might ferve to pleafe the fight, but were very offenfive to the fmell; part of them having been kept two or three days, to be prefented to us on this occafion.

> Every thing being thus prepared, about eleven o'clock they began to exhibit various dances, which they call *mai*. The mufic * confifted, at first, of feventy men as a chorus, who fat down; and amidst them were placed three instruments, which we called drums, though very unlike them. They are large cylindrical pieces of wood, or trunks of

June.

trees,

^{*} Mr. Anderfon's defcription of the entertainments of this day being much fuller than Captain Cook's, it has been adopted as on a former occafion.

trees, from three to four feet long, fome twice as thick as an ordinary fized man, and fome fmaller, hollowed entirely out, but clofe at both ends, and open only by a chink, about three inches broad, running almost the whole length of the drums; by which opening, the reft of the wood is certainly hollowed, though the operation must be difficult. This inftrument is called *naffa*; and, with the chink turned toward them, they fit and beat ftrongly upon it, with two cylindrical pieces of hard wood, about a foot long, and as thick as the wrift; by which means they produce a rude, though loud and powerfal found. They vary the ftrength and rate of their beating, at different parts of the dance; and alfo change the tones, by beating in the middle, or near the end of their drum.

The first dance confisted of four ranks, of twenrty-four men each, holding in their hands a little, thin, light, wooden instrument, above two feet long, and, in fhape, not unlike a fmall oblong pad-With these, which are called pagge, they dle. made a great many different motions; fuch as pointing them toward the ground on one fide, at the fame time inclining their bodies that way, from which they were shifted to the opposite fide in the fame manner; then passing them quickly from one hand to the other, and twirling them about very dextroufly; with a variety of other manœuvres, all which were accompanied by corresponding attitudes of the body. Their motions were, at first, flow, but quickened as the drums beat fafter; and they recited fentences, in a mufical tone, the whole time, which were answered by the chorus; but at the end of a fhort space they all joined, and finished with a fhout.

After ceafing about two or three minutes, they began as before, and continued, with fhort intervals.

1777. June. vals, above a quarter of an hour; when the rear rank dividing, fhifted themfelves very flowly round each end, and, meeting in the front, formed the firft rank; the whole number continuing to recite the fentences as before. The other ranks did the fame fucceflively, till that which, at firft, was the front, became the rear; and the evolution continued, in the fame manner, till the laft rank regained its firft fituation. They then began a much quicker dance (though flow at firft), and fung for about ten minutes, when the whole body divided into two parts, retreated a little, and then approached, forming a fort of circular figure, which finifhed the dance; the drums being removed, and the chorus going off the field at the fame time.

The fecond dance had only two drums, with forty men for a chorus; and the dancers, or rather actors, confifted of two ranks, the foremost having feventeen, and the other fifteen perfons. Feenou was at their head, or in the middle of the front rank, which is the principal place in these cases. They danced and recited fentences, with fome very fhort intervals, for about half an hour, fometimes quickly, fometimes more flowly, but with fuch a degree of exactness, as if all the motions were made by one man, which did them great credit. Near the close, the back rank divided, came round, and took the place of the front, which again refumed its fituation, as in the firft dance; and when they finished, the drums and chorus, as before, went off.

Three drums (which, at leaft, took two, and fometimes three men to carry them) were now brought in; and feventy men fat down as a chorus to the third dance. This confifted of two ranks, of fixteen perfons each, with young Toobou at their head, who was richly ornamented with a I fort

294 1777.

June.

fort of garment covered with red feathers. These danced, fung, and twirled the pagge, as before; June. but, in general, much quicker, and performed fo well, that they had the conftant applaufes of the fpectators. A motion that met with particular approbation, was one in which they held the face afide, as if alhamed, and the pagge before it. The back rank closed before the front one, and that again refumed its place, as in the two former dances; but then they began again, formed a triple row, divided, retreated to each end of the area, and left the greatest part of the ground clear. At that instant, two men entered very haftily, and exercifed the clubs which they use in battle. They did this, by first twirling them in their hands, and making circular ftrokes before them with great force and quickness; but fo skilfully managed, that, though ftanding quite close, they never interfered. They shifted their clubs from hand to hand, with great dexterity; and, after continuing a little time, kneeled, and made different motions, toffing the clubs up in the air, which they caught as they fell; and then went off as haftily as they entered. Their heads were covered with pieces of white cloth, tied at the crown (almost like a nightcap) with a wreath of foliage round the forehead; but they had only very fmall pieces of white cloth tied about their waifts; probably, that they might be cool, and free from every incumbrance or weight. A perfon with a spear, dreffed like the former, then came in, and in the fame hafty manner; looking about eagerly, as if in fearch of fomebody to throw He then ran haftily to one fide of the crowd it at. in the front, and put himfelf in a threatening attitude, as if he meant to strike with his spear at one of them, bending the knee a little, and trembling, as it were with rage. He continued in this manner

1777.

ner only a few feconds, when he moved to the other fide, and having ftood in the fame pofture there, for the fame fhort time, retreated from the ground, as faft as when he made his appearance. The dancers, who had divided into two parties, kept repeating fomething flowly all this while, and now advanced, and joined again, ending with univerfal applaufe. It fhould feem, that this dance was confidered as one of their capital performances, if we might judge from fome of the principal people being engaged in it. For one of the drums was beat by Futtafaihe, the brother of Poulaho, another by Feenou, and the third, which did not belong to the chorus, by Mareewagee himfelf, at the entrance of his hut.

The last dance had forty men, and two drums, as a chorus. It confifted of fixty men, who had not danced before, disposed in three rows, having twenty-four in front. But, before they began, we were entertained with a pretty long preliminary harangue, in which the whole body made refponfes to a fingle perfon who fpoke. They recited fentences (perhaps verfes) alternately with the chorus, and made many motions with the pagge, in a very brifk mode, which were all applauded with mareeai! and fyfogge! words expressing two different degrees of praise. They divided into two bodies, with their backs to each other; formed again, fhifted their ranks as in the other dances; divided and retreated, making room for two champions, who exercifed their clubs as before; and after them two others: the dancers, all the time, reciting flowly in turn with the chorus; after which they advanced, and finished.

These dances, if they can properly be called fo, lasted from eleven till near three o'clock; and though they were, doubtles, intended, particularly, either either in honour of us, or to fhew a fpecimen of their dexterity, vaft numbers of their own people attended as fpectators. Their numbers could not be computed exactly, on account of the inequality of the ground, but, by reckoning the inner circle, and the number in depth, which was between twenty and thirty in many places, we fuppofed that there muft be near four thousand. At the fame time, there were round the trading place at the tent, and ftraggling about, at leaft as many more; and fome of us computed, that, at this time, there were not lefs than ten or twelve thousand people, in our neighbourhood; that is, within the compass of a quarter of a mile; drawn together, for the most part, by mere curiolity.

It is with regret I mention, that we could not underftand what was fpoken, while we were able to fee what was acted, in thefe amufements. This, doubtlefs, would have afforded us much information, as to the genius and cuftoms of these peo-It was observable, that, though the spectaple. tors always approved of the various motions, when well made, a great share of the pleasure they received feemed to arife from the fentimental part, or what the performers delivered in their speeches. However, the mere acting part, independently of the fentences repeated, was well worth our notice, both with respect to the extensive plan on which it was executed, and to the various motions, as well as the exact unity, with which they were performed. But neither pencil nor pen can defcribe the numerous actions and motions, the fingularity of which was not greater, than was the eafe and gracefulnels with which they were performed.

297 1777.

June.

At

At night, we were entertained with the bomai, or night dances, on a space before Feenou's temporary habitation. They lafted about three hours; in which time we had about twelve of them performed, much after the fame manner as those at Hapaee. But, in two, that were performed by women, a number of men came and formed a And, in another, confiftcircle within their's. ing of twenty-four men, there were a number of motions with the hands, that we had not feen before, and were highly applauded. The mulic was, alfo, once changed, in the course of the night; and in one of the dances, Feenou appeared at the head of fifty men who had performed at Hapaee, and he was well dreffed with linen, a large piece of gauze, and fome little pictures hung round his neck. But it was evident, after the diversions were closed, that we had put these poor people, or rather that they had put themfelves, to much inconvenience. For being drawn together on this uninhabited part of their island, numbers of them were obliged to lie down and fleep under the bufhes, by the fide of a tree, or of a canoe; nay many either lay down in the open air, which they are not fond of, or walked about all the night.

The whole of this entertainment was conducted with far better order, than could have been expect ed in fo large an affembly. Amongft fuch a multitude, there muft be a number of ill-difpofed people; and we, hourly, experienced it. All our care and attention did not prevent their plundering us, in every quarter; and that, in the most daring and infolent manner. There was hardly any thing that they did not attempt to fteal; and yet, as the crowd was

was always fo great, I would not allow the fentries 1777. to fire, left the innocent fhould fuffer for the guilty. June. They once, at noon day, ventured to aim at taking an anchor from off the Difcovery's bows; and they would certainly have fucceeded, if the flook had not hooked one of the chain plates in lowering down the thip's fide, from which they could not difengage it by hand; and tackles were things they were unacquainted with. The only act of violence they were guilty of, was the breaking the fhoulder bone of one of our goats, fo that the died foon after. This lofs fell upon themfelves, as the was one of those that I intended to leave upon the island; but of this, the perfon who did it, was ignorant.

Early in the morning of the 18th, an incident Wedn. 18. happened, that ftrongly marked one of their cuftoms. A man got out of a canoe into the quarter gallery of the Refolution, and ftole from thence a pewter bason. He was discovered, pursued, and brought along-fide the fhip. On this occafion, three old women, who were in the canoe, made loud lamentations over the prifoner, beating their breafts and faces in a most violent manner, with the infide of their fifts; and all this was done without fhedding a tear. This mode of expressing grief is what occasions the mark which almost all this people bear on the face, over the cheek bones. The repeated blows which they inflict upon this part, abrade the fkin, and make even the blood flow out in a confiderable quantity; and when the wounds are recent, they look as if a hollow circle had been burnt in. On many occasions, they actually cut this part of the face with an inftrument; in the fame manner as the people of Otakeite cut their heads.

This day, I beftowed on Mareewagee fome prefents, in return for those we had received from him the day before; and as the entertainments which

which he had then exhibited for our amufement. called upon us to make fome exhibition in our way, I ordered the party of marines to go through their exercife, on the fpot where his dances had been performed; and, in the evening, played off fome fireworks at the fame place. Poulaho, with all the principal Chiefs, and a great number of people, of all denominations, were prefent. The platoon firing, which was executed tolerably well, feemed to give them pleafure; but they were loft in aftonifhment when they beheld our water rockets. They paid but little attention to the fife and drum, or French horns, that played during the intervals. The king fat behind every body, becaufe no one is allowed to fit behind him; and, that his view might not be obstructed, nobody fat immediately before him; but a lane, as it were, was made by the people from him, quite down to the space allotted for the fireworks.

In expectation of this evening flew, the circle of natives about our tent being pretty large, they engaged, the greatest part of the afternoon, in boxing and wreftling; the first of which exercises they call fangatooa and the fecond fooboo. When any of them chooses to wreftle, he gets up from one fide of the ring, and croffes the ground in a fort of meafured pace, clapping fmartly on the elbow joint of one arm, which is bent, and produces a hollow found; that is reckoned the challenge. If no perfon comes out from the opposite fide to engage him, he returns, in the fame manner, and fits down; but fometimes ftands clapping in the midft of the ground, to provoke fome one to come out. If an opponent appear, they come together with marks of the greateft good-nature, generally fmiling, and taking time to adjust the piece of cloth which is fastened round the waist. They then 2 lay

lay hold of each other by this girdle, with a hand on each fide; and he who fucceeds in drawing his antagonist to him, immediately tries to lift him upon his breaft, and throw him upon his back; and if he be able to turn round with him two or three times, in that polition, before he throws him, his dexterity never fails of procuring plaudits from the spectators. If they be more equally matched, they close foon, and endeavour to throw each other by entwining their legs, or lifting each other from the ground; in which ftruggles they fhew a prodigious exertion of ftrength, every muscle, as it were, being ready to burft with ftraining. When one is thrown, he immediately quits the field, but the victor fits down for a few feconds, then gets up, and goes to the fide he came from, who proclaim the victory aloud, in a fentence delivered flowly, and in a mufical cadence. After fitting a fhort fpace, he rifes again and challenges; when fometimes feveral antagonifts make their appearance; but he has the privilege of choosing which of them he pleafes to wreftle with; and has, likewife, the preference of challenging again, if he fhould throw his adverfary, until he himfelf be vanquished; and then the opposite fide fing the fong of victory in favour of their champion. It also often happens, that five or fix rife from each fide, and challenge together; in which cafe, it is common to fee three or four couple engaged on the field at once. But it is aftonifhing to fee what temper they preferve in this exercife; for we observed no instances of their leaving the spot, with the least displeasure in their countenances. When they find, that they are fo equally matched as not to be likely to throw each other, they leave off by mutual con-And if the fall of one is not fair, or if it fent. does not appear very clearly who has had the advantage, both fides fing the victory, and then they

1777. June. June. been vanquished, can engage with his conqueror a fecond time.

The boxers advance fide-ways, changing the fide at every pace, with one arm ftretched fully out before, the other behind; and holding a piece of cord in one hand, which they wrap firmly about it, when they find an antagonift, or elfe have done fo before they enter. This, I imagine, they do, to prevent a diflocation of the hand or fingers. Their blows are directed chiefly to the head; but fometimes to the fides; and are dealt out with great activity. They fhift fides, and box equally well with both hands. But one of their favourite and moft dextrous blows, is, to turn round on their heel, juft as they have ftruck their antagonift, and to give him another very fmart one with the other hand backward.

The boxing matches feldom laft long; and the parties either leave off together, or one acknowledges his being beat. But they never fing the fong of victory in these cases, unless one strikes his adversary to the ground; which shews, that, of the two, wreftling is their most approved diverfion. Not only boys engage, in both the exercises, but frequently little girls box very obftinately for In all which cafes, it doth not a short time. appear, that they ever confider it as the fmalleft difgrace to be vanquished; and the perfon overcome fits down, with as much indifference, as if he had never entered the lifts. Some of our people ventured to contend with them in both exercifes, but were always worfted; except in a few inftances, where it appeared, that the fear they were in of offending us, contributed more to the victory, than the fuperiority of the perfon they engaged.

The

The cattle, which we had brought, and which ^{1777.} were all on fhore, however carefully guarded, I was ^{June.} fenfible, run no fmall rifk, when I confidered the thievifh difpolition of many of the natives, and their dexterity in appropriating to themfelves by ftealth, what they faw no profpect of obtaining by fair means. For this reason I thought it prudent to declare my intention of leaving behind me fome of our animals; and even to make a diffribution of them previoufly to my departure.

With this view, in the evening of the 10th, I Thurf. 19. affembled all the Chiefs before our house, and my intended prefents to them were marked out. To Poulaho, the king, I gave a young English bull and cow; to Mareewagee, a Cape ram, and two ewes; and to Feenou, a horfe and a mare. As my defign, to make fuch a diffribution, had been made known the day before, most of the people in the neighbourhood were then prefent, Iinstructed Omai to tell them, that there were no fuch animals within many months fail of their ifland; that we had brought them, for their use, from that immense diftance, at a vaft trouble and expence; that, therefore, they must be careful not to kill any of them till they had multiplied to a numerous race; and, lastly, that they and their children ought to remember, that they had received them from the men of Britane. He also explained to them their feveral uses, and what elfe was neceffary for them to know, or rather as far as he knew; for Omai was not very well verfed in fuch things himfelf. As I intended that the above prefents should remain with the other cattle, till we were ready to fail, I defired each of the Chiefs to fend a man or two to look after their respective animals, along with my people, in order that they might be better acquainted with them, and with the manner of treating them. The king and Feenou

Feenou did fo; but neither Mareewagee, nor any June. The fheep afterward; nor did old Toobou attend at this meeting, though he was invited, and was in the neighbourhood. I had meant to give him the goats, viz. a ram and two ewes; which, as he was fo indifferent about them, I added to the king's fhare.

Friday 20. It foon appeared, that fome were diffatisfied with this allotment of our animals; for, early next morning, one of our kids, and two turkey-cocks, were miffing. I could not be fo fimple as to fuppofe, that this was merely an accidental loss; and I was determined to have them again. The first ftep I took was to feize on three canoes that happened to be along-fide the fhips. I then went ashore, and, having found the king, his brother, Feenou, and fome other Chiefs, in the houfe that we occupied, I immediately put a guard over them, and gave them to understand, that they must remain under reftraint, till not only the kid and the turkeys, but the other things, that had been stolen from us, at different times, were restored. They concealed, as well as they could, their feelings, on finding themfelves prifoners; and, having affured me, that every thing should be reftored, as I defired, fat down to drink their kava, feemingly much at their eafe. It was not long before an axe, and an iron wedge, were brought to me. In the mean time, fome armed natives began to gather behind the houfe; but, on a part of our guard marching against them, they dispersed; and I advised the Chiefs to give orders, that no more should appear. Such orders were accordingly given by them, and they were obeyed. On afking them to go aboard with me to dinner, they readily confented. But fome having afterward objected to the king's going, he inftantly role up, and declared he would

would be the first man. Accordingly we came 1777. on board. I kept them there till near four o'clock, June. when I conducted them ashore; and, soon after, the kid, and one of the turkey-cocks, were brought back. The other, they said, should be restored the next morning. I believed this would happen, and released both them and the cances.

After the Chiefs had left us, I walked out with Omai, to observe how the people about us fared; for this was the time of their meals. I found that, in general, they were at fhort commons. Nor is this to be wondered at, fince most of the yams, and other provisions which they brought with them, were fold to us; and they never thought of returning to their own habitations, while they could find any fort of subfiftence in our neighbourhood. Our station was upon an uncultivated point of land; fo that there were none of the islanders, who, properly, refided within half a mile of us. But even at this diftance, the multitude of ftrangers being fo great, one might have expected, that every house would have been much crowded. It was quite otherwife. The families reliding there were as much left to themfelves, as if there had not been a fupernumerary vifiter near them. All the ftrangers lived in little temporary fheds, or under trees and bushes; and the cocoa-trees were ftripped of their branches, to erect habitations for the Chiefs.

In this walk we met with about half a dozen women, in one place, at fupper. Two of the company, I obferved, being fed by the others, on our afking the reason, they faid taboo mattee. On farther inquiry we found, that one of them had, two months before, washed the dead corpfe of a Chief, and that, on this account, the was not to handle any food for five months. The other had Vol. I. X performed

performed the fame office to the corpfe of another perfon of inferior rank, and was now under the fame reftriction; but not for fo long a time. At another place, hard by, we faw another woman fed; and we learnt, that fhe had affifted in washing the corpfe of the above-mentioned Chief.

Satur. 21.

Early the next morning, the king came on board, to invite me to an entertainment, which he proposed to give the fame day. He had already been under the barber's hands; his head being all befmeared with red pigment, in order to redden his hair, which was naturally of a dark brown colour. After breakfast, l attended him to the shore; and we found his people very bufy, in two places, in the front of our area, fixing, in an upright and fquare polition, thus [°°], four very long pofts, near two feet from each other. The fpace between the pofts was afterward filled up with yams; and as they went on filling it, they fastened pieces of flicks across, from post to post, at the distance of about every four feet; to prevent the pofts from feparating, by the weight of the inclosed yams. and also to get up by. When the yams had reached the top of the first posts, they fastened others to them, and fo continued till each pile was the height of thirty feet, or upward. On the top of one, they placed two baked hogs; and on the top of the other, a living one; and another they tied by the legs, half-way up. It was matter of curiofity to observe, with what facility and difpatch thefe two piles were raifed. Had our feamen been ordered to execute fuch a work, they would have fworn that it could not be performed without carpenters; and the carpenters would have called to their aid a dozen different forts of tools, and have expended, at least, a hundred weight of nails; and, after all, it would have employed them T as as many days, as it did there people hours. But feamen, like most other amphibious animals, are always the most helpless on land. After they had completed these two piles, they made several other heaps of yams and bread fruit on each fide of the area; to which were added a turtle, and a large quantity of excellent fifh. All this, with a piece of cloth, a mat, and fome red feathers, was the king's prefent to me; and he feemed to picque himfelf on exceeding, as he really did, Feenou's liberality, which I experienced at Hapaee.

About one o'clock they began the *mai*, or dances; the first of which was almost a copy of the first that was exhibited at Mareewagee's entertainment. The fecond was conducted by Captain Furneaux's Toobou, who, as we mentioned, had also danced there; and in this, four or five women were introduced, who went through the feveral parts with as much exactness as the men. Toward the end, the performers divided to leave room for two champions, who exercifed their clubs, as defcribed on a former occafion. And, in the third dance, which was the laft now prefented, two more men, with their clubs, difplayed their dexterity. The dances were fucceeded by wreftling and boxing; and one man entered the lifts with a fort of club, made from the ftem of a cocoa-leaf, which is firm and heavy; but could find no antagonift to engage him at fo rough a fport. At night we had the bomai repeated; in which Poulaho himfelf danced, dreffed in English manufacture. But neither these, nor the dances in the day-time, were fo confiderable, nor carried on with fo much fpirit, as Feenou's or Mareewagee's; and, therefore, there is lefs occafion to be more particular in our description of them.

In order to be prefent the whole time, I dined The king fat down with us; but he ashore. neither X 2

307

1777. June.

them their muskets, with the necessary ammuniti-1777. June. on, and feveral fmall articles of the favourite commodities; all which the natives had the dexterity to fteal from them, in the course of their expedi-This affair was likely to be attended with tion. inconvenient confequences. For, our plundered travellers, upon their return, without confulting me, employed Omai to complain to the king of the treatment they had met with. He, not knowing what ftep I should take, and, from what had already happened, fearing left I might lay him again Mond. 23. under reftraint, went off early the next morning. His example was followed by Feenou; fo that we had not a Chief, of any authority, remaining in our neighbourhood. I was very much difpleafed at this, and reprimanded Omai for having prefumed to meddle. This reprimand put him upon his metal to bring his friend Feenou back; and he fucceeded in the negociation; having this powerful argument to urge, that he might depend upon my using no violent measures to oblige the natives to reftore what had been taken from the gentlemen. Feenou, trufting to this declaration, returned toward the evening; and, encouraged by his reception, Poulaho favoured us with his company the day after.

Tuefd. 24. Both these Chiefs, upon this occasion, very justly observed to me, that, if any of my people, at any time, wanted to go into the country, they ought to be acquainted with it; in which case they would fend proper people along with them; and then they would be answerable for their fastery. And I am convinced, from experience, that, by taking this very reasonable precaution, a man and his property may be as faste among these islanders, as in other parts of the more civilized world. Though I gave myself no trouble about the recovery of the things ftolen ftolen upon this occasion, most of them, through Feenou's interpolition, were recovered ; except one June. musket, and a few other articles of inferior value. By this time also, we had recovered the turkeycock, and most of the tools, and other matters, that had been ftolen from our workmen.

On the 25th, two boats, which I had fent to look Wedn. 25. for a channel, by which we might, most commodioufly, get to fea, returned. The Mafters, who commanded them, reported, that the channel to the North, by which we came in, was highly dangerous, being full of coral rocks from one fide to the other; but that, to the Eastward, there was a very good channel; which, however, was very much contracted, in one place, by the fmall iflands; fo that a leading wind would be requifite to get through it; that is, a Wefterly wind, which, we had found, did not often blow here. We had now recruited the fhips with wood and water; we had finished the repairs of our fails; and had little more to expect from the inhabitants, of the produce of their island. However, as an eclipse of the fun was to happen upon the 5th of the next month, I refolved to defer failing till that time had elapfed, in order to have a chance of obferving it.

Having, therefore, fome days of leifure before me, a party of us, accompanied by Poulaho, fet out, early next morning, in a boat, for Mooa, Thurf. 26. the village where he and the other great men ufually refide. As we rowed up the inlet, we met with fourteen canoes filhing in company; in one of which was Poulaho's fon. In each canoe was a triangular net, extended between two poles; at the lower end of which was a cod to receive and fecure the fifh. They had already caught fome fine mullets; and they put about a dozen into our

I defired to fee their method of fifhing ; our boat. which they readily complied with. A fhoal of filh was supposed to be upon one of the banks, which they inftantly inclosed in a long net like a feine, This the fifners, one getting into the or fet net. water out of each boat, furrounded with the triangular nets in their hands; with which they fcooped the fifh out of the feine, or caught them as they attempted to leap over it. They shewed us the whole process of this operation (which feemed to be a fure one), by throwing in fome of the fifth they had already caught; for, at this time, there happened to be none upon the bank, that was inclofed.

Leaving the prince and his fifting party, we proceeded to the bottom of the bay, and landed where we had done before, on our fruitless errand to see Mareewagee. As foon as we got on fhore, the king defired Omai to tell me, that I need be under no apprehensions about the boat, or any thing in her, for not a fingle article would be touched by any one; and we afterward found this to be the cafe. We were immediately conducted to one of Poulaho's houfes not far off, and near the public one, or malaee, in which we had been, when we first visited Mooa. This, though pretty large, feemed to be his private habitation, and was fituated within a plantation. The king took his feat at one end of the house, and the people, who came to vifit him, fat down, as they arrived, in a femicircle at the other end. The first thing done, was to prepare a bowl of kava, and to order fome yams to be baked for us. While these were getting ready, fome of us, accompanied by a few of the king's attendants, and Omai as our interpreter, walked out to take a view of a *fiatooka*, or buryingplace, which we had observed to be almost close by the house, and was much more extensive, and seemingly

ingly of more confequence, than any we had feen at the other iflands. We were told, that it belonged to the king. It confifted of three pretty large houles, fituated upon a rifing ground, or rather just by the brink of it, with a small one, at some diftance, all ranged longitudinally. The middle house of the three first, was, by much, the largest, and placed in a fquare, twenty-four paces by twenty-eight, raifed about three feet. The other houfes were placed on little mounts, raifed artificially to the fame height. The floors of these houses, as also the tops of the mounts round them, were covered with loofe, fine pebbles, and the whole was inclosed by large flat ftones * of hard coral rock, properly hewn, placed on their edges; one of which ftones measured twelve feet in length, two in breadth, and above one in thicknefs. One of the houses, contrary to what we had feen before, was open on one fide; and within it were two rude, wooden bufts of men; one near the entrance, and the other farther in. On inquiring of the natives, who had followed us to the ground, but durft not enter here, What these images were intended for; they made us as fenfible as we could wifh, that they were merely memorials of fome Chiefs who had been buried there, and not the reprefentations of any deity. Such monuments, it fhould feem, are feldom raifed; for these had, probably, been erected feveral ages ago. We were told, that the dead had been buried in each of these houses; but no marks of this appeared. In one of them, was the carved head of an Otaheite canoe, which had been driven ashore on their coast, and deposited here. At the foot of the rifing ground, was a large area, or grafs-

* The burying-places of the Chiefs at the Caroline Islands, are also inclosed in this manner. See Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 309.

plot,

1777. June. 1777. June, plot, with different trees planted about it; amongft which were feveral of those called *etoa*, very large. These, as they resemble the cypress, had a fine effect in such a place. There was, also, a row of low palms near one of the houses, and behind it a ditch, in which lay a great number of old baskets.

After dinner, or rather after we had refreshed ourfelves with fome provisions which we had brought with us from our thip, we made an excursion into the country, taking a pretty large circuit, attended by one of the king's ministers. Our train was not great, as he would not fuffer the rabble to follow us. He also obliged all those whom we met upon our progrefs, to fit down, till we had paffed : which is a mark of respect due only to their Sovereigns. We found by far the greatest part of the country cultivated, and planted with various forts of productions; and most of these plantations were fenced round. Some fpots, where plantations had been formerly, now produced nothing, lying fallow; and there were places that had never been touched, but lay in a flate of nature; and, yet, even these were useful, in affording them timber, as they were generally covered with trees. We met with feveral large uninhabited houfes, which, we were told, belonged to the king. There were many public and well-beaten roads, and abundance of foot-paths leading to every part of the ifland. The roads being good, and the country level, travelling was very eafy. It is remarkable, that when we were on the most elevated parts, at least a hundred feet above the level of the fea, we often met with the fame coral rock, which is found at the fhore, projecting above the furface, and perforated and cut into all those inequalities which are usually feen in rocks that lie within the wash of the tide. And

And yet these very spots, with hardly any solution on them, were covered with luxuriant vegetation. We were conducted to several little pools, and to fome springs of water; but, in general, they were either stinking or brackiss, though recommended to us by the natives as excellent. The former were, mostly, inland, and the latter near the shore of the bay, and below high-water mark; so that tolerable water could be taken up from them, only when the tide was out.

When we returned from our walk, which was not till the dusk of the evening, our supper was ready. It confifted of a baked hog, fome fifh, and yams, all excellently well cooked, after the method of these islands. As there was nothing to amuse us after supper, we followed the custom of the country, and lay down to fleep, our beds being mats (pread upon the floor, and cloth to cover us. The king, who had made himfelf very happy with fome wine and brandy which we had brought. flept in the fame houfe, as well as feveral others of the natives. Long before day-break, he and they all role, and fat converling by moon-light. The conversation, as might well be gueffed, turned wholly upon us; the king entertaining his company with an account of what he had feen, or remarked. As foon as it was day, they difperfed, Friday 27. fome one way, and fome another; but it was not long before they all returned, and, with them, feveral more of their countrymen.

They now began to prepare a bowl of kava; and, leaving them fo employed, I went to pay a vifit to Toobou, Captain Furneaux's friend, who had a houfe hard by, which, for fize and neatnefs, was exceeded by few in the place. As I had left the others, fo I found here a company preparing a morning draught. This Chief made a prefent to me of a living hog, a baked one, a quantity of yams,

yams, and a large piece of cloth. When I returned to the king, I found him, and his circle of attendants, drinking the fecond bowl of *kava*. That being emptied, he told Omai, that he was going prefently to perform a mourning ceremony, called *Tooge*, on account of a fon who had been dead fome time; and he defired us to accompany him. We were glad of the opportunity, expecting to fee fomewhat new or curious.

The first thing the Chief did, was to step out of the house, attended by two old women, and put on a new fuit of clothes, or rather a new piece of cloth, and, over it, an old ragget mat, that might have ferved his great grandfather, on fome fuch occafion. His fervants, or those who attended him, were all dreffed in the fame manner, excepting that none of their mais could vie, in antiquity, with that of their mafter. Thus equipped, we marched off, preceded by about eight or ten perfons, all in the above habits of ceremony, each of them, befides, having a fmall green bough about his neck. Poulaho held his bough in his hand, till we drew near the place of rendezvous, when he alfo put it about his neck. We now entered a fmall inclofure, in which was a neat houfe, and we found one man fitting before it. As the company entered, they pulled off the green branches from round their necks, and threw them away. The king having first seated himself, the others fat down before him, in the ufual manner. The circle increased, by others dropping in, to the number of a hundred or upward, moftly old men, all dreffed as above deferibed. The company being completely affembled, a large root of kava, brought by one of the king's fervants, was produced, and a bowl which contained four or five gallons. Several perfons now began to chew the root, and this bowl W2S

was made brimfull of liquor. While it was pre-1777. June. paring, others were employed in making drinking cups of plantain leaves. The first cup that was filled, was prefented to the king, and he ordered it to be given to another person. The second was also brought to him, which he drank, and the third was offered to me. Afterward, as each cup was filled, the man who filled it, alked, who was to have it? Another then named the perfon; and to him it was carried. As the bowl grew low, the man who diffributed the liquor feemed rather at a lofs to whom cups of it fhould be next fent, and frequently confulted those who fat near him. This mode of diffribution continued, while any liquor remained; and though not half the company had a share, yet no one seemed distatisfied. About half a dozen cups ferved for all; and each, as it was emptied, was thrown down upon the ground, where the fervants picked it up, and carried it to be filled again. During the whole time, the Chief and his circle fat, as was usually the cafe, with a great deal of gravity, hardly fpeaking a word to each other.

We had long waited in expectation, each moment of feeing the mourning ceremony begin; when, foon after the *kava* was drank out, to our great furprize and difappointment, they all rofe up and difperfed; and Poulaho told us, he was now ready to attend us to the fhips. If this was a mourning ceremony, it was a ftrange one. Perhaps, it was the fecond, third, or fourth mourning; or, which was not very uncommon, Omai might have mifunderftood what Poulaho faid to him. For, excepting the change of drefs, and the putting the green bough round their necks, nothing feemed to have paffed at this meeting, but what we faw them practife, too frequently, every day.

"We

"* We had feen the drinking of kava fometimes, at the other ifland; but, by no means, fo frequently as here, where it feems to be the only forenoon employment of the principal people. The kava is a fpecies of pepper, which they cultivate for this purpole, and effeem it a valuable article, taking great care to defend the young plants from any injury, and it is commonly planted about their houfes. It feldom grows to more than a man's height; though I have feen fome plants almost dou-It branches confiderably, with large ble that. heart-fhaped leaves, and jointed ftalks. The root is the only part that is used at the Friendly Islands, which, being dug up, is given to the fervants that attend, who, breaking it in pieces, fcrape the dirt off with a shell, or bit of stick; and then each begins and chews his portion, which he fpits into a piece of plantain leaf. The perfon, who is to prepare the liquor, collects all these mouthfuls, and puts them into a large wooden difh or bowl, adding as much water as will make it of a proper ftrength. It is, then, well mixed up with the hands; and fome loofe fluff, of which mats are made, is thrown upon the furface, which intercepts the fibrous part, and is wrung hard, to get as much liquid out from it, as is possible. The manner of distributing it need not be repeated. The quantity which is put into each cup, is commonly about a quarter of a pint. The immediate effect of this beverage is not perceptible on these people, who use it fo frequently; but on fome of ours, who ventured to try it, though fo haftily prepared, it had the fame power as spirits have, in intoxicating them; or rather, it produced that kind of ftupefaction which is

the

318 1777.

June.

^{*} The following account of kava, to the end of this paragraph, is inferted from Mr. Anderfon's journal.

the confequence of using opium, or other substan-June. ces of that kind. It fhould be observed, at the same, time, that though these islanders have this liquor always fresh prepared, and I have seen them drink it feven times before noon, it is, neverthelefs, to difagreeable, or, at leaft, feems fo, that the greateft part of them cannot fwallow it without making wry faces, and fhuddering afterward."

As foon as this mourning ceremony was over, we left Mooa, and fet out to return to the ships. While we rowed down the lagoon or inlet, we met with two canoes coming in from fifting. Poulaho ordered them to be called along-fide our boat, and took from them every fifh and fhell they had got. He, afterward, ftopped two other canoes, and fearched them, but they had nothing. Why this was done, I cannot fay; for we had plenty of provisions in the boat. Some of this fifth he gave to me; and his fervants fold the reft on board the fhip. As we proceeded down the inlet, we overtook a large failing canoe. Every perfon on board her, that was upon his legs when we came up, fat down till we had paffed; even the man who fteered, though he could not manage the helm, except in a ftanding pofture.

Poulaho, and others, having informed me, that there was fome excellent water on Onevy, a little island, which lies about a league off the mouth of the inlet, and on the North fide of the Eaftern channel, we landed there, in order to tafte But I found it to be as brackish as most that it. we had met with. This island is quite in a natural state, being only frequented as a fishing place, and has nearly the fame productions as Palmerfton's Island, with fome etoa trees. After leaving Onevy, where we dined, in our way to the fhip, we took a view of a curious coral rock, which feems to have been thrown upon the reef where

1777.

where it flands. It is elevated about ten or twelve feet above the furface of the fea that furrounds it. The base it refts upon, is not above one-third of the circumference of its projecting fummit, which I judged to be about one hundred feet, and is covered with etoa and pandanus trees.

When we got on board the fhip, I found that every thing had been quiet during my absence, not a theft having been committed; of which Feenou, and Futtafaihe, the king's brother, who had undertaken the management of his countrymen, boafted not a little. This fhews what power the Chiefs have, when they have the will to execute it; which we were feldom to expect, fince, whatever was ftolen from us, generally, if not always, was conveyed to them.

The good conduct of the natives was of fhort Sature 28. duration; for, the next day, fix or eight of them affaulted fome of our people, who were fawing They were fired upon by the fentry: planks. and one was supposed to be wounded, and three others taken. These I kept confined till night; and did not difmifs them without punifhment. After this, they behaved with a little more circumfpection, and gave us much lefs trouble. This change of behaviour, was certainly occafioned by the man being wounded; for, before, they had only been told of the effect of fire-arms, but now they had felt it. The repeated infolence of the natives, had induced me to order the mulkets of the fentries to be loaded with fmall fhot, and to authorize them to fire on particular occasions. I took it for granted, therefore, that this man had only been wounded with fmall fhot. But Mr. King and Mr. Anderson, in an excursion into the country, met with him, and found indubitable marks of his having been wounded, but not 2 dangeroufly,

dangeroufly, with a mufket ball. I never could find 1777. June. out how this musket happened to be charged with ball; and there were people enough ready to fwear, that its contents were only fmall fhot.

Mr. Anderfon's account of the excursion, just mentioned, will fill up an interval of two days, during which nothing of note happened, at the fhips: " Mr. King and I went, on the 30th, along Mond. 30. with Futtafaihe as visiters to his house, which is at Mooa, very near that of his brother Poulaho. A fhort time after we arrived, a pretty large hog was killed; which is done by repeated ftrokes on the The hair was then fcraped off, very dexhead. troufly, with the fharp edge of pieces of fplit bamboo; taking the entrails out at a large oval hole cut in the belly, by the fame fimple inftrument. Before this, they had prepared an oven ; which is a large hole dug in the earth, filled at the bottom with ftones, about the fize of the first, over which a fire is made till they are red hot. They took fome of these stones, wrapt up in leaves of the bread-fruit tree, and filled the hog's belly, ftuffing in a quantity of leaves, to prevent their falling out, and putting a plug of the fame kind in the anus. The carcafe was then placed on fome flicks laid across the stones, in a standing posture, and covered with a great quantity of plantain leaves. After which, they dug up the earth, all round; and having thus effectually closed the oven, the operation of baking required no farther interference.

In the mean time, we walked about the country, but met with nothing remarkable, except a fiatooka of one house, flanding on an artificial mount, at least thirty feet high. A little on one fide of it, was a pretty large open area; and, not far off, was a good deal of uncultivated ground; which, on inquiring, why it lay wafte; our guides feemed to Vol. I. iay,

Y

1777. I June.

fay, belonged to the *fiatooka* (which was Poulaho's), and was not, by any means, to be touched. There was alfo, at no great diftance, a number of etoog trees, on which clung vaft numbers of the large ternate bats, making a difagreeable noife. We could not kill any, at this time, for want of mufkets; but fome, that were got at Annamooka, meafured near three feet, when the wings were extended. On our returning to Futtafaihe's house, he ordered the hog, that had been dreffed, to be produced, with feveral baskets of baked yams, and fome cocoa-nuts. But we found, that inftead of his entertaining us, we were to entertain him; the property of the feaft being entirely transferred to us, as his guefts, and we were to dispose of it as we pleafed. The fame perfon who cleaned the hog in the morning, now cut it up (but not before we defired him), in a very dexterous manner, with a knife of fplit bamboo; dividing the feveral parts, and hitting the joints, with a quickness and skill that furprized us very much. The whole was fet down before us, though at leaft fifty pounds weight, until we took a fmall piece away, and defired, that they would fhare the reft amongft the people fitting round. But it was not without a great many feruples they did that at laft; and then they asked, what particular perfons they should give it However, they were very well pleafed, when to. they found, that it was not contrary to any cuftom of ours; fome carrying off the portion they had received, and others eating it upon the fpot. It was with great difficulty, that we could prevail upon Futtafaihe himfelf to eat a fmall bit.

After dinner, we went with him, and five or fix people, his attendants, toward the place where Poulaho's mourning ceremony was transacted, the last time we were at Mooa; but we did not enter the inclosure. Every perfon who went with

us,

us, had the mat tied over his cloth, and fome leaves about the neck, as had been done on the former. occafion; and when we arrived at a large open boathouse, where a few people were, they threw away their leaves, fat down before it, and gave their cheeks a few gentle ftrokes with the firft, after which they continued fitting, for about ten minutes, with a very grave appearance, and then difperfed, without having fpoken a fingle word. This explained what Poulaho had mentioned about Tooge; though, from the operation only lafting a few feconds, he had not been observed to perform it. And this feems to be only a continuation of the mourning ceremony, by way of condolence. For. upon inquiring, on whole account it was now performed, we were told, that it was for a Chief who had died at Vavavoo, fome time ago; that they had practifed it ever fince, and fhould continue to do fo, for a confiderable time longer.

In the evening, we had a pig, dreffed as the hog, with yams and cocoa-nuts, brought for fupper; and Futtafaihe finding, that we did not like the fcruples they had made before, to accept of any part of the entertainment, alked us immediately to fhare it, and give it to whom we pleafed. When fupper was over, abundance of cloth was brought for us to fleep in; but we were a good deal diffurbed, by a fingular inftance of luxury, in which their principal men indulge themselves; that of being beat while they are asleep. Two women fat by Futtafaihe, and performed this operation, which is called tooge tooge, by beating brickly on his body and legs, with both fifts, as on a drum, till he fell asleep, and continuing it the whole night, with fome fhort intervals. When once the perfon is afleep, they abate a little in the ftrength and quickness of the beating; but refume it, if they observe any appearance of his awaking. In the morning, we

1777. June. \$777. June.

we found that Futtafaihe's women relieved each other, and went to fleep by turns. In any other country, it would be supposed, that such a practice would put an end to all reft; but here it certainly acts as an opiate; and is a ftrong proof of what habit may effect. The noife of this, however, was not the only thing that kept us awake; for the people, who paffed the night in the houfe, not only conversed amongst each other frequently, as in the day; but all got up before it was light, and made a hearty meal on fifh and yams, which were brought to them by a perfon, who feemed to know very well the appointed time for this nocturnal refreshment.

Next morning we fet out with Futtafaihe, and fueld. r. walked down the Eaft fide of the bay, to the point. The country, all along this fide, is well cultivated; but, in general, not fo much inclosed as at Mooa; and amongst many other plantain fields that we paffed, there was one at leaft a mile long, which was in excellent order, every tree growing with great vigour. We found, that, in travelling, Futtafaihe exercifed a power, though by no means wantonly, which pointed out the great authority of fuch principal men; or is, perhaps, only annexed to those of the royal family. For he fent to one place for fifh; to another for yams; and fo on, at other places; and all his orders were obeyed with the greatest readiness, as if he had been abfolute mafter of the people's property. On coming to the point, the natives mentioned fomething of one, who, they faid, had been fired at by fome of our people; and, upon our withing to fee him, they conducted us to a house, where we found a man, who had been fhot through the shoulder, but not dangeroufly; as the ball had entered a little above the inner part of the collar bone, and paffed out obliquely backward. We were fure, 2 from

July.

from the ftate of the wound, that he was the perfon who had been fired at by one of the fentinels, three days before; though politive orders had been given, that none of them should load their pieces with any thing but small shot. We gave some directions to his friends how to manage the wound, to which no application had been made; and they seemed pleased, when we told them it would get well in a certain time. But, on our going away, they asked us to fend the wounded man fome yams, and other things for food; and in such a manner, that we could not help thinking they confidered it to be our duty to support him, till he should get well.

In the evening we croffed the bay to our flation, in a canoe, which Futtafaihe had exercifed his prerogative in procuring, by calling to the first that passed by. He had also got a large hog at this place; and brought a fervant from his house with a bundle of cloth, which he wanted us to take with us, as a prefent from him. But the boat being small, we objected; and he ordered it to be brought over to us the next day."

I had prolonged my ftay at this ifland, on account of the approaching eclipfe; but, on the 2d Wedn. 2. of July, on looking at the micrometer belonging to the board of longitude, I found fome of the rack work broken, and the inftrument ufelefs till repaired; which there was not time to do before it was intended to be ufed. Preparing now for our departure, I got on board, this day, all the cattle, poultry, and other animals, except fuch as were defined to remain. I had defigned to leave a turkey-cock and hen; but having now only two of each undifpofed of, one of the hens, through the ignorance of one of my people, was ftrangled, and

1777.

July.

and died upon the fpot. I had brought three tur-July. key-hens to these islands. One was killed as above mentioned; and the other, by an ufelefs dog belonging to one of the officers. These two accidents put it out of my power to leave a pair here; and, at the fame time, to carry the breed to Otaheite. for which island they were originally intended. I was forry, afterward, that I did not give the preference to Tongataboo, as the prefent would have been of more value there than at Otaheite ; for the natives of the former ifland, I am perfuaded, would have taken more pains to multiply the breed. The next day we took up our anchor, and Thurf. 3.

moved the fhips behind Pangimodoo, that we might be ready to take the advantage of the first favourable wind, to get through the narrows. The king, who was one of our company, this day, at dinner, I observed, took particular notice of the plates. This occasioned me to make him an offer of one, either of pewter, or of earthen ware. He chofe the first; and then began to tell us the feveral uses to which he intended to apply it. Two of them are fo extraordinary, that I cannot omit mentioning them. He faid, that, whenever he fhould have occasion to visit any of the other islands, he would leave this plate behind him at Tongataboo, as a fort of reprefentative, in his absence, that the people might pay it the fame obeifance they do to himfelf in perfon. He was afked, what had been ufually employed for this purpofe, before he got this plate; and we had the fatisfaction of learning from him, that this fingular honour had hitherto been conferred on a wooden bowl in which he washed his hands. The other extraordinary use to which he meant to apply it in the room of his wooden bowl, was to discover a thief. He faid, that, when any thing was stolen, and the thief

thief could not be found out, the people were all 1777. July. affembled together before him, when he washed his, hands in water in this veffel; after which it was cleaned, and then the whole multitude advanced, one after another, and touched it in the fame manner that they touch his foot, when they pay him obeifance. If the guilty perfon touched it, he died immediately upon the fpot; not by violence, but by the hand of Providence; and if any one refused to touch it, his refutal was a clear proof that he was the man.

In the morning of the 5th, the day of the eclipfe, the weather was dark and cloudy, with showers of rain; so that we had little hopes of an observation. About nine o'clock the fun broke out at intervals for about half an hour; after which it was totally obscured, till within a minute or two of the beginning of the ecliple. We were all at our telescopes, viz. Mr. Baily, Mr. King, Captain Clerke, Mr. Bligh, and myfelf. I loft the obfervation, by not having a dark glass at hand, fuitable to the clouds that were continually paffing over the fun; and Mr. Bligh had not got the fun into the field of his telescope; to that the commencement of the eclipfe was only observed by the other three gentlemen; and by them, with an uncertainty of feveral feconds, as follows :

Н. М. S.

By Mr. Bayly, at 11 46 $23\frac{1}{2}$ Mr. King, at 11 46 28 Apparent time. Capt, Clerke, at 11 47 5

Mr. Bayly and Mr. King observed, with the achromatic telescopes, belonging to the board of longitude, of equal magnifying powers; and Captain Clerke observed with one of the reflectors. The fun appeared at intervals, till about the middle of the ecliple; after which it was feen no more during

Satur. 5.

during the day; fo that the end could not be obferved. The difappointment was of little confequence, fince the longitude was more than fufficiently determined, independently of this eclipfe, by lunar obfervations, which will be mentioned hereafter.

As foon as we knew the eclipfe to be over, we packed up the inftruments, took down the observatories, and fent every thing on board that had not been already removed. As none of the natives had taken the leaft notice or care of the three fheep allotted to Mareewagee, I ordered them to be carried back to the fhips. I was apprehenfive, that, if I had left them here, they run great rifk of being deftroyed by dogs. That animal did not exift upon this island, when I first visited it in 1773; but I now found they had got a good many, partly from the breed then left by myfelf, and partly from fome, imported fince that time, from an island not very remote, called Feejee. The dogs, however, at prefent, had not found their way into any of the Friendly Iflands, except Tongataboo; and none but the Chiefs there had, as yet, got pofferfion of any.

Being now upon the eve of our departure from this ifland, I fhall add fome particulars about it, and its productions, for which I am indebted to Mr. Anderfon. And, having fpent as many weeks there, as I had done days * when I vifited it in 1773, the better opportunities that now occurred, of gaining more accurate information, and the fkill of that gentleman, in directing his inquiries, will, in fome measure, fupply the imperfection of my former account of this island.

" Amfterdam, Tongataboo, or (as the natives alfo very frequently called it) Tonga, is about twenty

* From the 4th to the 7th of October.

leagues

328

leagues in circuit, fornewhat oblong, though, by much, broadeft at the Eaft end; and its greateft length from East to West. The South fhore, which I faw in 1773, is ftraight, and confifts of coral rocks, eight or ten feet high, terminating perpendicularly, except in fome places, where it is interrupted by fmall fandy beaches; on which, at low water, a range of black rocks may be feen. The Weft end is not above five or fix miles broad. but has a fhore formewhat like that of the South fide; whereas the whole North fide is environed with fhoals and iflands, and the fhore within them low and fandy. The Eaft fide or end is, most probably, like the South; as the fhore begins to affume a rocky appearance, toward the North Eaft point, though not above feven or eight feet high.

The island may, with the greatest propriety, be called a low one, as the trees, on the Weft part, where we now lay at anchor, only appeared; and the only eminent part, which can be feen from a fhip, is the South East point; though many gently rifing and declining grounds are observable by one who is ashore. The general appearance of the country does not afford that beautiful kind of landscape that is produced from a variety of hills and valleys, lawns, rivulets, and cafcades; but, at the fame time, it conveys to the fpectator an idea of the most exuberant fertility, whether we respect the places improved by art, or those still in a natural state; both which yield all their vegetable productions with the greatest vigour, and perpetual verdure. At a diftance, the furface feems entirely clothed with trees of various fizes; fome of which are very large. But above the reft, the tall cocoa-palms always raife their tufted heads; and are far from being the smallest ornament to any country that produces them. The boogo,

boogo, which is a fpecies of fig, with narrow pointed leaves, is the largeft fized tree of the ifland; and on the uncultivated fpots, efpecially toward the fea, the moft common bufnes and fmall trees are the pandanus; feveral forts of bibifcus; the faitanoo, mentioned more than once in the courfe of our voyage; and a few others. It ought allo to be obferved, that though the materials for forming grand landscapes are wanting, there are many of what might, at leaft, be called neat prospects, about the cultivated grounds and dwelling-places; but, more especially, about the fiatookas; where sometimes art, and sometimes nature, has done much to please the eye.

From the fituation of Tongataboo, toward the tropic, the climate is more variable, than in countries farther within that line; though, perhaps, that might be owing to the featon of the year. which was now the winter folftice. The winds are, for the most part, from some point between South and East; and, when moderate, are commonly attended with fine weather. When they blow fresher, the weather is often cloudy, though open; and, in fuch cafes, there is frequently The wind fometimes veers to the North rain. East, North North East, or even North North West, but never lafts long, nor blows ftrong from thence; though it is commonly accompanied by heavy rain, The quick fucceffion of and clofe fultry weather. vegetables has been already mentioned; but I am not certain that the changes of weather, by which it is brought about, are confiderable enough to make them perceptible to the natives as to their method of life, or rather that they should be very fenfible of the different feafons. This, perhaps, may be inferred from the state of their vegetable productions, which are never fo much affected, with respect F

respect to the foliage, as to shed that all at once; 1777. for every leaf is succeeded by another, as fast as it Julyfalls; which causes that appearance of universal and continual spring found here.

The basis of the island, as far as we know, is entirely a coral rock, which is the only fort that prefents itself on the shore. Nor did we see the least appearance of any other ftone, except a few fmall blue pebbles ftrewed about the *fiatookas*; and the fmooth, folid black ftone, fomething like the lapis *lydius*, of which the natives make their hatchets. But these may, probably, have been brought from other islands in the neighbourhood; for a piece of flatey, iron-coloured ftone was bought at one of them, which was never feen here. Though the coral projects in many places above the furface, the foil is, in general, of a confiderable depth. In all cultivated places, it is commonly, of a loofe, black colour; produced, feemingly, in a great measure, from the rotten vegetables that are planted there. Underneath which is, very probably, a clayey ftratum; for a foil of that kind is often feen both in the low, and in the rifing grounds; but especially in feveral places toward the fhore, where it is of any height; and, when broken off, appears fometimes of a reddifh, though oftener of a brownifh yellow colour, and of a pretty ftiff confiftence. Where the fhore is low, the foil is commonly fandy, or rather composed of triturated coral; which, however, yields bushes growing with great luxuriance; and is fometimes planted, not unfuccefsfully, by the natives.

Of cultivated fruits, the principal are plantains; of which they have fifteen different forts or varieties; bread fruit; two forts of fruit found at Otaheite, and known there under the names of *jambu* and *eeevee*; the latter a kind of plumb; and vaft numbers ^{1777.} numbers of fhaddocks, which, however, are found July as often in a natural flate, as planted.

The roots are yams, of which are two forts; one black, and to large, that it often weighs twenty or thirty pounds; the other white, and long, feldom weighing a pound; a large root, called *kappe*; one not unlike our white potatoes, called *mawbaba*; the *talo*, or *coccos* of other places; and another, named *jeejee*.

Befides vaft numbers of cocoa-nut trees, they have three other forts of palms, two of which are very fcarce. One of them is called beeoo; which grows almost as high as the cocoa-tree, has very large leaves plaited like a fan, and clufters or bunches of globular nuts, not larger than a small piftol ball, growing amongst the branches, with a very hard kernel, which is fometimes eat. The other is a kind of cabbage-tree, not diftinguishable from the cocoa, but by being rather thicker, and by having its leaves more ragged. It has a cabbage three or four feet long; at the top of which are the leaves, and at the bottom the fruit, which is fcarcely two inches long, refembling an oblong cocoa-nut, with an infipid tenacious kernel, called, by the natives, neeoogoola, or red cocoa-nut, as it affumes a reddifh caft when ripe. The third fort is called ongo ongo, and much commoner, being generally found planted about their fiatookas. It feldom grows higher than five feet, though fometimes to eight; and has a vaft number of oval compressed nuts, as large as a pippin, flicking immediately to the trunk, amongst the leaves, which are not eat. There is plenty of excellent fugar-cane, which is cultivated; gourds; bamboo; turmeric; and a species of fig, about the fize of a small cherry, called matte, which, though wild, is fometimes eat. But the catalogue of

of uncultivated plants is too large to be enumerated here. Befides the *pemphis deca/permum, mallococca*, *maba*, and fome other new *genera*, defcribed by Dr. Fofter *, there are a few more found here; which, perhaps, the different feafons of the year, and his fhort ftay, did not give him an opportunity to take notice of. Although it did not appear, during our longer ftay, that above a fourth part of the trees, and other plants, were in flower; a circumftance abfolutely neceffary, to enable one to diffinguifh the various kinds.

The only quadrupeds, befides hogs, are a few rats, and fome dogs, which are not natives of the place, but produced from fome left by us in 1773, and by others got from Feejee. Fowls, which are of a large breed, are domeficated here.

Amongst the birds, are parrots, fomewhat smaller than the common grey ones, of an indifferent green on the back and wings, the tail bluiss, and the reft of a footy or chocolate brown; parroquets, not larger than a sparrow, of a fine yellowiss green, with bright azure on the crown of the head, and the throat and belly red; besides another fort as large as a dove, with a blue crown and thighs, the throat and under part of the head crimson, as also part of the belly, and the reft a beautiful green.

There are owls about the fize of our common fort, but of a finer plumage; the cuckoos, mentioned at Palmerfton's lfland; king-fifhers, about the fize of a thrufh, of a greenifh blue, with a white ring about the neck; and a bird of the thrufh kind, almoft as big, of a dull green colour, with two yellow wattles at the bafe of the bill, which is the only finging one we obferved here; but it compenfates

* See his Characteres Generum Plantarum. Lond. 1776. a good

a good deal for the want of others by the ftrength and melody of its notes, which fill the woods at dawn, in the evening, and at the breaking up of bad weather.

The other land birds are rails, as large as a pigeon, of a variegated grey colour, with a rufty neck; a black fort with red eyes, not larger than a lark; large violet-coloured coots, with red bald crowns; two forts of fly-catchers; a very fmall fwallow; and three forts of pigeons, one of which is *le ramier cuivre* of Monf. Sonnerat *; another, half the fize of the common fort, of a light green on the back and wings, with a red forehead; and a third, formewhat lefs, of a purple brown, but whitifh underneath.

Of water-fowl, and fuch as frequent the fea, are the ducks feen at Annamooka, though fcarce here; blue and white herons; tropic birds; common noddies; white terns; a new fpecies of a leaden colour, with a black creft; a fmall bluifh curlew; and a large plover, fpotted with yellow. Befides the large bats, mentioned before, there is also the common fort.

The only noxious or difgufting animals of the reptile or infect tribe, are fea fnakes, three feet long, with black and white circles alternately, often found on fhore; fome fcorpions, and *centipedes*. There are fine green guances, a foot and a half long; another brown and fpotted lizard, about a foot long; and two other fmall forts. Amongft the other infects are fome beautiful moths; butterflies; very large fpiders; and others; making, in the whole, about fifty different forts.

The fea abounds with fifh, though the variety is lefs than might be expected. The most frequent

* Voyage à la Nouvelle Guinée, Tab. CII.

forts

334

forts are mullets; feveral forts of parrot-fifth; filver fifth; old wives; fome beautifully fpotted foles; Juiyleather-jackets; bonnetos; and albicores; befides the eels mentioned at Palmerfton's Ifland; fome fharks; rays; pipe-fifth; a fort of pike; and fome curious devil-fifth.

The many reefs and fhoals on the North fide of the island, afford shelter for an endless variety of fhell-fifh; amongst which are many that are effecmed precious in Europe. Such as the true hammer oyfter; of which, however, none could be obtained entire; a large indentated oyfter, and feveral others; but none of the common fort; panamas; cones; a fort of gigantic cockle, found also in the East Indies; pearl shell ovsters; and many others; feveral of which, I believe, have been hitherto unknown to the most diligent inquirers after that branch of natural hiftory. There are, likewife, feveral forts of fea-eggs; and many very fine ftarfifh; befides a confiderable variety of corals; amongft which are two red forts; the one moft elegantly branched, the other tubulous. And there is no lefs variety amongst the crabs and cray fish, which are very numerous. To which may be added, feveral forts of fponge; the fea hare, bolothuria, and the like."

335

CHAP.

CHAP. IX.

A grand Solemnity, called NATCHE, in Honour of the King's Son, performed.—The Processions and other Ceremonies, during the first Day, described. -The Manner of paffing the Night at the King's House,-Continuation of the Solemnity, the next Day. - Conjectures about the Nature of it. -Departure from Tongataboo, and Arrival at Eooa. - Account of that Island, and Transactions there.

W E were now ready to fail; but the wind be-ing Eafterly, we had not fufficient day-1777. July. Sunday 6. light to turn through the narrows, either with the morning, or with the evening flood; the one falling out too early, and the other too late. So that, without a leading wind, we were under a necessity of waiting two or three days.

I took the opportunity of this delay, to be prefent at a public folemnity, to which the king had invited us, when we went laft to vifit him, and which, he had informed us, was to be performed on the 8th. With a view to this, he and all the people of Mond. 7. note, quitted our neighbourhood on the 7th, and repaired to Mooa, where the folemnity was to be exhibited. A party of us followed them, the next Tuefd. 8. morning. We underftood, from what Poulaho had faid to us, that his fon and heir was now to be initiated into certain privileges; amongft which

which was, that of eating with his father; an honour he had not, as yet, been admitted to.

We arrived at Mooa about eight o'clock, and found the king, with a large circle of attendants fitting before him, within an inclosure to fmall and dirty, as to excite my wonder that any fuch could be found in that neighbourhood. They were intent upon their ufual morning occupation, in preparing a bowl of kava. As this was no liquor for us, we walked out to vifit fome of our friends, and to observe what preparations might be making for the ceremony, which was foon to begin. About ten o'clock, the people began to affemble, in a large area, which is before the *malaee*, or great houfe, to which we had been conducted the first time we vifited Mooa. At the end of a road, that opens into this area, flood fome men with fpears and clubs, who kept conftantly reciting, or chanting, fhort fentences, in a mournful tone, which conveyed fome idea of diffres, and as if they called for something. This was continued about an hour; and, in the mean time, many people came down the road, each of them bringing a yam, tied to the middle of a pole, which they laid down before the perfons who continued repeating the fentences. While this was going on, the king and prince arrived, and feated themfelves upon the area; and we were defired to fit down by them, but to pull off our hats, and to untie our hair. The bearers of the yams being all come in, each pole was taken up between two men, who carried it over their After forming themfelves into compafhoulders. nies, of ten or twelve perions each, they marched acrofs the place, with a quick pace; each company, headed by a man bearing a club or spear, and guarded, on the right, by feveral others, armed with different weapons. A man carrying a living pigeon on a perch, clofed the rear of the proceffion. VOL. I. Z

337

1 777. July.

fion, in which about two hundred and fifty per-

Omai was defired by me, to ask the Chief, to what place the yams were to be thus carried, with fo much folenmity? but, as he feemed unwilling to give us the information we wanted, two or three of us followed the procession, contrary to his inclina-We found, that they ftopped before a morai tion. or flatooka * of one house standing upon a mount, which was hardly a quarter of a mile from the place where they first assembled. Here we observed them depositing the yams, and making them up into bundles; but for what purpose, we could not learn. And, as our prefence feemed to give them uneafinefs, we left them, and returned to Poulaho, who told us, we might amuse ourselves by walking about, as nothing would be done for fome time. The fear of lofing any part of the ceremony, prevented our being long absent. When we returned to the king, he defired me to order the boat's crew not to ftir from the boat; for, as every thing would, very foon, be taboo, if any of our people, or of their own, fhould be found walking about, they would be knocked down with clubs; nay mateed, that is, killed. He alfo acquainted us, that we could not be prefent at the ceremony; but that we should be conducted to a place, where we might fee every thing that paffed. Objections were made to our drefs. We were told, that, to qualify us to be prefent, it was neceffary that we should be naked as low as the breaft, with our hats off, and our hair untied. Omai offered to conform to these requisites, and began to ftrip; other objections were then flarted; fo that the exclusion was given to him equally with ourfelves.

* This is the *fiatooka* mentioned above by Mr. Anderfon, p. 321.

I did

I did not much like this reftriction; and, therefore, ftole out, to fee what might now be going forward. I found very few people ftirring, except those dreffed to attend the ceremony; some of whom had in their hands fmall poles, about four feet long, and to the under-part of these were fastened two or three other flicks, not bigger than one's finger, and about fix inches in length. Thefe men were going toward the morai just mentioned. I took the fame road, and was, feveral times, ftopped by them, all crying out taboo. However, I went forward, without much regarding them, till I came in fight of the morai, and of the people who were fitting before it. I was now urged, very ftrongly, to go back; and, not knowing what might be the confequence of a refufal, I complied. I had observed, that the people, who carried the poles, paffed this morai, or what I may, as well, call temple; and gueffing, from this circumstance, that fomething was transacting beyond it, which might be worth looking at, I had thoughts of advancing, by making a round, for this purpofe; but I was to clofely watched by three men, that I could not put my defign in execution. In order to shake these fellows off, I returned to the malaee, where I had left the king, and, from thence, made an elopement a fecond time; but I inftantly met with the fame three men; fo that it feemed, as if they had been ordered to watch my motions. Ι paid no regard to what they faid or did, till I came within fight of the king's principal fiatooka or morai, which I have already defcribed *, before which a great number of men were fitting, being the fame perfons whom I had just before feen pass by the other morai, from which this was but a little diftant. Observing, that I could watch the proceed-

> * See p. 313. Z 2

ings

339

ings of this company from the king's plantation, I repaired thither, very much to the fatisfaction of those who attended me.

As foon as I got in, I acquainted the gentlemen who had come with me from the fhips, with what I had feen; and we took a proper flation, to watch the refult. The number of people, at the fiatooka, continued to increase for some time; and, at length, we could fee them quit their fitting pofture, and march off in procession. They walked in pairs, one after another, every pair carrying, between them, one of the small poles above-mentioned, on their fhoulders. We were told, that the fmall pieces of flicks, fastened to the poles, were yams; fo that, probably, they were meant to reprefent this root emblematically. The hindmost men of each couple, for the most part, placed one of his hands to the middle of the pole, as if, without this additional fupport, it were not ftrong enough to carry the weight that hung to it, and under which they all feemed to bend, as they walked. This proceffion confifted of one hundred and eight pairs, and all, or most of them, men of rank. They came close by the fence behind which we flood; fo that we had a full view of them.

Having waited here, till they had all paffed, we then repaired to Poulaho's houfe, and faw him going out. We could not be allowed to follow him; but were, forthwith, conducted to the place allotted to us, which was behind a fence, adjoining to the area of the fiatooka where the yams had been deposited in the forenoon. As we were not the only people who were excluded from being publicly prefent at this ceremony, but allowed to peep from behind the curtain, we had a good deal of company; and I observed, that all the other inclosures, round the place, were filled with people.

people. And, yet, all imaginable care feemed to be taken, that they fhould fee as little as poffible; for the fences had not only been repaired that morning, but, in many places, raifed higher than common; fo that the talleft man could not look over them. To remedy this defect in our flation, we took the liberty to cut holes in the fence, with our knives; and, by this means, we could fee, pretty diffinctly, every thing that was tranfacting on the other fide.

On our arrival at our flation, we found two or three hundred people, fitting on the grafs, near the end of the road that opened into the area of the morai; and the number continually increased, by others joining them. At length, arrived a few men carrying fome fmall poles, and branches or leaves of the cocoa-nut tree; and, upon their first appearance, an old man feated himfelf in the road. and, with his face toward them, pronounced a long oration in a ferious tone. He then retired back, and the others advancing to the middle of the area. began to erect a fmall fhed; employing, for that purpofe, the materials above-mentioned. When they had finished their work, they all squatted down, for a moment, before it, then role up, and retired to the feft of the company. Soon after, came Poulaho's fon, preceded by four or five men, and they feated themfelves a little alide from the fhed, and rather behind it. After them, appeared twelve or fourteen women of the first rank, walking flowly in pairs, each pair carrying between them, a narrow piece of white cloth extended, about two or three yards in length. These marched up to the prince, fquatted down before him; and, having wrapped fome of the pieces of the cloth they had brought, round his body, they role up, and retired in the fame order, to fome diftance on his left, and there feated themfelves. Poulaho himfelf foon made his

1777.

his appearance preceded by four men, who walked two and two abreaft, and fat down on his fon's left hand, about twenty paces from him. The young prince, then, quitting his first polition, went and fat down under the shed, with his attendants; and a confiderable number more placed themfelves on the grafs, before this royal canopy. The prince himfelf fat facing the people, with his back to the This being done, three companies, of ten morai. or a dozen men in each, ftarted up from amongst the large crowd, a little after each other, and running hastily to the opposite fide of the area, fat down for a few feconds, after which, they returned, in the fame manner, to their former flations. Τo them fucceeded two men, each of whom held a fmall green branch in his hand, who got up and approached the prince, fitting down, for a few feconds, three different times, as they advanced; and then, turning their backs, retired in the fame manner, inclining their branches to each other as they In a little time, two more repeated this cerefat. mony.

The grand procession, which I had seen march off from the other morai, now began to come in. To judge of the circuit they had made, from the time they had been absent, it must have been pretty large. As they entered the area, they marched up to the right of the fhed, and, having proftrated themfelves on the grafs, deposited their pretended burthens (the poles above-mentioned), and faced They then role up, and retiround to the prince. red in the fame order, clofing their hands, which they held before them, with the most ferious aspect, and feated themfelves along the front of the area. During all the time that this numerous band were coming in, and depositing their poles, three men, who fat under the flied, with the prince, continued pronouncing

342

pronouncing feparate fentences, in a melancholy tone. After this, a profound filence enfued, for a little time, and then a man, who fat in the front of the area, began an oration (or prayer), during which, at feveral different times, he went and broke one of the poles, which had been brought in by thofe who had walked in proceffion. When he had ended, the people, fitting before the fhed, feparated, to make a lane, through which the prince and his attendants paffed, and the affembly broke up.

Some of our party, fatisfied with what they had already feen, now returned to the fhips; but I, and two or three more of the officers, remained at Mooa, to fee the conclusion of the folemnity, which was not to be till the next day; being defirous of omitting no opportunity, which might afford any information about the religious or the political infti-The fmall flicks or poles, tutions of this people. which had been brought into the area, by those who walked in procession, being left lying on the ground, after the crowd had difperfed, I went and examined them. I found, that to the middle of each, two or three fmall flicks were tied, as has been related. Yet we had been repeatedly told by the natives, who flood near us, that they were young yams; infomuch that fome of our gentlemen believed them, rather than their own eyes. As I had the demonstration of my fenses to fatisfy me, that they were not real yams, it is clear, that we ought to have underflood them, that they were only the artificial representations of these roots.

Our fupper was got ready about feven o'clock. It confifted of fifh and yams. We might have had pork alfo; but we did not chufe to kill a large hog, which the king had given to us for that purpofe. He fupped with us, and drank pretty freely of brandy r777. brandy and water; fo that he went to bed with a July. fufficient dole. We paffed the night in the fame house with him, and several of his attendants.

Wedn. 9.

About one or two o'clock in the morning they waked, and converfed for about an hour, and then went to fleep again. All, but Poulaho himfelf, rofe at day-break, and went, I know not whither. Soon after, a woman, one of those who generally attended upon the Chief, came in, and inquired where he was. I pointed him out to her; and she immediately fat down by him, and began the same operation, which Mr. Anderson had seen practised upon Futtafaihe, tapping or beating gently, with her clinched fifts, on his thighs. This, instead of prolonging his sleep, as was intended, had the contrary effect; however, though he awaked, he continued to lie down.

Omai, and I, now went to visit the prince, who had parted from us early in the evening. For he did not lodge with the king; but in apartments of his own, or, at least, such as had been allotted to him, at fome distance from his father's house. We found him with a circle of boys, or youths, about his own age, fitting before him; and an old woman, and an old man, who seemed to have the care of him, futting behind. There were others, both men and women, employed about their neceffary affairs, in different departments; who, probably, belonged to his household.

From the prince we returned to the king. By this time he had got up, and had a crowded circle before him, composed chiefly of old men. While a large bowl of *kava* was preparing, a baked hog and yams, finoking hot, were brought in; the greateft part of which fell to our fhare, and was very acceptable to the boat's crew: for these people eat eat very little in the morning; especially the kawa 1977. drinkers. I afterward walked out, and vifited fe-July. veral other Chiefs; and found, that all of there were taking their morning draught, or had already taken it. Returning to the king, I found hit i afleep in a fmall retired hut, with two women tapping on his breech. About eleven o'clock he arofe again; and then fome fifh and yams, which tared as if they had been flewed in cocoa nut milk, were brought to him. Of these he eat a large portion, and lay down once more to fleep. I now left him, and carried to the prince a prefent of cloth, beads, and other articles, which I had brought with me from the ship for the purpose. There was a fufficient quantity of cloth to make him a complete fuit; and he was immediately decked out with it. Proud of his drefs, he first went to shew himself to his father; and then conducted me to his mother; with whom were about ten or a dozen other women of a respectable appearance. Here the prince changed his apparel, and made me a prefent of two pieces of the cloth manufactured in the By this time, it was paft noon, when, by ifland. appointment, I repaired to the palace to dinner. Several of our gentlemen had returned, this morning, from the fhips; and we were all invited to the feaft, which was prefently ferved up, and confifted of two pigs and yams. I roufed the drowfy monarch, to partake of what he had provided for our entertainment. In the mean time, two mullets, and fome shell-fish, were brought to him, as I fupposed, for his separate portion. But he joined it to our fare, fat down with us, and made a hearty meal.

When dinner was over, we were told that the ceremony would foon begin; and were flictly enjoined not to walk out. I had refolved, however, to

peep no longer from behind the curtain, but to mix with the actors themselves, if possible. With this view, I stole out from the plantation, and walked toward the morai, the scene of the solemnity. was, feveral times, defired to go back, by people whom I met; but I paid no regard to them; and they fuffered me to pass on. When I arrived at the morai, I found a number of men feated on the fide of the area, on each fide of the road that leads up to it. A few were fitting on the oppofite fide of the area; and two men in the middle of it, with their faces turned to the morai. When I got into the midft of the firft company, I was defired to fit down; which I accordingly did. Where I fat, there were lying a number of fmall bundles or parcels, composed of cocoa-nut leaves, and tied to flicks made into the form of hand-barrows. All the information I could get about them was, that they were taboo. Our number kept continually increafing; every one coming from the fame quarter. From time to time, one or another of the company turned himfelf to those who were coming to join us, and made a fhort fpeech; in which I could remark that the word arekee, that is King, was generally mentioned. One man faid fomething that produced burfts of hearty laughter from all the crowd; others, of the speakers, met with public applaufe. I was, feveral times, defired to leave the place; and, at laft, when they found that I would not ftir, after fome feeming confultation, they applied to me to uncover my fhoulders as theirs were. With this requeft I complied; and then they feemed to be no longer unealy at my prefence.

I fat a full hour, without any thing more going forward, befide what I have mentioned. At length the prince, the women, and the king, all came in, as they had done the day before. The prince, being placed

placed under the fhed, after his father's arrival, two men, each carrying a piece of mat, came, repeating fomething ferioufly, and put them about him. The affembled people now began their operations; and first, three companies ran backward and forward acrofs the area, as defcribed in the account of the proceedings of the former day. Soon after, the two men, who fat in the middle of the area, made a fhort fpeech or prayer; and then the whole body. amongft whom I had my place, ftarted up, and ran and feated themfelves before the fhed under which the prince, and three or four men, were fitting. I was now partly under the management of one of the company, who feemed very affiduous to ferve me. By his means, I was placed in fuch a fituation. that if I had been allowed to make use of my eyes, nothing that paffed could have escaped me. But it was neceffary to fit with down-caft looks, and demure as maids.

Soon after, the procession came in, as on the day before; each two perfons bearing on their fhoulders a pole, round the middle of which, a cocoa-nut leaf was plaited. These were deposited with ceremonies fimilar to those observed on the preceding day. This first procession was followed by a second: the men composing which, brought baskets, such as are usually employed by this people to carry provifions in, and made of palm leaves. These were followed by a third procession, in which were brought different kinds of small fish; each fixed at the end The baskets were carried up to of a forked flick. an old man, whom I took to be the Chief Prieft, and who fat on the prince's right-hand, without the He held each in his hand, while he made a fhed. fhort fpeech or prayer; then laid it down, and called for another, repeating the fame words as before ; and thus he went through the whole number of baskets.

1777.

The fifh were prefented, one by one, on bafkets. the forked flicks, as they came in, to two men, who fat on the left; and who, till now, held green branches in their hands. The first fish they laid down on their right, and the fecond on their left. When the third was prefented, a ftout looking man, who fat behind the other two, reached his arm over between them, and made a fnatch at it; as also did the other two, at the very fame time. Thus they feemed to contend for every fifh that was prefented : but as there were two hands against one, befides the advantage of fituation, the man behind got nothing but pieces; for he never quitted his hold, till the fifh was torn out of his hand; and what little remained in it, he fhook out behind The others laid what they got, on the right him. and left alternately. At length, either by accident or defign, the man behind got pofferfion of a whole fifh, without either of the other two fo much as touching it. At this, the word mareeai, which fignifies very good, or well done, was uttered in a low voice throughout the whole crowd. It feemed, that he had performed now all that was expected from him; for he made no attempt upon the few fish that came after. These fish, as also the bafkets, were all delivered, by the perfons who brought them in, fitting; and, in the fame order and manner, the finall poles, which the first procession carried, had been laid upon the ground.

The laft procefion being clofed, there was fome fpeaking or praying, by different perfons. Then, on fome fignal being given, we all flarted up, ran feveral paces to the left, and fat down with our backs to the prince, and the few who remained with him. I was defired not to look behind me. However, neither this injunction, nor the remembrance of Lot's wife, difcouraged me from facing about.

about. I now faw that the prince had turned his face to the morai. But this laft movement had brought fo many people between him and me, that I could not perceive what was doing. I was afterward affured, that, at this very time, the prince was admitted to the high honour of eating with his father; which, till now, had never been permitted to him; a piece of roafted yam being prefented to each of them for this purpole. This was the more probable, as we had been told, before-hand, that this was to happen during the folemnity; and as all the people turned their backs to them, at this time, which they always do when their monarch eats.

After fome little time, we all faced about, and formed a femicircle before the prince, leaving a large open fpace between us. Frefently there appeared fome men coming toward us, two and two, bearing large flicks, or poles, upon their identifiers, making a noife that might be called finging, and waving their hands as they advanced. When they had got close up to us, they made a shew of walking very faft, without proceeding a fingle ftep. Immediately after, three or four men flarted up from the crowd, with large flicks in their hands, who ran toward those new-comers. The latter infantly threw down the poles from their fhoulders, and fcampered off; and the others attacked the poles; and, having beat them most unmercifully, returned to their places. As the pole-bearers ran off, they gave the challenge that is usual here in wreftling; and not long after, a number of ftout fellows came from the fame quarter, repeating the challenge as they advanced. These were opposed by a party, who came from the opposite fide almost at the fame inftant. The two parties paraded about the area for a few minutes, and then retired, each to

1777.

to their own fide. After this, there were wreftling and boxing-matches for about half an hour. Then two men feated themfelves before the prince, and made fpeeches, addreffed, as I thought, entirely to him. With this the folemnity ended, and the whole affembly broke up.

I now went and examined the feveral bafkets which had been prefented; a curiofity that I was not allowed before to indulge; becaufe every thing was then *taboo*. But the folemnity being now over, they became, fimply, what I found them to be, empty bafkets. So that, whatever they were fuppoled to contain, was emblematically reprefented. And fo, indeed, was every other thing which had been brought in proceffion, except the fifh.

We endeavoured, in vain, to find out the meaning, not only of the ceremony in general, which is called Natche, but of its different parts. We feldom got any other answer to our inquiries, but taboo; a word, which, I have before observed, is applied to many other things. But, as the prince was, evidently, the principal perfon concerned in it; and as we had been told by the king, ten days before the celebration of the Natche, that the people would bring in yams for him and his fon to eat together; and as he even defcribed fome part of the ceremony, we concluded, from what he had then faid, and from what we now faw, that an oath of allegiance, if I may fo express myfelf, or tolemn promife, was, on this occasion, made to the prince, as the immediate fucceffor to the regal dignity, to ftand by him, and to furnish him with the feveral articles that were here emblematically reprefented. This feems the more probable, as all the principal people of the island, whom we had ever feen, affifted in the processions. But, be this as it may, the whole was conducted with a great

great deal of mysterious solemnity; and, that there was a mixture of religion in the inftitution, was July. evident, not only from the place where it was performed, but from the manner of performing it. Our drefs and deportment had never been called in queftion, upon any former occasion whatever. Now, it was expected that we fhould be uncovered as low as the waift; that our hair fhould be loofe, and flowing over our shoulders; that we should, like themfelves, fit crofs-legged; and, at times, in the most humble posture, with down-cast eyes, and hands locked together; all which requifites were most devoutly observed by the whole affem-And, laftly, every one was excluded from Ыy. the folemnity, but the principal people, and those who affifted in the celebration. All these circumfances were to me a fufficient teffimony, that, upon this occasion, they confidered themselves as acting under the immediate infpection of a Supreme Being.

The prefent *Natche* may be confidered, from the above account of it, as merely figurative. For the fmall quantity of yams, which we faw the first day, could not be intended as a general contribution; and, indeed, we were given to understand, that they were a portion confectated to the Otooa, or Divinity. But we were informed, that, in about three months, there would be performed, on the fame account, a far more important and grander folemnity; on which occasion, not only the tribute of Tongataboo, but that of Hapaee, Vavaoo. and of all the other islands, would be brought to the Chief, and confirmed more awfully, by facrificing ten human victims from amongst the inferior fort of people. A horrid folemnity indeed! and which is a most fignificant instance of the influence of gloomy and ignorant fuperflition, over the

1777.

 \mathbf{z}

the minds of one of the most benevolent and humane nations upon earth. On inquiring into the reasons of so barbarous a practice, they only faid, that it was a neceffary part of the *Natche*; and that, if they omitted it, the Deity would certainly deftroy their king.

Before the affembly broke up, the day was far fpent; and as we were at fome diftance from the fhips, and had an intricate navigation to go through, we were in hafte to fet out from Mooa. When I took leave of Poulaho, he preffed me much to ftay till the next day, to be prefent at a funeral ceremo-The wife of Mareewagee, who was motherny. in-law to the king, had lately died; and her corple had, on account of the Natche, been carried on board a canoe that lay in the lagoon. Poulaho told me, that, as foon as he had paid the laft offices to her, he would attend me to Eooa; but, if I did not wait, that he would follow me thither. I underftood, at the fame time, that, if it had not been for the death of this woman, most of the Chiefs would have accompanied us to that ifland; where, it feems all of them have poffeffions. I would gladly have waited to fee this ceremony alfo, had not the tide been now favourable for the ships to get through the narrows. The wind, belides, which, for feveral days paft, had been very boifterous, was now moderate and fettled; and to have loft this opportunity, might have detained us a fortnight long-Lot what was decifive against my waiting, we er. underftood that the funeral ceremonies would laft five days, which was too long a time, as the ships lay in fuch a fituation, that I could not get to fea at pleasure. I, however, assured the king, that, if we did not fail, I fhould certainly vifit him again the next day. And fo we all took leave of him, and fet out for the fhips, where we arrived about eight o'clock in the evening.

I had

I had forgot to mention, that Omai was prefent at this fecond day's ceremony, as well as myfelf; but we were not together; nor did I know that he was there, till it was almost over. He afterward told me, that, as foon as the king faw that I had ftolen out from the plantation, he fent feveral people, one after another, to defire me to come back. Probably, thefe meffengers were not admitted to the place where I was; for I faw nothing of them. At last, intelligence was brought to the Chief, that I had actually ftripped, in conformity to their cuftom; and then he told Omai, that he might be prefent also, if he would comply with all the neceffary forms. Omai had no objection, as nothing was required of him, but to conform to the cuftom of his own country. Accordingly, he was furnished with a proper drefs, and appeared at the ceremony as one of the natives. It is likely, that one reafon of our being excluded at first, was an apprehension, that we would not fubmit to the requifites to qualify us to affift.

While I was attending the Natche at Mooa, I ordered the horfes, bull and cow, and goats, to be brought thither; thinking that they would be fafer there, under the eyes of the Chiefs, than at a place that would be, in a manner, deferted, the moment after our departure. Befides the above-mentioned animals, we left, with our friends here, a young boar, and three young fows, of the English breed. They were exceedingly defirous of them, judging, no doubt, that they would greatly improve their own breed, which is rather fmall. Feenou alfo got from us two rabbits, a buck and a doe; and, before we failed, we were told, that young ones had been already produced. If the cattle fucceed, of which I make no doubt, it will be a vast acquisition to these islands; and, as Ton-Aa gataboo VOL I

1777.

1777. gataboo is a fine level country, the horfes cannot July but be uleful.

On the 10th, at eight o'clock in the morning, Thurf. 10. we weighed anchor, and with a fteady gale at South East, turned through the channel, between the fmall ifles called Makkahaa and Monooafai; it being much wider than the channel between the last mentioned island and Pangimodoo. The flood fet ftrong in our favour, till we were the length of the channel leading up to the lagoon, where the flood from the Eaftward meets that from the Weft. This, together with the indraught of the lagoon, and of the shoals before it, causeth strong riplings and whirlpools. To add to thefe dangers, the depth of water in the channel exceeds the length of a cable; fo that there is no anchorage, except close to the rocks, where we met with forty and forty-five fathoms, over a bottom of dark fand. But then, here, a fhip would be exposed to the whirlpools. This fruftrated the defign which I had formed, of coming to an anchor, as foon as we were through the narrows, and of making an excurfion to fee the funeral. I chofe rather to lofe that ceremony, than to leave the fhips in a fituation, in which I did not think them fafe. We continued to ply to windward, between the two tides, without either gaining or lofing an inch, till near high water, when, by a favourable flant, we got into the Eaftern tide's influence. We expected, there, to find the ebb to run ftrong to the Eaftward in our favour; but it proved fo inconfiderable, that, at any other time, it would not have been noticed. This informed us, that most of the water, which flows into the lagoon, comes from the North West, and returns the same way. About five in the afternoon, finding that we could not get to fea before it was dark, I came to an anchor, under

354

under the fhore of Tongataboo, in forty-five fathoms water; and about two cables length from July. the reef, that runs along that fide of the ifland. The Difcovery dropped anchor under our ftern; but before the anchor took hold, fhe drove off the bank, and did not recover it till after midnight.

We remained at this ftation, till eleven o'clock, Friday 11. the next day, when we weighed, and plyed to the Eaftward. But it was ten at night, before we weathered the Eaft end of the ifland, and were enabled to ftretch away for Middleburg, or Eooa (as it is called by the inhabitants), where we anchored, at eight o'clock the next morning, in forty fathoms Satur, 12. water, over a bottom of fand, intersperfed with coral rocks; the extremes of the ifland extending, from North, 40° Eaft, to South, 22° Weft; the high land of Eooa, South, 45° Eaft; and Tongataboo, from North, 70° Weft, to North, 19° Weft; diftant about half a mile from the fhore; being nearly the fame place where I had my ftation in 1773, and then named by me, Englifh Road.

We had no fooner anchored, than Taoofa the Chief, and feveral other natives, vifited us on board, and feemed to rejoice much at our arrival. This Taoofa * had been my Tayo, when I was here, during my laft voyage; confequently, we were not ftrangers to each other. In a fittle time, I went afhore with him, in fearch of fresh water; the procuring of which, was the chief object that brought me to Eooa. I had been told, at Tongataboo, that there was here a stream, running from the hills into the fea; but this was not the case now. I was farst conducted to a brackish fpring, between low and high water mark, among trocks, in the cove

* In the account of Captain Cook's former Voyage, he calls the only Chief he then met with, at this place, *Tioony*. See Vol. i. p. 192.

A a 2

where

where we landed, and where no one would ever have thought of looking for what we wanted. However, I believe, the water of this fpring might be good, were it possible to take it up, before the tide mixes with it. Finding that we did not like this, our friends took us a little way into the island; where in a deep chasm, we found very good water, which, at the expence of some time and trouble, might be conveyed down to the shore, by means of spouts or troughs, that could be made with plantain leaves, and the stern of the tree. But, rather than to undertake that tedious task, I resolved to rest contented with the supply the shad got at Tongataboo.

Before I returned on board, I fet on foot a trade for hogs and yams. Of the former, we could procure but few; but, of the latter, plenty. I put afhore, at this ifland, the ram and two ewes, of the Cape of Good Hope breed of fheep; intrufting them to the care of Taoofa, who feemed proud of his charge. It was fortunate, perhaps, that Mareewagee, to whom I had given them, as before-mentioned, flighted the prefent. Eooa, not having, as yet, got any dogs upon it, feems to be a properer place than Tongataboo for the rearing of fheep.

As we lay at anchor, this ifland bore a very different afpect from any we had lately feen, and formed a moft beautiful landscape. It is higher than any we had paffed, fince leaving New Zealand (as Kao may juftly be reckoned an immense rock), and from its top, which is almost flat, declines very gently toward the fea. As the other illes, of this cluster, are level, the eye can discover nothing but the trees that cover them; but here the land, rifing gently upward, prefents us with an extensive prospect, where groves of trees are only interspected at irregular distances, in beautiful tiful diforder, and the reft covered with grafs. 1777. Near the fhore, again, it is quite fhaded with July. various trees, amongst which are the habitations of the natives; and to the right of our flation, was one of the most extensive groves of coccapalms we had ever feen.

The 13th, in the afternoon, a party of us made Sunday 13. an excursion to the highest part of the island, which was a little to the right of our fhips, in order to have a full view of the country. About half way up, we croffed a deep valley, the bottom and fides of which, though compoled of hardly any thing but coral rock, were clothed with trees. We were now about two or three hundred feet above the level of the fea, and yet, even here, the coral was perforated into all the holes and inequalities, which ufually diverfify the furface of this fubftance within the reach of the tide. Indeed, we found the fame coral, till we began to approach the fummits of the highest hills; and, it was remarkable, that these were chiefly composed of a yellowish, soft, fandy stone. The soil, there, is, in general, a reddifh clay; which, in many places, feemed to be very deep. On the most elevated part of the whole island, we found a round platfarm, or mount of earth, supported by a wall of coral flones, to bring which, to fuch a height, must have cost much labour. Our guides told us, that this mount had been erected by order of their Chief; and that they, fometimes, met there to drink They called it *Etchee*; by which name, an kava. erection, which we had feen at Tongataboo, as already mentioned, was diftinguished. Not many paces from it, was a spring of excellent water; and, about a mile lower down, a running ftream, which, we were told, found its way to the fea, when the rains were copious. We also met with water,

y, water, in many little holes; and, no doubt, great y plenty might be found, by digging.

From the elevation, to which we had ascended. we had a full view of the whole ifland, except a part of the South point. The South Eaft fide, from which the highest hills, we were now upon, are not far diftant, rifes with very great inequalities, immediately from the fea; fo that the plains and meadows, of which there are here fome of great extent, lie all on the North West fide : and, as they are adorned with tufts of trees, intermixed with plantations, they form a very beautiful landfcape, in every point of view. While I was furveying this delightful prospect, I could not help flattering myself with the pleafing idea, that some future navigator may, from the fame station, behold these meadows stocked with cattle, brought to these islands by the ships of England; and that the completion of this fingle benevolent purpole, independently of all other confiderations, would fufficiently mark to posterity, that our voyages had not been useles to the general interests of humanity. Belides the plants common on the other neighbouring illands, we found, on the height, a species of acrosticum, melastoma, and fern tree; with a few other ferns and plants, not common lower down.

Our guides informed us, that all, or most of the land, on this island, belonged to the great Chiefs of Tongataboo; and that the inhabitants were only tenants, or vasses, to them. Indeed, this feemed to be the case at all the other neighbouring isles, except Annamooka, where there were fome Chiefs, who feemed to act with fome kind of independence. Omai, who was a great favourite with Feenou, and these people in general, was tempted with

with the offer of being made Chief of this ifland, ^{1777.} if he would have ftaid amongft them; and it is ^{July.} not clear to me, that he would not have been glad to ftay, if the fcheme had met with my approbation. I own, I did difapprove of it; but not becaufe I thought that Omai would do better for himfelf in his own native ifle.

On returning from my country expedition, we were informed that a party of the natives had, in the circle where our people traded, ftruck one of their own countrymen with a club, which laid bare, or, as others faid, fractured his skull, and then broke his thigh with the fame; when our men interpofed. He had no figns of life, when carried to a neighbouring houfe; but afterward recovered a little. On my asking the reason of so severe a treatment, we were informed, that he had been difcovered in a fituation rather indelicate, with a woman who was taboo'd. We, however, underftood, that fhe was no otherwife taboo'd, than by belonging to another perfon, and rather fuperior in rank to her gallant. From this circumstance, we had an opportunity of observing, how these people treat fuch infidelities. But the female finner has, by far, the fmaller fhare of punishment for her mifdemeanor; as they told us, that fhe would only receive a flight beating.

The next morning, I planted a pine-apple, Mond. 14and fowed the feeds of melons, and other vegetables in the Chief's plantation. I had fome encouragement, indeed, to flatter myfelf, that my endeavours of this kind would not be fruitlefs; for, this day, there was ferved up at my dinner, a difh of turnips, being the produce of the feeds I had left here during my laft voyage.

359

l had

July. July. Tuefd. 15. a prefent he had prepared for me. This reason, and the daily expectation of seeing forme of our

- friends from Tongataboo, induced me to defer my departure.
- Accordingly, the next day, I received the Chief's Wedn, 16. prefent; confifting of two small heaps of yams, and fome fruit, which feemed to be collected by a kind of contribution, as at the other ifles. On this occasion, most of the people of the island had affembled at the place; and, as we had experienced on fuch numerous meetings amongst their neighbours, gave us not a little trouble to prevent them from pilfering whatever they could lay their hands We were entertained with cudgelling, upon. wreftling, and boxing-matches; and in the latter, both male and female combatants exhibited. It was intended to have finished the shew with the bomai, or night-dance; but an accident either put a total ftop to it, or, at leaft, prevented any of us from flaying afhore to fee it. One of my people, walking a very little way, was furrounded by twenty or thirty of the natives, who knocked him down, and ftripped him of every thing he had on his back. On hearing of this, I immediately feized two canoes, and a large hog; and infifted on Taoofa's caufing the clothes to be reftored, and on the offenders being delivered up to me. The Chief feemed much concerned at what had happened; and forthwith took the necessary fteps to fatisfy me. This affair fo alarmed the affembled people, that most of them fled. However, when they found that I took no other measures to revenge the infult, they returned. It was not long before one of the offenders was delivered up to me, and a shirt and a pair of trowsers restored. The

The remainder of the ftolen goods not coming in before night, I was under the neceflity of leaving July. them to go aboard; for the fea run fo high, that it was with the greateft difficulty the boats could get out of the creek with day-light, much lefs in the dark.

The next morning, I landed again, having pro-Thurf. 17. vided myself with a present for Taoofa, in return for what he had given me. As it was early, there were but few people at the landing-place, and those few not without their fears. But on my defiring Omai to affure them, that we meant no harm; and, in confirmation of this affurance, having reftored the canoes, and releafed the offender, whom they had delivered up to me, they refumed their ufual gaiety; and, prefently, a large circle was formed, in which the Chief, and all the principal men of the ifland, took their places. The remainder of the clothes were now brought in: but, as they had been torn off the man's back, by pieces, they were not worth carrying on board. Taoofa, on receiving my prefent, fhared it with three or four other Chiefs, keeping only a fmall part for himfelf. This prefent exceeded their expectation fo greatly, that one of the Chiefs. a venerable old man, told me, that they did not deferve it, confidering how little they had given to me, and the ill treatment one of my people had met with. I remained with them, till they had finished their bowl of kava; and having then paid for the hog, which I had taken the day before, returned on board, with Taoofa, and one of Poulaho's fervants, by whom I fent, as a parting mark of my efteem and regard for that Chief, a piece of bar iron; being as valuable a prefent as any I could make to him.

361

Soon

Soon after, we weighed, and with a light breeze at South Eaft, ftood out to fea; and then Taoofa, and a few other natives, that were in the fhip, left us. On heaving up the anchor, we found, that the cable had fuffered confiderably by the rocks; fo that the bottom, in this road, is not to be depended upon. Befides this, we experienced, that a prodigious fwell rolls in there from the South Weft.

We had not been long under fail, before we obferved a failing canoe coming from Tongataboo, and entering the creek before which we had anchored. Some hours after, a fmall canoe, conducted by four men, came off to us. For, as we had but little wind, we were, ftill, at no great diftance from the land. These men told us, that the failing canoe, which we had feen arrive from Tongataboo, had brought orders to the people of Eooa, to furnish us with a certain number of hogs; and that, in two days, the king, and other They, therefore, de-Chiefs, would be with us. fired we would return to our former station. There was no reason to doubt the truth of what these men told us. Two of them had actually come from Tongataboo, in the failing canoe; and they had no view in coming off to us, but to give this intelligence. However, as we were now clear of the land, it was not a fufficient inducement to bring me back; especially as we had, already, on board, a flock of fresh provisions, sufficient, in all probability, to last during our passage to Otaheite. Befides Taoofa's prefent, we had got a good quantity of yams at Eooa, in exchange chiefly for small nails. Our fupply of hogs was also confiderably increased there; though, doubtless, we should have got many more, if the Chiefs of Tongataboo had been with us, whose property they mostly were. At

362 1777.

At the approach of night, these men, finding that we would not return, left us; as also fome others, who had come off in two cances, with a few cocoa-nuts, and shaddocks, to exchange them for what they could get; the eagerness of these people to get into their possible for more of our commodities, inducing them to follow the ships out to fea, and to continue their intercours with us to the last moment.

363

CHAP.

CHAP. X.

Advantages derived from visiting the Friendly Islands. — Best Articles for Traffic. — Refreshments that may be procured. — The Number of the Islands, and their Names. — Keppel's and Boscawen's Islands belong to them.—Account of Vavaoo—of Hamoa—of Feejee.—Voyages of the Natives in their Canoes.—Difficulty of procuring exact Information. — Persons of the Inhabitants of both Sexes.—Their Colour.—Diseas. Their general Character. — Manner of wearing their Hair—of puncturing their Bodies.—Their Clothing and Ornaments.—Personal Cleanlines.

THUS we took leave of the Friendly Islands, and their inhabitants, after a ftay of between 3777. July. two and three months; during which time, we lived together in the most cordial friendship. Some accidental differences, it is true, now and then happened, owing to their great propenfity to thieving; but, too often, encouraged by the negligence of our own people. But these differences were never attended with any fatal confequences; to prevent which, all my measures were directed; and, I believe, few, on board our ships, left our friends here without fome regret. The time, employed amongst them, was not thrown away. We expended very little of our fea provisions; fubfifting, in general, upon the produce of the iflands, while we staid; and carrying away with us a quantity

quantity of refreshments sufficient to last till our arrival at another station, where we could depend upon a fresh supply. I was not forry, besides, to have had an opportunity of bettering the condition of these good people, by leaving the useful animals, before-mentioned, among them; and, at the fame time, those defigned for Otaheite, received fresh ftrength in the pastures of Tongataboo. Upon the whole, therefore, the advantages we received, by touching here, were very great; and I had the additional fatisfaction to reflect, that they were received, without retarding, one moment, the profecution of the great object of our voyage; the feafon, for proceeding to the North, being, as has been already observed, loft, before I took the refolution of bearing away for these islands.

But, belides the immediate advantages, which both the natives of the Friendly Islands, and ourfelves, received by this vifit, future navigators from Europe, if any fuch should ever tread our steps, will profit by the knowledge I acquired of the geography of this part of the Pacific Ocean; and the more philosophical reader, who loves to view human nature in new fituations, and to speculate on fingular, but faithful representations of the persons, the cuftoms, the arts, the religion, the government, and the language of uncultivated man, in remote and fresh discovered quarters of the globe, will, perhaps, find matter of amulement, if not of inftruction, in the information which I have been enabled to convey to him, concerning the inhabitants of this Archipelago. I shall suspend my narrative, of the progress of the voyage, while I faithfully relate what I had opportunities of collecting on these several topics.

We found, by our experience, that the beft articles for traffic, at these islands, are iron tools in general. Axes and hatchets; nails, from the largest pike 365

1777.

fpike down to tenpenny ones; rafps; files; and knives, are much fought after. Red cloth; and linen, both white and coloured; looking-glaffes, and beads, are also in estimation; but of the latter, those that are blue, are preferred to all others: and white ones are thought the least valuable. A ftring of large blue beads would, at any time, purchafe a hog. But it must be observed, that such articles as are merely ornaments, may be highly efteemed at one time, and not fo at another. When we first arrived at Annamooka, the people there would hardly take them in exchange even for fruit; but when Feenou came, this great man fet the fashion, and brought them into vogue, till they rose in their value to what I have just mentioned.

In return for the favourite commodities which I have enumerated, all the refreshments may be procured that the islands produce. These are, hogs, fowls, fish, yams, bread-fruit, plantains, cocoanuts, sugar-cane, and, in general, every such supply as can be met with at Otaheite, or any of the Society Islands. The yams of the Friendly islands are excellent, and, when grown to perfection, keep very well at sea. But their pork, breadfruit, and plantains, though far from despicable, are, nevertheles, much inferior in quality to the fame articles at Otaheite, and in its neighbourhood.

Good water, which fhips, on long voyages, ftand fo much in need of, is fcarce at these islands. It may be found, it is true, on them all; but, ftill, either in too inconfiderable quantities, or in fituations too inconvenient, to serve the purposes of navigators. However, as the islands afford plenty of provisions, and particularly of cocoa-nuts, fhips may make a tolerable shift with such water as is to be got; and if one is not over-nice; there will be no want. While we lay at anchor, under Kotoo, on our return from Hapace, some people, from Kao,

366

Kao, informed us, that there was a ftream of wa-1777. ter there, which, pouring down from the mountain, July. runs into the fea, on the South West fide of the ifland; that is, on the fide that faces Toofoa, another ifland remarkable for its height, as also for having a confiderable volcano in it, which, as has been already mentioned, burnt violently all the time that we were in its neighbourhood. It may be worth while for future navigators, to attend to this intelligence about the ftream of water at Kao; efpecially as we learned that there was anchorage on that part of the coaft. The black ftone, of which the natives of the Friendly Islands make their hatchets, and other tools, we were informed, is the production of Toofoa.

Under the denomination of Friendly Islands, we must include, not only the group at Hapaee, which I visited, but also all those islands, that have been discovered nearly under the same meridian, to the North, as well as some others that have never been seen, hitherto, by any European navigators; but are under the dominion of Tongataboo, which, though not the largest, is the capital, and feat of government.

According to the information that we received there, this Archipelago is very extensive. Above one hundred and fifty islands were reckoned up to us by the natives, who made use of bits of leaves to ascertain their number; and Mr. Anderson, with his usual diligence, even procured all their names. Fifteen of them are faid to be high, or hilly, fuch as Toosoa, and Eooa; and thirty-five of them large. Of these, only three were seen this voyage; Hapaee (which is confidered by the natives as one island), Tongataboo, and Eooa: of the fize of the unexplored thirty-two, nothing more can be mentioned, but that they must be all larger 367

larger than Annamooka; with thofe, from whom we had our information, ranked amongst the fmaller ifles. Some, or indeed feveral, of this latter denomination, are mere fpots, without Sixty-one of thefe illands have inhabitants. their proper places and names marked upon our chart of the Friendly Iflands, and upon the fketch of the harbour of Tongataboo, to both which I refer the reader. But it must be left to future navigators, to introduce into the geography of this part of the South Pacific Ocean, the exact fituation and fize of near a hundred more iflands in this neighbourhood, which we had not an opportunity to explore; and whose existence we only learnt from the teftimony of our friends, as above-mentioned. On their authority, the following lift of them was made; and it may ferve as a ground work for farther investigation.

Names of the Friendly Islands, and others, in that Neighbourhood, mentioned by the Inhabitants of Annamooka, Hapaee, and Tongataboo *.

Komooefeeva,	Noogoofaeeou,	Novababoo,
Kollalona,	Koreemou,	Golabbe,
Felongaboonga,	Failemaia,	Vagaeetoo
Kovereetoa,	Koweeka,	Gowakka,
Fonogooeatta,	Konookoonama,	Goofoo,
Modooanoogoo	Kooonoogoo,	Mafanna,
noogoo,	Geenageena,	Kolloooa,
Tongooa,	Kowourogoheefo,	Tabanna,
Koooa,	Kottejeea,	Motooha,
Fonooa eeka,	Kokabba,	Looakabba,
Vavaoo,	Boloa,	Toofanaetollo,

* Those islands, which the natives represented as large ones, are diffinguished in Italics.

Koloa,

Koloa, Fafeene,	Toofagga, Loogoobahanga,	Toofanaelaa, Kogoopoloo,	1
Taoonga,	Taoola,	Havaeeeeke,	<u>ب</u>
Kobakeemotoo,		Tootooeela.	
Kongahoonoho,		Manooka,	
Komaila,	Fonooonneonne,	Lesbainga,	
Konoababoo,	Wegaffa,	Pappataia,	
Konnetalle,	Fooamotoo,	Loubatta,	
Komongoraffa,		Oloo,	
Kotoolooa,	Tattahoi,	Takounove,	
Kologobeele,	Latte,	Kopaoo,	
Kollokolahee,	Neuafo,	Kovooeea,	
Matageefaia,	Feejee,	Kong aireekee,	
Mallajee,	Oowaia,	Tafeedoowaia,	
Mallalahee,	Kongaiarahoi,	Hamoa,	
Gonoogoolaiee,	Kotoobooo,	Necootabootaboo,	
Toonabai,	Komotte,	Fotoona,	
Konnevy,	Komoarra,	Vytooboo,	
Konnevao,	Kolaiva,	Lotooma,	
Moggodoo,	Kofoona,	Toggelao,	
Looamoggo,	Konnagillelaivoo,	Talava.	

I have not the leaft doubt, that Prince William's Islands, discovered, and so named by Tafman, are included in the foregoing lift. For while we lay at Hapaee, one of the natives told me, that, three or four days fail from thence, to the North West, there was a cluster of small islands, confisting of upward of forty. This fituation corresponds very well with that affigned, in the accounts we have of Tasman's voyage, to his Prince William's Islands *.

We

369

^{*} Tafman faw eighteen or twenty of these fmall islands, every one of which was furrounded with funds, shoals, and rocks. They are also called, in some charts, *Heenfkirk's Banks*. See Dalrymple's Collection of Voyages to the Vol. I. Bb Pacific

We have also very good authority to believe, that Keppel's and Boscawen's Islands, two of Captain Wallis's discoveries in 1765, are comprehended in our lift; and that they are not only well known to these people, but are under the same fovereign. The following information feemed to me decifive as to this. Upon my inquiring, one day, of Poulaho the king, in what manner the inhabitants of Tongataboo had acquired the knowledge of iron, and from what quarter they had procured a fmall iron tool, which I had feen amongst them, when I first visited their island, during my former voyage, he informed me, that they had received this iron from an ifland, which he called Necootabootaboo. Carrying my inquiries further, I then defired to know, whether he had ever been informed, from whom the people of Neeootabootaboo had got it. I found him perfectly acquainted with its hiftory. He faid, that one of those islanders fold a club, for five nails, to a fhip which had touched there; and that thefe five nails afterward were fent to Tongataboo. He added that this was the first iron known amongst them; fo that, what Tasman left of that metal, must have been worn out, and forgot long ago. I was very particular in my inquiries about the fi-tuation, fize, and form of the island; expressing my defire to know when this fhip had touched there; how long fhe flaid; and whether any more were in company. The leading facts appeared to be fresh in his memory. He faid, that there was but one fhip; that fhe did not come to an anchor, but left the illand after her boat had been on fhore. And from many circumstances, which he mentioned, it could not be many years fince this had

Pacific Ocean, Vol. ii. p. 83.; and Campbell's edition of Harris's, Vol. i. p. 325.

happened.

happened. According to his information, there are two iflands near each other, which he himfelf had been at. The one he described as high, and peaked like Kao, and he called it Kootahee; the other, where the people of the fhip landed, called Necootabootaboo, he represented as much lower. He added, that the natives of both are the fame fort of people with those of Tongataboo; built their canoes in the fame manner; that their iflands had hogs and fowls; and, in general, the fame vegetable productions. The thip, to pointedly referred to, in this conversation, could be no other than the Dolphin; the only fingle fhip from Europe, as far as we have ever learned, that had touched, of late years, at any ifland in this part of the Pacific Ocean, prior to my former vifit to the Friendly Iflands*.

But the most confiderable islands in this neighbourhood, that we now heard of (and we heard a great deal about them), are Hamoa, Vavaoo, and Feejee. Each of these was represented to us as larger than Tongataboo. No European, that we know of, has, as yet, feen any one of them. Tafman, indeed, lays down in his chart, an ifland nearly in the fituation where I suppose Vavaoo to be; that is, about the latitude of 19° +. But, then, that

+ Neither Dalrymple nor Campbell, in their accounts of Tafman's voyage, take any particular notice of his having feen fuch Bb 2 an

371

^{*} See Captain Wallis's Voyage, in Hawkefworth's Collection, Vol. i. p. 492-494. Captain Wallis there calls both thefe iflands kigh ones. But the fuperior height of one of them may be in-ferred, from his faying, that it appears *like a fugar-loaf*. This ftrongly marks its refemblance to Kao. From comparing Poulaho's intelligence to Captain Cook, with Captain Wallis's ac-count, it feems to be paft all doubt, that Bofcawen's Ifland is our Kootahee, and Keppel's Ifland our Neeootabootaboo. The laft is one of the large islands marked in the foregoing lift. The reader, who has been already apprized of the variations of our people in writing down what the natives pronounced, will hardly doubt that Kottejeea and Kootahee are the fame.

that island is there marked as a very small one: whereas Vavaoo, according to the united teftimony of all our friends at Tongataboo, exceeds the fize of their own island, and has high mountains. I fhould certainly have vifited it; and have accompanied Feenou from Hapaee, if he had not then discouraged me, by representing it to be very inconfiderable, and without any harbour. But Poulaho, the king, afterward affured me, that it was a large ifland; and that it not only produced every thing in common with Tongataboo, but had the peculiar advantage of poffeffing feveral ftreams of fresh water, with as good a harbour as that which we found at his capital island. He offered to attend me, if I would vifit it; adding, that, if I did not find every thing agreeing with his representation, I might kill him. I had not the leaft doubt of the truth of his intelligence; and was fatisfied that Feenou, from fome interefted view, attempted to deceive me.

Hamoa, which is also under the dominion of Tongataboo, lies two days fail North Weft from Vavaoo. It was described to me, as the largeft of all their islands, as affording harbours and good water; and as producing, in abundance, every article of refreshment found at the places we visited. Poulaho, himself, frequently refides there. It should feem, that the people of this island are in high effimation at Tongataboo; for we were told that fome of the fongs and dances, with which we were entertained had been copied from theirs; and we faw fome houses, faid to be built after their fashion. Mr. Anderson, always inquisitive about such matters,

an ifland. The chart here referred to, by Captain Cook, is, probably, Mr. Dalrymple's, in his Collection of Voyages, where Tafman's track is marked accurately; and feveral very fmall fpots of land are laid down in the fituation here mentioned.

learnt

372

learnt the three following words of the dialect of Hamoa.

Tamolao *, a chief man. Tamaety, a chief woman. Solle, a common man.

Feejee,

* In two or three preceding notes, extracts have been made from the Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, as marking a ftrong refemblance between fome of the cuftoms of the inhabitants of the Caroline Iflands, and those which Captain Cook describes as prevailing at an immenfe distance in the islands which he vifited in the South Pacific Ocean. Poffibly, however, the prefumption, arifing from this refemblance, that all these islands were peopled by the fame nation, or tribe, may be refifted, under the plaulible pretence, that cultons very finilar prevail amongft very diftant people, without inferring any other common fource, befides the general principles of human nature, the fame in all ages, and every part of the globe. The reader, perhaps, will not think this pretence applicable to the matter before us, if he attends to the following very obvious diffinction: Those cultoms which have their foundation in current that accurate matching the cultoms. have their foundation in wants that are common to the whole human fpecies, and which are confined to the contrivance of means to relieve those wants, may well be supposed to bear a strong refemblance, without warranting the conclusion, that they who use them have copied each other, or have derived them from one common fource; human fagacity being the fame every where, common tource; human lagacity being the lame every where, and the means adapted to the relief of any particular natural want, efpecially in countries fimilarly uncultivated, being but few. Thus the moft diffant tribes, as widely feparated as Terra del Fuego is from the iflands Eaft of Kamtfchatka, may, both of them, produce their fire, by rubbing two ficks upon each other, without giving us the leaft foundation for fuppofing, that either of them imitated the other, or derived the invention from a fource of inftruction common to both. But this feems not to be the cafe, with regard to those cuftoms to which no general principle of human nature has given birth, and which have their eftablishment folely from the endless varieties of local whim, and national fashion. Of this latter kind, those customs obviously are, that belong both to the North, and to the South Pacific Islands, from which, we would infer, that they were originally one nation; and the men of Mangeea, and the men of the New Philippines, who pay their refpects to a perfon whom they mean to honour, by rubbing his hand over their faces, bid fair to have learnt their mode of falutation in the fame fchool. But if this obfervation fhould not have removed the doubts of the fceptical refirervation mouth not nave removed the doubts of the reputed refi-nce, probably he will hardly venture to perfit in denying the identity of race, contended for in the prefent inflance, when he fhall obferve, that, to the proof drawn from affinity of cultoms, we have it in our power to add that moft unexceptionable one, drawn from affinity of language. Tamoloa, we now know, is the

1777.

Feejee, as we were told, lies three days fail from Tongataboo, in the direction of North Weft by Weft. It was defcribed to us as a high, but very fruitful ifland; abounding with hogs, dogs, fowls, and all the kinds of fruit and roots that are found in any of the others; and as much larger than Tongataboo; to the dominion of which, as was reprefented to us, it is not fubject, as the other iflands of this archipelago are. On the contrary, Feejee and Tongataboo frequently make war upon each other. And it appeared, from feveral circumstances, that the inhabitants of the latter are much afraid of this enemy. They used to express their fense of their own inferiority to the Feejee men, by bending the body forward, and covering the face with their hands. And it is no wonder, that they fhould be under this dread; for those of Feejee are formidable on account of the dexterity with which they use their bows and flings; but much more fo, on account of the favage practice to which they are addicted, like those of New Zealand, of eating their enemies, whom they kill in battle. We were fatiffied, that this was not a misrepresentation. For we met with several Feejee people at Tongataboo, and, on inquiring of them, they did not deny the charge.

Now, that I am again led to fpeak of cannibals, let me ask those who maintain, that the want of

the word used at Hamoa, one of the Friendly Islands, to fignify a Chief; and whoever looks into the Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, will fee, that this is the very name by which the inhabirants of the Caroline Islands diffinguish their principal men. We have in two preceding notes, inferted passages from Father Cantova's account of them, where their Tamoles are spoken of; and he repeats the word at least a dozen times, in the course of a few pages. But I cannot avoid transforibing, from him, the following very decisive testimony, which renders any other quotation superfluous. "L'autoritie du Gouvernement se partage entre "pluseurs familles nobles, dont les Chefs s'appellent Tamoles. "It y a outre cela, dans chaque province, un principale Tamole, " auquel tous les autres font fournis."

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, Tom. xv. p. 312. food

food first brings men to feed on human flesh, What is it that induceth the Feejee people to keep it up, in the midit of plenty? This practice is detefted, very much, by those of Tongataboo, who cultivate the friendship of their favage neighbours of Feejee, apparently out of fear; though they fometimes venture to fkirmish with them, on their own ground; and carry off red feathers, as their booty, which are in great plenty there, and, as has been frequently mentioned, are in great effimation amongst our Friendly Islanders. When the two islands are at peace, the intercourse between them feems to be pretty frequent; though they have, doubtlefs, been but lately known to each other; or we may suppose, that Tongataboo, and its adjoining illands, would have been supplied, before this, with a breed of dogs, which abound at Feejee, and had not been introduced at Tongataboo, fo late as 1773, when I first visited it. The natives of Feejee, whom we met with here, were of a colour that was a full shade darker, than that of the inhabitants of the Friendly Islands in general. One of them had his left ear flit, and the lobe was fo diftended, that it almost reached his shoulder; which singularity I had met with at other islands of the South Sea, during my fecond voyage. It appeared to me, that the Feejee men, whom we now faw, were much respected here; not only, perhaps, from the power, and cruel manner of their nation's going to For they war, but, allo, from their ingenuity. feem to excel the inhabitants of Tongataboo in that respect, if we might judge from several specimens of their skill in workmanship, which we saw; such as clubs and spears, which were carved in a very mafterly manner; cloth beautifully chequered; variegated mats; earthen pots; and fome other articles; all which had a caft of fuperiority in the execution.

1777.

July.

I have

I have mentioned, that Feejee lies three days fail from Tongataboo, because these people have no other method of measuring the distance from island to island, but by expressing the time required to make the voyage, in one of their canoes. In order to afcertain this, with fome precifion, or, at leaft, to form fome judgment, how far these canoes can fail, in a moderate gale, in any given time, I wen on board one of them, when under fail, and, by feveral trials with the log, found that the went feven knots, or miles, in an hour, clofe hauled, in a gentle gale. From this I judge, that they will fail, on a medium, with fuch breezes as generally blow in their fea, about feven or eight miles in an hour. But the length of each day is not to be reckoned at twenty-four hours. For when they fpoke of one day's fail, they mean no more than from the morning to the evening of the fame day; that is, ten or twelve hours at most. And two days fail, with them, fignifies from the morning of the first day, to the evening of the second; and so for any other number of days. In these navigations, the fun is their guide by day, and the stars When these are obscured, they have by night. recourse to the points from whence the winds and the waves came upon the veffel. If, during the obscuration, both the wind and the waves should fhift (which, within the limits of the trade-wind, feldom happens at any other time), they are then bewildered, frequently miss their intended port, and are never heard of more. The hiftory of Omai's countrymen, who were driven to Wateeoo, leads us to infer, that those not heard of, are not always loft.

Of all the harbours and anchoring places I have met with, amongst these islands, that of Tongataboo is, by far, the best; not only on account of

of its great fecurity, but of its capacity, and of 1777. the goodness of its bottom. The risk that we ran, July. in entering it from the North, ought to be a fufficient caution to every future Commander, not to attempt that paffage again with a fhip of burden; fince the other, by which we left it, is fo much more easy and fafe. To fail into it, by this Eastern channel, steer in for the North East point of the island, and keep along the North shore, with the fmall ifles on your ftarboard, till you are the length of the East point of the entrance into the lagoon; then edge over for the reef of the small ifles; and, on following its direction, it will conduct you through between Makkahaaa and Monooafai, or the fourth and fifth ifles, which you will perceive to lie off the West point of the lagoon. Or you may go between the third and fourth islands, that is, between Pangimodoo and Monooafai; but this channel is much narrower than the other. There runs a very ftrong tide in both. The flood, as I have observed before, comes in from the North Weft, and the ebb returns the fame way; but I fhall fpeak of the tides in another place. As foon as you are through either of these channels, haul in for the fhore of Tongataboo, and anchor between it and Pangimodoo, before a creek leading into the lagoon; into which boats can go at half flood.

Although Tongataboo has the beft harbour, Annamooka furnifhes the beft water; and yet, it cannot be called good. However, by digging holes near the fide of the pond, we can get what may be called tolerable. This ifland, too, is the beft fituated for drawing refreshments from all the others, as being nearly in the centre of the whole group. Befides the road in which we anchored, and the harbour within the South West point, there is a creek in the reef, before the Eastern fandy cove, 0

on the North fide of the ifland, in which two or three fhips may lie very fecurely, by mooring head and ftern, with their anchors or moorings fast to the rocks.

I have already defcribed the Hapaee islands; and shall only add to that description, by mentioning, that they extend South Weft by South, and North East by North, about nineteen miles. The North end lies in the latitude of 19° 39' South, and 33' of longitude to the Eaft of Annamooka. Between them, are a great many fmall iflands, fandbanks, and breakers; fo that the fafeft way to arrive at Hapaee, is either by the course I held, or round by the North; according to the fituation of the fhip bound thither. Lefooga, off which we anchored, is the most fertile isle of those that are called Hapaee; and, confequently, is the beft inhabited. There is anchorage along the North Weft fide of this island; but it will be necessary to examine the ground well before you moor. For, although the lead may bring up fine fand, there are, nevertheless, some sharp coral rocks, that would foon deftroy the cables.

They who want a more particular defcription of the Friendly Islands, muft have recours to the chart that we constructed. There, every thing is delineated with as much accuracy as circumftances would permit. Recours muft, also, be had, to the same chart, for the better tracing the several stations of the start, for the better tracing the several ftations of the start. To have fwelled my journal with a minute account of bearings, tackings, and the like, would neither have been entertaining nor instructive.

What has been here omitted, concerning the geography of these islands, will be found in the narrative rative of my laft voyage*. To that narrative I July. must also refer +, for such particulars concerning the inhabitants, their manners, and arts, as I had observed then, and about which I faw no reason to change my judgment. At prefent, I shall confine myself to such interesting particulars, as either were not mentioned in that narrative, or were imperfectly and incorrectly represented there; and to fuch as may ferve to explain fome paffages in the foregoing account of our transactions with the natives.

It may, indeed, be expected, that, after fpending between two and three months amongst them, I should be enabled to clear up every difficulty, and to give a tolerably fatisfactory account of their cuftoms, opinions, and inftitutions, both civil and religious; efpecially as we had a perfon on board, who might be supposed qualified to act the part of an interpreter, by understanding their language and ours. But poor Omai was very deficient. For unless the object or thing we wanted to inquire about, was actually before us, we found it difficult to gain a tolerable knowledge of it, from information only, without falling into a hundred miftakes; and to fuch miftakes Omai was more liable than we were. For, having no curiofity, he never gave himfelf the trouble to make remarks for himfelf; and, when he was disposed to explain matters to us, his ideas appeared to be fo limited, and, perhaps, so different from ours, that his accounts were often to confused, as to perplex, inftead of instructing us. Add to this, that it was very rare that we found, amongst the natives, a perfon, who united the ability and the inclination to give us the information we wanted; and, we found,

* Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 211. 213. + Ibid. p. 213. 225. that

1777.

that most of them hated to be troubled with what they, probably, thought idle queftions. Our fituation at Tongataboo, where we remained the longeft, was, likewife, unfavourable. It was in a part of the country, where there were few inhabitants. except fishers. It was always holiday with our vifiters, as well as with those we visited; fo that we had but few opportunities of observing, what was really the domeftic way of living of the natives. Under these disadvantages, it is not furprising, that we should not be able to bring away with us fatisfactory accounts of many things; but fome of us endeavoured to remedy those disadvantages, by diligent observation; and I am indebted to Mr. Anderfon, for a confiderable fhare of what follows, in this and in the following chapter. In other matters, I have only expressed, nearly in his words, remarks that coincided with mine; but what relates to the religion and language of these people, is entirely his own.

The natives of the Friendly Islands feldom exceed the common flature (though we have meafured fome, who were above fix feet); but are very ftrong and well made; efpecially as to their limbs. They are generally broad about the shoulders; and though the muscular disposition of the men, which feems a confequence of much action, rather conveys the appearance of ftrength than of beauty, there are feveral to be feen, who are really handfome. Their features are very various; infomuch, that it is fcarcely poslible to fix on any general likenes, by which to characterize them, unlefs it be a fullness at the point of the nose, which is very common. But, on the other hand, we met with hundreds of truly European faces, and many genuine Roman nofes, amongft them. Their eyes and teeth are good; but the last neither fo remarkably white, nor

nor fo well fet as is often found amongft Indian nations; though, to balance that, few of them have any uncommon thickness about the lips, a defect as frequent as the other perfection.

The women are not fo much diffinguished from the men by their features as by their general form, which is, for the most part, deflitute of that strong flefhy firmnefs that appears in the latter. Though the features of fome are fo delicate, as not only to be a true index of their fex, but to lay claim to a confiderable fhare of beauty and expression, the rule is, by no means, fo general as in many other countries. But, at the fame time, this is frequently the most exceptionable part; for the bodies and limbs of most of the females are well proportioned; and fome, abfolutely, perfect models of a beautiful figure. But the most remarkable distinction in the women, is the uncommon fmallnefs and delicacy of their fingers, which may be put in competition with the fineft in Europe.

The general colour is a caft deeper than the copper brown; but feveral of the men and women have a true olive complexion; and fome of the last are even a great deal fairer; which is probably the effect of being lefs exposed to the fun; as a tendency to corpulence, in a few of the principal people, feems to be the confequence of a more indolent life. It is also amongst the last, that a foft clear skin is most frequently observed. Amongst the bulk of the people, the skin is, more commonly, of a dull hue, with fome degree of roughness, especially the parts that are not covered; which, perhaps, may be occafioned by fome cutaneous difeafe. We faw a man and boy at Hapaee, and a child at Annamooka, perfectly white. Such have been found amongst all black nations; but,

1777.

but, I apprehend, that their colour is rather a difease, than a natural phænomenon. July.

There are, neverthelefs, upon the whole, few natural defects or deformities to be found amongst them; though we faw two or three with their feet bent inward; and fome afflicted with a fort of blindness, occasioned by a disease of the cornea. Neither are they exempt from fome other dif-The most common of which is the tetter, eafes. or ring-worm, that feems to affect almost one half of them, and leaves whitish serpentine marks, every where, behind it. But this is of lefs confequence than another difeafe, which is very frequent, and appears on every part of the body, in large broad ulcers with thick white edges, difcharging a thin, clear matter; fome of which had a very virulent appearance, particularly those on the face, which were flocking to look at. And yet we met with fome who feemed to be cured of it, and others in a fair way of being cured; but this was not affected without the lois of the nole, or of the best part of it. As we know for a certainty * (and the fact is acknowledged by themfelves), that the people of these islands were fubject to this loathfome difeafe before the English first visited them, notwithstanding the similarity of fymptoms, it cannot be the effect of the venereal contagion; unlefs we adopt a fuppofition, which I could with had fufficient foundation in truth, that the venereal diforder was not introduced here from Europe, by our thips in 1773. It, affuredly, was now found to exift amongst them; for we had not been long there, before fome of our people received

the

^{*} See Vol. ii. p. 20. of Captain Cook's Voyage, where he gives a particular account of meeting with a perfon afflicted with this difeafe, at Annamooka, on his landing there in 1773.

the infection; and I had the mortification to learn from thence, that all the care I took, when I first July. vifited these islands, to prevent this dreadful disease from being communicated to their inhabitants, had proved ineffectual. What is extraordinary, they do not feem to regard it much; and as we faw few figns of its deftroying effects, probably the climate, and the way of living of these people, greatly abate its virulence. There are two other difeafes frequent amongst them; one of which is an indolent firm fwelling, which affects the legs and arms, and increases them to an extraordinary fize in their whole length. The other is a tumour of the fame fort, in the tefficles, which fometimes exceed the fize of the two fifts. But, in other respects, they may be confidered as uncommonly healthy; not a fingle perfon having been feen, during our ftay, confined to the house, by fickness of any kind. On the contrary, their ftrength and activity are, every way, answerable to their mulcular appearance; and they exert both, in their usual employment, and in their diversions, in such a manner, that there can be no doubt of their being, as yet, little debilitated by the numerous difeases that are the confequence of indolence, and an unnatural method of life.

The graceful air and firm ftep with which these people walk, are not the least obvious proof of their perfonal accomplishments. They confider this as a thing fo natural, or fo neceffary to be acquired, that nothing used to excite their laughter fooner, than to see us frequently flumbling upon the roots of trees, or other inequalities of the ground.

Their countenances very remarkably express the abundant mildness, or good nature, which they possess and are entirely free from that favage keenness

keennels which marks nations in a barbarous flate. One would, indeed, be apt to fancy, that they had been bred up under the fevereft reftrictions, to acquire an afpect fo fettled, and fuch a command of their paffions, as well as fleadinefs in conduct. But they are, at the fame time, frank, cheerful, and good-humoured; though, fometimes, in the prefence of their Chiefs, they put on a degree of gravity, and fuch a ferious air as becomes fliff and awkward, and has an appearance of referve.

Their peaceable disposition is fufficiently evinced, from the friendly reception all strangers have met with, who have vifited them. Inflead of offering to attack them openly, or clandeftinely, as has been the cafe with most of the inhabitants of thefe feas, they have never appeared, in the fmalleft degree, hoftile; but, on the contrary, like the most civilized people, have courted an intercourse with their vifiters, by bartering, which is the only medium that unites all nations in a fort of friend-They understand barter (which they call fhip. fukkatou) to perfectly, that, at first, we imagined they might have acquired this knowledge of it by commercial intercourfe with the neighbouring islands; but we were afterward affured, that they had little or no traffic, except with Feejee, from which they get the red feathers, and the few other articles, mentioned before. Perhaps, no nation in the world traffic with more honefty and lefs diftruft. We could always fafely permit them to examine our goods, and to hand them about, one to another; and they put the fame confidence in us. If either party repented of the bargain, the goods were re-exchanged with mutual confent and goodhumour. Upon the whole, they feem poffeffed of many of the most excellent qualities that adorn the human mind; fuch as induftry, ingenuity, perfeverance. feverance, affability, and, perhaps, other virtues 1777. which our fhort flay with them might prevent our July. observing.

The only defect fullying their character, that we know of, is a propenfity to thieving; to which, we found, those of all ages, and both fexes, addicted; and to an uncommon degree. It fhould, however, be confidered, that this exceptionable part of their conduct feemed to exift merely with respect to us; for, in their general intercourse with one another, I had reason to be of opinion, that thefts do not happen more frequently (perhaps less fo) than in other countries, the diffionest practices of whole worthlefs individuals are not fuppoled to authorize any indifcriminate cenfure on the whole body of the people. Great allowances fhould be made for the foibles of these poor natives of the Pacific Ocean, whofe minds we overpowered with the glare of objects, equally new to them, as they were captivating. Stealing, amongst the civilized and enlightened nations of the world, may well be confidered as denoting a character deeply fained with moral turpitude, with avarice unreftrained by the known rules of right, and with profligacy producing extreme indigence, and neglecting the means of relieving it. But at the Friendly and other iflands which we vifited, the thefts, fo frequently committed by the natives, of what we had brought along with us, may be fairly traced to lefs culpable motives. They feemed to arife, folely, from an intenfe curiofity or defire to poffels fomething which they had not been accuftomed to before, and belonging to a fort of people fo different from themfelves. And, perhaps, if it were poslible, that a fet of beings, feemingly as fuperior in our judgment, as we are in theirs, should appear amongst us, it might be doubted, whether our natural regard to juffice would be able to reftrain many VOL. I. Сc

many from falling into the fame error. That I have affigned the true motive for their propenfity to this practice, appears from their ftealing every thing indifcriminately at first fight, before they could have the leaft conception of converting their prize to any one uleful purpofe. But, I believe, with us, no perfon would forfeit his reputation, or expose himself to punishment, without knowing, before hand, how to employ the ftolen goods. Upon the whole, the pilfering disposition of these illanders, though certainly difagreeable and troublefome to ftrangers, was the means of affording us fome information as to the quickness of their For their fmall thefts were committed intellects. with much dexterity; and those of greater confequence with a plan or fcheme fuited to the importance of the objects. An extraordinary inftance of the laft fort, their attempts to carry away one of the Discovery's anchors, at mid-day, has been already related.

Their hair is, in general, ftraight, thick, and ftrong; though a few have it bufhy or frizzled. The natural colour, I believe, almost without exception, is black; but the greatest part of the men, and some of the women, have it stained of a brown, or purple colour; and a few of an orange cast. The first colour is produced by applying a fort of plaster of burnt coral, mixed with water; the second, by the raspings of a reddish wood, which is made up with water into a poultice, and laid over the hair; and the third is, I believe, the effect of turmeric root.

When I first visited these islands, I thought it had been an universal custom for both men and women to wear the hair short; but, during our present longer stay, we saw a great many exceptions. Indeed, they are so whimsical in their fashions

fhions of wearing it, that it is hard to tell which is most in vogue. Some have it cut off one fide of, the head, while that on the other fide remains long; fome have only a portion of it cut fhort, or, perhaps, fhaved; others have it entirely cut off, except a fingle lock, which is left commonly on one fide; or, it is fuffered to grow to its full length, without any of these mutilations. The women, in general, wear it fhort. The men have their beards cut fhort; and both men and women ftrip the hair from their arm-pits. The operation by which this is performed has been already defcribed. The men are stained from about the middle of the belly, to about half way down the thighs, with a deep blue colour. This is done with a flat bone inftrument, cut full of fine teeth, which, being dipped in the ftaining mixture, prepared from the juice of the dooe dooe, is ftruck into the fkin with a bit of flick; and, by that means, indelible marks are made. In this manner they trace lines and figures, which, in fome, are very elegant, both from the variety, and from the arrangement. The women have only a few small lines or fpots, thus imprinted, on the infide of their hands. Their kings, as a mark of diffinction, are exempted from this cuftom, as also from inflicting on themfelves any of those bloody marks of mourning, which shall be mentioned in another place.

The men are all circumcifed, or rather supercifed; as the operation confifts in cutting off only a small piece of the foreskin, at the upper part; which, by that means, is rendered incapable, ever after, of covering the glans. This is all they aim at; as they fay, the operation is practifed from a notion of cleanlines.

The drefs of both men and women is the fame; and confifts of a piece of cloth or matting (but moftly Cc 2

1777.

mostly the former), about two yards wide, and two and a half long; at leaft, fo long as to go once and a half round the waift, to which it is confined by a girdle or cord. It is double before, and hangs down, like a petticoat, as low as the middle of the leg. The upper part of the garment, above the girdle, is plaited into feveral folds; fo that, when unfolded, there is cloth fufficient to draw up and wrap round the fhoulders; which is very feldom done. This, as to form, is the general drefs; but large pieces of cloth, and fine matting, are worn only by the fuperior people. The inferior fort are fatisfied with fmall pieces; and, very often, wear nothing but a covering made of leaves of plants, or the *maro*, which is a narrow piece of cloth, or matting, like a fash. This they pass between the thighs, and wrap round the waift; but the use of it is chiefly confined to the men. In their great *baivas*, or entertainments, they have various dreffes made for the purpole; but the form is always the fame; and the richeft dreffes are covered, more or lefs, with red feathers. On what particular occasion their Chiefs wear their large red feather-caps, I could not learn. Both men and women fometimes shade their faces from the fun with little bonnets, made of various materials.

As the clothing, fo are the ornaments, worn by those of both sexes, the fame. The most common of these are necklaces, made of the fruit of the *pandanus*, and various sweet-smelling flowers, which go under the general name of *kabulla*. Others are composed of small shells, the wing and leg-bones of birds, shark's teeth, and other things; all which hang loose upon the breast. In the same manner, they often wear a mother-of-pearl shell, neatly polished, or a ring of the same substance carved, on the the upper part of the arm; rings of tortoife-fhell 1777. on the fingers; and a number of these, joined to-July. gether, as bracelets on the wrists.

The lobes of the ears (though, moft frequently, only one) are perforated with two holes, in which they wear cylindrical bits of ivory, about three inches long, introduced at one hole, and brought out of the other; or bits of reed of the fame fize, filled with a yellow pigment. This feems to be a fine powder of *turmeric*, with which the women rub themfelves all over, in the fame manner as our ladies use their dry rouge upon the cheeks.

Nothing appears to give them greater pleafure than perfonal cleanlinefs; to produce which, they frequently bathe in the ponds, which feem to ferve no other purpole *. Though the water in most of them flinks intolerably, they prefer them to the fea; and they are fo fenfible that falt water hurts their fkin, that, when neceffity obliges them to bathe in the fea, they commonly have fome cocoanut shells, filled with fresh water, poured over them, to wash it off. They are immoderately fond of cocoa-nut oil for the fame reason; a great quantity of which they not only pour upon their head and fhoulders, but rub the body all over, briskly, with a smaller quantity. And none but those who have seen this practice, can easily conceive how the appearance of the fkin is improved by it. This oil, however, is not to be procured by every one; and the inferior fort of people, doubtlefs, appear lefs fmooth for want of it.

* So at the Caroline Iflands. "Ils font accoutemés a fe baig-"ner trois fois, le jour, le matin, à midi, & fur le foir." Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 314.

CHAP.

389

CHAP. XI.

Employments of the Women, at the Friendly Iflands. —Of the Men. — Agriculture. — Confiruction of their Houfes. — Their working Tools. — Cordage, and fifting Implements. — Mufical Inftruments. — Weapons. — Food, and Cookery. — Amufements. — Marriage. — Mourning Ceremonies for the Dead. —Their Divinities. — Notions about the Soul, and a future State. — Their places of Worfbip. — Government. — Manner of paying Obeifance to the King. — Account of the Royal Family. — Remarks on their Language, and a Specimen of it. — Nautical, and other Obfervations.

THEIR domeftic life is of that middle kind, neither fo laborious as to be difagreeable, nor fo vacant as to fuffer them to degenerate into indolence. Nature has done fo much for their country, that the first can hardly occur, and their disposition feems to be a pretty good bar to the last. By this happy combination of circumstances, their neceffary labour feems to yield, in its turn, to their recreations, in fuch a manner, that the latter are never interrupted by the thoughts of being obliged to recur to the former, till fatiety makes them with for fuch a transition.

The employment of the women is of the easy kind, and, for the most part, such as may be executed in the house. The manufacturing their cloth, is wholly configned to their care. Having already defcribed the procefs, I fhall only add, that they have this cloth of different degrees of finenefs. The coarfer fort, of which they make very large pieces, does not receive the imprefilion of any pattern. Of the finer fort, they have fome that is ftriped, and chequered, and of other patterns differently coloured. But how these colours are laid on, I cannot fay, as I never faw any of this fort made. The cloth, in general, will refift water, for fome time; but that which has the ftrongest glaze will refift longest.

The manufacture next in confequence, and alfo within the department of the women, is that of their mats, which excel every thing I have feen at any other place, both as to their texture and their beauty. In particular, many of them are fo fuperior to those made at Otaheite, that they are not a bad article to carry thither, by way of trade. Of these mats, they have seven or eight different forts, for the purpoles of wearing or fleeping upon; and many are merely ornamental. The laft are chiefly made from the tough, membraneous part of the flock of the plantain tree; those that they wear, from the pandanus, cultivated for that purpose, and never suffered to shoot into a trunk : and the coarfer fort, which they fleep upon, from a plant called evarra. There are many other articles of lefs note, that employ the fpare time of their females; as combs, of which they make vast numbers; and little baskets made of the same fubstance as the mats, and others of the fibrous cocoa-nut hufk, either plain, or interwoven with fmall beads; but all, finished with such neatness and tafte in the disposition of the various parts, that a ftranger cannot help admiring their affiduity and dexterity.

The

The province allotted to the men is, as might be expected, far more laborious and extensive than that of the women. Agriculture, architecture, boat-building, fishing, and other things that relate to navigation, are the objects of their care*. Cultivated roots and fruits being their principal fupport, this requires their conftant attention to agriculture, which they purfue very diligently, and feem to have brought almost to as great perfection as circumftances will permit. The large extent of the plantain fields has been taken notice of already; and the fame may be faid of the yams; thefe two together, being, at leaft, as ten to one, with respect to all the other articles. In planting both thefe, they dig fmall holes for their reception, and, afterward, root up the furrounding grafs, which, in this hot country, is quickly deprived of its vegetating power, and foon rotting, becomes a good manure. The inftruments they use for this purpole, which they call booo, are nothing more than pickets or flakes of different lengths, according to the depth they have to dig. Thefe are flattened and sharpened to an edge at one end: and the largest have a short piece fixed transversely, for preffing it into the ground with the foot. With these, though they are not more than from two to four inches broad, they dig and plant ground of many acres in extent. In planting the plantains and yams, they observe fo much exactness, that, whichever way you look, the rows prefent themfelves regular and complete.

* How remarkably does Captain Cook's account of the employments of the women and men here, agree with Father Cantova's, of the Caroline Iflanders?—" La principale occupation " des hommes, eft de conftruire des barques, de pecher, & de " cultiver la terre. L'affaire des femmes eft de faire la cuifine, " & de mettre en œuvre un efpece de plante fauvage, & un arbre, " —pour en faire de la toile."

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, Tom. xv. p. 313.

392 1577. July.

-14

The cocca-nut and bread-fruit trees are fcattered about, without any order, and feem to give them no trouble, after they have attained a certain height. The fame may be faid of another large tree, which produces great numbers of a large, roundith, compreffed nut, called *eeefee*; and of a fmaller tree, that bears a rounded oval nut, two inches long, with two or three triangular kernels, tough and infipid, called *mabba*, most frequently planted near their houses.

The kappe is, commonly, regularly planted, and in pretty large spots; but the mawhaha is interfperfed amongst other things, as the jeejee and yams are; the last of which, I have frequently feen, in the interfpaces of the plantain trees, at their common diftance. Sugar-cane is commonly in fmall fpots, crowded clofely together; and the mulberry, of which the cloth is made, though without order, has fufficient room allowed for it, and is kept very clean. The only other plant, that. they cultivate for their manufactures, is the pandanus, which is generally planted in a row, close together, at the fides of the other fields; and they confider it as a thing fo diffinct in this flate, that they have a different name for it; which flews, that they are very fenfible of the great changes brought about by cultivation.

It is remarkable, that these people, who, in many things, shew much taste and ingenuity, should shew little of either in building their houses; though the defect is rather in the defign, than in the execution. Those of the lower people are poor huts, fcarcely sufficient to defend them from the weather, and very small. Those of the better fort, are larger and more comfortable; but not what one might expect. The dimensions of one of a middling fize, are about thirty feet long, twenty broad, and twelve high. Their house is, properly speaking,

1777.

ing, a thatched roof or fhed, fupported by pofts and rafters, disposed in a very judicious manner. The floor is raifed with earth fmoothed, and covered with ftrong, thick matting, and kept very The most of them are closed on the weaclean. ther fide (and fome more than two-thirds round). with ftrong mats, or with branches of the cocoanut tree, plaited or woven into each other. Thefe they fix up edgewife, reaching from the eaves to the ground; and thus they answer the purpose of a wall. A thick, ftrong mat, about two and one half or three feet broad, bent into the form of a femicircle, and fet upon its edge, with the ends touching the fide of the houfe, in fhape refembling the fender of a fire hearth, incloses a space for the master and miftrefs of the family to fleep in. The lady, indeed, fpends most of her time, during the day, within it. The reft of the family fleep upon the floor, wherever they please to lie down; the unmarried men and women apart from each other. Or, if the family be large, there are fmall huts adjoining, to which the fervants retire in the night; fo that privacy is as much observed here, as one could expect. They have mats made on purpose for fleeping on; and the clothes that they wear in the day, ferve for their covering in the night. Their whole furniture confifts of a bowl or two, in which they make kava; a few gourds; cocoa nut shells; some fmall wooden ftools, which ferve them for pillows; and, perhaps, a large ftool for the Chief, or Mafter, of the family to fit upon.

The only probable reafon I can affign for their neglect of ornamental architecture, in the conftruction of their houfes, is their being fond of living much in the open air. Indeed, they feem to confider their houfes, within which they feldom eat, as of little use but to fleep in, and to retire to in bad weather. And the lower fort of people, who fpend a great part part of their time in close attendance upon the 1777. Chiefs, can have little use for their own houses, Julybut in the last case.

They make amends for the defects of their houles, by their great attention to, and dexterity in, naval architecture, if I may be allowed to give it that name. But I refer to the narrative of my laft voyage, for an account of their canoes, and their manner of building and navigating them.*

The only tools which they ule, to conftruct thele boats, are hatchets, or rather thick adzes, of a fmooth black ftone that abounds at Toofoa; augres, made of fhark's teeth, fixed on fmall handles; and rafps, of a rough fkin of a fifh, faftened on flat pieces of wood, thinner on one fide, which alfo have handles. The labour and time employed in finifhing their canoes, which are the most perfect of their mechanical productions, will account for their being very careful of them. For they are built and preferved under fheds; or they cover the decked part of them with cocoa-leaves, when they are hauled on fhore, to prevent their being hurt by the fun.

The fame tools are all they have for other works; if we except different fhells, which they use as knives. But there are few of their productions that require these, unless it be some of their weapons; the other articles being chiefly their fishing materials, and cordage.

The cordage is made from the fibres of the cocoa-nut huk, which, though not more than nine or ten inches long, they plait, about the fize of a quill, or lefs, to any length that they

please,

^{*} Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 215, 216. The reader, by comparing that account, with what Cantova fays of the fea-boats of the Caroline Iflands, will find, in this inflance, alfo, the greateft fimilarity. See Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, p. 286.

pleafe, and roll it up in balls; from which the larger ropes are made, by twifting feveral of thefe together. The lines, that they fifh with, are as ftrong and even as the beft cord we make, refembling it almost in every respect. The other fishing implements, are large and finall hooks. The laft are composed entirely of pearl-shell; but the first are only covered with it on the back; and the points of both, commonly, of tortoife-fhell; those of the fmall being plain, and the others barbed. With the large ones, they catch bonnetos and albicores, by putting them to a bamboo rod, twelve or fourteen feet long, with a line of the fame length. which refts in a notch of a piece of wood, fixed in the ftern of the canoe for that purpole, and is dragged on the furface of the fea, as the rows along, without any other bait than a tuft of flaxy fuff near the point. They have also great numbers of pretty imall feines, fome of which are of a very delicate texture. These they use to catch fifh with, in the holes on the reefs, when the tide ebbs.

The other manual employments, confift chiefly in making mufical reeds, flutes, warlike weapons, and ftools, or rather pillows, to fleep on. The reeds have eight, nine, or ten pieces placed parallel to each other, but not in any regular progreflion; having the longeft, fometimes, in the middle, and feveral of the fame length; fo that I have feen none with more than fix notes; and they feem incapable of playing any mufic on them, that is diffinguishable by our ears. The flutes are a joint of bamboo, close at both ends, with a hole near each, and four others; two of which, and one of the first only, are used in playing. They apply the thumb of the left hand, to close the т left

396

left nostril, and blow into the hole at one end, with the other. The middle finger of the left hand is applied to the first hole on the left, and the fore finger of the right, to the loweft hole on that fide. In this manner, though the notes are only three, they produce a pleafing, yet fimple, mulic, which they vary much more than one would think poffible, with fo imperfect an inftrument. Their being accuftomed to a mulic which confifts of fo few notes, is, perhaps, the reason why they do not feem to relifh any of ours, which is fo complex. But they can tafte what is more deficient than their own; for, we observed, that they used to be well pleafed with hearing the chant of our two young New Zealanders, which confifted rather in mere ftrength, than in melody of expression.

The weapons, which they make, are clubs of different forts (in the ornamenting of which they fpend much time), fpears, and darts. They have alfo bows and arrows; but thefe feemed to be defigned only for amusement, such as shooting at birds, and not for military purposes. The stools are about two feet long, but only four or five inches high, and near four broad, bending downward in the middle, with four ftrong legs, and circular feet; the whole made of one piece of black or brown wood, neatly polifhed, and fometimes inlaid with bits of ivory. They also inlay the handles of flyflaps with ivory, after being neatly carved; and they shape bones into small figures of men, birds, and other things, which must be very difficult, as their carving influment is only a fhark's tooth.

Yams, plantains, and cocoa-nuts, compole the greateft part of their vegetable diet. Of their animal food, the chief articles are hogs, fowls, fifh, and all forts of fhell-fifh; but the lower people eat rats. The two first vegetable articles, with 397

with bread-fruit, are, what may be called, the balis of their food, at different times of the year, with fifh and fhell-fifh; for hogs, fowls, and turtle, feem only to be occafional dainties, referved The intervals between the feafor their Chiefs. fons of these vegetable productions must be, fometimes, confiderable, as they prepare a fort of artificial bread from plantains, which they put under ground before ripe, and fuffer them to remain, till they ferment, when they are taken out, and made up into fmall balls; but fo four and indifferent, that they often faid our bread was preferable, though fomewhat mufty.

Their food is, generally, dreffed by baking, in the fame manner as at Otaheite; and they have the art of making, from different kinds of fruit, feveral diffies, which most of us effected very good. I never faw them make use of any kind of fauce; nor drink any thing at their meals but water, or the juice of the cocoa-nut; for the kava is only their morning draught. I cannot fay, that they are cleanly either in their cookery, or manner of eating. The generality of them will lay their victuals upon the first leaf they meet with, however dirty it may be; but when food is ferved up to the Chiefs, it is, commonly, laid upon green plantain leaves. When the king made a meal, he was, for the most part attended upon by three or four perfons. One cut large pieces of the joint, or of the fifh; another divided it into mouthfuls; and others flood by with cocoa-nuts, and whatever else he might want. I never faw a large company fit down to what we fhould call a fociable meal, by eating from the fame difh. The food, be what it will, is always divided into portions, each to ferve a certain number; these portions are again subdivided; fo that one feldom fees above two or three perfons eating together. The women are not ex-2 cluded

39**8**

cluded from eating with the men; but there are 1777. certain rank's or orders amongst them, that can July. neither eat nor drink together. This diffinction begins with the king; but where it ends, I cannot fay.

They feem to have no fet time for meals: though it should be observed, that, during our stay amongst them, their domestic æconomy was much diffurbed by their conftant attention to us. As far as we could remark, those of the superior rank, only drink kava in the forenoon, and the others eat, perhaps, a bit of yam; but we commonly faw all of them eat fomething in the afternoon. It is probable that the practice of making a meal in the night is pretty common, and their reft being thus interrupted, they frequently fleep in the day. They go to bed as foon as it is dark, and rife with the dawn in the morning *.

They are very fond of affociating together; fo that it is common to find feveral houfes empty, and the owners of them convened in fome other one, or, rather, upon a convenient fpot in the neighbourhood, where they recreate themfelves by converfing, and other amulements. Their private diversions are chiefly finging, dancing, and mulic performed by the women. When two or three women fing in concert, and fnap their fingers, it is called oobai; but when there is a greater number they divide into feveral parties, each of which fings on a different key, which makes a very agreeable mufic, and is called beeva or baiva. In the fame manner, they vary the mufic of their flutes, by playing on those of a different fize; but their dancing is much the fame as when they perform publickly. The dancing of the men (if it is to be

called

^{*} Cantova fays of his islanders, " Ils prennent leur repos des " que le soleil est couche, & ils se levent avec l'aurore." Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, Tom. xv. p. 314.

called dancing), although it does not confift much in moving the feet, as we do, has a thouland different motions with the hands, to which we are entire ftrangers; and they are performed with an eafe and grace which are not to be defcribed, nor even conceived, but by those who have seen them. But I need add nothing to what has been already faid on this subject, in the account of the incidents that happened during our ftay at the islands *.

Whether their marriages be made lafting by any kind of folemn contract, we could not determine with precifion; but it is certain, that the bulk of

* If, to the copious defcriptions that occur in the preceding pages, of the particular entertainments exhibited in Hapaee and Tongataboo, we add the general view of the ufual amufements of the inhabitants of thele iflands, contained in this paragraph, and compare it with the quotation from the Jefuit's Letters, in a former note (p. 255.), we fhall be ftill more forcibly fluctk with the reafonablenefs of tracing fuch fingularly refembling cuftoms to one common fource. The argument, in confirmation of this, drawn from identity of language, has been already illutirated, by observing the remarkable coincidence of the name, by which the Chiefs at the Caroline Iflands, and thofe at Hamao, one of the Friendly ones, are diffinguifhed. But the argument does not reft on a fingle inflance, though that happens to be a very firiking one. Another of the very few fpecimens of the dialect of the North Pacific Iflanders, preferved by father Cantova, furnifhes an additional proof. Immediately after the palfage above referred to, he proceeds thus: " Ce divertiffement s'appelle, en " leur langue, *tanger ifaifil*, qui veut dire, la plainte des fem-" mes." Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 315. Now it is very remarkable, that we learn from Mr. Anderfon's collection of words, which will appear in this chapter, that *la plainte des femmes*, or, in Englifh, *the mournful fong of the waamen*, which the inhabitants of the Caroline Iflands exprefs in their langue *tanger ifaifil*, would, by thofe of Tongatahoo, be exprefied *tangee vefaine*. If any one fhould ttill doubt, in fpite of this evidence, it may

If any one inould full doubt, in fpite of this evidence, it may be recommended to his confideration, that long feparation, and other caufes, have introduced greater variations in the mode of pronouncing thefe two words, at places confelfedly inhabited by the fame race, than fubfif in the fpecimen juff given. It appears, from Mr. Andersfen's vocabulary, printed in Captain Cook's fecond voyage, that what is pronounced *tangee* at the Friendly Ilands, is *tace* at Otaheite; and the *vefaine* of the former, is the *vuaheine* of the latter.

400

the

the people fatisfied themfelves with one wife. The Chiefs, however, have commonly, feveral women *; though fome of us were of opinion, that there was only one that was looked upon as the mistress of the family.

As female chaftity, at first light, seemed to be held in no great effimation, we expected to have found frequent breaches of their conjugal fidelity; but we did them great injuffice. I do not know that a fingle inflance happened during our whole ftay +. Neither are those of the better fort, that are unmarried, more free of their favours. It is true, there was no want of those of a different character; and, perhaps, fuch are more frequently met with here, in proportion to the number of people, than in many other countries. But it appeared to me, that the most, if not all of them, were of the loweft clafs; and fuch of them as permitted familiarities to our people, were profitutes by profession.

Nothing can be a greater proof of the humanity of these people, than the concern they shew for the To use a common expression, their dead <u>t</u>. mourning is not in words but deeds. For, befides the tonge mentioned before, and burnt circles and fcars, they beat the teeth with stones, strike a fhark's tooth into the head until the blood flows in ftreams, and truft fpears into the inner part of the thigh, into their fides below the arm pits.

* Cantova fays of his Caroline islanders, " La pluralité des " femmes est non seulement permise à tous ces infulaires, elle " est encore une marque d'honneur & de distinction. Le Tamole " de l'isle d'Huogoleu en a neuf."

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieufes, Tom. xv. p. 310. + At the Caroline Iflands, "Ils ont horreur de l'adultere, " comme d'une grand péché." Ibid. Tom. xv. p. 310. ‡ How the inhabitants of the Caroline Iflands express their ting on the curieur mark form third.

grief on fuch occasions, may be seen, Ibid. Tom, xv. p. 308.

Dd Vol. I.

and

1777.

July.

and through the cheeks into the mouth. All thefe operations convey an idea of fuch rigorous difcipline, as must require either an uncommon degree of affection, or the groffeft superfition, to exact. I will not fay, that the last has no share in it; for, fometimes, it is fo universal, that many could not. have any knowledge of the perfon for whom the concern is expressed. Thus we faw the people of Tongataboo mourning the death of a Chief at Vavaoo; and other fimilar inftances occurred during our ftay. It fhould be observed, however, that the more painful operations are only practifed on account of the death of those most nearly connected with the mourners. When a perfon dies, he is buried, after being wrapped up in mats and cloth, much after our manner. The Chiefs feem to have the fiatookas appropriated to them as their burial-places; but the common people are interred in no particular fpot *. What part of the mourning ceremony follows, immediately after, is uncertain; but, that there is fomething befides the general one, which is continued for a confiderable length of time, we could infer, from being informed, that the funeral of Mareewagee's wife, as mentioned before, was to be attended with ceremonies that were to last five days; and in which all the principal people were to commemorate her.

Their long and general mourning, proves that they confider death as a very great evil. And this is confirmed by a very odd cuftom which they

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, Tom. xv. p. 308, 309. practife

^{*} Cantova's account of the practice of the Caroline Iflands is as follows: "Lorfqu'il meurt quelque perfonne d'un rang diftin-"gu, ou qui leur eft chere par d'autres eadroits, fes obleques "fe font avec pompe. Il y en a qui renferment le corps du "défunct dans un petit edifice de pierre, qu'ils gardent au-dedans "de leur maifons. D'autres les enterrent loin de leurs habita-"tions."

practife to avert it. When I first visited these Islands, during my last voyage, I observed that, many of the inhabitants had one or both of their little fingers cut off; and we could not then receive any fatisfactory account of the reason of this mutilation *. But we now learned, that this operation is performed when they labour under fome grievous disease, and think themselves in danger of dying. They suppose, that the Deity will accept of the little finger, as a fort of facrifice efficacious enough to procure the recovery of their They cut it off with one of their ftone health. hatchets. There was fcarcely one in ten of them whom we did not find thus mutilated, in one or both hands; which has a difagreeable effect, efpecially as they fometimes cut fo clofe, that they encroach upon the bone of the hand which joins to the amputated finger +.

From the rigid feverity with which fome of thefe mourning and religious ceremonies are executed, one would expect to find, that they meant thereby to fecure to themfelves felicity beyond the grave; but their principal object relates to things merely temporal. For they feem to have little conception of future punifhment for faults committed in this life. They believe, however, that they are justly punished upon earth; and, confequently, use every method to render their divinities propitious. The Supreme Author of most things they call Kallafootonga; who, they fay, is a female, reliding in the fky, and directing the thunder, wind, rain; and, in general, all the changes of weather. They

* See Cook's Voyage, Vol. i. p. 222.

D d 2

believe.

493

1777.

July.

⁺ It may be proper to mention here, on the authority of Cap-tain King, that it is common for the inferior people to cut off a joint of their little finger, on account of the fickness of the Chiefs to whom they belong.

believe, that when the is angry with them, the productions of the earth are blafted; that many things are deftroyed by lightning; and that they themselves are afflicted with fickness and death, as well as their hogs and other animals. When this anger abates, they suppose that every thing is reftored to its natural order; and it fhould feem, that they have a great reliance on the efficacy of their endeavours to appeale their offended divinity. They also admit a plurality of deities, though all inferior to Kallafootonga. Amongst them, they mention Toofooa-boolootoo, God of the clouds and fog; Talletchoo, and fome others, reliding in the heavens. The first in rank and power, who has the government of the fea and its productions, is called Futtafaibe, or as it was sometimes pronounced, Footafooa; who, they fay, is a male, and has for his wife Fykava kajeea : and here, as in heaven, there are feveral inferior potentates, fuch as Vahaa fonooa, Tareeava, Mattaba, Evaroo, and others. The fame religious fyftem, however, does not extend all over the clufter of the Friendly Ifles; for the fupreme God of Hapaee, for inftance, is called Alo Alo; and other illes have two or three, of different names. But their notions of the power, and other attributes of these beings, are so very abfurd, that they suppose they have no farther concern with them after death.

They have, however, very proper fentiments about the immateriality and the immortality of the foul. They call it life, the living principle, or, what is more agreeable to their notions of it, an Otooa; that is, a divinity, or invifible being. They fay, that, immediately upon death, the fouls of their Chiefs feparate from their bodies, and go to a place called Boolootoo; the Chief, or god, of which, is Goolebo. This Goolebo feems to be a perfonification of death; for they uled to fay to us, "You, " and

" and the men of Feejee (by this junction, mean-" ing to pay a compliment, expressive of their, July. " confession of our superiority over themselves), " are also subject to the power and dominion of " Goolebo" His country, the general receptacle of the dead, according to their mythology, was never feen by any perfon; and yet, it feems, they know that it lies to the Weftward of Fejee; and that they who are once transported thither, live for ever; or, to use their own expression, are not subject to death again; but feast upon all the favourite products of their own country, with which this everlafting abode is supposed to abound. As to the fouls of the lower fort of people, they undergo a fort of transmigration; or, as they fay, are eat up by a bird called *loata*, which walks upon their graves for that purpole.

I think I may venture to affert, that they do not worthip any thing that is the work of their own hands, or any vilible part of the creation. They do not make offerings of hogs, dogs, and fruit, as at Otaheite, unlefs it be emblematically; for their morais were perfectly free from every thing of the kind. But that they offer real human factifices, is, with me, beyond a doubt. Their morais, or fiatookas (for they are called by both names, but moftly by the latter), are, as at Otaheite, and many other parts of the world, burying grounds, and places of worfhip; though fome of them feemed to be only appropriated to the first purpole; but thefe were fmall, and, in every other respect, inferior to the others.

Of the nature of their government, we know no more than the general outline. A fubordination is eftablifhed among them, that refembles . the feudal fyftem of our progenitors in Europe. But of its fubdivitions, of the conftituent parts, and 1777-July. and in what manner they are connected, fo as to form a body politic, I confess myself totally ignorant. Some of them told us, that the power of the king is unlimited, and that the life and property of the subject is at his disposal. But the few circumftances that fell under our observation, rather contradicted than confirmed the idea of a defpotic government. Mareswagee, old Tooboo, and Feenou, acted each like petty fovereigns, and frequently thwarted the measures of the king; of which he often complained. Neither was his court more splendid than those of the two first, who are the most powerful Chiefs in the islands; and, next to them, Feenou, Mareewagee's fon, feemed to ftand higheft in authority. But, however independent on the defpotic power of the king the great men may be, we faw inftances enough to prove, that the lower order of people have no property, nor fafety for their perfons, but at the will of the Chiefs to whom they respectively belong.

Tongataboo is divided into many diffricts; of above thirty of which we learned the names. Each of these has its particular Chief, who decides differences, and diffributes justice within his own diftrict. But we could not form any fatisfactory judgment about the extent of their power in general, or their mode of proportioning punifhments to crimes. Most of these Chiefs have possessions in other iflands, from whence they draw supplies. At least, we know this is fo with respect to the king, who, at certain eftablished times, receives the product of his diftant domains at Tongataboo; which is not only the principal place of his refidence, but, feemingly, of all the people of confequence amongst these isles. Its inhabitants, in common conversation, call it the Land of Chiefs; while the fubordinate ifles are diffinguished by the appellation of Lands of Servants.

Thefe

These Chiefs are, by the people, ftyled not only Lords of the Earth, but of the Sun and Sky; and the king's family affume the name of Futtafaihe, from the God so called, who is probably their tutelary patron, and perhaps their common ancestor. The sovereign's peculiar earthly title is, however, fimply *Tooee Tonga*.

There is a decorum observed in the presence of their principal men, and particularly of their king, that is truly admirable. Whenever he fits down, whether it be in an house, or without, all the attendants feat themfelves, at the fame time, in a femicircle before him , leaving always a convenient space between him and them, into which no one attempts to come, unlefs he has fome particular bufinefs. Neither is any one allowed to país, or fit, behind him, nor even near him, without his order or permiffion; fo that our having been indulged with this privilege, was a fignificant proof of the great respect that was paid us. When any one wants to fpeak with the king, he advances and fits down before him; delivers what he has to fay in a few words; and, having received his answer, retires again to the circle. But if the king speaks to any one, that perfon answers from his feat, unlefs he is to receive fome order; in which cafe he gets up from his place, and fits down before the Chief with his legs across; which is a posture to which they are fo much accuftomed, that any other mode of fitting is difagreeable to them *. To fpeak to the king ftanding, would be accounted here as a ftriking mark of rudeness, as it would be, with us, for one to fit down and put on his hat, when he addreffes himfelf to his fuperior, and that superior on his feet, and uncovered.

407 1777. July.

lt

^{*} This is peculiar to the men; the women always fitting with both legs thrown a little on one fide. We owe this remark to Captain King.

It does not, indeed, appear, that any of the most civilized nations, have ever exceeded this people, in the great order observed, on all occasions; in ready compliance with the commands of their Chiefs; and in the harmony that fublifts throughout all ranks, and unites them, as if they were all one man, informed with, and directed by, the fame principle. Such a behaviour is remarkably obvious, whenever it is requifite that their Chief should harangue any body of them collected together, which is frequently done. The most profound filence and attention is observed during the harangue, even to a much greater degree than is practifed amongst us, on the most interesting and ferious deliberations of our most respectable assemblies. And, whatever might have been the fubject of the speech delivered, we never faw an infance, when any individual prefent, shewed figns of his being displeased, or that indicated the least inclination to difpute the declared will of a perfon who had a right to command. Nay, fuch is the force of thefe verbal laws, as I may call them, that I have feen one of their Chiefs express his being aftonished, at a person's having acted contrary to fuch orders; though it appeared, that the poor man could not possibly have been informed, in time, to have observed them *.

Though fome of the more potent Chiefs may vie with the king in point of actual poffefions, they fall very fhort in rank, and in certain marks of refpect, which the collective body have agreed to pay the monarch. It is a particular privilege annexed to his fovereignty, not to be punctured, nor cir-

Lettres Edifiantes & Curieuses, Tom. xv. p. 312. Cumcifed.

^{*} Cantova gives us the fame account of the profound fubmiffon of the Caroline Islanders, to the orders of the Tamole, "Ils resolvent fes ordres avec le plus profond respect. Ses paroles font autant d'oracles, qu'on revere."

cumcifed, as all his fubjects are. Whenever he 1777. walks out, every one whom he meets must fit down till he has paffed. No one is allowed to be over his head; on the contrary, all must come under his feet; for there cannot be a greater outward mark of fubmillion, than that which is paid to the fovereign, and other great people of these islands, by their inferiors. The method is this; the perion who is to pay obeifance, fquats down before the Chief, and bows the head to the fole of his foot; which, when he fits, is fo placed, that it can be eafily come at; and, having tapped, or touched it with the under and upper fide of the fingers of both hands, he raifes up, and retires. It fhould feem, that the king cannot refuse any one who chooses to pay him this homage, which is called moe moea; for the common people would frequently take it into their heads to do it when he was walking: and he was always obliged to ftop, and hold up one of his feet behind him, till they had performed the ceremony. This, to a heavy unwieldly man, like Poulaho, must be attended with fome trouble and pain; and I have, fometimes, feen him make a run, though very unable, to get out of the way, or to reach a place where he might conveniently fit The hands, after this application of them down. to the Chief's feet; are, in fome cafes, rendered useless for a time; for, until they be washed, they muft not touch any kind of food. This interdiction, in a country where water is fo fcarce, would feem to be attended with fome inconvenience; but they are never at a loss for a succedaneum; and a piece of any juicy plant, which they can eafily procure immediately, being rubbed upon them, this ferves for the purpole of purification, as well as washing them with water. When the hands are in this state, they call it taboo rema. Taboo, in

in general, fignifies forbidden; and *rema* is their word for hand.

When the taboo is incurred, by paying obeifance to a great perfonage, it is thus eafilm walhed off. But, in fome other cafes, it must necessarily continue for a certain time. We have frequently feen women, who have been taboo rema, fed by others. At the expiration of the time, the interdicted perfon washes herfelf in one of their baths, which are dirty holes, for the most part, of brackish water. She then waits upon the king, and, after making her obeifance in the ufual way, lays hold of his foot, and applies it to her breaft, shoulders, and other parts of her body. He then embraces her on each fhoulder; after which the retires, purified from her uncleannefs. I do not know, that it is always necellary to come to the king for this purpole; though Omai affured me it was. If this be fo, it may be one reason why he is, for the most part, travelling from ifland to ifland. I faw this ceremony performed, by him, two or three times, and once by Feenou, to one of his own women; but as Omai was not then with me, I could not alk the occafion.

Taboo, as I have before observed, is a word of an extensive fignification. Human facrifices are called tangata taboo; and when any thing is forbidden to be eat, or made use of, they say, that it is They tell us, that, if the king fhould haptáboo. pen to go into a house belonging to a subject, that house would be taboo, and could never more be inhabited by the owner; fo that, wherever he travels, there are particular houses for his reception. Old Toobou, at this time, prefided over the taboo; that is, if Omai comprehended the matter rightly, he and his deputies inspected all the produce of the island; taking care that every man should cultivate

tivate and plant his quota; and ordering what fhould be eat, and what not. By this wife regulation, they effectually guard against a famine; a fufficient quantity of ground is employed in raising provisions; and every article, thus raised, is fecured from unneceffary waste.

By another prudent regulation, in their Government, they have an officer over the police; or fomething like it. This department, when we were amongst them, was administered by Feenou; whole businels, we were told, it was, to punish all offenders, whether against the state, or against individuals. He was also Generalistimo, and commanded the warriors, when called out upon fervice; but, by all accounts, this is very feldom. The king, frequently, took fome pains to inform us of Feenou's office, and, among other things, told us, that if he himfelf fhould become a bad man, Feenou would kill him. What I underflood, by this expression of being a bad man, was, that, if he did not govern according to law, or cuftom, Feenou would be ordered, by the other great men, or by the people at large, to put him to death. There fhould feem to be no doubt, that a Sovereign, thus liable to be controuled, and punifhed for an abule of power, cannot be called a defpotic monarch.

When we confider the number of islands that compose this little flate, and the diffance at which some of them lie from the feat of government, attempts to throw off the yoke, and to acquire independency, it should feem, might be apprehended. But they tell us, that this never happens. One reason why they are not thus diffurbed, by domeftic quarrels, may be this: That all the powerful Chiefs, as we have already mentioned, refide at Tongataboo. They also fecure the dependence of the other islands, by the celerity of their operations; for if, at any time, a troublefome and popular man

man fhould ftart up, in any of them, Feenou, or whoever holds his office, is immediately difpatched thither to kill him. By this means, they crufh a rebellion in its very infancy.

The orders, or claffes, amongst their Chiefs, or those who call themselves such, seemed to be almost as numerous as amongst us; but there are few, in comparison, that are lords of large districts of territory; the reft holding their lands under those principal barons, as they may be called. I was, indeed, told, that when a man of property dies, every thing he leaves behind him falls to the king; but that it is usual to give it to the eldest fon of the deceased, with an obligation to make a provifion, out of it, for the reft of the children. It is not the cuftom here, as at Otaheite, for the fon, the moment he is born, to take from the father the homage and title; but he fucceeds to them, at his decease; so that their form of government is not only monarchical, but hereditary.

The order of fuccession to the crown, has not been of late interrupted; for we know, from a particular circumftance, that the Futtafaihes (Poulaho being only an addition, to diftinguish the king from the reft of his family) have reigned, in a direct line, for at leaft, one hundred and thirty-five Upon inquiring, whether any account had years. been preferved amongst them, of the arrival of Talman's ships, we found, that this history had been handed down to them, from their anceftors, with an accuracy which marks, that oral tradition may fometimes be depended upon. For they defcribed the two fhips, as refembling ours; mentioning the place where they had anchored; their having flaid but a few days; and their moving from that flation to Annamooka. And, by way of informing us how long ago this had happened, they told us the name

name of the Futtafaihe who was then king, and of those who had succeeded, down to Poulaho, who is the fifth fince that period; the first being an old man, at the time of the arrival of the ships.

From what has been faid of the prefent king, it would be natural to fuppole, that he had the higheft rank of any perfon in the islands. But, to our great furprife, we found it is not fo; for Latoolibooloo, the perfon who was pointed out to me as king, when I first visited Tongataboo, and three women, are, in fome refpects, fuperior to Poulaho himfelf. On our inquiring, who these extraordinary perfonages were, whom they diftinguish by the name and title of Tammaha*? we were told, that the late king, Poulaho's father, had a fifter of equal rank, and elder than himfelf; that fhe, by a man who came from the illand of Feejee, had a fon and two daughters; and that these three persons, as well as their mother, rank above Futtafaihe the king. We endeavoured, in vain, to trace the reafon of this fingular pre-eminence of the Tammahas; for we could learn nothing befides this account of their pedigree. The mother, and one of the daughters, called Tooeela-kaipa, live at Vavaoo, Latoolibooloo, the fon, and the other daughter, whofe name is Moungoula-kaipa, refide at Tonga-The latter, is the woman who is mentioned taboo. to have dined with me on the 21st of June. This gave occafion to our difcovering her fuperiority over the king, who would not eat in her prefence, though the made no fcruple to do fo before him, and received from him the cuftomary obeifance, by touching her foot. We never had an oppor-

tunity

1777.

July.

^{*} The reader need not be reminded that *Tamoloa*, which fignifies a Chief, in the dialect of Hamao, and *Tammaha*, become the fame word, by the change of a fingle letter, the articulation of which is not very firongly marked.

1777-July. tunity of feeing him pay this mark of respect to Latoolibooloo; but we have observed him leave off eating, and have his victuals put afide, when the latter came into the fame houfe. Latoolibooloo affumed the privilege of taking any thing from the people, even if it belonged to the king; and yet, in the ceremony called Natche, he affifted only in the fame manner as the other principal men. He was looked upon, by his countrymen, as a madman; and many of his actions feemed to confirm this judgment. At Eooa, they shewed me a good deal of land, faid to belong to him; and I faw there a fon of his, a child, whom they diffinguished by the same title as his father. The son of the greateft Prince in Europe could not be more humoured and careffed than this little Tammaha was.

The language of the Friendly Iflands, has the greateft affinity imaginable to that of New Zealand, of Wateeoo, and Mangeea; and, confequently, to that of Otaheite, and the Society Iflands. There are alfo many of their words the fame with those used by the natives of Coccos Ifland, as appears from the vocabulary collected there by Le Maire and Schouten *. The mode of pronunciation differs, indeed, confiderably, in many inftances, from that both of New Zealand, and

* See this vocabulary, at the end of Vol. ii. of Dalrymple's Collection of Voyages. And yet, though Tafman's people ufed the words of this vocabulary, in fpeaking to the natives of Tongataboo (hie Amfterdam), we are told, in the accounts of his veyage, that they did not underfland one another. A circumflance worth obferving, as it flews how cautious we fhould be, upon the fcanty evidence afforded by fuch transfent vifits as Tafman's, and, indeed, as thofe of moft of the fubfequent navigators of the Pacific Ocean, to found any argument about the affinity, or one, now, will venture to fay, that a Cocos man, and one of Tongataboo, could not underfland each other. Some of the words of Horn Ifland, another of Schouten's diffeoveries, allo belong to the dialect of Tongataboo. See Dalrymple, as above.

Otaheite;

Otaheite; but, ftill, a great number of words are either exactly the fame, or fo little changed, that . July. their common original may be fatisfactorily traced. The language, as fpoken at the Friendly Iflands, is fufficiently copious, for all the ideas of the people: and we had many proofs of its being eafily adapted to all mufical purposes, both in fong and in recitative; befides being harmonious enough in common conversation. Its component parts, as far as our feanty acquaintance with it enabled us to judge. are not numerous; and, in fome of its rules, it agrees with other known languages. As, for inftance, we could eafily difcern the feveral degrees of comparison, as used in the Latin; but none of the inflections of nouns and verbs.

We were able to collect feveral hundreds of the words; and, amongst these, are terms that express numbers as far as a hundred thousand; beyond which they never would reckon. It is probable, indeed, that they are not able to go farther; for, after having got thus far, we observed, that they commonly used a word which expresses an indefinite number. A fhort fpecimen, felected from the larger vocabulary, is here inferted, with the corresponding words, of the same fignification, as ufed at Otaheite, on the oppofite column; which, while it will give, as we may fay, ocular demonstration of their being dialects of the fame language, will, at the fame time, point out the particular letters, by the infertion, omiflion, or alteration of which, the variations of the two dialects, from each other, have been effected.

It must be observed, however, that our vocabutaries, of this fort, must neceffarily be liable to great mistakes. The ideas of those, from whom we were to learn the words, were so different from ours, that it was difficult to fix them to the object of

of inquiry. Or, if this could be obtained, to 1777learn an unknown tongue, from an inftructor who July. did not know a fingle word of any language that his scholar was conversant with, could not promife to produce much. But even, when these difficulties were furmounted, there still remained a fruitful source of mistake. I mean, inaccuracy in catching, exactly, the true found of a word, to which our ears had never been accuftomed, from perfons whole mode of pronunciation was, in general, fo indiffinct, that it feldom happened that any two of us, in writing down the fame word, from the fame mouth, made use of the same vowels, in re-Nay, we even, very commonly. prefenting it. differed about confonants, the founds of which are least liable to ambiguity. Befides all this, we found, by experience, that we had been led into ftrange corruptions of fome of the moft common words, either from the natives endeavouring to imitate us, or from our having milunderflood them. Thus, cheeto was univerfally used by us, to express a thief, though totally different from the real word, in the language of Tongataboo. The miftake arole from a prior one, into which we had run, when at New Zealand. For though the word that fignifies thief there, be abfolutely the fame that belongs to the dialect of the Friendly Islands (being kaeebaa at both places), yet, by fome blunder, we had used the word teete, first at New Zealand, and, afterward, at Tongataboo. on our arrival there. The natives, endeavouring to imitate us, as nearly as they could, and to fabricating the word cheeto, this, by a complication of miftakes, was adopted by us as their own. All poffible care has been taken to make the following table as correct as possible :

Englifh.

THE PACIFIC OCEAN.

English.

Friendly Islands. Otabeite.

	-
1777.	
July.	
July.	
	-

6 97	— .		July.
The sun,	Elaa,	Eraa.	~
Fire,	Eafoi,	Eahoi.	
Thunder,	Fatoore,	Pateere.	
Rain,	Ooha,	Eooa.	
The wind,	Matangee,	Matace.	
Warm,	Mafanna,	Mahanna.	
The clouds,	Ao,	Eao.	
Land,	Fonooa,	Fenooa.	
Water,	Avy,	Evy.	
Sleep,	Mohe,	Moe.	
A man,	Tangata,	Taata.	
A woman,	Vefaine,	Waheine.	
A young girl,	Taheine,	Toonea.	
A servant, or per-			
fon of mean rank,	Tooa,	Toutou, ar teou.	
The dawn, or	1		
day-break,	Aho,	Aou.	
The hair,	Fooroo,	Eroroo.	
The tongue,	Elelo, -	Erero.	
The ear,	Tareenga,	Tareea.	
The beard,	Koomoo,	Ooma.	
The sea,	Tahee,	Taee.	
A boat, or canoe,	Wakka,	Evaa.	
Black,	Oole,	Ere.	
Red,	Goola,	Oora, oora.	
A lance, or spear,		Tao.	
A parent,	Motooa,	Madooa.	
What is that?	Kohaeea?	Yahaeea ?	
To bold fast,	Amou,	Mou.	
Towipe, or clean }	Horo,	Horoee.	
any thing, S	Etoo,	Atoo.	
To rife up,		Taee.	
Tocry, or fhed tears	, I anget,	THAAL	
	E .	English	

Vol. I. E e

English.

1777. July.	English.	Friendly Islands.	Otabeite.
	To eat, or chew,	, Eky, Ai,	Ey. Ai.
	Yes, No,	Kaee,	Ace.
	You, I,	Koe, Ou,	Oe. Wou.
	Ten,	Ongofoorco,	Ahooroo.

Having now concluded my remarks on these islands and people, I shall take my final leave of them, after giving some account of the astronomical and nautical observations that were made during our stay.

And, firft, I must take notice, that the difference of longitude, between Annamooka and Tongataboo, is fomewhat lefs than was marked in the chart and narrative of my last voyage. This error might easily arife, as the longitude of each was then found without any connection with the other. But, now, the distance between them is determined to a degree of precision, that excludes all possibility of mistake; which the following table will illustrate:

The latitude of the obfervatory at Tongataboo, by the mean of feveral obfervations, - - 21° 8' 19" South. The longitude, by the mean of one hundred and thirty-one fets of lunar obfervations, amounting to above a thoufand obferved diftances, between the moon, fun, and ftars, - 184 55 18 Eaft. The

The difference of longi- tude, made by the time-keeper, between		
the change of former		
the above observatory,		
and that at Annamoo-		
	16'	o´´
Hence, the longitude of		
Annamooka is 185	11	18 East.
By the time-keeper it is,		
Greenwich rate, - 186	I 2	27
New Zealand rate, - 184	37	ò
Its latitude 20	15	0

N. B. The observatory at Tongataboo was near the middle of the North fide of the island; and that at Annamooka, on its West fide; but the chart will elucidate this.

The time-keeper was too flow for mean time at Greenwich, on the first of July at noon, by $12^{h} 34^{m} 33^{\circ},2$; and her daily rate, at that time, was losing, on mean time, $1^{m},783$ per day. This rate will now be used for finding the longitude by the time-keeper; and $184^{\circ} 55' 18''$, or $12^{h} 19^{m}$ $41^{\circ},2$, will be taken as the true longitude of Tongataboo, East from Greenwich.

By the mean of feveral observations, the South end of the needle was found to dip

Lefooga, one of the Hapaee

At	islands, 36° 55
(Tongataboo, $ 39 1\frac{1}{2}$.
The	e variation of the compais was found to be
	Annamooka, on board, -8° 30' $3^{\frac{1}{2}}$ Eaft.
	Anchor off Kotoo, between $8 12 29^{\frac{1}{2}}$ Annamooka and Hapaee, $8 12 29^{\frac{1}{2}}$
At.	Anchor off Lefooga 10 11 49
	Anchor off Lefooga, - 10 11 40 Tongataboo, on board, - 9 44 $5\frac{1}{2}$
	Ditto, on fhore, $-$ - 10 12 58
	Ee2 I can

I can affign no reafon why the variation is to much lefs at, and near, Annamooka, than at either of the other two places. I can only fay, that there is no fault in the obfervations; and that the variation ought to be more at Annamooka than the above, as it has been found to be fo to the Northward, Southward, Eaftward, and Weftward of it. But difagreements in the variation, greater than this, even in the fame needle, have been often obferved. And I fhould not have taken notice of this inftance, but from a belief that the caufe, whatever it is, exifts in the place, and not in the needles; for Mr. Bayly found the fame, or rather more difference.

The tides are more confiderable at these islands, than at any other of my discoveries in this ocean, that lie within the tropics. At Annamooka it is high water, on the full and change days, nearly at. fix o'clock; and the tide rifes and falls there, upon a perpendicular, about fix feet. In the harbour of Tongataboo, it is high water, on the full and change days, at fifty minutes paft fix. The tide rifes and falls, on those days, four feet nine inches; and three feet fix inches at the Quadratures. In the channels between the iflands, which lie in this harbour, it flows near tide and half tide; that is, the flood continues to run up near three hours, after it is high water by the fhore; and the ebb continues to run down, after it is flood by the fhore. It is only in these channels, and in a few other places near the fhores, that the motion of the water or tide is perceivable; fo that I can only guess at the quarter from which the flood comes. In the road of Annamooka, it fets Weft South Weft, and the ebb the contrary; but it falls into the harbour of Tongataboo from the North Weft, paffes

paffes through the two narrow channels, on each ^{1777.} fide of Hoolaiva, where it runs with confiderable ^{1707.} July. rapidity, and then fpends itfelf in the *lagoon*. The ebb returns the fame way, and runs with rather greater force. The North Weft tide is met, at the entrance of the *lagoon*, by one from the Eaft; but this, as I have before obferved, was found to be very inconfiderable.

END OF THE FIRST VOLUME,